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Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements herein, including without limitation, certain matters discussed under ‘‘Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’ in Part II, Item 7 of this
Form 10-K, are forward-looking statements, within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, that reflect our current views with respect to
future events and financial performance. Forward-looking statements typically include the words
‘‘anticipate,’’ ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘project,’’ ‘‘plan,’’ ‘‘forecast,’’ ‘‘intend,’’ and other similar
expressions. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, including those
identified below, which could cause actual future results to differ materially from historical results or from
those anticipated or implied by such statements. Readers should not place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of their dates or, if no date is provided, then as of the date
of this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent required by law.
The following factors, among others, could cause future results to differ materially from historical results
or from those anticipated by forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-K: (1) the level of
demand for mortgage loans, which is affected by such external factors as general economic conditions,
market interest rate levels, tax laws and the demographics of our lending markets; (2) the direction and
magnitude of changes in interest rates and the relationship between market interest rates and the yield on
our interest-earning assets and the cost of our interest-bearing liabilities; (3) the rate and amount of loan
losses incurred and projected to be incurred by us, increases in the amounts of our nonperforming assets,
the level of our loss reserves and management’s judgments regarding the collectability of loans; (4) changes
in the regulation of lending and deposit operations or other regulatory actions, whether industry wide or
focused on our operations, including increases in capital requirements or directives to increase loan loss
allowances or make other changes in our business operations; (5) actions undertaken by both current and
potential new competitors; (6) the possibility of adverse trends in property values or economic trends in
the residential and commercial real estate markets in which we compete; (7) the effect of changes in
economic conditions; (8) the effect of geopolitical uncertainties; (9) an inability to obtain and retain
sufficient operating cash at our holding company level; and (10) other risks and uncertainties detailed in
this Form 10-K, including those described in Part II, Item 7 ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.’’

ii

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General
Broadway Financial Corporation (the ‘‘Company’’) was incorporated under Delaware law in 1995 for the
purpose of acquiring and holding all of the outstanding capital stock of Broadway Federal Savings and
Loan Association (‘‘Broadway Federal’’ or the ‘‘Bank’’) as part of the Bank’s conversion from a federally
chartered mutual savings association to a federally chartered stock savings bank. In connection with the
conversion, the Bank’s name was changed to Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. The conversion was completed,
and the Bank became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in January 1996.
The Company is currently regulated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (‘‘FRB’’).
The Bank is currently regulated by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (‘‘OCC’’) and the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (‘‘FDIC’’). The Bank’s deposits are insured up to applicable limits
by the FDIC. The Bank is also a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (‘‘FHLB’’) of San Francisco.
See ‘‘Regulation’’ for further descriptions of the regulatory system to which the Company and the Bank are
subject.
Available Information
Our internet website address is www.broadwayfederalbank.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports can be
obtained free of charge by sending a written request to Broadway Financial Corporation, 5055 Wilshire
Boulevard, Suite 500, Los Angeles, California 90036 Attention: Alice Wong. The above reports are
available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish such
material to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’).
Business Overview
We are headquartered in Los Angeles, California and our principal business is the operation of our whollyowned subsidiary, Broadway Federal, which has two offices in Los Angeles and one in the nearby city of
Inglewood, California. Broadway Federal’s principal business consists of attracting deposits from the
general public in the areas surrounding our branch offices and investing those deposits, together with funds
generated from operations and borrowings, primarily in mortgage loans secured by (i) residential
properties with five or more units (‘‘multi-family’’), (ii) commercial real estate and (iii) residential
properties with one-to-four units (‘‘single family’’). In addition, we invest in securities issued by the federal
government and federal agencies, residential mortgage-backed securities and other investments.
Our revenue is derived primarily from interest income on loans and investments. Our principal costs are
interest expenses that we incur on deposits and borrowings, together with general and administrative
expenses. Our earnings are significantly affected by general economic and competitive conditions,
particularly monetary trends and conditions, including changes in market interest rates and the differences
in market interests rates for the interest bearing deposits and borrowings that are our principal funding
sources and the interest yielding assets in which we invest, as well as government policies and actions of
regulatory authorities.
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Regulatory Orders
Following a full regulatory review of the Bank in July 2015, the OCC terminated the Consent Order
applicable to the Bank effective November 23, 2015. The Consent Order, which was entered into by the
Bank with the OCC in October 2013, superseded Orders to Cease and Desist that the Bank and the
Company entered into with the Office of Thrift Supervision (‘‘OTS’’), the former primary regulator of the
Bank and the Company, in September 2010. The Order to Cease and Desist applicable to the Company
was terminated by the FRB on February 5, 2016. See Regulation for more information on the Consent
Order.
Lending Activities
General
Our loan portfolio is comprised primarily of mortgage loans which are secured by single family residential
properties, multi-family properties and commercial real estate, including churches. The remainder of the
loan portfolio consists of commercial business loans, construction loans and consumer loans. At
December 31, 2015, our net loan portfolio totaled $304.2 million, or 75% of total assets.
We emphasize the origination of adjustable-rate mortgage loans (‘‘ARMs’’) and hybrid ARM loans (ARM
loans having an initial fixed rate period) for our portfolio of loans held for investment. We originate these
loans in order to maintain a high percentage of loans that are subject to more frequent repricing, thereby
reducing our exposure to interest rate risk. At December 31, 2015, more than 99% of our mortgage loans
had adjustable rate features.
The types of loans that we originate are subject to federal laws and regulations. The interest rates that we
charge on loans are affected by the demand for such loans, the supply of money available for lending
purposes and the rates offered by competitors. These factors are in turn affected by, among other things,
economic conditions, monetary policies of the federal government, including the FRB, and legislative tax
policies.
The following table details the composition of our portfolio of loans held for investment by type, dollar
amount and percentage of loan portfolio at the dates indicated.
2015
Percent
Amount of total
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial
Consumer
Gross loans
Plus:
Premiums on loans
purchased
Deferred loan costs, net
Less:
Unamortized discounts
Allowance for loan losses
Total loans held for
investment

$130,891
118,616
11,442
46,390
343
270
4

42.50% $ 39,792
38.52% 171,792
3.72%
16,722
15.06%
54,599
0.11%
387
0.09%
262
0.00%
9

307,956 100.00%

December 31,
2013
2012
2011
Percent
Percent
Percent
Amount of total Amount of total Amount of total
(Dollars in thousands)
14.03% $ 46,459 18.09% $ 57,733 21.95% $ 76,671 22.58%
60.58% 113,218 44.09%
83,305 31.67% 108,075 31.82%
5.90%
26,697 10.39%
41,124 15.63%
54,259 15.98%
19.26%
67,934 26.45%
76,225 28.98%
88,994 26.20%
0.14%
424
0.17%
735
0.28%
3,790
1.12%
0.09%
2,067
0.80%
3,895
1.48%
6,896
2.03%
0.00%
38
0.01%
35
0.01%
929
0.27%

2014
Percent
Amount of total

283,563 100.00%

256,837 100.00%

263,052 100.00%

339,614 100.00%

709
349

228
1,333

272
901

—
557

—
473

15
4,828

16
8,465

17
10,146

17
11,869

18
17,299

$304,171

$276,643

$247,847

$251,723

$322,770
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Multi-Family and Commercial Real Estate Lending
Our primary lending emphasis has been on the origination of multi-family loans and, to a lesser extent,
commercial real estate loans. These loans are secured primarily by apartment buildings or by properties
used for business purposes, such as small office buildings, health care facilities and retail facilities located
in our primary market area. However, since 2012, we have primarily focused our efforts on the origination
of multi-family loans for apartment buildings with five or more units.
Our multi-family loans amounted to $118.6 million and $171.8 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Multi-family loans represented 39% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2015
compared to 61% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2014. In order to comply with regulatory
loan concentration guidelines, $90.2 million of multi-family loans were transferred from held for
investment to held for sale during 2015. All of the multi-family residential mortgage loans outstanding at
December 31, 2015 were ARMs. The vast majority of our multi-family loans amortize over 30 years. As of
December 31, 2015, our single largest multi-family credit had an outstanding balance of $3.7 million, was
current, and was secured by a 26-unit apartment complex in Burbank, California. At December 31, 2015,
the average balance of a loan in our multi-family portfolio was $601 thousand.
Our commercial real estate loans amounted to $11.4 million and $16.7 million at December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively. Commercial real estate loans represented 4% of our gross loan portfolio at
December 31, 2015 compared to 6% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2014. All of the
commercial real estate loan outstanding at December 31, 2015 were ARMs. Most commercial real estate
loans are originated with principal repayments on a 30 year amortization schedule, but are due in 15 years.
As of December 31, 2015, our single largest commercial real estate credit had an outstanding principal
balance of $1.7 million, was current and was secured by a gasoline station located in Los Angeles,
California. At December 31, 2015, the average balance of a loan in our commercial real estate portfolio
was $409 thousand.
The interest rates on multi-family and commercial ARM loans are based on a variety of indices, including
the 6-Month London InterBank Offered Rate Index (‘‘6-Month LIBOR’’), the 1-Year Constant Maturity
Treasury Index (‘‘1-Yr CMT’’), the 12-Month Treasury Average Index (‘‘12-MTA’’), the 11th District Cost
of Funds Index (‘‘COFI’’), and the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate (‘‘Prime Rate’’). We currently offer
loans with interest rates that adjust monthly, semi-annually, and annually. Borrowers are required to make
monthly payments under the terms of such loans.
Loans secured by multi-family and commercial real properties are granted based on the income producing
potential of the property and the financial strength of the borrower. The primary factors considered
include, among other things, the net operating income of the mortgaged premises before debt service and
depreciation, the debt service coverage ratio (the ratio of net operating income to required principal and
interest payments, or debt service), and the ratio of the loan amount to the lower of the purchase price or
the appraised value of the collateral.
We seek to mitigate the risks associated with multi-family and commercial real estate loans by applying
appropriate underwriting requirements, which include limitations on loan-to-value ratios and debt service
coverage ratios. Under our underwriting policies, loan-to-value ratios on our multi-family and commercial
real estate loans usually do not exceed 75% of the lower of the purchase price or the appraised value of the
underlying property. We also generally require minimum debt service coverage ratios of 115% for multifamily loans and 125% for commercial real estate loans. Properties securing multi-family and commercial
real estate loans are appraised by management-approved independent appraisers. Title insurance is
required on all loans.
Multi-family and commercial real estate loans are generally viewed as exposing the lender to a greater risk
of loss than single family residential loans and typically involve higher loan principal amounts than loans
secured by single family residential real estate. Because payments on loans secured by multi-family and
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commercial real properties are often dependent on the successful operation or management of the
properties, repayment of such loans may be subject to adverse conditions in the real estate market or
general economy. Adverse economic conditions in our primary lending market area could result in reduced
cash flows on multi-family and commercial real estate loans, vacancies and reduced rental rates on such
properties. We seek to reduce these risks by originating such loans on a selective basis and generally
restrict such loans to our general market area. In 2008, we ceased out-of-state lending for all types of
lending. As of December 31, 2015, our out-of-state loans totaled $3.1 million and our single largest
out-of-state credit had an outstanding principal balance of $677 thousand, was current, and was secured by
a church building located in Chandler, Arizona.
Our church loans totaled $46.4 million and $54.6 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Church loans represented 15% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2015 compared to 19% of our
gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2014. We ceased originating church loans in 2010. As of
December 31, 2015, our single largest church loan had an outstanding balance of $3.7 million, was current,
and was secured by a church building in Los Angeles, California. At December 31, 2015, the average
balance of a loan in our church loan portfolio was $559 thousand.
Single Family Mortgage Lending
While we have been primarily a multi-family and commercial real estate lender, we also originate and
purchase ARMs and fixed rate loans secured by single family residences, including investor-owned
properties, with maturities of up to 30 years. During 2015, we purchased $99.7 million principal amount of
single-family loans, which increased the percentage of our gross loan portfolio represented by single-family
loans to 43% at December 31, 2015, compared to 14% at December 31, 2014. Single family loans totaled
$130.9 million and $39.8 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Of the single family
residential mortgage loans that we had outstanding at December 31, 2015, more than 99% had adjustable
rate features. The single-family loans we purchased during 2015 were secured by properties primarily
located in Northern California. Substantially all of the single family loans we originate are secured by
properties located in Southern California, with most being in our primary market areas of Mid-City and
South Los Angeles. Loan originations are generally obtained from our loan representatives or third party
brokers, existing or past customers, and referrals from members of churches or other organizations in the
local communities where we operate. Of the $130.9 million of single family loans at December 31, 2015,
$19.3 million are secured by investor-owned properties.
The interest rates for our single family ARMs are indexed to COFI, 6-Month LIBOR, 12-MTA and 1-Yr.
CMT. We currently offer loans with interest rates that adjust monthly, semi-annually, and annually.
Borrowers are required to make monthly payments under the terms of such loans.
We qualify our ARM borrowers based upon the fully indexed interest rate (LIBOR or other index plus an
applicable margin, rounded to the nearest one-eighth of 1%) provided by the terms of the loan. However,
we may discount the initial rate paid by the borrower to adjust for market and other competitive factors.
The ARMs that we offer have a lifetime adjustment limit that is set at the time that the loan is approved.
In addition, because of interest rate caps and floors, market rates may exceed or go below the respective
maximum or minimum rates payable on our ARMs.
Mortgage loans that we originate generally include due-on-sale clauses, which provide us with the
contractual right to declare the loan immediately due and payable in the event that the borrower transfers
ownership of the property.
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Construction Lending
Construction loans totaled $343 thousand and $387 thousand at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
representing less than 1% of our gross loan portfolio. We provide loans for construction of single family,
multi-family and commercial real estate projects and for land development. We generally make
construction and land loans at variable interest rates based upon the Prime Rate. Generally, we require a
loan-to-value ratio not exceeding 75% to 80% on a purchase and a loan-to-cost ratio of 80% to 90% on a
refinance of construction loans.
Construction loans involve risks that are different from those for completed project lending because we
advance loan funds based upon the security and estimated value at completion of the project under
construction. If the borrower defaults on the loan, we may have to advance additional funds to finance the
project’s completion before the project can be sold. Moreover, construction projects are affected by
uncertainties inherent in estimating construction costs, potential delays in construction schedules, market
demand and the accuracy of estimates of the value of the completed project considered in the loan
approval process. In addition, construction projects can be risky as they transition to completion and
lease-up. Tenants who may have been interested in leasing a unit or apartment may not be able to afford
the space when the building is completed, or may fail to lease the space for other reasons such as more
attractive terms offered by competing lessors, making it difficult for the building to generate enough cash
flow for the owner to obtain permanent financing.
Commercial Lending
We originate non-real estate commercial loans that are secured by business assets, the franchise value of
the business, if applicable, and individual assets such as deposit accounts, securities and automobiles. Most
of these loans are originated with maturities of up to 5 years. Commercial loans amounted to
$270 thousand and $262 thousand at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Commercial loans
represented less than 1% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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Loan Originations, Purchases and Sales
The following table summarizes loan originations, purchases, sales and principal repayments for the
periods indicated:

Gross loans (1):
Beginning balance
Loans originated:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial
Consumer
Total loans originated
Loans purchased:
Single family
Multi-family
Total loans purchased
Less:
Principal repayments
Sales of loans
Loan charge-offs
Transfer of loans to real estate owned
Ending balance (2)

2015

2014
(In thousands)

2013

$302,856

$256,837

$282,421

1,921
110,525
—
—
—
75
—

—
95,495
—
—
—
56
—

1,040
37,349
—
—
—
103
—

112,521

95,551

38,492

99,663
—

—
—

—
10,610

99,663

—

10,610

41,690
164,103
89
1,202

42,900
3,291
693
2,648

51,853
16,490
3,302
3,041

$307,956

$302,856

$256,837

(1) Amount is before deferred origination costs, purchase premiums and discounts.
(2) Includes loans receivable held for sale totaling $19.3 million at December 31, 2014, exclusive of
$188 thousand in deferred origination costs. We did not have any loans receivable held for sale at
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2013.
Loan originations are derived from various sources including our loan personnel, local mortgage brokers,
advertising and referrals from customers. For all loans that we originate, upon receipt of a loan application
from a prospective borrower, a credit report is ordered and certain other information is verified by an
independent credit agency and, if necessary, additional financial information is requested. An appraisal of
the real estate intended to secure the proposed loan is required, which appraisal is performed by an
independent licensed or certified appraiser designated and approved by us. The Board of Directors (the
‘‘Board’’) annually reviews our appraisal policy. Management reviews annually the qualifications and
performance of independent appraisers that we use.
It is our policy to obtain title insurance on all real estate loans. Borrowers must also obtain hazard
insurance naming Broadway Federal as a loss payee prior to loan closing. If the original loan amount
exceeds 80% on a sale or refinance of a first trust deed loan, we may require private mortgage insurance
and the borrower is required to make payments to a mortgage impound account from which we make
disbursements to pay private mortgage insurance premiums, property taxes and hazard and flood insurance
as required.
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The Board has authorized the following loan approval limits: if the total of the borrower’s existing loans
and the loan under consideration is $1,000,000 or less, the new loan may be approved by a Senior
Underwriter plus a Loan Committee member, including the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Credit
Officer; if the total of the borrower’s existing loans and the loan under consideration is from $1,000,001 to
$2,000,000, the new loan must be approved by a Senior Underwriter plus two Loan Committee members,
including the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Credit Officer; if the total of the borrower’s existing loans
and the loan under consideration is from $2,000,001 to $5,000,000, the new loan must be approved by a
Senior Underwriter, the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Credit Officer, plus a majority of the Boardappointed non-management Loan Committee members. In addition, it is our practice that all loans
approved be reported to the Loan Committee no later than the month following their approval, and be
ratified by the Board.
From time to time, we purchase loans originated by other institutions based upon our investment needs
and market opportunities. The determination to purchase specific loans or pools of loans is subject to our
underwriting policies, which consider, among other factors, the financial condition of the borrowers, the
location of the underlying collateral properties and the appraised value of the collateral properties. We
purchased $99.7 million principal amount of loans secured by single family residential units during 2015
and $10.6 million principal amount of loans secured by multi-family residential units during 2013. The
single family loans purchased in 2015 are being serviced by the seller. We did not purchase any loans
during the year ended December 31, 2014.
We originate loans for investment and for sale. Loan sales are made from the loans receivable held-for-sale
portfolio and from loans originated during the period that are designated as held for sale. During 2015,
multi-family loans originated for sale totaled $57.7 million. We did not originate loans for sale during 2014.
In order to comply with regulatory loan concentration guidelines, we transferred $90.2 million and
$22.8 million of multi-family loans from held for investment to held for sale during the year 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Loan sales during the year 2015 and 2014 totaled $164.1 million and $3.3 million, respectively.
We receive monthly loan servicing fees on loans sold and serviced for others, primarily insured financial
institutions. Generally, we collect these fees by retaining a portion of the loan collections in an amount
equal to an agreed percentage of the monthly loan installments, plus late charges and certain other fees
paid by the borrowers. Loan servicing activities include monthly loan payment collection, monitoring of
insurance and tax payment status, responses to borrower information requests and dealing with loan
delinquencies and defaults, including conducting loan foreclosures. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we
were servicing $4.7 million and $7.5 million, respectively, of loans for others. The servicing rights
associated with sold loans are recorded as assets based upon their fair values. At December 31, 2015 and
2014, we had $41 thousand and $63 thousand, respectively, in mortgage servicing rights.
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Loan Maturity and Repricing
The following table shows the contractual maturities of loans in our portfolio of loans held for investment
at December 31, 2015, and does not reflect the effect of prepayments or scheduled principal amortization.
Single
family

Amounts Due:
One year or less
After one year:
One year to five
years
After five years
Total due after
one year
Total

$

Multifamily

59 $

Commercial
real estate

3

$

96

Gross
loans
Church Construction Commercial Consumer receivable
(In thousands)

$

—

$343

$ —

$4

$

505

298
130,534

602
118,011

2,119
9,227

4,232
42,158

—
—

—
270

—
—

7,251
300,200

130,832

118,613

11,346

46,390

—

270

—

307,451

$130,891 $118,616

$11,442

$46,390

$343

$270

$4

$307,956

The following table presents the dollar amount of gross loans receivable at December 31, 2015 that are
contractually due after December 31, 2016, and whether such loans have fixed interest rates or adjustable
interest rates.
Adjustable
Fixed
Total
(Dollars in thousands)

Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial
Total
% of total

$130,231
118,613
11,346
46,390
203

$601
—
—
—
67

$130,832
118,613
11,346
46,390
270

$306,783

$668

$307,451

99.78% 0.22%

100.00%

Some of our adjustable rate loans behave like fixed rate loans because the loans may still be in their initial
fixed rate period or may be subject to interest rate floors. Loans in their initial fixed rate period totaled
$195.5 million or 63% of our loan portfolio.
Asset Quality
General
The underlying credit quality of our loan portfolio is dependent primarily on each borrower’s ability to
continue to make required loan payments and, in the event a borrower is unable to continue to do so, the
value of the collateral securing the loan, if any. A borrower’s ability to pay typically is dependent, in the
case of single family residential loans and consumer loans, primarily on employment and other sources of
income, and in the case of multi-family and commercial real estate loans, on the cash flow generated by the
property, which in turn is impacted by general economic conditions. Other factors, such as unanticipated
expenditures or changes in the financial markets, may also impact a borrower’s ability to make loan
payments. Collateral values, particularly real estate values, are also impacted by a variety of factors,
including general economic conditions, demographics, property maintenance and collection or foreclosure
delays.
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We believe our underwriting and loan review procedures are appropriate for the various kinds of loans we
originate or purchase; however, our results of operations and financial condition were adversely affected
by weakness in the local economy and the resulting deterioration in the quality of our loan portfolio.
Therefore, during the past three years, one of our most important operating objectives has been to
improve asset quality. We have used a number of strategies to achieve this goal, including maintaining
sound credit standards in loan originations, regular, recurring monitoring of the loan portfolio, including
through independent third party loan reviews, and employing active collection and workout processes for
delinquent or problem loans.
Delinquencies
We perform a weekly review of all delinquent loans and loan delinquency reports are made monthly to the
Internal Asset Review Committee of the Board of Directors. When a borrower fails to make a required
payment on a loan, we take a number of steps to induce the borrower to cure the delinquency and restore
the loan to current status. The procedures we follow with respect to delinquencies vary depending on the
type of loan, the type of property securing the loan, and the period of delinquency. In the case of
residential mortgage loans, we generally send the borrower a written notice of non-payment promptly after
the loan becomes past due. In the event payment is not received promptly thereafter, additional letters are
sent and telephone calls are made. If the loan is still not brought current and it becomes necessary for us to
take legal action, we generally commence foreclosure proceedings on all real property securing the loan. In
the case of commercial real estate loans, we generally contact the borrower by telephone and send a
written notice of intent to foreclose upon expiration of the applicable grace period. Decisions not to
commence foreclosure upon expiration of the notice of intent to foreclose for commercial real estate loans
are made on a case-by-case basis. We may consider loan workout arrangements with these types of
borrowers in certain circumstances.
The following table shows our loan delinquencies by type and amount at the dates indicated.

Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real
estate
Church
Construction
Commercial
Consumer
Total

December 31, 2015
December 31, 2014
December 31, 2013
Loans delinquent
Loans delinquent
Loans delinquent
60-89 Days
90 days or more
60-89 Days
90 days or more
60-89 Days
90 days or more
Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount
(Dollars in thousands)
—
$—
—
$ —
—
$ —
—
$ —
—
$ —
2
$ 585
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1
545
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
1
—
—
—

—
456
—
—
—

—
1
—
—
—

—
180
—
—
—

—
2
—
—
—

—
987
—
—
—

—
1
—
—
—

—
323
—
—
—

1
5
—
—
—

1,016
4,877
—
—
—

—

$—

1

$456

1

$180

2

$987

1

$323

9

$7,023

% of Gross
Loans (1)
(1)

0.00%

0.15%

0.06%

0.33%

0.13%

2.73%

Includes loans receivable held for sale.

Non-Performing Assets
Non-performing assets (‘‘NPAs’’) include non-accrual loans and real estate owned through foreclosure or
deed in lieu of foreclosure (‘‘REO’’). NPAs at December 31, 2015 decreased to $4.6 million, or 1.14% of
total assets, from $10.9 million, or 3.12% of total assets, at December 31, 2014.
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Non-accrual loans decreased $4.7 million to $4.2 million at December 31, 2015, from $8.9 million at
December 31, 2014. These loans consist of delinquent loans that are 90 days or more past due and other
loans, including troubled debt restructurings (‘‘TDRs’’) that do not qualify for accrual status. As of
December 31, 2015, $3.2 million, or 76% of our non-accrual loans, were current in their payments, but
were treated as non-accruals primarily because of deficiencies in non-payment matters related to the
borrowers, such as lack of current financial information and an insufficient period of satisfactory
performance. The $4.7 million decrease in non-accrual loans was primarily due to payoffs of $1.4 million,
transfers to REO of $1.2 million, loan sale of $857 thousand, returns to accrual status of $886 thousand,
repayments of $544 thousand and charge-offs of $89 thousand, which were partially offset by the
placement of a church loan for $394 thousand into non-accrual status.
REO decreased $1.7 million to $360 thousand at December 31, 2015, from $2.1 million at December 31,
2014. During 2015, three church loans were foreclosed and the properties securing the loans were
transferred to REO at fair values totaling $1.2 million. Four REO properties were sold during 2015 for net
proceeds of $2.9 million and a cumulative net loss of $45 thousand. At December 31, 2015, the Bank’s
REO consisted of one church building.
The following table provides information regarding our non-performing assets at the dates indicated.
2015

Non-accrual loans:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial

December 31,
2014
2013
2012
(Dollars in thousands)

2011

$ 302 $ 736 $ 1,441 $ 8,145 $ 7,974
779
1,618
2,985
4,268
5,946
259
1,174
1,391
7,090
5,787
2,887
5,232 11,735 17,245 24,669
—
—
—
273
302
—
102
150
69
70

Total non-accrual loans
Loans delinquent 90 days or more and still accruing
Real estate owned acquired through foreclosure
Total non-performing assets

4,227
—
360

8,862
—
2,082

17,702
—
2,084

37,090
—
8,163

44,748
—
6,699

$4,587 $10,944 $19,786 $45,253 $51,447

Non-accrual loans as a percentage of gross loans,
including loans receivable held for sale
Non-performing assets as a percentage of total assets

1.37%
1.14%

2.93%
3.12%

6.89% 13.13% 12.66%
5.95% 12.11% 12.43%

There were no accrual loans that were contractually past due by 90 days or more at December 31, 2015 or
2014. We had no commitments to lend additional funds to borrowers whose loans were on non-accrual
status at December 31, 2015.
We discontinue accruing interest on loans when the loans become 90 days delinquent as to their payment
due date (missed three payments). In addition, we reverse all previously accrued and uncollected interest
for those loans through a charge to interest income. While loans are in non-accrual status, interest received
on such loans is credited to principal, until the loans qualify for return to accrual status. Loans are returned
to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and
future payments are reasonably assured.
We may agree to modify the contractual terms of a borrower’s loan. In cases where such modifications
represent a concession to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty, the modification is considered a
troubled debt restructuring (‘‘TDR’’). Non-accrual loans modified in a TDR remain on non-accrual status
until we determine that future collection of principal and interest is reasonably assured, which requires
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that the borrower demonstrate performance according to the restructured terms, generally for a period of
at least six months. Loans modified in a TDR that are included in non-accrual loans totaled $3.8 million at
December 31, 2015 and $5.5 million at December 31, 2014. Excluded from non-accrual loans are
restructured loans that were not delinquent at the time of modification or loans that have complied with
the terms of their restructured agreement for six months or such longer period as management deems
appropriate for particular loans, and therefore have been returned to accruing status. Restructured
accruing loans totaled $11.5 million at December 31, 2015 and $14.7 million at December 31, 2014.
During 2015, gross interest income that would have been recorded on non-accrual loans had they
performed in accordance with their original terms, totaled $810 thousand. Actual interest recognized on
non-accrual loans and included in net income for the year 2015 was $246 thousand, primarily reflecting
interest recoveries on non-accrual loans that were paid off.
We update our estimates of collateral value on loans when they become 90 days past due and to the extent
the loans remain delinquent, every nine months thereafter. We obtain updated estimates of collateral value
earlier than at 90 days past due for loans to borrowers who have filed for bankruptcy or for certain other
loans when our Internal Asset Review Committee believes repayment of such loans may be dependent on
the value of the underlying collateral. For single family loans, updated estimates of collateral value are
obtained through appraisals and automated valuation models. For multi-family and commercial real estate
properties, we estimate collateral value through appraisals or internal cash flow analyses when current
financial information is available, coupled with, in most cases, an inspection of the property. Our policy is
to make a charge against our allowance for loan losses, and correspondingly reduce the book value of a
loan, to the extent that the collateral value of the property securing a loan is less than our recorded
investment in the loan. See ‘‘Allowance for Loan Losses’’ for full discussion of the allowance for loan
losses.
REO is real estate acquired as a result of foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure and is carried at fair
value less estimated selling costs. Any excess of carrying value over fair value at the time of acquisition is
charged to the allowance for loan losses. Thereafter, we charge non-interest expense for the property
maintenance and protection expenses incurred as a result of owning the property. Any decreases in the
property’s estimated fair value after foreclosure are recorded in a separate allowance for losses on REO.
At December 31, 2015, we had $360 thousand in REO, which consisted of one church building. We had
$2.1 million in REO at December 31, 2014, which consisted of two church buildings.
Classification of Assets
Federal regulations and our internal policies require that we utilize an asset classification system as a
means of monitoring and reporting problem and potential problem assets. We have incorporated asset
classifications as a part of our credit monitoring system and thus classify potential problem assets as
‘‘Special Mention,’’ and problem assets as ‘‘Substandard,’’ ‘‘Doubtful’’ or ‘‘Loss’’ assets. An asset is
considered ‘‘Special Mention’’ if the loan is current but there are some potential weaknesses that deserve
management’s close attention. An asset is considered ‘‘Substandard’’ if it is inadequately protected by the
current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or the collateral pledged, if any. ‘‘Substandard’’ assets
include those characterized by the ‘‘distinct possibility’’ that the insured institution will sustain ‘‘some loss’’
if the deficiencies are not corrected. Assets classified as ‘‘Doubtful’’ have all of the weaknesses inherent in
those classified ‘‘Substandard’’ with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make ‘‘collection or
liquidation in full,’’ on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, ‘‘highly questionable and
improbable.’’ Assets classified as ‘‘Loss’’ are those considered ‘‘uncollectible’’ and of such little value that
their continuance as assets without the establishment of a specific loss allowance is not warranted. Assets
which do not currently expose us to sufficient risk to warrant classification in one of the aforementioned
categories, but that are considered to possess some weaknesses, are designated ‘‘Special Mention.’’
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Our Internal Asset Review Department reviews and classifies our assets and independently reports the
results of its reviews to the Internal Asset Review Committee of our Board of Directors monthly. The
following table provides information regarding our criticized (Special Mention) and classified assets
(Substandard) at the dates indicated.
December 31, 2015
Number

Amount

December 31, 2014
Number

Amount

(Dollars in thousands)

Special Mention
Substandard
Total

13
32

$ 4,340
14,833

26
41

$ 6,564
18,587

45

$19,173

67

$25,151

Classified assets decreased $3.8 million to $14.8 million at December 31, 2015, from $18.6 million at
December 31, 2014, primarily due to $2.5 million in repayments, $2.9 million of REO sales, $857 thousand
of loan sale and $89 thousand of charge-offs, which were partially offset by $2.6 million of classification
downgrades. Criticized assets decreased $2.3 million to $4.3 million at December 31, 2015, from
$6.6 million at December 31, 2014, primarily due to $1.6 million of classification upgrades and
$683 thousand of repayments.
Allowance for Loan Losses
In originating loans, we recognize that losses will be experienced on loans and that the risk of loss may vary
as a result of many factors, including the type of loan being made, the creditworthiness of the borrower,
general economic conditions and, in the case of a secured loan, the quality of the collateral for the loan.
We are required to maintain an adequate allowance for loan losses (‘‘ALLL’’) in accordance with U.S.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘‘GAAP’’). Our ALLL represents our management’s best
estimate of the probable incurred credit losses in our loan portfolio as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements. It is intended to cover specifically identifiable loan losses, as well as estimated losses
inherent in our portfolio for which certain losses are probable, but not specifically identifiable. There can
be no assurance, however, that actual losses incurred will not exceed the amount of management’s
estimates.
Our Internal Asset Review Department issues reports to the Board of Directors and continually reviews
loan quality. This analysis includes a detailed review of the classification and categorization of problem
loans, potential problem loans and loans to be charged off, an assessment of the overall quality and
collectability of the portfolio, and concentration of credit risk. Management then evaluates the allowance,
determines its appropriate level and the need for additional provisions, and presents its analysis to the
Board of Directors which ultimately reviews management’s recommendation and, if deemed appropriate,
then approves such recommendation.
The ALLL is increased by provisions for loan losses which are charged to earnings and is decreased by
recaptures of loan loss provision and charge-offs, net of recoveries. Provisions are recorded to increase the
ALLL to the level deemed appropriate by management. The Bank utilizes an allowance methodology that
considers a number of quantitative and qualitative factors, including the amount of non-performing loans,
our loss experience, conditions in the real estate and housing markets, current economic conditions and
trends, particularly levels of unemployment, and changes in the size of the loan portfolio.
The ALLL consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that are
individually classified as impaired.
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A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Bank
will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the
contractual terms of the loan agreement. Loans for which the terms have been modified, and for which the
borrower is experiencing financial difficulties are considered TDRs and classified as impaired. Factors
considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, and the
probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that experience
insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. Management
determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into
consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the
delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in
relation to the principal and interest owed.
If a loan is impaired, a portion of the allowance is allocated to the loan so that the loan is reported, net, at
the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s existing rate or at the fair value of
collateral if repayment is expected solely from the collateral. TDRs are separately identified for
impairment and are measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s effective
rate at inception. If a TDR is considered to be a collateral dependent loan, the loan is reported, net, at the
fair value of the collateral less estimated selling costs. For TDRs that subsequently default, we determine
the amount of any necessary additional charge-off based on internal analyses and appraisals of the
underlying collateral securing these loans. At December 31, 2015, impaired loans totaled $15.8 million and
had an aggregate specific allowance allocation of $995 thousand.
The general component of the ALLL covers non-impaired loans and is based on historical loss experience
adjusted for qualitative factors. Each month, we prepare an analysis which categorizes the entire loan
portfolio by certain risk characteristics such as loan type (single family, multi-family, commercial real
estate, construction, commercial and consumer) and loan classification (pass, watch, special mention,
substandard and doubtful). With the use of a migration to loss analysis, we calculate our historical loss rate
and assign estimated loss factors to the loan classification categories on the basis of our assessment of the
potential risk inherent in each loan type. These factors are periodically reviewed for appropriateness giving
consideration to our historical loss experience, levels of and trends in delinquencies and impaired loans;
levels of and trends in charge-offs and recoveries; trends in volume and terms of loans; effects of any
changes in risk selection and underwriting standards; other changes in lending policies, procedures, and
practices; experience, ability, and depth of lending management and other relevant staff; national and local
economic trends and conditions; industry conditions; and effects of changes in credit concentrations.
In addition to loss experience and environmental factors, we use qualitative analyses to determine the
adequacy of our ALLL. This analysis includes ratio analysis to evaluate the overall measurement of the
ALLL and comparison of peer group reserve percentages. The qualitative review is used to reassess the
overall determination of the ALLL and to ensure that directional changes in the ALLL and the provision
for loan losses are supported by relevant internal and external data.
Based on our evaluation of the housing and real estate markets and overall economy, including the
unemployment rate, the levels and composition of our loan delinquencies and non-performing loans, our
loss history and the size and composition of our loan portfolio, we determined that an ALLL of
$4.8 million, or 1.56% of loans held for investment was appropriate at December 31, 2015, compared to
$8.5 million, or 2.99% of loans held for investment at December 31, 2014.
A federally chartered savings association’s determination as to the classification of its assets and the
amount of its valuation allowances is subject to review by the OCC. The OCC, in conjunction with the
other federal banking agencies, provides guidance for financial institutions on the responsibilities of
management for the assessment and establishment of adequate valuation allowances, as well as guidance
for banking agency examiners to use in determining the adequacy of valuation allowances. It is required
that all institutions have effective systems and controls to identify, monitor and address asset quality
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problems, analyze all significant factors that affect the collectability of the portfolio in a reasonable manner
and establish acceptable allowance evaluation processes that meet the objectives of the guidelines issued
by federal regulatory agencies. While we believe that the ALLL has been established and maintained at
adequate levels, future adjustments may be necessary if economic or other conditions differ materially
from the conditions on which we based our estimates at December 31, 2015. In addition, there can be no
assurance that the OCC or other regulators, as a result of reviewing our loan portfolio and/or allowance,
will not require us to materially increase our ALLL, thereby affecting our financial condition and earnings.
The following table details our allocation of the ALLL to the various categories of loans held for
investment and the percentage of loans in each category to total loans at the dates indicated.
December 31,
2015
2014
2013
2012
Percent
Percent
Percent
Percent
of loans
of loans
of loans
of loans
in each
in each
in each
in each
category
category
category
category
to total
to total
to total
to total
Amount loans Amount loans
Amount
loans
Amount
loans
(Dollars in thousands)

42.50% $1,174
38.52% 2,726
3.72%
496
15.06% 4,047
0.11%
7
0.09%
12
0.00%
3

14.03% $ 1,930 18.09% $ 2,060
60.58% 1,726 44.09% 2,122
5.90% 1,473 10.39% 2,685
19.26% 4,949 26.45% 4,818
0.14%
7 0.17%
8
0.09%
55 0.80%
167
0.00%
6 0.01%
9

2011
Percent
of loans
in each
category
to total
Amount
loans

Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial
Consumer

$ 597
1,658
469
2,083
3
18
—

Total allowance for loan losses

$4,828 100.00% $8,465 100.00% $10,146 100.00% $11,869 100.00% $17,299 100.00%
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21.95% $ 4,855 22.58%
31.67% 2,972 31.82%
15.63% 3,108 15.98%
28.98% 5,742 26.20%
0.28%
249 1.12%
1.48%
247 2.03%
0.01%
126 0.27%

The following table shows the activity in our ALLL related to our loans held for investment for the years
indicated.
2015

Allowance balance at beginning of year

$8,465

2014
2013
2012
(Dollars in thousands)

$10,146

$11,869

$17,299

2011

$ 20,458

Charge-offs:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial
Consumer

(4)
—
—
(85)
—
—

(133)
—
(8)
(533)
(19)
—

(220)
(661)
(1,180)
(770)
—
—

(5,138)
(104)
(544)
(1,354)
—
—

(896)
(438)
(4,544)
(3,787)
(3,916)
(1,843)

Total charge-offs

(89)

(693)

(2,831)

(7,140)

(15,424)

Recoveries:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial
Consumer

129
—
—
23
—
—

Total recoveries

152

Provision (recapture) charged to earnings

(3,700)

Allowance balance at end of year

$4,828

Net charge-offs (recoveries) to average loans, excluding loans
receivable held for sale
ALLL as a percentage of gross loans, excluding loans
receivable held for sale
ALLL as a percentage of total non-accrual loans
ALLL as a percentage of total non-performing assets

(0.02)%
1.56%
114.22%
105.25%

2
—
—
859
1,083
—

300
—
116
25
253
—

25
1
60
15
412
7

—
2
15
4
67
24

1,944

694

520

112

(2,932)

414

1,190

12,153

$10,146

$11,869

$ 17,299

$ 8,465

(0.46)%

0.84%

2.12%

4.04%

2.99%
95.52%
77.35%

3.95%
57.32%
51.28%

4.51%
32.00%
26.23%

5.09%
38.66%
33.62%

Investment Activities
The main objectives of our investment strategy are to provide a source of liquidity for deposit outflows,
repayment of our borrowings and funding loan commitments, and to generate a favorable return on
investments without incurring undue interest rate or credit risk. Subject to various restrictions, our
investment policy generally permits investments in money market instruments such as Federal Funds Sold,
certificates of deposit of insured banks and savings institutions, direct obligations of the U. S. Treasury,
Federal Agency securities, government Agency-issued securities and mortgage-backed securities, mutual
funds, municipal obligations, corporate bonds and marketable equity securities. Mortgage-backed
securities consist principally of FNMA, FHLMC and GNMA securities backed by 30-year amortizing
hybrid ARM loans, structured with fixed interest rates for periods of three to seven years, after which time
the loans convert to one-year or six-month adjustable rate mortgage loans. At December 31, 2015, our
securities portfolio, consisting primarily of residential mortgage-backed securities and one U.S federal
agency bond, totaled $14.1 million, or 4% of total assets.
We classify investments as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale at the date of purchase based on our
assessment of our internal liquidity requirements. Securities in the held-to-maturity category consist of
securities purchased for long-term investment in order to enhance our ongoing stream of net interest
income. Securities deemed held-to-maturity are classified as such because we have both the intent and
ability to hold these securities to maturity. Securities purchased to meet investment-related objectives such
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as liquidity management or mitigating interest rate risk and which may be sold as necessary to implement
management strategies, are designated as available-for-sale at the time of purchase. Held-to-maturity
securities are reported at cost, adjusted for amortization of premium and accretion of discount.
Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value. We currently have no securities classified as
held-to-maturity securities.
The table below presents the carrying amount, weighted average yields and contractual maturities of our
securities as of December 31, 2015. The table reflects stated final maturities and does not reflect scheduled
principal payments or expected payoffs.
At December 31, 2015
More than
More than
one year
five years
More than
One Year or less
to five years
to ten years
ten years
Total
Weighted
Weighted
Weighted
Weighted
Weighted
Carrying average Carrying average Carrying average Carrying average Carrying average
amount
yield
amount
yield
amount
yield
amount
yield
amount
yield
(Dollars in thousands)

Available-for-sale:
Residential
mortgage-backed
securities
U.S. Government
and federal
agency
Total

$—

—
$—

—% $ 533

—%

4.52%

$187

1,973

2.00%

—

—% $2,506

2.54%

$187

4.80% $11,447

—%

—

4.80% $11,447

2.55% $12,167

—%

2.67%

1,973

2.00%

2.55% $14,140

2.57%

At December 31, 2015, the mortgage- backed securities in our portfolio have an estimated remaining life
of 4.4 years.
Sources of Funds
General
Deposits are our primary source of funds for supporting our lending and other investment activities and
general business purposes. In addition to deposits, we obtain funds from the amortization and prepayment
of loans and residential mortgage-backed securities, sales of loans and residential mortgage-backed
securities, advances from the FHLB, and cash flows generated by operations.
Deposits
We offer a variety of deposit accounts featuring a range of interest rates and terms. Our deposits
principally consist of passbook savings accounts, checking accounts, NOW accounts, money market
accounts, and fixed-term certificates of deposit. The maturities of term certificates generally range from
one month to five years. We accept deposits from customers within our market area based primarily on
posted rates, but from time to time we will negotiate the rate based on the amount of the deposit. We
primarily rely on customer service and long-standing customer relationships to attract and retain deposits.
We seek to maintain and increase our retail ‘‘core’’ deposit relationships, consisting of passbook accounts,
checking accounts and money market accounts; these deposit accounts tend to be a stable funding source
and are available at a lower cost than term deposits. However, market interest rates, including rates
offered by competing financial institutions, the availability of other investment alternatives, and general
economic conditions significantly affect our ability to attract and retain deposits.
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We also open deposit accounts for customers throughout the United States through the Internet and
deposit listing services. Deposits from the Internet and deposit listing services totaled $6.9 million and
$60.4 million, respectively, at December 31, 2015 compared to $8.1 million and $55.0 million, respectively,
at December 31, 2014. At December 31, 2015, we had no brokered deposits or deposits obtained through
the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service.
The following table details the maturity periods of our certificates of deposit in amounts of $100 thousand
or more at December 31, 2015.
December 31, 2015
Amount
Weighted
average rate
(Dollars in thousands)

Certificates maturing:
Less than three months
Three to six months
Six to twelve months
Over twelve months

$ 15,187
40,663
20,031
75,699

1.26%
0.99%
0.96%
1.18%

Total

$151,580

1.11%

The following table presents the distribution of our average deposits for the years indicated and the
weighted average interest rates during the year for each category of deposits presented.
For the Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013
Weighted
Weighted
Weighted
Average Percent average Average Percent average Average Percent average
balance of total
rate
balance of total
rate
balance of total
rate
2015

Money market deposits
Passbook deposits
NOW and other demand deposits
Certificates of deposit
Total

$ 21,917
36,252

(Dollars in thousands)
9.12% 0.50% $ 15,669
7.33% 0.38% $ 16,585
15.09% 0.32%

36,752

17.20% 0.32%

37,376

7.12% 0.39%
16.05% 0.32%

28,813

11.99% 0.07%

30,684

14.36% 0.08%

33,600

14.42% 0.08%

153,291

63.80% 1.09%

130,593

61.11% 1.16%

145,366

62.41% 1.40%

$240,273 100.00% 0.79% $213,698 100.00% 0.81% $232,927 100.00% 0.96%

Borrowings
We utilize short-term and long-term advances from the FHLB of San Francisco as an alternative to retail
deposits as a funding source for asset growth. FHLB advances are generally secured by mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities. Such advances are made pursuant to several different credit programs, each of
which has its own interest rate and range of maturities. The maximum amount that the FHLB will advance
to member institutions fluctuates from time to time in accordance with the policies of the FHLB. At
December 31, 2015, we had $72.0 million in FHLB advances and had the ability to borrow up to an
additional $38.3 million based on available and pledged collateral.
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The following table summarizes information concerning our FHLB advances at or for the periods
indicated.
At or For the Year Ended
2015
2014
2013
(Dollars in thousands)

FHLB Advances:
Average balance outstanding during the year
Maximum amount outstanding at any month-end during the year
Balance outstanding at end of year
Weighted average interest rate at end of year
Average cost of advances during the year
Weighted average maturity (in months)

$ 80,875 $ 80,345 $ 79,544
$ 84,500 $ 86,000 $ 87,500
$ 72,000 $ 86,000 $ 79,500
2.15%
2.31%
2.49%
2.24%
2.44%
2.60%
24
23
32

On March 17, 2004, we issued $6.0 million of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debentures (the
‘‘Debentures’’) in a private placement to a trust that was capitalized to purchase subordinated debt and
preferred stock of multiple community banks. Interest on the Debentures is payable quarterly at a rate per
annum equal to the 3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. The interest rate is determined as of each March 17,
June 17, September 17, and December 17, and was 3.07% at December 31, 2015. On October 16, 2014, we
made payments of $900 thousand of principal on the Debentures, executed a Supplemental Indenture for
the Debentures that extended the maturity of the Debentures to March 17, 2024, and modified the
payment terms of the remaining $5.1 million principal amount thereof. The modified terms of the
Debentures require quarterly payments of interest only through March 2019 at the original rate of
3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. Starting in June 2019, we will be required to make quarterly payments of
equal amounts of principal, plus interest, until the Debentures are fully amortized on March 17, 2024. The
Debentures may be called for redemption at any time by the Company.
Market Area and Competition
Broadway Federal is a community-oriented savings institution offering a variety of financial services to
meet the needs of the communities it serves. Our retail banking network includes full service banking
offices, automated teller machines and Internet banking capabilities that are available using our website at
www.broadwayfederalbank.com. We have two banking offices in Los Angeles and one banking office
located in the nearby City of Inglewood.
The Los Angeles metropolitan area is a highly competitive banking market for making loans and attracting
deposits. Although our offices are primarily located in low-to-moderate income communities that have
historically been under-served by other financial institutions, we face significant competition for deposits
and loans in our immediate market areas, including direct competition from mortgage banking companies,
commercial banks and savings and loan associations. Most of these financial institutions are significantly
larger than we are and have greater financial resources, and many have a regional, statewide or national
presence.
Personnel
At December 31, 2015, we had 67 employees, which consisted of 62 full-time and 5 part-time employees.
We believe that we have good relations with our employees and none are represented by a collective
bargaining group.
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Regulation
General
Our Bank, Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b, is regulated by the OCC, as its primary federal regulator, and by
the FDIC, as its deposit insurer. Also, the Bank is a member of the FHLB System and is subject to the
regulations of the FRB concerning reserves required to be maintained against deposits, transactions with
affiliates, Truth in Lending and other consumer protection requirements and certain other matters. Our
savings and loan holding company, Broadway Financial Corporation, is regulated, examined and
supervised by the FRB. The Company is also required to file certain reports with and otherwise comply
with the rules and regulations of the SEC under the federal securities laws.
The OCC regulates and examines most of our Bank’s business activities, including, among other things,
capital standards, general investment authority, deposit taking and borrowing authority, mergers and other
business combination transactions, establishment of branch offices, and permitted subsidiary investments
and activities. The OCC has primary enforcement responsibility over federal savings bank and has
substantial discretion to impose enforcement action on an institution that fails to comply with applicable
regulatory requirements, including with respect to capital requirements. In addition, the FDIC has the
authority to recommend to the OCC that enforcement action be taken with respect to a particular federal
savings bank and, if action is not taken by the OCC, the FDIC has authority to take such action under
certain circumstances.
Changes in the applicable laws or regulations of the OCC, the FDIC, the FRB or other regulatory
authorities could have a material adverse impact on the Bank and the Company, their operations, and the
value of the Company’s debt and equity securities. The Company and its stock are also subject to rules and
regulations issued by The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC (‘‘NASDAQ’’), the principal exchange on which
the Company’s common stock is traded. Changes in the rules and regulations published by NASDAQ, or
failure of the Company to conform to NASDAQ’s rules and regulations, could have an adverse impact on
the Company and the value of the Company’s equity securities.
The following paragraphs summarize certain of the laws and regulations that apply to the Company and
the Bank. These descriptions of statutes and regulations and their possible effects do not purport to be
complete descriptions of all of the provisions of those statutes and regulations and their possible effects on
us, nor do they purport to identify every statute and regulation that applies to us.
Regulatory Orders
As a result of significant deficiencies in the Company’s and the Bank’s operations noted in a regulatory
examination in early 2010 by the OTS, the former primary regulator of the Bank and the Company, the
Company and the Bank were declared to be in ‘‘troubled condition.’’ The Bank and the Company each
agreed to the issuance of Orders issued by OTS effective September 9, 2010, requiring, among other
things, that the Company and the Bank take remedial actions to improve the Bank’s loan underwriting and
internal asset review procedures, to reduce the amount of its non-performing assets and to improve other
aspects of the Bank’s business, as well as the Company’s management of its business and the oversight of
the Company’s business by the Board of Directors.
Effective October 30, 2013, the Order for the Bank was superseded by a Consent Order entered into by the
Bank with the OCC. As part of the Consent Order, the Bank was required to maintain a Tier 1 Leverage
ratio (Tier 1 capital to adjusted average total assets) of at least 9% and a Total Capital ratio (Total capital
to risk-weighted assets) of at least 13%, which exceeded the respective 4% and 8% levels for such ratios
generally required under OCC regulations at that time.
Following a full regulatory review of the Bank in July 2015, the OCC terminated the Consent Order
effective November 23, 2015.
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The Order applicable to the Company, which has been administered by the FRB since July 2012, was
terminated by the FRB on February 5, 2016.
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
In July 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (the ‘‘Dodd-Frank Act’’), which is intended to address perceived weaknesses in the U.S.
financial regulatory system and prevent future economic and financial crises.
As a result of the Dodd-Frank Act, on July 21, 2011, the OTS, our former primary federal regulator, was
merged into the OCC, which has taken over the regulation of all federal savings associations. The FRB
acquired the OTS’ authority over all savings and loan holding companies.
The Dodd-Frank Act requires the federal banking agencies to establish consolidated risk-based and
leverage capital requirements for insured depository institutions, depository institution holding companies
and certain non-bank financial companies that are no less than those to which insured depository
institutions have been previously subject. Bank holding companies with less than $500 million in total
consolidated assets, such as the Company, are not subject to consolidated capital requirements. The
Dodd-Frank Act requires savings and loan holding companies to serve as a source of financial strength for
any subsidiary of the entity that is a depository institution by providing financial assistance in the event of
the financial distress of the depository institution.
The Dodd-Frank Act also includes provisions changing the assessment base for federal deposit insurance
from the amount of insured deposits to the amount of consolidated assets less tangible capital, and making
permanent the $250,000 limit for federal deposit insurance that had initially been established on a
temporary basis in reaction to the economic downturn in 2008.
The Dodd-Frank Act also established the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (‘‘CFPB’’). The CFPB
has authority to supervise and enforce consumer protection laws. The CFPB has broad rule-making
authority for a wide range of consumer protection laws that apply to banks and savings institutions,
including the authority to prohibit ‘‘unfair, deceptive or abusive’’ acts and practices. The CFPB’s
supervisory authority does not generally extend to insured depository institutions having less than
$10 billion in assets.
The Dodd-Frank Act also includes other provisions that require or permit further rulemaking by the
federal bank regulatory agencies, which may affect our future operations. We will not be able to determine
the impact of these provisions until final rules are promulgated to implement these provisions and other
regulatory guidance is provided interpreting these provisions.
Capital Requirements
In July 2013, the federal banking regulators approved final rules (the ‘‘Basel III Capital Rules’’)
implementing the Basel III framework as well as certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. The Basel III
Capital Rules substantially revised the risk-based capital requirements applicable to bank holding
companies and their depository institution subsidiaries, including Broadway Federal. The Basel III Capital
Rules became effective for the Bank on January 1, 2015 (subject to a phase-in period for certain
provisions).
The Basel III Capital Rules, among other things, (i) introduce a new capital measure called ‘‘Common
Equity Tier 1’’ (‘‘CET1’’), (ii) specify that Tier 1 capital consists of CET1 and ‘‘Additional Tier 1 capital’’
instruments meeting certain revised requirements, (iii) define CET1 narrowly by requiring that most
deductions/adjustments to regulatory capital measures be made to CET1 and not to the other components
of capital, and (iv) expand the scope of the deductions/adjustments to capital as compared to existing
regulations.
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Under the Basel III Capital Rules, the minimum capital ratios effective as of January 1, 2015 are:
•
•
•
•

4.5%
6.0%
8.0%
4.0%

CET1 to risk-weighted assets;
Tier 1 capital (calculated as CET1 plus Additional Tier 1 capital) to risk-weighted assets;
Total capital (calculated as Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital) to risk-weighted assets; and
Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (known as the ‘‘leverage ratio’’).

The Basel III Capital Rules also introduced a new ‘‘capital conservation buffer’’, composed entirely of
CET1, on top of these minimum risk-weighted asset ratios. The implementation of the capital conservation
buffer began on January 1, 2016 at the 0.625% level and will increase by 0.625% on January 1 of each
subsequent year, until it reaches 2.5% on January 1, 2019. The capital conservation buffer is designed to
absorb losses during periods of economic stress and effectively increases the minimum required
risk-weighted capital ratios. Banking institutions with a ratio of CET1 to risk-weighted assets below the
effective minimum (4.5% plus the capital conservation buffer) will face constraints on dividends, equity
repurchases and compensation based on the amount of the shortfall.
When fully phased in on January 1, 2019, the Basel III Capital Rules will require the Bank to maintain an
additional capital conservation buffer of 2.5% of CET1, effectively resulting in minimum ratios of (i) CET1
to risk-weighted assets of at least 7%, (ii) Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 8.5%, (iii) a
minimum ratio of Total capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 10.5%; and (iv) a minimum leverage ratio
of 4.0%.
The Basel III Capital Rules also provide for a number of deductions from and adjustments to CET1. These
include, for example, the requirement that certain deferred tax assets and significant investments in
non-consolidated financial entities be deducted from CET1 to the extent that any one such category
exceeds 10% of CET1 or all such items, in the aggregate, exceed 15% of CET1. Implementation of the
deductions and other adjustments to CET1 began on January 1, 2015 and will be phased-in over the
following three years (beginning at 40% on January 1, 2015 and at an additional 20% each year thereafter).
In addition, under the Basel III Capital Rules, the effects of certain accumulated other comprehensive
income items are not excluded automatically; however, non-advanced approaches banking organizations,
including Broadway Federal, are able to make a one-time permanent election to continue to exclude these
items. The Bank has made this election in order to avoid significant variations in the level of capital
depending upon the impact of interest rate fluctuations on the fair value of their available-for-sale
securities portfolio.
The Basel III Capital Rules prescribe a standardized approach for risk weightings that expands both the
number of risk-weighting categories and the risk sensitivity of many categories. The risk weights assigned
to a particular category of assets will depend on the nature of the assets, and range from 0% for U.S.
government and agency securities to 600% for certain equity exposures. On balance, the new standards
result in higher risk weights for a number of asset categories.
The Basel III Capital Rules also revise the ‘‘prompt corrective action’’ regulations pursuant to Section 38
of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as discussed below under ‘‘Prompt Corrective Action.’’
Management believes that, as of December 31, 2015, the Bank would meet all capital adequacy
requirements under the Basel III Capital Rules on a fully phased-in basis as if such requirements had been
in effect.
Prompt Corrective Action
The Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended (‘‘FDIA’’), requires the federal banking agencies to take
‘‘prompt corrective action’’ with respect to depository institutions that do not meet minimum capital
requirements. The OCC performs this function with respect to the Bank. The FDIA includes the following
five capital tiers: ‘‘well capitalized,’’ ‘‘adequately capitalized,’’ ‘‘undercapitalized,’’ ‘‘significantly
undercapitalized’’ and ‘‘critically undercapitalized.’’
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Generally, a capital restoration plan must be filed with the OCC within 45 days after the date a depository
institution receives notice that it is ‘‘undercapitalized,’’ ‘‘significantly undercapitalized’’ or ‘‘critically
undercapitalized,’’ and the plan must be guaranteed by any parent holding company. In addition, various
mandatory supervisory actions become immediately applicable to the institution, including restrictions on
growth of assets and other forms of expansion.
The Basel III Capital Rules contain revisions to the prompt corrective action framework. Under the
prompt corrective action requirements, insured depository institutions are now required to meet the
following increased capital level requirements in order to qualify as ‘‘well capitalized:’’ (i) a new CET1
capital to risk weighted assets of 6.5%; (ii) a Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets of 8% (increased from
6%); (iii) a total capital to risk weighted assets of 10% (unchanged from previous rules); and (iv) a Tier 1
leverage ratio of 5% (unchanged from previous rules).
At December 31, 2015, the Bank’s level of capital exceeded all regulatory capital requirements and its
regulatory capital ratios were above the minimum levels required to be considered well capitalized for
regulatory purposes. Actual and required capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are
presented below.

Actual
Amount
Ratio

December 31, 2015:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 1
Total Capital

$46,028
$46,028
$46,028
$49,010

11.56%
19.45%
19.45%
20.71%

Actual
Amount
Ratio

December 31, 2014:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Tier 1
Total Capital

$39,773
$39,773
$42,870

11.34%
16.41%
17.69%

Minimum Capital
Requirements
Amount
Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)

$15,923
$10,650
$14,200
$18,933

4.0%
4.5%
6.0%
8.0%

Minimum Required
To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective
Action Provisions
Amount
Ratio

$19,903
$15,383
$18,933
$23,667

5.0%
6.5%
8.0%
10.0%

Required for
Capital Adequacy
Purposes
Amount
Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)

Capital Requirements
under Consent
Order (1)
Amount
Ratio

$14,028
$ 9,695
$19,390

$31,562
N/A
$31,508

4.00%
4.00%
8.00%

9.00%
N/A
13.00%

(1) No longer in effect because the Consent Order applicable to the Bank was terminated in November
2015.
Deposit Insurance
The FDIC is an independent federal agency that insures deposits of federally insured banks, including
federal savings banks, up to prescribed statutory limits for each depositor. Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank
Act, the maximum deposit insurance amount has been permanently increased to $250,000 per depositor,
per ownership category.
The FDIC charges an annual assessment for the insurance of deposits based on the risk a particular
institution poses to the FDIC’s Deposit Insurance Fund (‘‘DIF’’). The amount of the assessment paid by
an institution is based on its relative risk of default as measured by regulatory capital ratios and other
supervisory factors. The Bank’s assessment rate was increased during the period from September 2010
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when the Order applicable to the Bank went into effect until late 2015 when the Consent Order was
terminated by the OCC.
The FDIC’s overall premium rate structure is subject to change from time to time to reflect its actual and
anticipated loss experience. The financial crisis that began in 2008 resulted in substantially higher levels of
bank failures than had occurred in the immediately preceding years. These failures dramatically increased
the resolution costs of the FDIC and substantially reduced the available amount of the DIF.
As required by the Dodd-Frank Act, the FDIC adopted a new Deposit Insurance Fund restoration plan
which became effective on January 1, 2011. Among other things, the plan increased the minimum
designated deposit insurance reserve ratio from 1.15% to 1.35% of insured deposits, which must be
reached by September 30, 2020, and provides that in setting the assessments necessary to meet the new
requirement, the FDIC is required to offset the effect of this provision on insured depository institutions
with total consolidated assets of less than $10 billion, so that more of the cost of raising the reserve ratio
will be borne by institutions with more than $10 billion in assets.
On February 7, 2011, as mandated by the Dodd-Frank Act, the FDIC approved a final rule that redefines
the deposit insurance premium assessment base to be an institution’s average consolidated total assets
minus average tangible equity and adopts a new assessment rate schedule, as well as alternative rate
schedules that become effective when the reserve ratio reaches certain levels.
The FDIC may terminate a depository institution’s deposit insurance upon a finding that the institution’s
financial condition is unsafe or unsound or that the institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices
that pose a risk to the DIF or that may prejudice the interest of the bank’s depositors.
Guidance on Commercial Real Estate Lending
In October 2009, the federal banking agencies adopted a policy statement supporting workouts of
commercial real estate (‘‘CRE’’) loans, which is referred to as the CRE Policy Statement. The CRE Policy
Statement provides guidance for examiners, and for financial institutions that are working with CRE
borrowers who are experiencing diminished operating cash flows, depreciated collateral values, or
prolonged delays in selling or renting commercial properties. The CRE Policy Statement details
risk-management practices for loan workouts that support prudent and pragmatic credit and business
decision-making within the framework of financial accuracy, transparency, and timely loss recognition. The
CRE Policy Statement states that financial institutions that implement prudent loan workout arrangements
after performing comprehensive reviews of the financial condition of borrowers will not be subject to
criticism for engaging in these efforts, even if the restructured loans have weaknesses that result in adverse
credit classifications. In addition, performing loans, including those renewed or restructured on reasonable
modified terms, made to creditworthy borrowers, will not be subject to adverse classification solely because
the value of the underlying collateral declined. The CRE Policy Statement reiterates existing guidance that
examiners are expected to take a balanced approach in assessing an institution’s risk-management
practices for loan workout activities.
Loans to One Borrower
Federal savings banks generally are subject to the lending limits that are applicable to national banks. With
certain limited exceptions, the maximum amount that a federal savings banks may lend to any borrower
(including certain related persons or entities of such borrower) is an amount equal to 15% of the savings
institution’s unimpaired capital and unimpaired surplus, or $7.6 million for Broadway Federal at
December 31, 2015, plus an additional 10% for loans fully secured by readily marketable collateral. Real
estate is not included within the definition of ‘‘readily marketable collateral’’ for this purpose. We are in
compliance with the limits that are applicable to loans to any one borrower. At December 31, 2015, our
largest aggregate amount of loans to one borrower totaled $4.4 million. Both of the loans for the largest
borrower were performing in accordance with their terms and the borrower had no affiliation with
Broadway Federal.
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Community Reinvestment Act
The Community Reinvestment Act, as implemented by OCC regulations (‘‘CRA’’), requires each federal
savings bank, as well as other lenders, to make efforts to meet the credit needs of the communities they
serve, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods. The CRA requires the OCC to assess an
institution’s performance in meeting the credit needs of its communities as part of its examination of the
institution, and to take such assessments into consideration in reviewing applications for mergers,
acquisitions and other transactions. An unsatisfactory CRA rating may be the basis for denying an
application. Community groups have successfully protested applications on CRA grounds. In connection
with the assessment of a savings institution’s CRA performance, the OCC assigns ratings of ‘‘outstanding,’’
‘‘satisfactory,’’ ‘‘needs to improve’’ or ‘‘substantial noncompliance.’’ The Bank’s ‘‘outstanding’’ rating was
reaffirmed in its most recent CRA examination in 2013.
Qualified Thrift Lender Test
The Home Owners Loan Act (‘‘HOLA’’) requires all federal savings bank to meet a Qualified Thrift
Lender (‘‘QTL’’) test. Under the QTL test, a federal savings bank is required to maintain at least 65% of
its portfolio assets (total assets less (i) specified liquid assets up to 20% of total assets, (ii) intangibles,
including goodwill, and (iii) the value of property used to conduct business) in certain ‘‘qualified thrift
investments’’ on a monthly basis during at least 9 out of every 12 months. Qualified thrift investments
include, in general, loans, securities and other investments that are related to housing, shares of stock
issued by any Federal Home Loan Bank, loans for educational purposes, loans to small businesses, loans
made through credit cards or credit card accounts and certain other permitted thrift investments. The
failure of a federal savings bank to remain a QTL may result in required conversion of the institution to a
bank charter, which would change the federal savings bank’s permitted business activities in various
respects, including operation under certain restrictions, including limitations on new investments and
activities, and the imposition of restrictions on branching and the payment of dividends that apply to
national banks. At December 31, 2015, the Bank was in compliance with the QTL test requirements.
The USA Patriot Act, Bank Secrecy Act (‘‘BSA’’), and Anti-Money Laundering (‘‘AML’’) Requirements
The USA PATRIOT Act was enacted after September 11, 2001 to provide the federal government with
powers to prevent, detect, and prosecute terrorism and international money laundering, and has resulted in
promulgation of several regulations that have a direct impact on savings associations. Financial institutions
must have a number of programs in place to comply with this law, including: (i) a program to manage BSA/
AML risk; (ii) a customer identification program designed to determine the true identity of customers,
document and verify the information, and determine whether the customer appears on any federal
government list of known or suspected terrorists or terrorist organizations; and (iii) a program for
monitoring for the timely detection and reporting of suspicious activity and reportable transactions. Failure
to comply with these requirements may result in regulatory action, including the issuance of cease and
desist orders, impositions of civil money penalties and adverse changes in an institution’s regulatory
ratings, which could adversely affect its ability to obtain regulatory approvals for business combinations or
other desired business objectives.
Privacy Protection
Broadway Federal is subject to OCC regulations implementing the privacy protection provisions of federal
law. These regulations require Broadway Federal to disclose its privacy policy, including identifying with
whom it shares ‘‘nonpublic personal information,’’ to customers at the time of establishing the customer
relationship and annually thereafter. The regulations also require Broadway Federal to provide its
customers with initial and annual notices that accurately reflect its privacy policies and practices. In
addition, to the extent its sharing of such information is not covered by an exception, Broadway Federal is
required to provide its customers with the ability to ‘‘opt-out’’ of having Broadway Federal share their
nonpublic personal information with unaffiliated third parties.
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Broadway Federal is also subject to regulatory guidelines establishing standards for safeguarding customer
information. The guidelines describe the agencies’ expectations for the creation, implementation and
maintenance of an information security program, which would include administrative, technical and
physical safeguards appropriate to the size and complexity of the institution and the nature and scope of its
activities. The standards set forth in the guidelines are intended to ensure the security and confidentiality
of customer records and information, protect against any anticipated threats or hazards to the security or
integrity of such records and protect against unauthorized access to or use of such records or information
that could result in substantial harm or inconvenience to any customer.
Cybersecurity
In the ordinary course of business, we rely on electronic communications and information systems to
conduct our operations and to store sensitive data. We employ an in-depth, layered, defensive approach
that leverages people, processes and technology to manage and maintain cybersecurity controls. We
employ a variety of preventative and detective tools to monitor, block, and provide alerts regarding
suspicious activity, as well as to report on any suspected advanced persistent threats. Notwithstanding the
strength of our defensive measures, the threat from cybersecurity attacks is severe, attacks are
sophisticated and increasing in volume, and attackers respond rapidly to changes in defensive measures.
While to date we have not experienced a significant compromise, significant data loss or any material
financial losses related to cybersecurity attacks, our systems and those of our customers and third-party
service providers are under constant threat and it is possible that we could experience a significant event in
the future. Risks and exposures related to cybersecurity attacks are expected to remain high for the
foreseeable future due to the rapidly evolving nature and sophistication of these threats, as well as due to
the expanding use of Internet banking, mobile banking and other technology-based products and services
by us and our customers.
Savings and Loan Holding Company Regulation
As a savings and loan holding company, we are subject to the supervision, regulation, and examination of
the FRB. In addition, FRB has enforcement authority over the Company and our subsidiary Broadway
Federal. Applicable statutes and regulations administered by FRB place certain restrictions on our
activities and investments. Among other things, we are generally prohibited, either directly or indirectly,
from acquiring more than 5% of the voting shares of any savings association or savings and loan holding
company that is not a subsidiary of the Company.
The Change in Bank Control Act prohibits a person, acting directly or indirectly or in concert with one or
more persons, from acquiring control of a savings and loan holding company unless the FRB has been
given 60 days prior written notice of such proposed acquisition and within that time period the FRB has
not issued a notice disapproving the proposed acquisition or extending for up to another 30 days the period
during which a disapproval may be issued. The term ‘‘control’’ is defined for this purpose to include
ownership or control of, or holding with power to vote, 25% or more of any class of a savings and loan
holding company’s voting securities. Under a rebuttable presumption contained in the regulations of the
FRB, ownership or control of, or holding with power to vote, 10% or more of any class of voting securities
of a savings and loan holding company will be deemed control for purposes of the Change in Bank Control
Act if the institution (i) has registered securities under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, or (ii) no person
will own, control, or have the power to vote a greater percentage of that class of voting securities
immediately after the transaction. In addition, any company acting directly or indirectly or in concert with
one or more persons or through one or more subsidiaries would be required to obtain the approval of the
FRB under the Home Owners’ Loan Act before acquiring control of a savings and loan holding company.
For this purpose, a company is deemed to have control of a savings and loan holding company if the
company (i) owns, controls, holds with power to vote, or holds proxies representing, 25% or more of any
class of voting shares of the savings and loan holding company, (ii) contributes more than 25% of the
capital, (iii) controls in any manner the election of a majority of the holding company’s directors, or
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(iv) directly or indirectly exercises a controlling influence over the management or policies of the savings
bank or other company. The FRB may also determine, based on the relevant facts and circumstances, that
a company has otherwise acquired control of a savings and loan holding company.
Restrictions on Dividends and Other Capital Distributions
In general, the prompt corrective action regulations prohibit a federal savings bank from declaring any
dividends, making any other capital distribution, or paying a management fee to a controlling person, such
as its parent holding company, if, following the distribution or payment, the institution would be within any
of the three undercapitalized categories. In addition to the prompt corrective action restriction on paying
dividends, OCC regulations limit certain ‘‘capital distributions’’ by savings associations. Capital
distributions are defined to include, among other things, dividends and payments for stock repurchases and
payments of cash to stockholders in mergers.
Under the OCC capital distribution regulations, a federal savings bank that is a subsidiary of a savings and
loan holding company must notify the OCC at least 30 days prior to the declaration of any capital
distribution by its federal savings bank subsidiary. The 30-day period provides the OCC an opportunity to
object to the proposed dividend if it believes that the dividend would not be advisable.
An application to the OCC for approval to pay a dividend is required if: (i) the total of all capital
distributions made during that calendar year (including the proposed distribution) exceeds the sum of the
institution’s year-to-date net income and its retained income for the preceding two years; (ii) the
institution is not entitled under OCC regulations to ‘‘expedited treatment’’ (which is generally available to
institutions the OCC regards as well run and adequately capitalized); (iii) the institution would not be at
least ‘‘adequately capitalized’’ following the proposed capital distribution; or (iv) the distribution would
violate an applicable statute, regulation, agreement, or condition imposed on the institution by the OCC.
The Bank’s ability to pay dividends to the Company is also subject to the restriction that the Bank is not
permitted to pay dividends to the Company if its regulatory capital would be reduced below the amount
required for the liquidation account established in connection with the conversion of the Bank from the
mutual to the stock form of organization.
See Item 5, ‘‘Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities’’ and Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further
description of dividend and other capital distribution limitations to which the Company and the Bank are
subject.
Tax Matters
Federal Income Taxes
We report our income on a calendar year basis using the accrual method of accounting and are subject to
federal income taxation in the same manner as other corporations with certain exceptions, including
particularly the Bank’s tax reserve for bad debts. The Bank has qualified under provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code (the ‘‘Code’’) that in the past allowed qualifying savings institutions to establish reserves for
bad debts, and to make additions to such reserves, using certain preferential methodologies. See Note 11
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of tax matters applicable to
our business.
California Taxes
As a savings and loan holding company filing California franchise tax returns on a combined basis with its
subsidiaries, the Company is subject to California franchise tax at the rate applicable to ‘‘financial
corporations.’’ The applicable statutory tax rate is 10.84%.
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

We conduct our business through three branch offices and a corporate office. Our loan service operation is
also conducted from one of our branch offices. Our administrative and corporate operations are conducted
from our corporate facility located at 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500, Los Angeles. There are no
mortgages, material liens or encumbrances against any of our owned properties. We believe that all of the
properties are adequately covered by insurance, and that our facilities are adequate to meet our present
needs.
As of December 31, 2015, the net book value of our investment in premises, equipment and fixtures,
excluding computer equipment, was $2.4 million. Total occupancy expense, inclusive of rental payments
and furniture and equipment expense, for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $1.2 million. Total
annual rental expense (exclusive of operating charges and real property taxes) was approximately
$559 thousand during 2015.

Leased or
Owned

Original
Date
Leased or
Acquired

Date
of Lease
Expiration

Administrative/Loan Origination Center:
5055 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 500
Los Angeles, CA

Leased

2013

April 2021

Branch Offices:
5055 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 100
Los Angeles, CA

Leased

2013

April 2021

170 N. Market Street
Inglewood, CA
(Branch Office/Loan Service Center)

Owned

1996

—

4001 South Figueroa Street
Los Angeles, CA

Owned

1996

—

Location

ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, we are defendants in various litigation matters from time to time. In our
opinion, the disposition of any litigation and other legal and regulatory matters currently pending or
threatened against us would not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol ‘‘BYFC.’’ The table below
shows the high and low sale prices for our common stock during the periods indicated.
2015

1st Quarter

2nd Quarter

3rd Quarter

4th Quarter

High
Low

$1.63
$1.12

$1.65
$1.22

$2.08
$1.17

$1.60
$1.21

2014

1st Quarter

2nd Quarter

3rd Quarter

4th Quarter

High
Low

$1.39
$0.96

$1.80
$1.08

$2.95
$1.31

$1.75
$1.25

The closing sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on March 11, 2016 was $1.65
per share. As of March 11, 2016, we had 306 stockholders of record and 21,405,188 shares of voting
common stock outstanding. At that date, we also had 7,671,520 shares of non-voting common stock
outstanding. Our non-voting common stock is not listed for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market, but is
convertible into our voting common stock in connection with certain sale or other transfer transactions.
In general, we may pay dividends out of funds legally available for that purpose at such times as our Board
of Directors determines that dividend payments are appropriate, after considering our net income, capital
requirements, financial condition, alternate investment options, prevailing economic conditions, industry
practices and other factors deemed to be relevant at the time. We suspended our prior policy of paying
regular cash dividends in May 2010 in order to retain capital for reinvestment in the Company’s business.
In addition, pursuant to the Order issued to the Company in September 2010 (but terminated by the FRB
in February 2016), the Company could not declare or pay dividends or make other capital distributions,
which term included repurchases of stock, without receipt of prior written notice of non-objection to such
capital distribution from the FRB.
Our financial ability to pay permitted dividends is primarily dependent upon receipt of dividends from
Broadway Federal. Broadway Federal is subject to certain requirements which may limit its ability to pay
dividends or make other capital distributions. See Item 1 ‘‘Business – Regulation’’ and Note 13 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 ‘‘Financial Statements and Supplementary Data’’ for
an explanation of the impact of regulatory capital requirements on Broadway Federal’s ability to pay
dividends.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information about the Company’s common stock that may be issued under
equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2015.

Plan category

Number of
securities to be
issued upon exercise
of outstanding
options, warrants
and rights
(a)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights
(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in
column (a))
(c)

90,625

$4.95

1,909,375

—

—

—

90,625

$4.95

1,909,375

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders:
2008 Long Term Incentive Plan
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders:
None
Total

Our ability to issue options and other form of equity incentives to our employees was restricted pursuant to
the Order applicable to the Company that went into effect in September 2010, as well as the terms of the
agreements entered into in 2008 and 2009 pursuant to which the U.S. Department of the Treasury (the
‘‘U.S. Treasury’’) invested in the Company. The Order was terminated by the FRB in February 2016, but
the restrictions affecting our Chief Executive Officer imposed under the agreements with the U.S. Treasury
remain in effect. The Board of Directors intends to consider issuing equity incentives to certain key
employees as a form of long-term compensation that will help align the interests of senior management
with those of our stockholders.
ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion is intended to provide a reader of our financial statements with a narrative from
the perspective of our management on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and other
factors that have affected our reported results of operations and financial condition or may affect our
future results or financial condition. Our MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and related Notes included in Item 8, ‘‘Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data,’’ of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
Total assets increased by $52.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2015. The growth in assets was
primarily funded by an increase of $54.7 million in deposits, described below, and invested in cash and cash
equivalents, which increased by $47.0 million. Additionally, our net loans receivable increased by
$27.5 million. These increases in assets were partially offset by a decrease of $19.5 million in loans
receivable held for sale and a decrease of $2.9 million in securities available-for-sale.
The increase in our total deposits of $54.7 million primarily reflected a deposit of $52.0 million in late
September from a long-time customer. FHLB advances decreased by $14.0 million and junior
subordinated debentures remained unchanged during 2015.
We completed sales of $164.1 million of multi-family loans during the year ended December 31, 2015 in
order to gain compliance with our loan concentration risk management program. As of December 31,
2015, the Bank’s multi-family loan concentration was below the limit prescribed by the OCC, our primary
banking regulator.
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During the year ended December 31, 2015, we increased the Bank’s loan originations by 17.7%, reaching
$112.5 million in 2015 compared to $95.6 million in 2014. Also, we re-underwrote and purchased
$99.7 million of prime single family loans during the fourth quarter of 2015, which brought our total
originations and purchases for 2015 to $212.2 million. We purchased these prime single family loans to
grow our core earnings, diversify our loan portfolio, and mitigate the effects of the sales of multi-family
loans. The single family loans are being serviced by the seller.
We recorded net income of $9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to $2.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2014. Results during 2015 included loan loss provision recapture of
$3.7 million, gains of $1.8 million on the sale of loans, a grant of $355 thousand from the U.S. Treasury’s
Community Development Financial Institutions (‘‘CDFI’’) Fund and an income tax benefit of $4.6 million.
In 2014, we recorded loan loss provision recapture of $2.9 million, a grant of $200 thousand from the CDFI
Fund and a gain of $365 thousand on restructuring of debt.
We became subject to the Basel III capital requirements effective January 1, 2015. The Basel III capital
rules include a new ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets and increased the
minimum capital requirements. A new capital conservation buffer has also been established at levels above
the regulatory minimum capital requirements. The final rules also revise the definition and calculation of
Tier 1 capital, Total capital and risk-weighted assets. The implementation of the Basel III capital
requirements is transitional and phases in through the end of 2018. See ‘‘Regulatory Capital’’ for
additional information. We have been in compliance with the new capital rules throughout 2015.
Effective November 23, 2015, the OCC terminated the Consent Order, which superseded the Order
applicable to the Bank in October 2013. The regulatory Order from the FRB for the Company was
terminated on February 5, 2016.
Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
General
Our most significant source of income is net interest income, which is the difference between our interest
income and our interest expense. Generally, interest income is generated from our loans and investments
(interest-earning assets) and interest expense is incurred from deposits and borrowings (interest-bearing
liabilities). Typically, our results of operations are also affected by our provision for (recapture of) loan
losses, non-interest income generated from service charges and fees on loan and deposit accounts, gains or
losses on the sale of loans, REO and securities, non-interest expenses and income taxes.
Net Income
We recorded net income of $9.1 million, or $0.31 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2015,
compared to net income of $2.5 million, or $0.11 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2014.
The increase of $6.6 million in net income during the year ended December 31, 2015 was primarily due to
an increase of $768 thousand in loan loss provision recapture, an increase of $1.7 million in gain on sale of
loans and an income tax benefit of $4.6 million, primarily reflecting the reversal of a portion of the
valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets. Partially offsetting these increases was a decrease of
$570 thousand in net interest income before loan loss provision recapture during 2015.
Per share results in 2015 were impacted by the issuance of approximately 8.8 million shares in October
2014 in connection with a private placement that raised approximately $9.7 million of new common equity
capital.
Net Interest Income
For the year ended December 31, 2015, net interest income before loan loss provision recapture totaled
$11.3 million, representing a decrease of $570 thousand, or 5%, from the $11.9 million of net interest
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income before loan loss provision recapture reported for the year ended December 31, 2014. The decrease
in net interest income compared to 2014 was primarily due to the impact of loan sales of $138.7 million
made during the first three quarters of 2015, which were made to comply with prescribed loan
concentration guidelines applicable to the Bank. To mitigate the impact on interest income from these
sales and to achieve diversity in our loan portfolio, the Bank re-underwrote and purchased $99.7 million in
single family loans during the fourth quarter of 2015; however, this purchase was not completed until the
end of November. Also, net interest income was adversely impacted by lower average interest rates earned
on the loan portfolio because the average yield on the purchased single family loans was 111 basis points
lower than the average yield earned on the multi-family loans that were sold, and the interest rates
applicable to loan repayments were higher than those on loans that were originated in 2015. Net interest
income before loan loss provision recaptures was also lower because the aggregate interest expense on
deposits was higher in 2015, despite a slightly lower average cost of deposits. The higher total interest cost
of our deposits, which reflected growth in our deposit base, was partially offset by lower interest expense
on FHLB advances.
Interest income and fees on loans decreased $764 thousand, or 5%, to $14.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015, from $15.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The decrease in loan
interest income compared to 2014 was driven by a 55 basis point decrease in the average yield on loans to
4.88% for 2015 from 5.43% for 2014. The lower average yield on loans for 2015 was primarily due to lower
interest rates on new loans that were originated or purchased during the year than the weighted average
interest yield on the existing portfolio and the yield on loans sold during the year. Also, the lower average
yield during 2015 was attributable to payoffs and repayments of principal on higher rate loans, as well as
rate reductions from resetting the rates on some of our adjustable rate loans. Partially offsetting the
decrease in average yield on our loans was the impact from growing the total average loan portfolio,
including loans held for sale, which increased $15.8 million to $291.7 million for 2015 from $275.9 million
for 2014.
Total interest expense was $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which represented a
decrease of $4 thousand from the total interest expense of $3.9 million incurred during the year ended
December 31, 2014. Interest expense on deposits was $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015,
representing an increase of $184 thousand, or 11%, from the interest expense of $1.7 million incurred
during the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase in deposit interest expense compared to 2014 was
due to growth in money market and certificates of deposit accounts. The average balance of deposits
increased by $26.6 million to $240.3 million for 2015 compared to $213.7 million for 2014. As mentioned
above, the average cost of our deposits decreased during 2015.
Interest expense on borrowings was $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, a decrease of
$188 thousand, or 9%, from the interest expense on borrowings of $2.1 million incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2014. The decrease in interest expense on borrowings primarily reflected a decrease
of $154 thousand in interest expense on FHLB advances and a decrease of $34 thousand in interest
expense on the Debentures as a result of a partial repayment in late 2014. The decrease of $154 thousand
in interest expense on FHLB advances was primarily due to a decrease of 20 basis points in the average
cost of FHLB advances. The average balance of FHLB advances was $80.9 million in 2015 compared to
$80.3 million in 2014.
Analysis of Net Interest Income
Net interest income is the difference between income on interest-earning assets and the expense on
interest-bearing liabilities. Net interest income depends upon the relative amounts of interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the interest rates earned or paid on them. The following table sets
forth average balances, average yields and costs, and certain other information for the years indicated. All
average balances are daily average balances. The yields set forth below include the effect of deferred loan
fees, deferred origination costs, and discounts and premiums that are amortized or accreted to interest
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income or expense. We do not accrue interest on loans that are on non-accrual status; however, the
balance of these loans is included in the total average balance, which has the effect of reducing average
loan yields.

Average
Balance

(Dollars in Thousands)

Assets
Interest-earning assets:
Interest-earning deposits
Federal Funds sold and other short-term
investments
Securities
Loans receivable (1)
FHLB stock
Total interest-earning assets
Non-interest-earning assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Money market deposits
Passbook deposits
NOW and other demand deposits
Certificate accounts

$

For the year ended December 31,
2015
2014
Average
Yield/
Average
Interest
Cost
Balance
Interest

3,005 $

49,895
15,554
291,743
3,271

9

363,468 $15,155

8,267

$370,563

$335,804

$ 21,917 $ 110
36,252
115
28,813
21
153,291
1,664
1,910
1,808
146
—

Total interest-bearing liabilities

326,248 $ 3,864

4.80%

0.79% 213,698
2.24% 80,345
2.86%
5,792
—
2,206

1,726
1,962
180
—

0.81%
2.44%
3.11%
—

1.18% 302,041 $ 3,868

1.28%

$370,563

$335,804

Net interest rate margin (7)
Ratio of interest-earning assets to interest-bearing liabilities

69
0.23%
370
2.39%
14,994 (3) 5.43%
283
7.49%

0.38%
0.32%
0.08%
1.16%

4,872
28,891

$11,291

0.44%

0.50% $ 15,669 $
60
0.32% 36,752
119
0.07% 30,684
26
1.09% 130,593
1,521

4,692
39,623

Net interest rate spread (6)

13

4.17% 327,537 $15,729

7,095

240,273
80,875
5,100
—

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

2,975 $

122
0.24% 29,386
351
2.26% 15,493
14,230 (2) 4.88% 275,905
443
13.54%
3,778

Total deposits
FHLB advances
Junior subordinated debentures (4)
Senior debt (5)

Non-interest-bearing liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity

0.30% $

Average
Yield/
Cost

2.99%
3.11%
111.41%

$11,861

3.52%
3.62%
108.44%

(1) Amount is net of deferred loan fees, loan discounts and loans in process, and includes deferred
origination costs, loan premiums and loans receivable held for sale.
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(2) Includes non-accrual interest of $246 thousand, reflecting interest recoveries on non-accrual loans
that were paid off, and deferred cost amortization of $288 thousand for the year ended December 31,
2015.
(3) Includes non-accrual interest of $260 thousand, reflecting interest recoveries on non-accrual loans
that were paid off, and deferred cost amortization of $211 thousand for the year ended December 31,
2014.
(4) Includes compounding on past due interest. Interest on the Debentures was brought current in
October 2014.
(5) Includes default rate margin that was in effect up to August 22, 2013, when the senior debt was
restructured. No interest expense was recognized on the senior debt post restructuring because the
floating interest rate on the remaining modified loan did not exceed the floor rate of 6% post
modification. All remaining senior debt was paid off in October 2014.
(6) Net interest rate spread represents the difference between the yield on average interest-earning assets
and the cost of average interest-bearing liabilities.
(7) Net interest rate margin represents net interest income as a percentage of average interest-earning
assets.
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Changes in our net interest income are a function of changes in both rates and volumes of interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities. The following table sets forth information regarding changes in our
interest income and expense for the years indicated. Information is provided in each category with respect
to (i) changes attributable to changes in volume (changes in volume multiplied by prior rate), (ii) changes
attributable to changes in rate (changes in rate multiplied by prior volume), and (iii) the total change. The
changes attributable to the combined impact of volume and rate have been allocated proportionately to
the changes due to volume and the changes due to rate.
Year ended December 31, 2015
Year ended December 31, 2014
Compared to
Compared to
Year ended December 31, 2014
Year ended December 31, 2013
Increase (Decrease) in Net
Increase (Decrease) in Net
Interest Income
Interest Income
Due to
Due to
Due to
Due to
Volume
Rate
Total
Volume
Rate
Total
(In thousands)

Interest-earning assets:
Interest-earning deposits
Federal funds sold and other short
term investments
Securities
Loans receivable, net
FHLB stock

$ —

$

(4)

$

(4) $

(8)

$

—

$

(8)

50
1
829
(42)

3
(20)
(1,593)
202

53
(19)
(764)
160

(60)
120
920
(2)

9
(56)
(1,257)
97

(51)
64
(337)
95

Total interest-earning assets

838

(1,412)

(574)

970

(1,207)

(237)

Interest-bearing liabilities:
Money market deposits
Passbook deposits
NOW and other demand deposits
Certificate accounts

28
(2)
(2)
251

22
(2)
(3)
(108)

50
(4)
(5)
143

(4)
(2)
(2)
(193)

—
1
1
(314)

(4)
(1)
(1)
(507)

Total deposits
FHLB advances
Senior debt
Junior subordinated debentures

275
13
—
(20)

(91)
(167)
—
(14)

184
(154)
—
(34)

(201)
24
(355)
(7)

(312)
(129)
—
(16)

(513)
(105)
(355)
(23)

Total interest-bearing liabilities

268

(272)

(4)

(539)

(457)

(996)

Change in net interest income

$570

$(1,140)

$(570) $1,509

$ (750)

$ 759

Loan Loss Provision Recapture
For the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded a loan loss provision recapture of $3.7 million
compared to $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The loan loss provision recapture during
2015 was primarily due to the continued improvement in our loan loss experience, as well as the improved
asset quality in our loan portfolio as a result of reductions in our problem loans and in the balances of
certain loan classes that we believe bear higher risk, such as church and commercial real estate loans. See
‘‘Allowance for Loan Losses’’ for additional information.
Non-Interest Income
Non-interest income for the year ended December 31, 2015 totaled $2.9 million compared to $1.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2014. The $1.8 million increase in non-interest income during 2015 was
primarily due to a gain of $1.8 million on the sale of $164.1 million of loans in 2015 compared to a gain of
$19 thousand on the sale of $3.3 million of loans in 2014. We also received a CDFI grant that was

34

$155 thousand larger than the grant that we received in 2014 and recorded $167 thousand of income from
a settlement of a legal matter involving a customer. These increases more than offset the absence of any
gain on restructuring of debt in 2015. In 2014, we reported a gain on restructuring of debt of
$365 thousand, which represented the remaining unamortized deferred gain from restructuring our senior
debt in 2013, which we recognized as other income, when we paid off the remaining senior debt in October
2014.
Non-Interest Expense
Non-interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 totaled $13.4 million compared to
$13.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The $67 thousand increase in non-interest expense
during 2015 was primarily due to an increase of $1.2 million in compensation and benefits expense,
primarily reflecting a special accrual of $1.2 million for a contribution to our ESOP. Our Board declared an
additional contribution to the ESOP because it was not able to distribute equity incentives to management
and employees while the Consent Order was in effect. The Board felt that it was important to reward
employees for their performance over the last three years and to create long term equity incentives for
future performance. This increase was partially offset by a decrease of $413 thousand in REO expenses, a
decrease of $280 thousand in FDIC assessments, a decrease of $208 thousand in professional services
expense, a decrease of $139 thousand in other expense and a decrease of $85 thousand in office services
and supplies expense. The decrease in REO expense during 2015 was primarily due to reduced valuation
write-downs reflecting fewer foreclosures and more stable property values. The decrease of $280 thousand
in FDIC assessments during 2015 was primarily due to a reduction in our assessment rate. Professional
services expense in 2015 was lower than in 2014 due to legal and consulting fees incurred in 2014 in
connection with negotiating an extension of the maturity of the Debentures. Other expense decreased in
2015 due to lower appraisal expenses, primarily because we have fewer problem loans.
Income Taxes
We recorded an income tax benefit of $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to an
income tax expense of $3 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2014. Based on our ability to
reasonably project taxable income in future years, the income tax benefit for 2015 includes a partial
reversal of a portion of the valuation allowance. We believe it is more likely than not that a portion of the
deferred tax assets will be realized through future taxable income. In addition, approximately $3.0 million
of federal net operating loss carryforwards and $3.0 million state net operating loss carryforwards were
used to offset current taxable income for 2015. The tax expense for 2014 included the statutory minimum
taxes paid to the state of California, and also reflected the use of net operating loss carryforwards to offset
current taxable income in 2014. As of December 31, 2015 we had a remaining valuation allowance on
deferred tax assets of $2.5 million.
As of December 31, 2015, we had net deferred tax assets of $4.6 million, which includes federal and
California net operating loss carryforwards of $11.9 million and $29.2 million, respectively, which begin
expiring in 2031 through 2034. See Note 1 ‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’’ and Note 11
‘‘Income Taxes’’ of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of income taxes
and a reconciliation of income tax at the federal statutory tax rate to actual tax expense (benefit).
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposes limitations on a corporation’s ability to utilize net
operating loss carryforwards, tax credit carryovers and other income tax attributes when there is an
ownership change. Generally, the rules provide that an ownership change is deemed to have occurred
when the cumulative increase of each 5% or more stockholder and certain groups of stockholders treated
as 5% or more stockholders, as determined under Section 382, exceeds 50% over a specified ‘‘testing’’
period, generally equal to three years. Section 382 applies rules regarding the treatment of new groups of
stockholders treated as 5% stockholders due to issuances of stock and other equity transactions, which may
cause a change of control to occur. The Company has performed an analysis of the potential impact of
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Section 382 and has determined that the Company did not undergo an ownership change during 2015 or
2014 and any potential limitations imposed under Section 382 do not currently apply.
Comparison of Financial Condition at December 31, 2015 and 2014
Total Assets
Total assets were $402.9 million at December 31, 2015, which represented an increase of $52.0 million, or
15%, from total assets of $350.9 million at December 31, 2014. The growth in assets during 2015, which
was funded by deposit growth, was primarily due to changes in loans held for investment, which increased
$27.5 million, and in cash and cash equivalents, which increased $47.0 million. The increase of
$47.0 million in cash and cash equivalents was due to federal funds sold, part of cash and cash equivalents,
increasing substantially as a result of the $54.7 million growth in deposits. These increases were partially
offset by a decrease of $19.5 million in loans held for sale and a decrease of $2.9 million in securities
available-for-sale.
Loans Receivable Held for Sale
We had no loans receivable held for sale at December 31, 2015. Loans receivable held for sale at
December 31, 2014 totaled $19.5 million and consisted of multi-family loans. During 2015, we transferred
$90.2 million of multi-family loans from the held-for-investment portfolio to the held-for-sale portfolio and
allocated $57.7 million, or 51%, of our loan originations during 2015 to the held-for-sale portfolio as part
of our loan concentration risk management program. We sold $165.7 million of loans receivable held for
sale, including origination costs of $1.6 million, and received $1.6 million in principal repayments during
2015.
Loans Receivable Held for Investment
Our gross loan portfolio increased by $23.9 million to $309.0 million at December 31, 2015, from
$285.1 million at December 31, 2014. The increase in our loan portfolio during 2015 primarily consisted of
an increase of $91.5 million in our single family residential real estate loan portfolio due to loan purchases,
and a decrease of $53.9 million in our multi-family residential real estate loan portfolio due to loan sales.
Also, we experienced a reduction of $5.3 million in our commercial real estate loan portfolio and
$8.4 million in our church loan portfolio due to principal payoffs.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, loans originated for investment (excluding $57.7 million of multifamily loans allocated to held for sale) totaled $55.3 million, including origination costs of $416 thousand,
compared to loans originated for investment of $96.1 million, including origination costs of $563 thousand,
for the year ended December 31, 2014. Loan purchases, including purchase premiums of $498 thousand,
totaled $100.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. In contrast, we did not purchase any loans
during 2014. Loan repayments totaled $40.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to
$42.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. Loans transferred to our held-for-sale portfolio
totaled $90.2 million during 2015 compared to $22.8 million during 2014.
Gross loan charge-offs during 2015 totaled $89 thousand, compared to gross loan charge-offs of
$693 thousand during 2014. Loans transferred to REO during 2015 totaled $1.2 million, compared to
$2.6 million during 2014.
Allowance for Loan Losses
We record a provision for loan losses as a charge to earnings when necessary in order to maintain the
ALLL at a level sufficient, in management’s judgment, to absorb probable incurred losses in the loan
portfolio. At least quarterly we conduct an assessment of the overall quality of the loan portfolio and
general economic trends in the local market. The determination of the appropriate level for the allowance
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is based on that review, considering such factors as historical loss experience for each type of loan, the size
and composition of our loan portfolio, the levels and composition of our loan delinquencies,
non-performing loans and net loan charge-offs, the value of underlying collateral on problem loans,
regulatory policies, general economic conditions, and other factors related to the collectability of loans in
the portfolio.
Our ALLL decreased to $4.8 million, or 1.56% of our gross loans receivable held for investment, at
December 31, 2015, from $8.5 million, or 2.97% of our gross loans receivable held for investment, at
December 31, 2014, primarily reflecting $3.7 million of loan loss provision recapture. The loan portfolio as
of December 31, 2015 included $100.0 million of loans purchased for which there was no assigned
allowance for loan losses. These loans were purchased at fair value and management has not noticed any
deterioration of credit quality in these loans since purchase. The reduction in ALLL at December 31, 2015
compared to December 31, 2014, and the loan loss provision recaptures during 2015, reflect the results of
our quarterly reviews of the adequacy of the ALLL. We continue to maintain our ALLL at a level that we
believe is appropriate given the significant reduction in delinquencies and non-performing loans, the
continued improvement in our asset quality metrics and the high quality of our loan originations.
Our loan delinquencies and non-performing loans are at their lowest levels since December 2009. As of
December 31, 2015, we had total delinquencies of $1.4 million, compared to total delinquencies of
$2.5 million at December 31, 2014. The decrease of $1.1 million in loan delinquencies during 2015 was
primarily due to a loan sale of $857 thousand, payoffs of $292 thousand and transfers to REO of
$843 thousand. In addition, a delinquent loan in the amount of $455 thousand was brought current. These
decreases were partially offset by $1.4 million in new delinquent loans.
Non-performing loans (‘‘NPLs’’) consist of delinquent loans that are 90 days or more past due and other
loans, including troubled debt restructurings that do not qualify for accrual status. At December 31, 2015,
NPLs totaled $4.2 million, compared to $8.9 million at December 31, 2014. The decrease of $4.7 million in
NPLs was primarily due to payoffs of $1.4 million, transfers to REO of $1.2 million, a sale of
$857 thousand, returns to accrual status of $886 thousand, repayments of $544 thousand and charge-offs of
$89 thousand, which were partially offset by the placement of a church loan for $394 thousand into
non-accrual status.
In connection with our review of the adequacy of our ALLL, we track the amount and percentage of our
NPLs that are paying currently, but nonetheless must be classified as NPL for reasons unrelated to
payments, such as lack of current financial information and an insufficient period of satisfactory
performance. As of December 31, 2015, $3.2 million, or 76%, of our total NPLs of $4.2 million were
current in their payments. Also, in determining the ALLL, we consider the ratio of the ALLL to NPLs,
which increased to 114.22% at December 31, 2015 from 95.52% at December 31, 2014.
When reviewing the adequacy of the ALLL, we also consider the impact of charge-offs, including the
changes and trends in loan charge-offs. Gross loan charge-offs during 2015 were $89 thousand compared
to $693 thousand during 2014. The charge-offs during 2015 were primarily due to impairment losses on
foreclosed church loans and a delinquent single-family residential real estate loan that was fully written off.
In determining charge-offs, we update our estimates of collateral values on NPLs by obtaining new
appraisals at least every nine months. If the estimated fair value of the loan collateral less estimated selling
costs is less than the recorded investment in the loan, a charge-off for the difference is recorded to reduce
the loan to its estimated fair value, less estimated selling costs. Therefore, certain losses inherent in our
total NPLs are recognized periodically through charge-offs. The impact of updating these estimates of
collateral value and recognizing any required charge-offs is to increase charge-offs and reduce the ALLL
required on these loans. As of December 31, 2015, we had written down 70% of our NPLs to estimated fair
value less estimated selling costs. The remaining 30% of our NPLs at December 31, 2015 were reported at
cost because the fair value of collateral less estimated selling costs exceeded the recorded investment in the
loan.
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Recoveries during 2015 totaled $152 thousand and were primarily related to the payoff of a non-accrual
single family loan and repayments on B notes which had been fully written off as part of the restructured
A/B notes. Recoveries during 2014 totaled $1.9 million and were primarily due to payoffs of two
non-accrual loans secured by church properties and two commercial loans that had been fully written off in
late 2011 and a settlement of a loan, which had been previously written down, through an exchange for
property received in foreclosure, the fair value of which exceeded the cost basis of the related loan.
Impaired loans at December 31, 2015 were $15.8 million, compared to $23.5 million at December 31, 2014.
Specific reserves for impaired loans were $995 thousand, or 6.30% of the aggregate impaired loan amount
at December 31, 2015, compared to $1.5 million, or 6.40%, at December 31, 2014. Excluding specific
reserves for impaired loans, our coverage ratio (general allowance as a percentage of total non-impaired
loans) decreased to 1.31% at December 31, 2015, from 2.66% at December 31, 2014. The decrease in our
coverage ratio reflected a decline in our historical charge-offs and the continued improvements in our asset
quality.
We believe that the ALLL is adequate to cover probable incurred losses in the loan portfolio as of
December 31, 2015, but there can be no assurance that actual losses will not exceed the estimated
amounts. In addition, the OCC and the FDIC periodically review the ALLL as an integral part of their
examination process. These agencies may require an increase in the ALLL based on their judgments of the
information available to them at the time of their examinations.
Real Estate Owned
REO decreased by $1.7 million to $360 thousand at December 31, 2015, from $2.1 million at December 31,
2014. During 2015, three church loans were foreclosed and the properties securing the loans were
transferred to REO at fair values totaling $1.2 million. Four REO properties were sold during 2015 for net
proceeds of $2.9 million and a net loss of $45 thousand. At December 31, 2015, the Bank’s REO consisted
of one church building.
Deposits
Deposits totaled $272.6 million at December 31, 2015, up $54.7 million from December 31, 2014. During
2015, certificates of deposit increased by $46.2 million and represented 67% and 62% of total deposits at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Core deposits (NOW, demand, money market and passbook
accounts) increased by $8.5 million during 2015 and represented 33% and 38% of total deposits at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. A long-time customer deposited $12.5 million in his money
market and NOW accounts, and opened a $40.0 million two-year certificate of deposit during the third
quarter of 2015. This relationship accounted for approximately 17% of our deposits at December 31, 2015.
We expect to maintain this relationship with the customer for the near term.
Borrowings
At December 31, 2015, total borrowings consisted of FHLB advances of $72.0 million and Debentures
issued by the Company of $5.1 million. At December 31, 2014, total borrowings consisted of advances from
the FHLB of $86.0 million and Debentures of $5.1 million. During 2015, we repaid $14.0 million of FHLB
advances with proceeds from loan sales.
The weighted average cost of FHLB advances decreased 16 basis points from 2.31% at December 31, 2014
to 2.15% at December 31, 2015 primarily due to maturities of $35.0 million of FHLB advances with an
average interest rate of 2.02% and new advances totaling $21.0 million with an average interest rate of
1.24%.
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Stockholders’ Equity
Stockholders’ equity was $46.2 million, or 11.46% of the Company’s total assets, at December 31, 2015,
compared to $37.3 million, or 10.62% of the Company’s total assets, at December 31, 2014. The increase in
stockholders’ equity during 2015 was primarily due to net earnings for the year.
Capital Resources
Our principal subsidiary, Broadway Federal, must comply with capital standards established by the OCC in
the conduct of its business. Failure to comply with such capital requirements may result in significant
limitations on its business or other sanctions. As a ‘‘small bank holding company’’, we are not subject to
consolidated capital requirements under the new Basel III capital rules. The current regulatory capital
requirements and possible consequences of failure to maintain compliance are described in Part I, Item 1
‘‘Business-Regulation’’ and in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Liquidity
The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that we have the continuing ability to fund operations
and meet our obligations on a timely and cost-effective basis. The Bank’s sources of funds include deposits,
advances from the FHLB, other borrowings, proceeds from the sale of loans, REO, and investment
securities, and payments of principal and interest on loans and investment securities. The Bank is currently
approved by the FHLB to borrow up to 30% of total assets to the extent the Bank provides qualifying
collateral and holds sufficient FHLB stock. This approved limit and collateral requirement would have
permitted the Bank to borrow an additional $38.3 million at December 31, 2015. Also, the Bank received
$2.5 million cash from equity contributions by the Company during 2014. The Company did not make any
capital contributions to the Bank during 2015.
The Bank’s primary uses of funds include withdrawals of and interest payments on deposits, originations of
loans, purchases of investment securities, and the payment of operating expenses. Also, when the Bank has
more funds than required for reserve requirements or short-term liquidity needs, the Bank sells federal
funds to the Federal Reserve Bank or other financial institutions. The Bank’s liquid assets at December 31,
2015 consisted of $67.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and $13.4 million in securities
available-for-sale that were not pledged, compared to $20.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and
$15.9 million in securities available-for-sale that were not pledged at December 31, 2014. The high levels of
liquid assets as of December 31, 2015 primarily reflect the cash from new retail deposits. Currently, we
believe that the Bank has sufficient liquidity to support growth over the foreseeable future.
The Company’s liquidity, separate from the Bank, is based primarily on the proceeds from financing
transactions, such as the private placements completed in August 2013 and October 2014. The Company
has not been able to obtain funds from the Bank since 2010 as the Order, prior to its termination in
November 2015, placed limitations on the Bank, including prohibition of the payment of dividends by the
Bank without prior regulatory approval. The Bank is currently under no prohibition to pay dividends, but is
subject to restrictions as to the amount of the dividends based on normal regulatory guidelines.
The Company recorded consolidated net cash inflows from operating activities of $14.2 million and
$1.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Net cash inflows from
operating activities during 2015 were primarily attributable to net proceeds from the sale of loans.
The Company recorded consolidated net cash outflows from investing activities of $7.9 million and
$54.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Net cash outflows from
investing activities during 2015 were primarily attributable to the purchase of single-family loans during the
fourth quarter.
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The Company recorded consolidated net cash inflows from financing activities of $40.7 million and
$15.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Net cash inflows from
financing activities during 2015 were primarily attributable to the increase in deposits.
Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations
We are party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of our business,
primarily in order to meet the financing needs of our customers. These instruments involve, to varying
degrees, elements of credit, interest rate and liquidity risk. In accordance with GAAP, these instruments
are either not recorded in the consolidated financial statements or are recorded in amounts that differ
from the notional amounts. Such instruments primarily include lending commitments and lease
commitments as described below.
Lending commitments include commitments to originate loans and to fund lines of credit. Commitments
to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the commitment. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination
clauses and may require payment of a fee by the borrower. Since some of the commitments are expected to
expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements. We evaluate creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. Our maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the contractual amount of the instruments.
In addition to our lending commitments, we have contractual obligations related to operating lease
commitments. Operating lease commitments are obligations under various non-cancellable operating
leases on buildings and land used for office space and banking purposes. The following table details our
contractual obligations at December 31, 2015.

Certificates of deposit
FHLB advances
Subordinated debentures
Commitments to originate loans
Commitments to fund unused lines of credit
Operating lease obligations
Total contractual obligations

Less than
one year

More than
More than
one year to three years to More than
three years
five years
five years
(Dollars in thousands)

$ 99,098
7,000
—
4,322
—
439

$ 79,829
57,000
—
—
—
934

$ 2,201
8,000
1,785
—
—
975

$ 250
—
3,315
—
297
167

$181,378
72,000
5,100
4,322
297
2,515

$110,859

$137,763

$12,961

$4,029

$265,612

Total

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices
Our consolidated financial statements, including accompanying notes, have been prepared in accordance
with GAAP which require the measurement of financial position and operating results primarily in terms
of historical dollars without considering the changes in the relative purchasing power of money over time
due to inflation. The impact of inflation is reflected in increased costs of our operations. Unlike industrial
companies, nearly all of our assets and liabilities are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates have a
greater impact on our performance than do the effects of general levels of inflation. Interest rates do not
necessarily move in the same direction or to the same extent as the price of goods and services.
Critical Accounting Policies
Critical accounting policies are those that involve significant judgments and assessments by management,
and which could potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and
conditions. This discussion highlights those accounting policies that management considers critical. All
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accounting policies are important, however, and therefore you are encouraged to review each of the
policies included in Note 1 ‘‘Summary of Significant Accounting Principles’’ of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements beginning at page F-8 to gain a better understanding of how our financial
performance is measured and reported. Management has identified the Company’s critical accounting
policies as follows:
Allowance for Loan Losses
The determination of the allowance for loan losses is considered critical due to the high degree of
judgment involved, the subjectivity of the underlying assumptions used, and the potential for changes in
the economic environment that could result in material changes in the amount of the allowance for loan
losses considered necessary. The allowance is evaluated on a regular basis by management and the Board
of Directors and is based on a periodic review of the collectability of the loans in light of historical
experience, the nature and size of the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect borrowers’ ability to
repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral, prevailing economic conditions and feedback from
regulatory examinations. See Item 1, ‘‘Business – Asset Quality – Allowance for Loan Losses’’ for a full
discussion of the allowance for loan losses.
Real Estate Owned (‘‘REO’’)
REO consists of property acquired through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure and is recorded at
the fair value, less estimated costs to sell, at the time of acquisition. The excess, if any, of the loan balance
over the fair value of the property at the time of transfer from loans to REO is charged to the allowance
for loan losses. Subsequent to the transfer to REO, if the fair value of the property less estimated selling
costs declines to an amount less than the carrying value of the property, the deficiency is charged to income
as a provision expense and a valuation allowance is established. Operating costs after acquisition are
expensed as incurred. Due to changing market conditions, there are inherent uncertainties in the
assumptions made with respect to the estimated fair value of REO. Therefore, the amount ultimately
realized may differ from the amounts reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using the liability (or balance sheet) method. Under this
method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the tax effects of the temporary
differences between the book and tax bases of the various balance sheet assets and liabilities and gives
current recognition to changes in tax rates and laws. A valuation allowance is established against deferred
tax assets when, based upon the available evidence including historical and projected taxable income, it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In assessing the
realization of deferred tax assets, management evaluates both positive and negative evidence, including the
existence of any cumulative losses in the current year and the prior two years, the amount of taxes paid in
available carry-back years, forecasts of future income and available tax planning strategies. This analysis is
updated quarterly. Based on this analysis, the Company anticipates partial realization of its net deferred
tax assets and has reduced its valuation allowance to $2.5 million at December 31, 2015. As a result, the
Company reported $4.6 million of net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2015. The Company recorded a
valuation allowance of $8.8 million and $0 of net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2014. See Note 13
‘‘Income Taxes’’ of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, ‘‘Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.’’
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price)
in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between
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market participants on the measurement date. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to
measure fair values:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has
the ability to access as of the measurement date.
Level 2: Significant observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a company’s own assumptions about the assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
Fair values are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed
in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors,
especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or in market
conditions could significantly affect the estimates.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements of Broadway Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
As of December 31, 2015, an evaluation was performed under the supervision of the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer (‘‘CEO’’) and Chief Financial Officer (‘‘CFO’’) of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s
CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2015.
Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting
The management of Broadway Financial Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act. This system, which management has chosen to base on the framework set forth in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework, published by the 1992 Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (‘‘COSO’’), and which is effected by the Company’s Board of Directors,
management and other personnel, is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the Directors of the Company; and
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(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only
reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changes in
conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting may vary over time.
With the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management
has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over financial
reporting. Based on this evaluation, management determined that the Company’s system of internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting
firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to
attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this annual
report.
Changes in internal control over financial reporting
There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in
connection with the evaluation of internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth
quarter of 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Los Angeles, CA
March 28, 2016

/s/ Brenda J. Battey
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)
Los Angeles, CA
March 28, 2016

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy
Statement, under the captions ‘‘Election of Directors’’, ‘‘Executive Officers’’, ‘‘Code of Ethics’’ and
‘‘Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance’’, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission in connection with the Company’s 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the ‘‘Company’s
Proxy Statement’’).
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy
Statement, under the caption ‘‘Executive Compensation’’ and ‘‘Director Compensation’’.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy
Statement, under the caption ‘‘Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management’’.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy
Statement, under the caption ‘‘Certain Relationships and Related Transactions’’ and ‘‘Election of
Directors’’.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy
Statement, under the caption ‘‘Ratification of the Appointment of the Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm’’.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1.
2.

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the
required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes included
under Item 8, ‘‘Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.’’

(b) List of Exhibits
Exhibit
Number*

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant and amendments thereto (Exhibit 3.1 to
Form 10-Q filed by the Registrant on November 13, 2014)

3.2

Bylaws of Registrant

10.1

Broadway Federal Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan

10.2

Broadway Financial Corporation 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit A to Proxy
Statement filed by Registrant on Schedule 14A on November 17, 2009)

44

Exhibit
Number*

10.3

Deferred Compensation Plan (Exhibit 10.14 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
by the Registrant on November 20, 2013)

10.4

Salary Continuation Agreement Between Broadway Federal Bank and former Chief
Executive Officer Paul C. Hudson (Exhibit 10.15 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed by the Registrant on November 20, 2013)

21.1

List of Subsidiaries (Exhibit 21.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by the
Registrant on November 20, 2013)

23.1

Consent of Moss Adams LLP

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.4

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Interim Final Rule - TARP Standards
for Compensation and Corporate Governance at 31 CFR Part 30

99.5

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Interim Final Rule - TARP Standards
for Compensation and Corporate Governance at 31 CFR Part 30)

101.INS

*

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitions Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Exhibits followed by a parenthetical reference are incorporated by reference herein from the
document filed by the Registrant with the SEC described therein. Except as otherwise indicated, the
SEC File No. for each incorporated document is 000-27464.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

By:

/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw

Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 28, 2016
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 28, 2016

/s/ Brenda J. Battey
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: March 28, 2016

/s/ Virgil P. Roberts
Virgil P. Roberts
Chairman of the Board

Date: March 25, 2016

Kellogg Chan
Director

Date:

/s/ Robert C. Davidson, Jr.
Robert C. Davidson, Jr.
Director

Date: March 25, 2016

/s/ Albert Odell Maddox
Albert Odell Maddox
Director

Date: March 25, 2016

/s/ Daniel A. Medina
Daniel A. Medina
Director

Date: March 28, 2016
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/s/ Dutch C. Ross III
Dutch C. Ross III
Director

Date: March 25, 2016

/s/ Erin Selleck
Erin Selleck
Director

Date: March 25, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Broadway Financial Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Broadway Financial
Corporation and Subsidiary (the ‘‘Company’’) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash
flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Broadway Financial Corporation and Subsidiary as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the
years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
San Francisco, California
March 28, 2016
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
December 31, December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands, except share
and per share)

Assets
Cash and due from banks
Federal funds sold

$

Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale, at fair value
Loans receivable held for sale, at lower of cost or fair value
Loans receivable held for investment, net of allowance of $4,828 and $8,465
Accrued interest receivable
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) stock
Office properties and equipment, net
Real estate owned (REO)
Bank owned life insurance
Investment in affordable housing limited partnership
Deferred tax assets, net
Other assets
Total assets

5,104
62,735

$

5,740
15,050

67,839
14,140
—
304,171
1,077
2,573
2,570
360
2,882
925
4,594
1,781

20,790
17,075
19,481
276,643
1,216
4,254
2,697
2,082
2,821
1,117
—
2,687

$402,912

$350,863

$272,614
72,000
5,100
663
6,372

$217,867
86,000
5,100
1,081
3,557

356,749

313,605

—

—

215

215

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Liabilities:
Deposits
FHLB advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 6 and 14)
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 1,000,000 shares; none issued or
outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par value, voting, authorized 50,000,000 shares at December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014; issued 21,509,179 shares at December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014; outstanding 21,405,188 shares at December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014
Common stock, $.01 par value, non-voting, authorized 25,000,000 shares at
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014; issued and outstanding 7,671,520
shares at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Treasury stock-at cost, 103,991 shares

77
44,669
2,533
(2)
(1,329)

77
44,669
(6,539)
165
(1,329)

46,163

37,258

$402,912

$350,863

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

2014

(In thousands, except
per share)

Interest Income:
Interest and fees on loans receivable
Interest on mortgage-backed securities and other securities
Other interest income

$14,230
351
574

$14,994
370
365

15,155

15,729

1,910
1,954

1,726
2,142

3,864

3,868

11,291
(3,700)

11,861
(2,932)

14,991

14,793

453
1,751
—
355
349

437
19
365
200
52

Total non-interest income

2,908

1,073

Non-Interest Expense:
Compensation and benefits
Occupancy expense
Information services
Professional services
FDIC assessments
Office services and supplies
REO
Corporate insurance
Other

8,105
1,208
880
877
429
299
159
319
1,125

6,887
1,210
845
1,085
709
384
572
378
1,264

13,401

13,334

4,498
(4,574)

2,532
3

Total interest income
Interest Expense:
Interest on deposits
Interest on borrowings
Total interest expense
Net interest income before loan loss provision recapture
Loan loss provision recapture
Net interest income after loan loss provision recapture
Non-Interest Income:
Service charges
Net gain on sales of loans
Gain on restructuring of debt
CDFI grant
Other

Total non-interest expense
Income before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
Net income

$ 9,072

F-3

$ 2,529

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income (continued)
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

2014

(In thousands, except
per share)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale arising during the period
Income taxes

$ (167) $
—

85
—

(167)

85

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income

$ 8,905

$ 2,614

Earnings per common share-basic

$

0.31

$

0.11

Earnings per common share-diluted

$

0.31

$

0.11

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands, except share and per share)

Common
Shares
Issued

Retained
Accumulated
Additional
Earnings
Other
Total
Common Paid-in (Accumulated Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders’
Stock
Capital
Deficit)
Income, Net
Stock
Equity

Balance at December 31, 2013
20,328,673
Net income
—
Common stock issued, net of
issuance costs
8,829,549
Common stock issued for
services
22,477
Change in unrealized gain on
securities available-for-sale,
net of tax
—
Stock-based compensation
expense
—

$203
—

$35,704
—

89

8,929

—

—

—

9,018

—

25

—

—

—

25

—

—

—

85

—

85

—

11

—

—

—

11

Balance at December 31, 2014
29,180,699
Net income
—
Change in unrealized loss on
securities available-for-sale,
net of tax
—

292
—

44,669
—

—

—

—

(167)

$292

$44,669

$ 2,533

$ (2)

Balance at December 31, 2015

29,180,699

$(9,068)
2,529

(6,539)
9,072

$ 80
—

165
—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$(1,329)
—

(1,329)
—

—
$(1,329)

$25,590
2,529

37,258
9,072

(167)
$46,163

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended
December 31
2015
2014
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Recapture of loan losses
Provision for losses on REOs
Depreciation
Net amortization of deferred loan origination costs
Net amortization of premiums on mortgage-backed securities
Amortization of investment in affordable housing limited partnership
Stock-based compensation expense
Earnings on bank owned life insurance
Originations of for-sale loans receivable
Proceeds from for-sale loans receivable
Net gains on sales of loans
Net losses (gains) on sales of REOs
Gain on restructuring of debt
Amortization of deferred gain on debt restructuring
Stock-based compensation – non-employee
Deferred income tax benefit
Net change in accrued interest receivable
Net change in other assets
Net change in advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance
Net change in accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net change in loans receivable held for investment
Purchase of loans receivable held for investment
Proceeds from sales of loans receivable transferred to held for sale
Principal repayments on loans receivable transferred to held for sale
Available-for-sale securities:
Maturities, prepayments and calls
Purchases
Proceeds from sales of REO
Redemption of FHLB stock
Purchase of FHLB stock
Additions to office properties and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net change in deposits
Proceeds from FHLB advances
Repayments on FHLB advances
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repayments on junior subordinated debentures
Repayments on senior debt
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

$

9,072
(3,700)
—
238
294
51
192
—
(61)
(57,655)
68,592
(1,751)
45
—
—
—
(4,594)
139
906
(418)
2,815

(2,932)
457
241
221
57
192
11
(65)
—
—
(19)
(12)
(365)
(133)
25
—
(109)
636
305
270

14,165

1,309

(15,329)
(100,161)
98,840
1,621

(52,153)
—
3,292
—

2,717
—
2,879
1,869
(188)
(111)

2,813
(10,463)
2,871
—
(517)
(213)

(7,863)

(54,370)

54,747
21,000
(35,000)
—
—
—

3,462
17,000
(10,500)
9,018
(900)
(2,425)

40,747

15,655

47,049
20,790

(37,406)
58,196

$ 67,839
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
Year Ended
December 31
2015
2014
(In thousands)
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Transfers of loans receivable held for investment to REO
Transfers of loans receivable held for investment to loans receivable held for sale
Issuance of common stock for services

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

3,881
27

$ 4,517
3

$

1,202
90,166
—

$ 3,314
22,754
25

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015 and 2014

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation
Broadway Financial Corporation (the ‘‘Company’’) is a Delaware corporation primarily engaged in the
savings and loan business through its wholly owned subsidiary, Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. (the ‘‘Bank’’).
The Bank’s business is that of a financial intermediary and consists primarily of attracting deposits from
the general public and using such deposits, together with borrowings and other funds, to make mortgage
loans secured by residential and commercial real estate located in Southern California. At December 31,
2015, the Bank operated two retail-banking offices in Los Angeles, California and one in the nearby city of
Inglewood, California. The Bank is subject to significant competition from other financial institutions, and
is also subject to regulation by certain federal agencies and undergoes periodic examinations by those
regulatory authorities.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b.. All significant inter-company transactions and balances have
been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
To prepare consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (‘‘GAAP’’), management makes estimates and assumptions based on available information.
These estimates and assumptions affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
the disclosures provided, and actual results could differ from these estimates. The allowance and provision
for loan losses, specific reserves for impaired loans, fair value of real estate owned, deferred tax asset
valuation allowance, and fair values of investment securities and other financial instruments are
particularly subject to change.
Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, deposits with other financial institutions with original maturities
less than 90 days, and federal funds sold. Net cash flows are reported for net proceeds from issuance of
common stock, loans held for investment, deposit transactions, accrued interest receivable, other assets,
deferred income taxes, accrued interest payable, other liabilities, and advance payments by borrowers for
taxes and insurance.
Securities
Debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost when management has the
positive intent and ability to hold them to maturity. Debt securities are classified as available-for-sale when
they might be sold before maturity. Securities available-for-sale are carried at fair value, with unrealized
holding gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax.
Interest income includes amortization of purchase premium or discount. Premiums and discounts on
securities are amortized on the level-yield method without anticipating prepayments, except for mortgage
backed securities where prepayments are anticipated. Gains and losses on sales are recorded on the trade
date and determined using the specific identification method.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2015 and 2014
Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment (‘‘OTTI’’) on at least a quarterly
basis, and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation. Consideration
is given to the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, the length of time and the extent
to which the fair value has been less than the cost, and the intent and ability of management to retain its
investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. In
analyzing an issuer’s financial condition, management considers whether the securities are issued by the
federal government or its agencies, whether downgrades by bond rating agencies have occurred, and the
results of reviews of the issuer’s financial condition.
Loans Receivable Held for Sale
The Bank originates loans for investment but may, from time-to-time, decide to sell certain loans in order
to manage loan concentrations. When a decision is made to sell a loan(s), such loan(s) is transferred from
held-for-investment portfolio to held-for-sale portfolio at the lower of cost or fair value, as determined by
outstanding commitments from investors. If a reduction in value is required at time of the transfer, a
charge-off is recorded against the allowance for loan losses (‘‘ALLL’’). Any subsequent decline in value of
the loan(s) is recorded as a valuation allowance with a corresponding charge to non-interest expense.
Loans receivable held for sale are generally sold with servicing rights released. Gains and losses on sales of
loans are based on the difference between the selling price and the carrying value of the related loan sold.
When loans receivable held for sale are sold, existing deferred loan fees or costs are an adjustment of the
gain or loss on sale.
Loans Receivable Held for Investment
Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or
payoff are reported at the principal balance outstanding, net of allowance for loan losses, deferred loan
fees and costs and unamortized premiums and discounts. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid
principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct loan origination costs, premiums and
discounts are deferred, and recognized in income using the level-yield method without anticipating
prepayments.
Interest income on all loans is discontinued at the time the loan is 90 days delinquent unless the loan is
well-secured and in process of collection. Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the loan. In
all cases, loans are placed on non-accrual or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or
interest is considered doubtful.
All interest accrued but not received for loans placed on non-accrual is reversed against interest income.
Interest received on such loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost recovery method, until qualifying
for return to accrual. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts
contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of customers are engaged in similar business activities,
or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. The Company’s
lending activities are predominantly in real estate loans that are secured by properties located in Southern
California and many of the borrowers reside in Southern California. Therefore, the Company’s exposure to
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2015 and 2014
credit risk is significantly affected by changes in the economy and real estate market in the Southern
California area.
The Company has a significant concentration of deposits with a long-time customer that accounted for
approximately 17% of its deposits as of December 31, 2015. The Company expects to maintain this
relationship with the customer for the near term.
Loans Purchased
The Bank purchases or participates in loans originated by other institutions from time to time. Subject to
regulatory restrictions applicable to savings institutions, the Bank’s current loan policies allow all loan
types to be purchased. The determination to purchase specific loans or pools of loans is based upon the
Bank’s investment needs and market opportunities and is subject to the Bank’s underwriting policies,
which require consideration of the financial condition of the borrower and the appraised value of the
property, among other factors. Premiums or discounts incurred upon the purchase of loans are recognized
in income using the interest method over the estimated life of the loans, adjusted for prepayments. Loans
purchased during 2015 totaled $100.2 million, including premium. No loans were purchased during 2014.
Allowance for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit losses. Loan losses are
charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectability of a loan balance is
confirmed. Subsequent cash recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. Management estimates the
allowance balance required using past loan loss experience, the nature and volume of the portfolio,
information about specific borrower situations and estimated collateral values, economic conditions, and
other factors. Allocations of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the entire allowance is
available for any loan that, in management’s judgment, could be charged off. In addition, the OCC and
FDIC periodically review the allowance for loan losses as an integral part of their examination process.
These agencies may require an increase in the allowance for loan losses based on their judgments of the
information available to them at the time of their examinations.
The allowance consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that
are individually classified as impaired.
A loan is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be
unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Loans for
which the terms have been modified resulting in a concession, and for which the borrower is experiencing
financial difficulties, are considered troubled debt restructurings (‘‘TDR’’) and classified as impaired.
Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value,
and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that
experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired.
Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on case-by-case basis,
taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the
length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of the
shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.
If a loan is impaired, either a portion of the allowance is allocated so that the loan is reported, net, at the
present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s existing rate or alternatively a charge-off is
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2015 and 2014
taken to record the loan at the fair value of the collateral, less estimated selling costs, if repayment is
expected solely from the collateral.
Troubled debt restructurings are separately identified for impairment disclosures and are measured at the
present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s effective rate at inception. If a troubled debt
restructuring is considered to be a collateral dependent loan, the loan is reported, net, at the fair value of
the collateral. For troubled debt restructurings that subsequently default, the Company determines the
amount of any necessary additional charge-off based on internal analyses and appraisals of the underlying
collateral securing these loans.
The general component covers non-impaired loans and is based on historical loss experience adjusted for
current factors. The historical loss experience is determined by portfolio segment with the use of a loss
migration analysis and is based on the actual loss history experienced by the Company over the most recent
three years. This actual loss experience is supplemented with information about other current economic
factors based on the risks present for each portfolio segment. These current economic factors include
consideration of the following: levels of and trends in delinquencies and impaired loans; levels of and
trends in charge-offs and recoveries; trends in volume and terms of loans; effects of any changes in risk
selection and underwriting standards; other changes in lending policies, procedures, and practices;
experience, ability, and depth of lending management and other relevant staff; national and local economic
trends and conditions; industry conditions; and effects of changes in credit concentrations.
The following portfolio segments have been identified: one-to-four units (‘‘single family’’), five or more
units (‘‘multi-family’’), commercial real estate, church, construction, commercial loans, and consumer
loans. The risks in our various portfolio segments are as follows:
Single Family—Subject to adverse employment conditions in the local economy leading to increased
default rate; decreased market values from oversupply in a geographic area; impact on borrowers’ ability to
maintain payments in the event of incremental rate increases on adjustable rate mortgages.
Multi-Family—Subject to adverse various market conditions that cause a decrease in market value or lease
rates; change in personal funding sources for tenants; oversupply of units in a specific region; a shift in
population; reputational risks.
Commercial Real Estate—Subject to adverse conditions in the local economy which may lead to reduced
cash flows due to vacancies and reduced rental rates; decreases in the value of underlying collateral.
Church—Subject to adverse economic and employment conditions leading to reduced cash flows from
members’ donations and offerings; the stability, quality and popularity of church leadership.
Construction—Subject to adverse conditions in the local economy which may lead to reduced demand for
new commercial, multi-family or single family buildings or reduced lease or sale opportunities once the
building is complete.
Commercial—Subject to industry and economic conditions including decreases in product demand.
Consumer—Subject to adverse employment conditions in the local economy, which may lead to higher
default rates.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2015 and 2014
Real Estate Owned
Assets acquired through, or instead of, loan foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less estimated
costs to sell when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. These assets are subsequently accounted for at
lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell. If fair value declines subsequent to foreclosure, a
valuation allowance is recorded through a provision that is charged to non-interest expense. Operating
costs after acquisition are expensed as incurred.
Office Properties and Equipment
Land is carried at cost. Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Buildings
and related components are depreciated using the straight-line method with useful lives ranging from 10 to
40 years. Furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method with useful lives
ranging from 3 to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lease term or the estimated
useful life of the asset, whichever is shorter.
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) stock
The Bank is a member of the FHLB system. Members are required to own a certain amount of stock based
on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts. FHLB stock is carried
at cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate
recovery of par value. Both cash and stock dividends are reported as income when declared.
Bank-Owned Life Insurance
The Bank has purchased life insurance policies on a former key executive. Bank owned life insurance is
recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract at the balance sheet date, which
is the cash surrender value adjusted for other charges or other amounts due that are probable at
settlement.
Investment in Affordable Housing Limited Partnership
The Bank owns a less than 5% interest in an affordable housing limited partnership. The investment is
recorded using the cost method and is being amortized over the life of the related tax credits. The tax
credits are being recognized in income tax expense in the consolidated financial statements to the extent
they are utilized on the Company’s income tax returns. The investment is reviewed for impairment on an
annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurs that would trigger potential impairment.
Loan Commitments and Related Financial Instruments
Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans
and commercial letters of credit, issued to meet customer financing needs. The face amount for these items
represents the exposure to loss, before considering customer collateral or ability to repay. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.
Income Taxes
Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts for
the temporary differences between carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2015 and 2014
enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets to the amount expected to
be realized.
A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is ‘‘more likely than not’’ that the tax position would be
sustained in a tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is
the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax
positions not meeting the ‘‘more likely than not’’ test, no tax benefit is recorded.
The Company recognizes interest related to income tax matters in interest expense and penalties related to
tax matters in income tax expense.
Retirement Plans
Employee 401(k) expense is the amount of matching contributions made by the Company. Deferred
compensation plan expense allocates the benefits over years of service. The Bank makes discretionary cash
contributions to participant ESOP accounts up to 25% of eligible compensation.
Earnings Per Common Share
Basic earnings per common share is net income available to common stockholders divided by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. ESOP shares are considered
outstanding for this calculation unless unearned. Diluted earnings per common share includes the dilutive
effect of additional potential common shares issuable under stock options.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income or loss. Other
comprehensive income or loss includes unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale, net of
tax, which are also recognized as separate components of equity.
Loss Contingencies
Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are
recorded as liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be
reasonably estimated. Management does not believe that any such matters existed as of the balance sheet
date that will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
Restrictions on Cash
Cash on hand or on deposit with the Federal Reserve Bank was required to meet regulatory reserve and
clearing requirements. At December 31, 2015, the amount of cash reserves with the Federal Reserve Bank
was $2.1 million.
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price)
in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between
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market participants on the measurement date. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to
measure fair values:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has
the ability to access as of the measurement date.
Level 2: Significant observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a company’s own assumptions about the assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
Fair values are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed
in Note 5. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest
rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular
items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect the estimates.
Operating Segments
The Company operates as a single segment. The operating information used by management to assess
performance and make operating decisions about the Company is the consolidated financial data
presented in these financial statements. For the years ended 2015 and 2014, the Company had one active
operating subsidiary, Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. The Company has determined that banking is its one
reportable business segment.
Reclassifications
Some items in the prior year consolidated financial statements were reclassified to conform to the current
presentation. Reclassifications had no effect on prior year consolidated net income or stockholders’ equity.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, ‘‘Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern
(Subtopic 205-40)—Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going
Concern’’. ASU 2014-15 incorporates into U.S. GAAP a requirement that management complete a going
concern evaluation similar to that performed by an entity’s external auditor. Under the new guidance,
management will be required to perform interim and annual assessments of an entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern within one year of the date of issuance of the entity’s financial statements. Further, an
entity must provide certain disclosures if there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern. ASU 2014-15 is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and interim
periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. Adoption of this standard is not expected to have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-01, ‘‘Income Statement—Extraordinary and Unusual Items
(Subtopic 225-20)—Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of
Extraordinary Items’’. ASU 2015-01 eliminates from U.S. GAAP the concept of extraordinary items,
which, among other things, required an entity to segregate extraordinary items considered to be unusual
and infrequent from the results of ordinary operations and show the item separately in the income
statement, net of tax, after income from continuing operations. ASU 2015-01 is effective for annual periods
ending after December 15, 2015, and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. Adoption of
this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
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In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, ‘‘Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs’’.
Under ASU 2015-03, the Company will present debt issuance costs in the balance sheet as a reduction
from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. Amortization of such costs will continue to be
reported as interest expense. ASU 2015-03 is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2015,
and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. Retrospective adoption is required. Adoption
of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-1, ‘‘Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10)—
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’’. ASU 2016-1 (i) requires
equity investments, with certain exceptions, to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in net income, (ii) simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without readily
determinable fair values by requiring a qualitative assessment to identify impairment; (iii) eliminates the
requirement for public business entities to disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to
estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized cost
on the balance sheet; (iv) requires public business entities to use the exit price notion when measuring the
fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes; (v) requires an entity to present separately in
other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the fair value of a liability resulting from a
change in the instrument-specific credit risk when the entity has elected to measure the liability at fair
value in accordance with the fair value option for financial instruments; (vi) requires separate presentation
of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset on the
balance sheet or the accompanying notes to the financial statements; and (vii) clarifies that an entity
should evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset related to available-for-sale.
Adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, ‘‘Leases (Topic 842)’’. Under ASU 2016-02, lessees will
be required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of short-term leases) at the
commencement date: (i) a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from
a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (ii) a right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the
lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. Under the new guidance,
lessor accounting is largely unchanged. Public business entities should apply the amendments in ASU
2016-02 for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal
years. Early application is permitted for all public business entities upon issuance. Lessees (for capital and
operating leases) and lessors (for sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified
retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of the pending adoption of the new standard on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2—Securities
The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of the available-for-sale investment
securities portfolios at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and the corresponding amounts of
unrealized gains which are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income:

Amortized Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

(In thousands)

December 31, 2015:
Residential mortgage-backed
U.S. Government and federal agency
Total available-for-sale securities
December 31, 2014:
Residential mortgage-backed
U.S. Government and federal agency
Total available-for-sale securities

$11,796
1,946

$371
27

$ —
—

$12,167
1,973

$13,742

$398

$ —

$14,140

$14,578
1,932

$540
25

$ —
—

$15,118
1,957

$16,510

$565

$ —

$17,075

The amortized cost and fair value of the investment securities portfolios are shown by contractual maturity
at December 31, 2015. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities if borrowers have the
right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Securities not due at a
single maturity date, primarily residential mortgage-backed securities, are shown separately.
Available-for-Sale
Maturity

Amortized Cost

Fair Value

(In thousands)

Within one year
One to five years
Five to ten years
Beyond ten years
Residential mortgage-backed

$

Total

—
1,946
—
—
11,796

$13,742

$

—
1,973
—
—
12,167

$14,140

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, securities pledged to secure public deposits had a carrying amount of
$719 thousand and $1.2 million, respectively. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were no holdings of
securities of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and its agencies, in an amount greater than
10% of stockholders’ equity.
There were no sales of securities during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Note 3—Loans Receivable Held for Sale
There were no loans receivable held for sale at December 31, 2015. Loans receivable held for sale at
December 31, 2014 totaled $19.5 million and consisted of multi-family loans. During the year ended
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December 31, 2015, multi-family loans originated for sale totaled $57.7 million. There were no loans
originated for sale during 2014. In order to comply with regulatory loan concentration guidelines,
$90.2 million and $22.8 million of multi-family loans were transferred from held for investment to held for
sale during the years 2015 and 2014, respectively. Loan sales during the years 2015 and 2014 totaled
$165.7 million and $3.3 million, respectively.
Note 4—Loans Receivable Held for Investment
Loans at year-end were as follows:
December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

(In thousands)

Real estate:
Single family (1)
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial—other
Consumer

$130,891
118,616
11,442
46,390
343
270
4

$ 39,792
171,792
16,722
54,599
387
262
9

Gross loans receivable before deferred loan costs and premiums
Unamortized net deferred loan costs and premiums

307,956
1,043

283,563
1,545

Gross loans receivable
Allowance for loan losses

308,999
(4,828)

285,108
(8,465)

Loans receivable, net

$304,171

$276,643

(1) Includes $99.5 million of non-impaired purchased loans which are accounted for under ASC 310-20.
The following tables present the activity in the allowance for loan losses by loan type for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014:
For the year ended December 31, 2015
Real Estate
Single Multi- Commercial
Commercial
family family real estate Church Construction
—other
Consumer
Beginning balance
Provision for (recapture of) loan losses
Recoveries
Loans charged off

$1,174 $ 2,726
(702) (1,068)
129
—
(4)
—

$496
(27)
—
—

(In thousands)
$ 4,047
$ 7
(1,902)
(4)
23
—
(85)
—

Ending balance

$ 597 $ 1,658

$469

$ 2,083
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$ 3

Total

$ 12
6
—
—

$ 3
(3)
—
—

$ 8,465
(3,700)
152
(89)

$ 18

$—

$ 4,828
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For the year ended December 31, 2014
Real Estate
Multi- Commercial
Commercial
family real estate Church Construction —other Consumer
(In thousands)

Single
family

Beginning balance
$1,930 $1,726
Provision for (recapture of) loan
losses
(625) 1,000
Recoveries
2
—
Loans charged off
(133)
—

$1,473

Ending balance

$ 496

$1,174 $2,726

$ 4,949

(969)
—
(8)

$ 7

(1,228)
859
(533)

—
—
—

$ 4,047

$ 7

$

55

(1,107)
1,083
(19)
$

12

$ 6

Total

$10,146

(3)
—
—

(2,932)
1,944
(693)

$ 3

$ 8,465

The following tables present the balance in the allowance for loan losses and the recorded investment
(unpaid contractual principal balance less charge-offs, less interest applied to principal, plus unamortized
deferred costs and premiums) by loan type and based on impairment method as of December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014:

Single
family

Multifamily

December 31, 2015
Real Estate
Commercial
Commercial
real estate Church Construction
—other
Consumer
(In thousands)

Allowance for loan
losses:
Ending allowance balance attributable to loans:
Individually evaluated
for impairment
$
134 $
1 $
Collectively evaluated
for impairment
463
1,657

381

Total ending allowance
balance
Loans:
Loans individually
evaluated for
impairment
Loans collectively
evaluated for
impairment
Non-impaired
purchased loans
Total ending loans
balance

88 $

Total

756

$ —

$ 16

$—

1,327

3

2

—

3

$ 18

$—

$

$ —

$ 67

$—

$ 15,784

$

597 $

1,658 $

469 $ 2,083

$

963 $

1,440 $

1,924 $11,390

$

$

995
3,833
4,828

30,660

118,186

9,488

34,359

343

203

4

193,243

99,972

—

—

—

—

—

—

99,972

$131,595 $119,626 $ 11,412 $45,749

$343

$270

$ 4

$308,999
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Single
family

December 31, 2014
Real Estate
Commercial
Commercial
real estate Church Construction
—other
Consumer
(In thousands)

Multifamily

Allowance for loan losses:
Ending allowance balance attributable to loans:
Individually evaluated
for impairment
$ 132 $
115 $
Collectively evaluated
for impairment
1,042
2,611
Total ending allowance
balance
Loans:
Loans individually
evaluated for
impairment
Loans collectively
evaluated for
impairment
Total ending loans
balance

161

$ 1,088

$ —

$ 10

$—

335

2,959

7

2

3

Total

$

1,506
6,959

$ 1,174 $

2,726

$

496

$ 4,047

$

7

$ 12

$ 3

$

$ 1,414 $

2,765

$ 4,636

$14,602

$ —

$102

$—

$ 23,519

170,785

12,083

39,525

387

159

9

261,589

$40,055 $173,550

$16,719

$54,127

$387

$261

$ 9

$285,108

38,641

8,465

The following table presents information related to loans individually evaluated for impairment by loan
type as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2014
Allowance
Allowance
Unpaid
for Loan
Unpaid
for Loan
Principal
Recorded
Losses
Principal
Recorded
Losses
Balance
Investment
Allocated
Balance
Investment
Allocated
(In thousands)

With no related allowance recorded:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial—other
With an allowance recorded:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial—other
Total

$

877
912
636
5,615
—

$

302
779
259
3,542
—

$ —
—
—
—
—

$ 1,448
1,384
4,836
6,234
34

$

736
1,263
1,174
4,350
34

$

—
—
—
—
—

662
661
1,702
8,245
67

661
661
1,665
7,848
67

134
1
88
756
16

678
1,541
3,473
10,751
68

678
1,502
3,462
10,252
68

132
115
161
1,088
10

$19,377

$15,784

$995

$30,447

$23,519

$1,506

The recorded investment in loans excludes accrued interest receivable due to immateriality. For purposes
of this disclosure, the unpaid principal balance is not reduced for net charge-offs.

F-19

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2015 and 2014
The following table presents the monthly average of loans individually evaluated for impairment by loan
type and the related interest income for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
For the year ended
For the year ended
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2014
Cash Basis
Cash Basis
Average
Interest
Average
Interest
Recorded
Income
Recorded
Income
Investment
Recognized
Investment
Recognized
(In thousands)

Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial—other

$ 1,260
1,912
3,162
13,630
79

$ 140
136
275
614
6

$ 2,327
3,425
4,762
17,212
124

$

67
79
373
787
9

Total

$20,043

$1,171

$27,850

$1,315

Cash-basis interest income recognized represents cash received for interest payments on accruing impaired
loans. Interest payments collected on non-accrual loans are characterized as payments of principal rather
than payments of the outstanding accrued interest on the loans until the remaining principal on the
non-accrual loans is considered to be fully collectible. Foregone interest income that would have been
recognized had loans performed in accordance with their original terms amounted to $708 thousand and
$1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and were not included in the
consolidated results of operations.
The following tables present the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans as of December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014 by loan type:
December 31, 2015
Greater than
90 Days
Total
Past Due
Past Due
(In thousands)

30-59
Days
Past Due

60-89
Days
Past Due

Loans receivable held for investment:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial—other
Consumer

$ 103
291
—
595
—
—
—

$ —
—
—
—
—
—
—

$ —
—
—
456
—
—
—

$ 103
291
—
1,051
—
—
—

$131,492
119,335
11,412
44,698
343
270
4

Total

$ 989

$ —

$456

$1,445

$307,554
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30-59
Days
Past Due

Loans receivable held for investment:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial—other
Consumer
Total

$

60-89
Days
Past Due

December 31, 2014
Greater than
90 Days
Total
Past Due
Past Due
(In thousands)

—
455
856
—
—
34
—

$ —
—
—
180
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
987
—
—
—

$1,345

$180

$ 987

$

Current

—
455
856
1,167
—
34
—

$ 40,055
173,095
15,863
52,960
387
227
9

$ 2,512

$282,596

The following table presents the recorded investment in non-accrual loans by loan type as of December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014:
December 31, December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands)

Loans receivable held for investment:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial—other

$ 302
779
259
2,887
—

$

Total non-accrual loans

$4,227

$ 8,862

736
1,618
1,174
5,232
102

There were no loans 90 days or more delinquent that were accruing interest as of December 31, 2015 or
December 31, 2014.
Troubled Debt Restructurings
At December 31, 2015, loans classified as troubled debt restructurings (‘‘TDRs’’) totaled $15.3 million, of
which $3.8 million were included in non-accrual loans and $11.5 million were on accrual status. At
December 31, 2014, loans classified as TDRs totaled $20.2 million, of which $5.5 million were included in
non-accrual loans and $14.7 million were on accrual status. The Company has allocated $995 thousand and
$1.3 million of specific reserves for accruing TDRs as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. TDRs on accrual status are comprised of loans that were accruing at the time of restructuring
or loans that have complied with the terms of their restructured agreements for a satisfactory period of
time, and for which the Bank anticipates full repayment of both principal and interest. TDRs that are on
non-accrual status can be returned to accrual status after a period of sustained performance, generally
determined to be six months of timely payments as modified. A well-documented credit analysis that
supports a return to accrual status based on the borrower’s financial condition and prospects for
repayment under the revised terms is also required. As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the
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Company had no commitment to lend additional amounts to customers with outstanding loans that are
classified as TDRs. No loans were modified during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Credit Quality Indicators
The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of
borrowers to service their debt such as: current financial information, historical payment experience, credit
documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among other factors. For single family
residential, consumer and other smaller balance homogenous loans, a credit grade is established at
inception, and generally only adjusted based on performance. Information about payment status is
disclosed elsewhere herein. The Company analyzes all other loans individually by classifying the loans as to
credit risk. This analysis is performed at least on a quarterly basis. The Company uses the following
definitions for risk ratings:
• Watch. Loans classified as watch exhibit weaknesses that could threaten the current net worth and
paying capacity of the obligors. Watch graded loans are generally performing and are not more than
59 days past due. A watch rating is used when a material deficiency exists but correction is
anticipated within an acceptable time frame.
• Special Mention. Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves
management’s close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in
deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of the institution’s credit position at some
future date.
• Substandard. Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth
and paying capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified have a
well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. They are
characterized by the distinct possibility that the institution will sustain some loss if the deficiencies
are not corrected.
• Doubtful. Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as
substandard, with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in
full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and
improbable.
• Loss. Loans classified as loss are considered uncollectible and of such little value that to continue to
carry the loan as an active asset is no longer warranted.
Loans not meeting the criteria above that are analyzed individually as part of the above described process
are considered to be pass rated loans. Pass rated loans are generally well protected by the current net
worth and paying capacity of the obligor or by the value of the underlying collateral. Pass rated loans are
not more than 59 days past due and are generally performing in accordance with the loan terms.
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The following tables present the recorded investment of loans by risk category and by loan type as of
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014:
December 31, 2015
Special Mention
Substandard
(In thousands)

Pass

Watch

Doubtful

Loss

Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real
estate
Church
Construction
Commercial—other
Consumer

$128,736
117,602

$ —
—

$2,557
352

302
1,672

$—
—

$—
—

7,509
35,013
343
203
4

—
776
—
—
—

—
1,431
—
—
—

3,903
8,529
—
67
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

Total

$289,410

$776

$4,340

$14,473

$—

$—

Pass

Watch

Doubtful

Loss

Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real
estate
Church
Construction
Commercial—other
Consumer

$ 35,850
170,700

$ —
—

$ 3,465
613

740
2,237

$—
—

$—
—

13,218
41,716
387
159
9

—
—
—
—
—

284
2,202
—
—
—

3,217
10,209
—
102
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

Total

$262,039

$ —

$ 6,564

$16,505

$—

$—

$

December 31, 2014
Special Mention
Substandard
(In thousands)
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Note 5—Fair Value
The Company used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair value:
The fair values of securities available-for-sale are determined by obtaining quoted prices on nationally
recognized securities exchanges (Level 1 inputs) or matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technique to
value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securities, but rather by
relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities (Level 2 inputs).
The fair value of impaired loans that are collateral dependent is generally based upon the fair value of the
collateral which is obtained from recent real estate appraisals. These appraisals may utilize a single
valuation approach or a combination of approaches including comparable sales and the income approach.
Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the independent appraisers to adjust for
differences between the comparable sales and income data available. Such adjustments are usually
significant and typically result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value. Impaired
loans are evaluated on a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly.
Assets acquired through or by transfer in lieu of loan foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less
costs to sell when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. These assets are subsequently accounted for at
the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell. Fair value is commonly based on recent real
estate appraisals which are updated every nine months. These appraisals may utilize a single valuation
approach or a combination of approaches including comparable sales and the income approach.
Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the independent appraisers to adjust for
differences between the comparable sales and income data available. Such adjustments are usually
significant and typically result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value. Real
estate owned properties are evaluated on a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted
accordingly.
Appraisals for collateral-dependent impaired loans and real estate owned are performed by certified
general appraisers (for commercial properties) or certified residential appraisers (for residential
properties) whose qualifications and licenses have been reviewed and verified by the Company. Once
received, an independent third-party licensed appraiser reviews the appraisals for accuracy and
reasonableness, reviewing the assumptions and approaches utilized in the appraisal as well as the overall
resulting fair value in comparison with independent data sources such as recent market data or
industry-wide statistics.
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Assets Measured on a Recurring Basis
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2015
Quoted Prices
in Active
Significant
Markets for
Other
Significant
Identical
Observable Unobservable
Assets
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
Total
(In thousands)

Assets:
Securities available-for-sale—residential mortgagebacked
Securities available-for-sale—U.S. Government and
federal agency

$

—

$12,167

1,973

—

$

—

$12,167

—

1,973

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014
Quoted Prices
in Active
Significant
Markets for
Other
Significant
Identical
Observable Unobservable
Assets
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
Total
(In thousands)

Assets:
Securities available-for-sale—residential mortgagebacked
Securities available-for-sale—U.S. Government and
federal agency

$

—

$15,118

1,957

—

$

—

$15,118

—

1,957

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014.
Assets Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis
Assets are considered to be reflected at fair value on a non-recurring basis if the fair value measurement of
the instrument does not necessarily result in a change in the amount recorded on the balance sheet.
Generally, a non-recurring valuation is the result of the application of other accounting pronouncements
that require assets to be assessed for impairment or recorded at the lower of cost or fair value.
The following table provides information regarding the carrying values of our assets measured at fair value
on a non-recurring basis at the dates indicated. The fair value measurement for all of these assets falls
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
(In thousands)

Impaired loans carried at fair value of collateral
Real estate owned
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The following table provides information regarding losses recognized on assets measured at fair value on a
non-recurring basis for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
For the year
ended
December 31,
2015
2014
(In thousands)

Impaired loans carried at fair value of collateral
Real estate owned
Total

$38
45

$452
445

$83

$897

The following table presents the valuation methodology and unobservable inputs for Level 3 assets
measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2015:
December 31, 2015
Unobservable
Input(s)

Valuation
Technique(s)

Range

Impaired loans

Third Party
Appraisals

Adjustment for differences
between the comparable sales

12% to 13%

Real estate owned

Third Party
Appraisals

Adjustment for differences
between the comparable sales

11%

Weighted
Average

1%
11%

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial instruments, at December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 were as follows:
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2015

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale
Loans receivable held for investment
Accrued interest receivable
Federal Home Loan Bank stock
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits
Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Accrued interest payable

Carrying
Value

Level 1

$ 67,839
14,140
304,171
1,077
2,573

$67,839
1,973
—
63
2,573

$

—
12,167
—
31
—

$

—
—
306,643
983
—

$ 67,839
14,140
306,643
1,077
2,573

$272,614
72,000
5,100
52

$

$265,495
73,441
—
46

$

—
—
3,117
6

$265,495
73,441
3,117
52
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Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale
Loans receivable held for sale
Loans receivable held for investment
Accrued interest receivable
Federal Home Loan Bank stock
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits
Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Accrued interest payable

Carrying
Value

Level 1

$ 20,790
17,075
19,481
276,643
1,216
4,254

$20,790
1,957
—
—
78
4,254

$

—
15,118
19,679
—
88
—

$

—
—
—
277,000
1,050
—

$ 20,790
17,075
19,679
277,000
1,216
4,254

$217,867
86,000
5,100
69

$

$210,181
88,246
—
39

$

—
—
2,034
30

$210,181
88,246
2,034
69

—
—
—
—

Level 2
(In thousands)

Level 3

Total

The methods and assumptions, not previously presented, used to estimate fair values are described as
follows:
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate fair values and are classified as Level 1.
(b) Loans receivable held for sale
The Company’s loans receivable held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value. The fair value of
loans receivable held for sale is determined by pricing for comparable assets or by outstanding
commitments from third party investors, resulting in a Level 2 classification.
(c) Loans receivable held for investment
Fair values of loans, excluding loans receivable held for sale, are estimated as follows: For variable rate
loans that reprice frequently and with no significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on carrying
values resulting in a Level 3 classification. Fair values for other loans are estimated using discounted cash
flow analyses, using interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of
similar credit quality resulting in a Level 3 classification. Impaired loans are valued at the lower of cost or
fair value as described previously. The methods utilized to estimate the fair value of loans do not
necessarily represent an exit price.
(d) FHLB Stock
The carrying value of FHLB stock approximates its fair value as the shares can only be redeemed by the
FHLB at par.
(e) Accrued Interest Receivable/Payable
The carrying amounts of accrued interest receivable/payable approximate their fair value and are classified
the same as the related asset.
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(f) Deposits
The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (e.g., interest and non-interest checking, passbook savings,
and certain types of money market accounts) are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at
the reporting date (i.e., their carrying amount) resulting in Level 2 classification. Fair values for fixed rate
certificates of deposit are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations that apply interest rates
currently being offered on certificates to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly maturities on time
deposits resulting in a Level 2 classification.
(g) Federal Home Loan Bank Advances
The fair values of the Federal Home Loan Bank advances are estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses based on the current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements resulting in a
Level 2 classification.
(h) Junior Subordinated Debentures
The fair values of the Debentures are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based on the current
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements resulting in a Level 3 classification.
Note 6—Office Properties and Equipment, net
Year-end office properties and equipment were as follows:
2015
2014
(In thousands)

Land
Office buildings and improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment

$

572
3,254
1,743
5,569
(2,999)

Less accumulated depreciation
Office properties and equipment, net

$ 2,570

$

572
3,231
1,655
5,458
(2,761)

$ 2,697

Depreciation expense was $238 thousand and $241 thousand for the years 2015 and 2014, respectively.
At December 31, 2015, the Company was obligated through 2021 under various non-cancelable operating
leases on buildings and land used for office space and banking purposes. These operating leases contain
escalation clauses which provide for increased rental expense, based primarily on increases in real estate
taxes and cost-of-living-indices. The Company also leases certain office equipment. Rent expense under
the operating leases was $559 thousand for 2015 and $478 thousand for 2014.
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Minimum noncancelable lease commitments, before considering renewal options that generally are
present, are as follows:

Year ending December 31:
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter
Total

Premises

Equipment
(In thousands)

Total

$ 404
416
467
481
494
167

$35
34
17
—
—
—

$ 439
450
484
481
494
167

$2,429

$86

$2,515

Note 7—Deposits
Deposits are summarized as follows:
December 31,
2015
2013
(In thousands)

NOW account and other demand deposits
Non-interest bearing demand deposits
Money market deposits
Passbook
Certificates of deposit
Total

$ 10,630
19,428
25,788
35,390
181,378

$

8,576
20,937
16,266
36,970
135,118

$272,614

$217,867

There were no brokered deposits at December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Certificates of deposit of $100 thousand or more were $151.6 million and $103.4 million at year end 2015
and 2014.
Scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit for the next five years are as follows:
Maturity

Amount
(In thousands)

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter

$ 99,098
74,745
5,084
1,128
1,073
250
$181,378
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Deposits from principal officers, directors, and their affiliates totaled $1.8 million and $1.7 million at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Note 8—Federal Home Loan Bank Advances
The following table summarizes information relating to FHLB advances at or for the periods indicated.
At or For the
Year Ended
2015
2014
(Dollars in thousands)

FHLB Advances:
Average balance outstanding during the year
Maximum amount outstanding at any month-end during the year
Balance outstanding at end of year
Weighted average interest rate at end of year
Average cost of advances during the year
Weighted average maturity (in months)

$80,875
$84,500
$72,000
2.15%
2.24%
24

$80,345
$86,000
$86,000
2.31%
2.44%
23

Each advance is payable at its maturity date, with a prepayment penalty. The advances were collateralized
by $135.2 million and $193.6 million of first mortgage loans at year-end 2015 and 2014, respectively, under
a blanket lien arrangement. Based on this collateral, the Company’s holdings of FHLB stock and a general
borrowing limit of 30% of total assets, the Company is eligible to borrow up to an additional $38.3 million
at year-end 2015.
Required payments over the next five years are as follows:
Amount
(In thousands)

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

$ 7,000
39,500
17,500
8,000
—
$72,000

Note 9—Junior Subordinated Debentures
On March 17, 2004, the Company issued $6.0 million of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debentures
(the ‘‘Debentures’’) in a private placement to a trust that was capitalized to purchase subordinated debt
and preferred stock of multiple community banks. Interest on the Debentures is payable quarterly at a rate
per annum equal to the 3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. The interest rate is determined as of each March 17,
June 17, September 17, and December 17, and was 3.07% at December 31, 2015. On October 16, 2014, the
Company made payments of $900 thousand of principal on Debentures, executed a Supplemental
Indenture for the Debentures that extended the maturity of the Debentures to March 17, 2024, and
modified the payment terms of the remaining $5.1 million principal amount thereof. The modified terms of
the Debentures require quarterly payments of interest only through March 2019 at the original rate of
3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. Starting in June 2019, the Company will be required to make quarterly
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payments of equal amounts of principal, plus interest, until the Debentures are fully amortized on
March 17, 2024. The Debentures may be called for redemption at any time by the Company.
Note 10—Employee Benefit Plans
Broadway Federal 401(k) Plan
A 401(k) benefit plan allows employee contributions for substantially all employees up to 15% of their
compensation, which are matched at a rate equal to 50% of the first 6% of the compensation contributed.
Expense totaled $46 thousand and $105 thousand for 2015 and 2014.
ESOP Plan
Employees participate in an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (‘‘ESOP’’) after attaining certain age and
service requirements. Upon termination of their employment with the Bank, participants will receive
shares in accordance with their vested balance. Vesting occurs over seven years. The number of shares held
by the ESOP and allocated to participants was 360,235 at December 31, 2015 and 2014. There were no
shares unallocated as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. Dividends on allocated shares increase participant
accounts. Compensation expense related to the ESOP was $1.3 million for 2015 and $69 thousand for
2014.
Deferred Compensation Plan
The Bank has a deferred compensation agreement with its former Chief Executive Officer (‘‘Former
CEO’’) whereby a stipulated amount will be paid to the Former CEO over a period of 15 years beginning
on his retirement date in May 2013. Pursuant to the U.S Treasury Troubled Asset Relief Program, the
Company is not permitted to make payments under this deferred compensation agreement. The amount
accrued under this agreement was $1.2 million at December 31, 2015 and $1.0 million at December 31,
2014, and was accrued over the period of the Former CEO’s active employment. Compensation expense
was $104 thousand for 2015 and $58 thousand for 2014.
Note 11—Income Taxes
The Company and its subsidiary are subject to U.S. federal and state income taxes. Income tax expense is
the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
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Income tax expense was as follows:
2015
2014
(In thousands)

Current
Federal
State
Deferred
Federal
State
Change in valuation allowance

$

—
20

$ —
3

1,238
505
(6,337)

Total

530
324
(854)

$(4,574) $

3

Effective tax rates differ from the federal statutory rate of 34% applied to income before income taxes due
to the following:
2015
2014
(In thousands)

Federal statutory rate times financial statement net income
Effect of:
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Earnings from bank owned life insurance
Low income housing credits
Change in valuation allowance
Other, net
Total

$ 1,529
323
(25)
(212)
(6,337)
148

$ 861
183
(27)
(212)
(854)
52

$(4,574) $
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Year-end deferred tax assets and liabilities were due to the following:
2015
2014
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses
Accrued liabilities
State income taxes
Deferred compensation
Stock compensation
Net operating loss carryforward
Non-accrual loan interest
Partnership investment
General business credit
Alternative minimum tax credit
Other

$

311
222
51
475
110
6,141
14
125
1,091
185
531

$ 1,833
286
44
513
275
7,341
58
60
938
113
33

9,256

11,494

Valuation allowance

(2,527)

(8,806)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred loan fees/costs
Real estate owned
Basis difference on fixed assets
Net unrealized appreciation on available-for-sale securities
FHLB stock dividends
Mortgage servicing rights
Prepaid expenses

(1,246)
(15)
(59)
(164)
(574)
(17)
(60)

(1,633)
(86)
(80)
(222)
(574)
(26)
(67)

(2,135)

(2,688)

Total deferred tax assets

Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$ 4,594

$

—

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more
likely than not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In assessing the
realization of deferred tax assets, management evaluates both positive and negative evidence, including the
existence of cumulative losses in the current year and the prior two years, the amount of taxes paid in
available carry-back years, the forecasts of future income and tax planning strategies. This analysis is
updated quarterly. Based on this analysis, the Company anticipates partial realization of its net deferred
tax assets and has reduced its valuation allowance to $2.5 million at December 31, 2015. As a result, the
Company reported $4.6 million in net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2015. The Company recorded
a valuation allowance of $8.8 million and $0 net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2014.
As of December 31, 2015, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of $11.9 million and
California net operating loss carryforwards of $29.2 million, which begin expiring in 2031 through 2034.
The Company also has federal general business credits of $1.1 million, expiring beginning in 2031 through
2035, and alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards of $172 thousand, which can be carried forward
indefinitely.
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Federal income tax laws previously allowed the Company additional bad debt deductions based on the
reserve method of computing the federal bad debt deduction. This method of computing the Company’s
federal bad debt deduction was permitted to be used by the Company until the end of 1987. As of
December 31, 1987, the tax bad debt reserve balance totaled $3.0 million. Accounting standards do not
require a deferred tax liability to be recorded on this amount, which otherwise would total approximately
$1.0 million at year end 2015 and 2014. If the Bank were liquidated, or otherwise ceases to be a bank, the
$3.0 million tax bad debt reserve may need to be recaptured into taxable income and income tax expense
would need to be provided.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
2015
2014
(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of year
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
Additions for tax positions of prior year
Reductions for tax positions of prior years
Settlements

$475
—
—
—
—

$488
—
—
(13)
—

Balance at end of year

$475

$475

The $475 thousand balance at December 31, 2015 represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that,
if recognized, would favorably affect the income tax provision in future periods. The Company expects that
the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits may decrease significantly within the next twelve months due
to expected settlement with the state taxing authorities. During 2015 and 2014, $5 thousand and
$3 thousand were accrued during each period for potential interest related to these unrecognized tax
benefits.
Federal tax years 2012 through 2015 remain open for the assessment of Federal income tax. California tax
years 2010 through 2015 remain open for the assessment of California income tax. The Company is
currently under examination by the California Franchise Tax Board (‘‘FTB’’) for the 2009, 2010, and 2011
tax years. The FTB has adjusted the Company’s California net operating loss carryforwards for items which
the Company has established an unrecognized tax benefit. The Company has protested the adjustments
and does not expect that significant additional tax expense will result.
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Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation
In 2008, the Company adopted the 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘‘2008 LTIP’’), which was approved by
its stockholders. The 2008 LTIP permits the grant of non-qualified and incentive stock options, stock
appreciation rights, full value awards and cash incentive awards to the Company’s non-employee directors
and certain officers and employees for up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock. Option awards are
generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s common stock at the
date of grant; the option awards have vesting periods ranging from immediate vesting to 5 years and have
10-year contractual terms.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a closed form option valuation
(Black-Scholes) model. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatilities of the Company’s common
stock. The Company uses historical data to estimate option exercise and post-vesting termination behavior.
The expected term of options granted is based on historical data and represents the period of time that
options granted are expected to be outstanding, which takes into account that the options are not
transferable. The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of the grant.
A summary of the activity in the 2008 LTIP for the years 2015 and 2014 follow:
2015

2014

Number
Outstanding

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Number
Outstanding

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Forfeited or expired during the year

93,750
—
—
(3,125)

$4.94
—
—
4.80

93,750
—
—
—

$4.94
—
—
—

Outstanding at end of year

90,625

$4.95

93,750

$4.94

Vested at end of year

90,625

$4.95

93,750

$4.94

Exercisable at end of year

90,625

$4.95

93,750

$4.94

No options were granted or exercised during 2015 and 2014. Options forfeited during 2015 totaled 3,125.
There were no forfeitures during 2014. The Company recorded no stock-based compensation expense
during 2015 compared to $11 thousand of stock-based compensation expense recorded during 2014. As of
December 31, 2015, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options
granted under the plan. Options outstanding and options exercisable had no intrinsic value and had a
weighted average remaining contractual term of 3.3 years at December 31, 2015.
Note 13—Capital and Regulatory Matters
Effective September 9, 2010, the Company and the Bank agreed to the issuance of cease and desist orders
(the ‘‘Orders’’) by the Office of Thrift Supervision, which was succeeded by the Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency (‘‘OCC’’). The Order applicable to the Company prohibits the Company from paying
dividends to its stockholders without the prior written approval of the FRB, which is now the federal
regulator for savings and loan holding companies. In addition, the Company is not permitted to incur,
issue, renew, repurchase, make payments on or increase any debt or redeem any capital stock without prior

F-35

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2015 and 2014
notice to and receipt of written notice of non-objection from the FRB. The FRB provided written notice of
non-objection for the Company’s payments of interest on the Debentures during the fourth quarter of 2014
and the year 2015.
Effective November 23, 2015, the OCC has terminated the Consent Order, which was entered into by the
Bank with the OCC in October 2013 and superseded the Order applicable to the Bank. This decision
follows a full regulatory review of the Bank that the staff of the OCC completed in July 2015. The
regulatory order from the FRB for the Company was terminated on February 5, 2016.
The Bank’s capital requirements are administered by the OCC and involve quantitative measures of assets,
liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Capital
amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the OCC. Failure to meet capital
requirements can result in regulatory action.
The federal banking regulators approved final capital rules (‘‘Basel III Capital Rules’’) in July 2013
implementing the Basel III framework as well as certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. The Basel III
Capital Rules prescribe a standardized approach for calculating risk-weighted assets and revised the
definition and calculation of Tier 1 capital, Total capital, and include a new Common Equity Tier 1 capital
(‘‘CET1’’). Under the Basel III Capital Rules, the minimum capital ratios effective as of January 1, 2015
are:
• 4.5% CET1 to risk-weighted assets;
• 6.0% Tier 1 capital (that is, CET1 plus Additional Tier 1 capital) to risk-weighted assets;
• 8.0% Total capital (that is, Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital) to risk-weighted assets; and
• 4.0% Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (known as the ‘‘leverage ratio’’).
A new capital conservation buffer is also established above the regulatory minimum capital requirements.
This capital conservation buffer will be phased in beginning January 1, 2016 at 0.625% of risk-weighted
assets and will increase each subsequent year by an additional 0.625% until reaching its final level of 2.5%
on January 1, 2019.
The Basel III Capital rules also contain revisions to the prompt corrective action framework, which is
designed to place restrictions on insured depository institutions if their capital levels begin to show signs of
weakness. Under the prompt corrective action requirements, which are designed to complement the
capital conservation buffer, insured depository institutions are now required to meet the following
increased capital level requirements in order to qualify as ‘‘well capitalized:’’ (i) a new CET1 capital ratio
of 6.5%; (ii) a Tier 1 capital ratio of 8% (increased from 6%); (iii) a total capital ratio of 10% (unchanged
from previous rules); and (iv) a Tier 1 leverage ratio of 5% (unchanged from previous rules).
The Basel III Capital Rules became effective for the Bank on January 1, 2015 (subject to a phase-in period
for certain provisions). At December 31, 2015, the Bank’s level of capital exceeded all regulatory capital
requirements and its regulatory capital ratios were above the minimum levels required to be considered
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well capitalized for regulatory purposes. Actual and required capital amounts and ratios at December 31,
2015 and 2014 are presented below.

Minimum Capital
Requirements

Actual
Amount

Minimum Required
To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective
Action Provisions

Ratio

Amount

Ratio

Amount

Ratio

(Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2015:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 1
Total Capital

$46,028
$46,028
$46,028
$49,010

11.56%
19.45%
19.45%
20.71%

Actual
Amount

Ratio

$15,923
$10,650
$14,200
$18,933

4.0%
4.5%
6.0%
8.0%

$19,903
$15,383
$18,933
$23,667

5.0%
6.5%
8.0%
10.0%

Required for Capital
Adequacy Purposes

Capital Requirements
under Consent Order

Amount

Amount

Ratio

Ratio

(Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2014:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Tier 1
Total Capital

$39,773
$39,773
$42,870

11.34%
16.41%
17.69%

$14,028
$ 9,695
$19,390

4.00%
4.00%
8.00%

$31,562
N/A
$31,508

9.00%
N/A
13.00%

Note 14—Loan Commitments and Other Related Activities
Some financial instruments, such as loan commitments, credit lines, letters of credit, and overdraft
protection, are issued to meet customer financing needs. These are agreements to provide credit or to
support the credit of others, as long as conditions established in the contract are met, and usually have
expiration dates. Commitments may expire without being used. Off-balance-sheet risk for credit loss exists
up to the face amount of these instruments, although material losses are not anticipated. The same credit
policies are used to make such commitments as are used for loans, including obtaining collateral at
exercise of the commitment.
The contractual amounts of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk at year-end were as follows:
2015

2014

(In thousands)

Commitments to make loans
Unused lines of credit—variable rates

$4,322
297

$1,000
365

Commitments to make loans are generally made for periods of 60 days or less. At year-end 2015, loan
commitments consisted of three multi-family residential loans with initial five year interest rates ranging
from 3.25% to 3.75%.
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Note 15—Parent Company Only Condensed Financial Information
Condensed financial information of Broadway Financial Corporation follows:
Condensed Balance Sheet
December 31,
2015

2014

(In thousands)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in bank subsidiary
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Junior subordinated debentures
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$ 2,016
49,480

$ 2,880
39,944

$51,496

$42,824

$ 5,100
233
46,163

$ 5,100
466
37,258

$51,496

$42,824

2015

2014

Condensed Statements of Income
Years ended December 31,

(In thousands)

Interest income
Interest expense
Gain on restructuring of debt
Other expense

$

Loss before income tax and undistributed subsidiary income
Income taxes expense
Equity in undistributed subsidiary income
Net income

— $
—
(146)
(180)
—
365
(484)
(875)
(630)
(1)
9,703

$ 9,072
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31,
2015

2014

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in
operating activities:
Equity in undistributed subsidiary income
Gain on restructuring of debt
Amortization of deferred gain on debt restructuring
Stock-based compensation — non-employee
Change in other assets
Change in accrued expenses and other liabilities

$ 9,072

$ 2,529

(9,703)
—
—
—
—
(233)

(3,221)
(365)
(133)
25
2
(381)

Net cash used in operating activities

(864)

(1,544)

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in bank subsidiary

—

(2,500)

Net cash used in investing activities

—

(2,500)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock and
Recapitalization
Repayments on senior debt
Repayments on junior subordinated debentures

—
—
—

9,018
(2,425)
(900)

Net cash provided by financing activities

—

5,693

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Beginning cash and cash equivalents
Ending cash and cash equivalents

(864)
2,880
$ 2,016
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Note 16—Earnings Per Common Share
The factors used in the earnings per common share computation follow:
2015
Basic

2014

(Dollars in thousands, except
share and per share)

Net income

$

9,072

$

2,529

Income available to common stockholders

$

9,072

$

2,529

Weighted average common shares outstanding
Earnings per common share—basic
Diluted
Net income
Income available to common stockholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding for
basic earnings per common share
Add: dilutive effects of assumed exercises of stock
options
Average shares and dilutive potential common
shares
Earnings per common share—diluted

29,076,708

22,103,488

$

0.31

$

0.11

$

9,072

$

2,529

$

9,072

$

2,529

29,076,708

22,103,488

—

—

29,076,708

22,103,488

$

0.31

$

0.11

Stock options for 90,625 shares and 93,750 shares of common stock for the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively, were not considered in computing diluted earnings per common share because they
were anti-dilutive.
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BYLAWS OF
BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION
ARTICLE I.
NAME
Section 1.1 Name. The name of this corporation shall be “Broadway Financial
Corporation.”
ARTICLE II.
OFFICES
Section 2.1 Registered Office . The corporation shall at all times maintain a
registered office in the State of Delaware, which, except as otherwise determined by the Board
of Directors of the corporation (the “Board”), shall be in the City of Dover, County of Kent.
Section 2.2 Principal Office . The principal office of the corporation shall be
maintained at such place within or without the State of Delaware as the Board shall designate.
Section 2.3 Other Offices. The corporation may also have offices at such other
places within or without the State of Delaware as the Board shall from time to time designate or
the business of the corporation shall require.
ARTICLE III.
MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
Section 3.1 Place of Meetings. All annual and special meetings of stockholders
shall be held at such places within or without the State of Delaware as the Board may
determine.
Section 3.2 Annual Meetings.
3.2.1 Time and Place. The regular annual meeting of stockholders for the
election of directors and for the transaction of any other business of the corporation shall be
held each year at 2:00 p.m. on the third Wednesday of April, if not a legal holiday, or, if a legal
holiday, then on the next succeeding day not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, or at such
other time, date or place as the Board may determine.
3.2.2 New Business . At the annual meetings, directors shall be elected
and any other business properly proposed and filed with the Secretary of the corporation as in
these Bylaws provided may be transacted which is within the powers of the stockholders.

Any new business to be conducted at the annual meeting of the
stockholders shall be stated in writing and filed with the Secretary of the corporation on or
before 30 days in advance of the date (month and day) of the previous year’s annual meeting,
and all business so stated, proposed and filed shall, unless prior action thereon is required by
the Board, be considered at the annual meeting. Any stockholder may make any other
proposal at the annual meeting and the same may be discussed and considered, but unless
stated in writing and filed with the Secretary of the corporation on or before 30 days in advance
of the date (month and day) of the previous year’s annual meeting, such proposal may only be
voted upon at a meeting held at least 30 days after the annual meeting at which it is
presented. No other proposal may be acted upon at the annual meeting. This provision shall
not prevent the consideration, approval or disapproval at the annual meeting of the reports of
officers and committees, but in connection with such reports no business shall be acted upon
at such annual meeting unless stated and filed as herein provided.
Section 3.3 Notice . Written notice stating the place, day and hour of the
meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting of the stockholders is called shall
be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting, either
personally or by mail, to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting. If mailed,
such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid,
and addressed to the stockholder at his or her address as it appears on the records of the
corporation as of the record date prescribed in Section 3.9.1 and Section 10.1.1 of these
Bylaws.
Section 3.4 Nominations For Director. Nominations of candidates for election
as directors at any meeting of stockholders may be made (a) by, or at the direction of, a
majority of the Board, or (b) by any stockholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting;
provided , that only persons nominated in accordance with procedures set forth in this
Section 3.4 shall be eligible for election as directors.
Nominations, other than those made by, or at the direction of, the Board, may
only be made pursuant to timely notice in writing to the Secretary of the corporation as set forth
in this Section 3.4 . To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall be delivered to, or mailed and
received by the Secretary of the corporation, for an annual meeting, not less than 60 days nor
more than 90 days in advance of the date (month and day) of the previous year’s annual
meeting, and for a special meeting, not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days in advance of
the date (month and day) of the special meeting, regardless of any postponement or
adjournments of that meeting to a later date. Such stockholder notice shall set forth (a) as to
each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election as a director, (i) the
name, age, business address and residential address of such person, (ii) the principal
occupation or employment of such person, (iii) the class and number of shares of the
corporation’s stock which are beneficially owned by such person on the date of such
stockholder notice and (iv) any other information relating to such person that would be required
to be disclosed on Schedule 13D pursuant to Regulation 13D-G under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), in connection with the acquisition of stock, and
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, in connection with solicitation of

proxies with respect to nominees for election as directors, regardless of whether such person is
subject to the provisions of such regulations, including, but not limited to, information required
to be disclosed by Items 4(b) and 6 of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A with the Securities and
Exchange Commission; and (ii) as to the stockholder giving the notice (a) the name and
address, as they appear on the corporation’s books, of such stockholder and the name and
principal business or residential address of any other beneficial stockholders known by such
stockholder to support such nominees and (b) the class and number of shares of the
corporation’s stock which are beneficially owned by such stockholder on the date of such
stockholder notice and the number of shares owned beneficially by any other record or
beneficial stockholders known by such stockholder to be supporting such nominees on the
date of such stockholder notice. At the request of the Board, any person nominated by, or at
the request of the Board for election as a director shall furnish to the Secretary of the
corporation that information required to be set forth in a stockholder’s notice of nomination
which pertains to the nominee.
The Board may reject any nomination by a stockholder not timely made in
accordance with the requirements of this Section 3.4. If the Board, or a committee designated
by the Board, determines that the information provided in a stockholder’s notice does not
satisfy the information requirements of this Section 3.4 in any material respect, the Secretary of
the corporation shall promptly notify such stockholder of the deficiency of time, not less than
five days from the date such deficiency notice is given to the stockholder, as the Board or such
committee shall determine. If the deficiency is not cured within such period, or if the Board or
such committee determines that the additional information provided by the stockholder,
together with information previously provided, does not satisfy the requirements of this
Section 3.4 in any material respect, then the Board may reject such stockholder’s notice and
the proposed nominations shall not be accepted if presented at the stockholder meeting to
which the notice relates. The Secretary of the corporation shall notify a stockholder in writing
whether his or her nomination has been made in accordance with the time and informational
requirements of this Section 3.4. Notwithstanding the procedure set forth in this Section 3.4, if
neither the Board nor such committee makes a determination as to the validity of any
nominations by a stockholder, the presiding officer of the stockholder’s meeting shall determine
and declare at the meeting whether a nomination was not made in accordance with the terms
of this Section 3.4 . If the presiding officer determines that a nomination was not made in
accordance with the terms of this Section 3.4 he or she shall so declare at the meeting and the
defective nomination shall not be accepted.
Section 3.5 Special Meetings . Special meetings of stockholders for the
purpose of taking any action permitted the stockholders by law and the certificate of
incorporation of this corporation may be called at any time by the Board. Except in special
cases where other express provision is made by statute, notice of such special meetings shall
be given in the same manner as for annual meetings of stockholders.
Section 3.6 Voting Lists. The officer having charge of the stock transfer books
for shares of the capital stock of the corporation shall make, at least 10 days before each
meeting of the stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to

vote at such meeting, with the address of and the number of shares registered in the name of,
each stockholder. Such list shall be subject to inspection by any stockholder, for any purpose
germane to the meeting, at any time during the meeting, either at a place within the city where
the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not
so specified in the notice of the meeting, at the place where the meeting is to be held. Such list
shall also be produced and kept open at the time and place of the meeting and shall be subject
to the inspection of any stockholder during the whole time of the meeting. The original stock
transfer books shall be prima facie evidence as to who are the stockholders entitled to examine
such list or transfer books or to vote at any meeting of stockholders.
Section 3.7 Quorum. A majority of the shares entitled to vote, represented in
person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of
the stockholders. The stockholders present at a duly called or held meeting at which a quorum
is present may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal
of enough stockholders to leave less than a quorum, if any action taken (other than
adjournment) is approved by at least a majority of the shares required to constitute a quorum.
Section 3.8 Adjourned Meeting and Notice Thereof . Any stockholders’
meeting, annual or special, whether or not a quorum is present, may be adjourned from time to
time by the vote of a majority of the shares present, whether in person or represented by proxy,
but in the absence of a quorum no other business may be transacted at such meeting, except
as provided in Section 3.7 above. When any stockholders’ meeting, either annual or special, is
adjourned for more than 30 days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the
adjourned meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of
record entitled to vote at the meeting. Except as provided above, it shall not be necessary to
give any notice of the adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof are announced at the
meeting at which such adjournment is taken.
Section 3.9 Voting.
3.9.1 Record Date. Unless a record date for voting purposes be fixed as
provided in Section 10.1.1 of these Bylaws then, subject to the provisions of Section 217 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “General Corporation Law”) (relating to
voting of shares held by fiduciaries, pledgors and joint owners), only persons in whose names
shares entitled to vote stand on the stock records of the corporation at the close of business on
the business day next preceding the day on which notice of the meeting is given or, if such
notice is waived, at the close of business on the business day next preceding the day on which
the meeting of stockholders is held, shall be entitled to vote at such meeting, and such day
shall be the record date for such meeting.
3.9.2 Method; Vote Required . Unless otherwise required by law, voting
may be oral or by written ballot; provided, however, that all elections for directors must be by
ballot if demanded by a stockholder before such voting begins. Except as

provided in Section 3.7 and except with respect to election of directors, the affirmative vote of
the majority of the shares represented and voting at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is
present (which shares voting affirmatively also constitute at least a majority of the required
quorum) shall be the act of the stockholders, unless the vote of a greater number or voting by
classes is required by the General Corporation Law or the certificate of incorporation or these
bylaws. Directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present in person or
represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors.
3.9.3 Voting of Shares by Certain Holders. Shares standing in the name
of another corporation may be voted by any officer, agent or proxy as the bylaws of such
corporation may prescribe, or, in the absence of such provision, as the board of directors of
such corporation may determine. Shares held by an administrator, executor, guardian or
conservator may be voted by him or her, either in person or by proxy, without a transfer of such
shares into his or her name. Shares standing in the name of a trustee may be voted by him or
her, either in person or by proxy, but no trustee shall be entitled to vote shares held by him or
her without a transfer of such shares into his or her name.
Neither treasury shares of its own stock held by the corporation, nor
shares held by another corporation, if a majority of the shares entitled to vote for the election of
directors of such other corporation are held directly or indirectly by the corporation, shall be
voted at any meeting or counted in determining the total number of outstanding shares at any
given time for purposes of any meeting.
Section 3.10 Conduct of Meeting . The presiding officer at any meeting of
stockholders, either annual or special, shall be the Chairman of the Board or, in his or her
absence, the President or, in the absence of both the Chairman of the Board and the
President, anyone selected by a majority of the Board. The secretary at such meetings shall
be the Secretary of the corporation or, in his or her absence, anyone appointed by the
presiding officer.
Section 3.11 Proxies . At all meetings of the stockholders, every stockholder
having the right to vote shall be entitled to vote in person or by proxy appointed by an
instrument in writing and complying with the requirements of the General Corporation Law. No
proxy shall be valid after the expiration of three years from the date thereof unless otherwise
provided in the proxy. A duly executed proxy shall be irrevocable and if, and only so long as, it
is coupled with an interest in the stock of the corporation or in the corporation generally which
is sufficient in law to support an irrevocable power.
Section 3.12 Informal Action by Stockholders. Unless otherwise stated in the
certificate of incorporation, any action required to be taken or which may be taken at any
annual or special meeting of the stockholders of the corporation may only be taken by written
consent without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be
signed by all of the stockholders of the corporation entitled to vote thereon.

Section 3.13 Inspectors of Election . In advance of any meeting of
stockholders, the Board may appoint any persons other than nominees for office as inspectors
of election to act at such meeting or any adjournment thereof. If inspectors of election be not
so appointed, or if any persons so appointed fail to appear or refuse to act, the presiding officer
of any such meeting may, and on the request of any stockholder or a stockholder’s proxy shall,
make such appointment at the meeting. The number of inspectors shall be either one or three.
If appointed at a meeting on the request of one or more stock-holders or proxies, the majority
of shares represented in person or by proxy shall determine whether one or three inspectors
are to be appointed. The duties of such inspectors shall include: determining the number of
shares of stock and the voting power of each share, the shares of stock represented at the
meeting, the existence of a quorum, and the authenticity, validity and effect of the proxies;
receiving votes, ballots or consents; hearing and determining all challenges and questions in
any way arising in connection with the right to vote; counting and tabulating all votes or
consents; determining the result, and such acts as may be proper to conduct the election or
vote with fairness to all stockholders.
ARTICLE IV.
DIRECTORS
Section 4.1 Powers. Subject to any limitations imposed by law, the certificate of
incorporation and these Bylaws as to actions which shall be authorized or approved by the
stockholders, and subject to the duties of directors as prescribed thereby, the business and
affairs of the corporation shall be managed and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or
under the direction of the Board. Each Director shall perform the duties of a Director, including
duties of a member of any Committee of the Board of which the Director may serve, in good
faith, in a manner the Director believes to be in the best interests of the corporation and with
care, including responsible inquiry as an ordinary prudent person in a like position would use
under the same or similar circumstances.
Section 4.2 Number of Directors. The exact number of directors shall be fixed
from time to time by the Board pursuant to a resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the full Board.
Section 4.3 Election and Term of Office. The directors shall be divided into
three classes: the first class, the second class and the third class. Each director shall serve for
a term ending on the third annual meeting following the annual meeting at which such director
was elected; provided, however, that the directors first elected to the first class shall serve for a
term ending upon the election of directors at the annual meeting next following the end of the
calendar year 1995, the directors first elected to the second class shall serve for a term ending
upon the election of directors at the second annual meeting next following the end of the
calendar year 1995, and the directors first elected to the third class shall serve for a term
ending upon the election of directors at the third annual meeting next following the end of the
calendar year 1995. At each annual election commencing at the first annual meeting of
stockholders, the successors to the class of directors whose term expires at the time shall be
elected by

the stockholders to hold office for a term of three years to succeed those directors whose term
expires, so that the term of one class of directors shall expire each year.
In the event of any change in the authorized number of directors, each director
then continuing to serve as such shall continue as a director of the class of which he or she is a
member until the expiration of his or her current term, or his or her prior resignation,
disqualification, disability or removal.
Section 4.4 Newly Created Directorships and Vacancies. Any vacancies on
the Board resulting from death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office or
other cause may only be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of directors then in office,
although less than a quorum, or by the sole remaining director, or, in the event of the failure of
the directors or the sole remaining director so to act, by the stockholders at the next annual
meeting which occurs after the expiration of a 90-day period commencing on the day the
vacancy is created. Directors so chosen shall hold office for a term expiring at the annual
meeting of stockholders at which the term of the class to which they have been elected
expires. A director elected to fill a vacancy by reason of an increase in the number of
directorships may be elected by a majority vote of the directors then in office, although less
than a quorum of the Board, to serve until the next election of the class for which such director
shall have been chosen. If the number of directors is changed, any increase or decrease may
be allocated to any such class the Board selects in its discretion. No decrease in the number
of directors constituting the Board shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.
Section 4.5 Regular Meetings. The Board shall meet regularly at the time and
place designated in a resolution of the Board or by written consent of all members of the
Board, whether within or without the State of Delaware, and no notice of such regular meetings
need be given to the directors.
Section 4.6 Organization Meeting . Following each annual meeting of
stockholders, the Board shall hold a regular meeting at the place of said annual meeting or at
such other place as shall be fixed by the Board, for the purpose of organization, election of
officers, and the transaction of other business. Call and notice of such meetings are hereby
dispensed with.
Section 4.7 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by
the Chairman of the Board, the President, the Chief Executive Officer, the Secretary, or any
two directors. Notice of each such meeting shall be given to each director by the secretary or
by the person or persons calling the meeting. Such notice shall specify the time and place of
the meeting, which may be within or without the State of Delaware, and the general nature of
the business to be transacted, and no other business may be transacted at the meeting. Such
notice shall be deposited in the mail, postage prepaid at least four days prior to the meeting,
directed to the address of the director on the records of the corporation or delivered in person
or by telephone or telegram, telecopy or other means of electronic transmission to the director
at least 48 hours before the meeting. Notice of a meeting need not be given to any director
who signs a waiver of notice or a consent to holding the meeting, or an approval of the

minutes thereof, whether before or after such meeting, or who attends the meeting without
protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to such director. All such
waivers, consents and approvals shall be filed with the corporate records or made a part of the
minutes of the meeting.
Section 4.8 Quorum; Majority Action. A majority of the authorized number of
directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board,
but if less than such majority is present at a meeting, a majority of the directors present may
adjourn the meeting from time to time. Notice of any adjourned meeting shall be given in the
same manner as prescribed in Section 4.7 of these Bylaws. Every act or decision of a majority
of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present, made or done at a meeting
duly held, shall be valid as the act of the Board, unless a greater number is required by law or
the certificate of incorporation or these Bylaws.
Section 4.9 Action Without Meeting . Any action required or permitted to be
taken by the Board may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board shall
individually or collectively consent in writing to such action. Such written consent or consents
shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board and shall have the same force
and effect as an unanimous vote of the Board.
Section 4.10 Telephonic Meetings. Members of the Board may participate in
any regular or special meeting, including meetings of committees of the Board, through use of
conference telephone or similar communications equipment, so long as all members
participating in such meeting can hear one another. Participation in a meeting pursuant to this
section constitutes presence in person at such meeting.
Section 4.11 Fees and Compensation . Fees and compensation of directors
and members of committees for their services, and reimbursement for expenses, shall be fixed
or determined by a resolution of the Board. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to
preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity as an officer,
employee, agent or otherwise, and receiving compensation therefor.
Section 4.12 Removal . A director may be removed only for cause as
determined by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the shares then
entitled to vote in an election of directors, which vote may only be taken at an annual meeting
or a special meeting. Cause for removal shall be deemed to exist only if the director whose
removal is proposed has been convicted of a felony by a court of competent jurisdiction or has
been adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be liable for gross negligence or
misconduct in the performance of such director’s duty to the corporation and such adjudication
is not longer subject to direct appeal.
Section 4.13 Directors Emeritus/Advisory Directors. The board of directors
may by resolution appoint directors emeritus or advisory directors who shall have such
authority and receive such compensation and reimbursement as the board of

directors shall provide. Directors emeritus or advisory directors shall not have the authority to
participate by vote in the transaction of business.
ARTICLE V.
OFFICERS
Section 5.1 Executive Officers. The executive officers of the Corporation shall
be the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, each Senior
Executive Vice President, each Executive Vice President, the Secretary, the Treasurer, the
Chief Financial Officer and any other individual performing functions similar to those performed
by the foregoing persons, including any Senior Vice President or Vice President designated by
the Board as performing such functions.
Section 5.2 Election. The Officers of the Corporation, except such Officers as
may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.3 or Section 5.5 , shall be
chosen annually by the Board. Each officer shall hold his or her office until he or she shall
resign or shall be removed or otherwise disqualified to serve, or his or her successor shall be
elected and qualified, and shall perform such duties as are prescribed in the Bylaws or as the
Board may from time to time determine.
Section 5.3 Subordinate Officers. The corporation may have, at the discretion
of the Board, one or more Senior Vice presidents, Vice Presidents and Assistant Vice
Presidents, one or more Assistant Secretaries, one or more Assistant Financial Officers and
such other officers as the Board may appoint, each of whom shall hold office for such period,
have such authority and perform such duties as the Board may from time to time determine.
The Board may delegate the authority to appoint, and to fix the compensation of, any
subordinate officer or officers to any executive officer of the corporation. Any person may hold
more than one office, executive or subordinate.
Section 5.4 Removal and Resignation . Any officer may be removed, either
with or without cause, by the Board, at any regular or special meeting thereof, or by any officer
upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by the Board (without prejudice,
however, to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment with the
corporation).
Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board or to the
president or to the Secretary of the corporation, without prejudice, however, to the rights, if any,
of the corporation under any contract to which such officer is a party. Any such resignation
shall take effect at the date of the receipt or at any later time specified therein.
Section 5.5 Vacancies. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation,
removal, disqualification or any other cause shall be filled by the Board for the unexpired
portion of the term.
Section 5.6 Compensation. The Board shall fix the compensation of all of the
officers of the corporation, except in the case of subordinate officers with respect

to whom the authority to fix compensation has been delegated pursuant to Section 5.3 of these
Bylaws.
Section 5.7 Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board, if there shall
be such an officer, shall, if present, preside at all meetings of the Board and exercise and
perform such other powers and duties as may be from time to time assigned to him or her by
the Board or prescribed by these Bylaws.
Section 5.8 Chief Executive Officer. Subject to any powers that may be given
by the Board to the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer shall be the chief
executive officer of the corporation and shall have general supervision, direction and control of
the business and affairs of the corporation.
Section 5.9 President. Subject to any powers that may be given by the Board to
the Chairman of the Board and to the Chief Executive Officer, the President shall be the chief
operating officer of the corporation and shall, subject to the control of the Board, have the
general powers and duties of management usually vested in the office of the president of a
corporation, and shall have such other powers and duties as the Board shall from time to time
prescribe.
Section 5.10 Secretary. The Secretary shall keep, or cause to be kept, minutes
of all meetings of the stockholders and Board in a book to be provided for that purpose, and
shall attend to the giving and serving of all notices of meetings of stockholders and directors,
and any other notices required by lain to be given. The Secretary shall be custodian of the
corporate seal, if any, and shall affix the seal to all documents and papers requiring such seal.
The Secretary shall have such other powers and duties as the Board from time to time shall
prescribe.
Section 5.11 Chief Financial Officer . The Chief Financial Officer shall keep
and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct accounts of the
properties and business transactions of the corporation, shall receive and keep all the funds of
the corporation and shall pay out corporate funds on the check of the corporation, signed in
such manner as shall be authorized by the Board. The Chief Financial Officer shall have such
other powers and duties as the Board shall from time to time prescribe.
ARTICLE VI.
COMMITTEES
Section 6.1 Executive Committee. The Board may, by a resolution adopted by
a majority of the authorized number of directors, but shall not be required to, designate an
executive committee consisting of four or more directors, one of which shall be the Chairman of
the Board or the Chief Executive Officer, to serve at the pleasure of the Board. If an executive
committee is designated, it shall have, to the extent provided if the resolution of the Board or in
these Bylaws, all the authority of the Board, except with respect to:

a) The approval of any action for which approval of the stockholders is also
required by law;
b) The filling of vacancies of the Board or on any committee;
c) The fixing of compensation of the directors for serving on the Board or on any
committee;
d) The amendment or repeal of Bylaws or the adoption of new Bylaws;
e) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board which by its express
terms is not so amendable or repealable;
f) A distribution to the stockholders of the corporation, except at a rate or in a
periodic amount or within a price range determined by the Board;
g) The appointment of other committees of the Board or the members thereof;
and
h) The election, removal or fixing of the compensation of the Chairman of the
Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President.
The Board may, by resolution, fix the regular meeting date of the executive
committee, and notice of any such regular meeting date shall be dispensed with. Special
meetings of the executive committee may be held at the principal office of the corporation, or at
any place which has been designated from time to time by resolution of the executive
committee or by written consent of all members thereof and may be called by the Chairman of
the Board, the president, any Vice president who is a member of the executive committee, or
any two members thereof, upon written notice to the members of the executive committee of
the time and place of such special meeting given in the manner provided for the giving of
written notice to members of the Board of the time and place of special meetings of the Board.
Vacancies in the membership of the executive committee nay be filled by the Board. A
majority of the authorized number of members of the executive committee shall constitute a
quorum for the transaction of business; and transactions of any meeting of the executive
committee, however, called and noticed, or wherever held, shall be as valid as though at a
meeting duly held after regular call and notice, if a quorum is present and if, either before or
after the meeting, each of the members not present signs a written waiver of notice or a
consent to holding such meeting or an approval of the minutes thereof. All such waivers,
consents or approvals shall be filed with the corporation’s records or made a part of the
minutes of the meeting.
Any action required or permitted to be taken by the executive committee may be
taken without a meeting, if all members of the executive committee shall individually or
collectively consent in writing to such action. Such written consent or consents shall be filed
with the minutes of the proceedings of the executive committee. Such action by written
consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of such members of the
executive committee. Any certificate or other document

filed under any provision of the General Corporation Law which relates to action so taken shall
state that the action was taken by unanimous written consent of the executive committee
without meeting, and that these Bylaws authorize the members of the executive committee to
so act.
Section 6.2 Other Committees. The Board may, but shall not be required to,
designate any other committee consisting of two or more directors, to serve at the pleasure of
the Board. Any such committee shall possess such powers of the Board as the Board shall by
its resolution provide, except that it shall not in any event have authority with respect to any of
the transactions which are prohibited to the executive committee by Section 6.1.
Unless the Board shall otherwise prescribe the manner of proceedings of any
other committee, meetings of such committee may be regularly scheduled in advance and may
be called at any time by the Chairman of the Board, or the President, or any two members of
the committee; otherwise, the provisions of these Bylaws with respect to notice and conduct of
meetings of the Board shall govern.
ARTICLE VII.
RECORDS AND REPORTS
Section 7.1 Records . The corporation shall maintain adequate and correct
books and records of account of its business and properties.
Section 7.2 Checks and Drafts. All checks, drafts and other orders for payment
of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, issued in the name of or payable to the
corporation, shall be signed or endorsed by such person or persons and in such manner as
shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board.
Section 7.3 Execution of Instruments. The Board may authorize any officer or
officers or agent or agents to enter into any contract or execute any instrument in the name of
and on behalf of the corporation. Such authority may be general or confined to specific
instances. Unless so authorized by the Board, no officer, agent or employee shall have any
power or to pledge its credit, or to render it liable for any purpose or for any amount.
Section 7.4 Fiscal Year .
December 31 fiscal year.

The fiscal year of the corporation shall be a

Section 7.5 Annual Audit. The corporation shall be subject to an annual audit
as of the end of its fiscal year by independent public accountants appointed by, and
responsible to, the Board. The appointment of such accountants shall be subject to annual
ratification by the stockholders.

ARTICLE VIII.
DIVIDENDS ON STOCK
Section 8.1 Dividends on Stock . Subject to applicable law, the certificate of
incorporation and these Bylaws, the Board may, from time to time, declare, and the corporation
may pay, dividends on the outstanding shares of capitol stock of the corporation.
ARTICLE IX.
SHARES; CERTIFICATES
Section 9.1 Issuance. The corporation, as authorized by the Board, may issue
shares in uncertificated form and may also issue any and all forms of certificates of stock not
inconsistent with law.
Section 9.2 Certificates for Shares. Every holder of shares of the stock of the
corporation or shares of any other class or series of stock that may be validly authorized and
issued by the corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate signed in the name of the
corporation by the Chairman of the Board or the President or a Vice President and by the
Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretory, certifying the
number of shares and the class or series of shares owned by the stockholder. Any of the
signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar
who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have
ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be
issued by the corporation with the same effect as if such person were an officer, transfer agent
or registrar at the date of issue.
Section 9.3 Statements on Certificates . Any certificates for shares of stock
shall contain such legend or other statement as may be required by law or applicable rule or
regulation, by these Bylaws or by any agreements between the corporation and the issuee
thereof.
Section 9.4 Lost or Destroyed Certificates. In case any certificate for stock or
other security issued by this corporation is lost or destroyed, the Board may authorize the
issuance of a new certificate or instrument therefor, on such terms and conditions as it may
determine, after proof of such loss or destruction satisfactory to the Board. The Board may
require a bond or other security in an adequate amount as indemnity for any such certificate or
instrument when, in the Board’s judgment, it is proper to do so.
Section 9.5 Transfer . Stock of the corporation shall be transferable on the
books of the corporation by the person named in the certificate, or by the person entitled
thereto, on surrender, in the case of shares issued in certificated form, of the certificate for
cancellation, accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignment or authority to
transfer. The corporation shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any stock certificate
as owner thereof, and, accordingly, shall not be bound to recognize

any equitable or other claim to, or interest In, such stock on the part of any other person,
whether or not It shall have express or other notice thereof, save as expressly provided by the
laws of the State of Delaware.
Section 9.6 Shares To Be Issued In Uncertificated Form. Except as otherwise
provided in a resolution of the Board of Directors, all shares of the corporation shall be
uncertificated shares beginning on January 1, 2008. Nothwithstanding the foregoing, shares
represented by a certificate issued prior to January 1. 2008, shall be certificated shares until
such certificate is surrendered to this corporation.
ARTICLE X.
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 10.1 Record Date.
10.1.1 Stockholders Meetings . In order that the corporation may
determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or
adjournment thereof, the Board may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not be more
than 60 nor less than 10 days before the date of such meeting. A determination of
stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to
any adjournment of the meeting; providing, however, that the Board may fix a new record date
for the adjourned meeting.
10.1.2 Other Actions . In order that the corporation may determine the
stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of
any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change,
conversion or exchange of stock, the Board may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not
be more than 60 days prior to such action.
10.1.3 Subsequent Transfers and Closing Transfer Books. When a record
date is fixed, only stockholders of record at the close of business on that date are entitled to
notice and to vote or to receive the dividend, distribution or allotment of rights or to exercise the
rights, as the case may be, notwithstanding any transfer of any shares on the books of the
corporation after the record date, except as otherwise provided in the certificate of
incorporation or by agreement or in the General Corporation Law. The Board may close the
books of the corporation against transfers of shares during the whole, or any part, of any such
period.
Section 10.2 Inspection of Corporate Records.
10.2.1 By Stockholders. Any stockholder, in person or by attorney or other
agent, shall, upon written demand under oath stating the purpose thereof, have the right during
the usual hours of business to inspect for any proper purpose the corporation’s stock ledger, a
list of its stockholders, and its other books and records, and to make copies or extracts
therefrom. A proper purpose shall mean a purpose reasonably related to such person’s
interest as a stockholder. In every instance where an attorney or other agent shall be the
person who seeks the right to inspection, the

demand under oath shall be accompanied by a power of attorney or such other writing which
authorizes the attorney or other agent to so act on behalf of the stockholder.
10.2.2 By Directors. Each director shall have the right at any reasonable
time to inspect all books, records, documents of every kind, and the physical properties of the
corporation. The inspection may be made in person or by agent or attorney, and the right of
inspection includes the right to make extracts and copies thereof.
Section 10.3 Corporate Seal. The corporate seal of the corporation, if any, shall
be in such form as the Board shall prescribe.
ARTICLE XI.
AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS
These Bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of
the holders of at least two-thirds of the total votes eligible to be cast at a legal meeting of the
stockholders or by a resolution adopted by a majority of the directors then in office.
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[Intended for Cycle E2]
ADOPTION AGREEMENT
ESOP
The undersigned adopting employer hereby adopts this Plan. The Plan is intended to qualify as a tax-exempt plan under Code sections
401(a) and 501(a), respectively. The ESOP Accounts of the Plan and the applicable portion of the Trust are also intended to qualify as a
tax-exempt employee stock ownership plan and trust under Code section 4975(e)(7). The Plan shall consist of this Adoption Agreement, its
related Basic Plan Document #CE2-ESOP and any related Appendix and Addendum to the Adoption Agreement. Unless otherwise
indicated, all Section references are to Sections in the Basic Plan Document.

EMPLOYER INFORMATION
NOTE: An amendment is not required to change the responses in items 1-13 below.
1.

Name of adopting employer (Plan Sponsor): Broadway Federal Bank

2.

Address: 5055 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 500

3.

City: Los Angeles

4.

State: California

5.

Zip: 90036

6.

Phone number: 323 634-1700

7.

Fax number:

8.

Plan Sponsor EIN: 95-1520055

9.

Plan Sponsor fiscal year end: December

10. Entity Type
a.

Plan Sponsor entity type:
i.

[ X ] C Corporation

ii.

[ ] S Corporation

iii.

[ ] Non Profit Organization

iv.

[ ] Partnership

v.

[ ] Limited Liability Company

vi.

[ ] Limited Liability Partnership

vii. [ ] Sole Proprietorship
viii. [ ] Union

b.

ix.

[ ] Government Agency

x.

[ ] Other:

(must be a legal entity recognized under the Code)

If “Union” (10a.viii) is selected, enter name of the representative of the parties who established or maintain the Plan:

11. State of organization of Plan Sponsor: California
12. Affiliated Service Groups
[ ] The Plan Sponsor is a member of an affiliated service group. List all members of the group (other than the Plan Sponsor):
NOTE: Affiliated service group members must adopt the Plan with the approval of the Plan Sponsor to participate.
NOTE: Listing affiliated service group members is for information purposes only and is optional.
13. Controlled Groups
[ ] The Plan Sponsor is a member of a controlled group. List all members of the group (other than the Plan Sponsor):
NOTE: Controlled group members must adopt the Plan with the approval of the Plan Sponsor to participate.
NOTE: Listing controlled group members is for information purposes only and is optional.

PLAN INFORMATION
SECTION A. GENERAL INFORMATION
Plan Name/Effective Date
1.

Plan Number: 003
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SECTION A. GENERAL INFORMATION
2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

Plan name:
a. Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b
b. Employee Stock Ownership Plan
Effective Date
a. Original effective date of Plan: January 1, 1996
b. [ X ] This is a restatement of a previously-adopted plan. Effective date of Plan restatement: January 1, 2016
NOTE: The date specified in A.3a for a new plan may not be earlier than the first day of the Plan Year during which the Plan is
adopted by the Plan Sponsor.
NOTE: If A.3b is not selected, the Effective Date of the terms of this document shall be the date specified in A.3a. If A.3b is selected,
the Effective Date of the restatement shall be the date specified in A.3b. However if the Adoption Agreement states another specific
effective date for any Plan provision, when a provision of the Plan states another effective date, such stated specific effective date shall
apply as to that provision. The date specified in A.3b for an amended and restated plan may not be earlier than the first day of the
Plan Year during which the amended and restated Plan is adopted by the Plan Sponsor.
Plan Year
a. Plan Year means each 12-consecutive month period ending on December 31 (e.g. December 31)
b. [ ] The Plan has a short Plan Year. The short Plan Year begins
and ends
Limitation Year means:
a. [ X ] Plan Year
b. [ ] calendar year
c. [ ] tax year of the Plan Sponsor
d. [ ] other:
NOTE: If A.5d is selected, the limitation year must be a consecutive 12-month period. This includes a fiscal year with an annual
period varying from 52 to 53 weeks, so long as the fiscal year satisfies the requirements of Code section 441(f).
Frozen Plan
[ ] The Plan is frozen as to eligibility and benefits effective
NOTE: If A.6 is selected, no Eligible Employee shall become a Participant, no Participant shall be eligible to further participate in
the Plan and no contributions shall accrue as of and after the date specified.

Plan Features
ESOP Contributions
7.

ESOP Accounts
The Non-Elective Contribution Account shall constitute the ESOP Accounts of the Plan for purposes of:
a. [ X ] Investing in Employer Stock (Section 1.02.)
b. [ ] Investing in other investments types for diversification (Section 1.02.)
c. If more than one ESOP Account is specified in A.7 and the Employer Stock to be allocated to ESOP Accounts is insufficient to
fully fund the contributions to the ESOP Accounts, specify the ordering rule of the ESOP contributions made in the form of
Employer Stock (Section 4A.01(b)):
i.
[ ] Pro rata
ii. [ ] Pursuant to the special ordering rule:
NOTE: It may be possible for other Accounts to be specified as ESOP Accounts. Consult with appropriate counsel before specifying
any other Accounts.

Compensation
8.

Compensation
a. Definition of Compensation for purposes of allocations:
i.
[ X ] W-2. Wages within the meaning of Code section 3401(a) and all other payments of compensation paid to an
Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer’s trade or business) for which the Employer is required to furnish
the Employee a written statement under Code sections 6041(d), 6051(a)(3), and 6052.
ii. [ ] Withholding. Wages paid to an Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer’s trade or business) within
the meaning of Code section 3401(a) for the purposes of income tax withholding at the source.
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iii.

[ ] Section 415 Safe Harbor Option. As described in the definition of “Section 415 Safe Harbor Option” in Article 2 of the
Basic Plan Document.
b. If “415 Safe Harbor” is selected, exclude amounts received during the year by an employee pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded
deferred compensation plan to the extent includible in gross income:
c. Compensation is determined over the period specified below ending with or within the Plan Year:
i.
[ X ] Plan Year
ii. [ ] calendar year
iii. [ ] Plan Sponsor Fiscal Year
iv. [ ] Limitation Year
v. [ ] Other twelve-month period beginning on:
(enter month and day)
d. [ X ] Include deferrals in the definition of Compensation
e. [ ] Include deemed Code section 125 compensation in the definition of Compensation
f. [ ] Include differential military pay (as defined in Code section 3401(h)(2)) in the definition of Compensation
g. [ ] Include other pay (not otherwise included in A.8a):
NOTE: A.8b must be “Plan Year” if the Plan is excluding compensation earned before entry (A.12 is selected).
NOTE: If “Plan Year” is not selected in A.8b, for new/rehired Employees whose date of hire is less than 12 months before the end of
the 12-month period designated, Compensation will be determined over the Plan Year.
NOTE: If deferrals (A.8c) are selected, Compensation shall also include any amount which is contributed by the Employer pursuant
to a salary reduction agreement and which is not includable in the gross income of the Employee under Code sections 125, 402(e)(3),
402(h), 403(b), 132(f) or 457. If the Plan uses the 415 Safe Harbor definition of Compensation (A.13a.iii is selected) and A.8c.i and/or
A.8c.ii is not selected deferrals will not be included in Compensation for Non-Elective Contributions.
NOTE: If deemed 125 Compensation (A.8e) is selected, Compensation shall include any amounts not available to a Participant in
cash in lieu of group health coverage because the Participant is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage. An amount
will be treated as an amount under Code section 125 only if the Employer does not request or collect information regarding the
Participant’s other health coverage as part of the enrollment process for the health plan. This option is meant to be interpreted
consistent with Revenue Ruling 2002-27 and any superseding guidance.
NOTE: If A.8f is not selected and differential military pay exists, the payments will be included in Statutory Compensation.
NOTE: If other pay (A.8g) is selected, A.8g should indicate for what purposes and which class of Participants the Compensation is
included, must be objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that is subject to Employer discretion.
9. Post Severance Compensation
a. [ X ] Include Post Severance Compensation in definition of Compensation
NOTE: A.9 will also apply for purposes of Statutory Compensation.
10. Post Year End Compensation
a. [ ] Determine Compensation using Post Year End Compensation
NOTE: If selected, amounts earned during the current year and paid during the first few weeks of the next year will be included in
current year Compensation.
NOTE: A.10 will also apply for purposes of Statutory Compensation.

Compensation Exclusions
11. Pay Before Participation
[ X ] Exclude pay earned before participation in the Plan from definition of Compensation
NOTE: If selected, Compensation shall include only that compensation which is actually paid to the Participant during that part of
the Plan Year the Participant is eligible to participate in the Plan. If not selected, Compensation shall include that compensation
which is actually paid to the Participant during the period specified in A.8b.
12. 414(s) Safe Harbor Alternative Definition
[ ] Exclude certain benefits from definition of Compensation
NOTE: If selected, Compensation shall exclude all of the following items (even if includable in gross income): reimbursements or
other expense allowances, fringe benefits (cash and noncash), moving expenses, deferred compensation, and welfare benefits (Treas.
Reg. section 1.414(s)-1(c)(3)).
13. Other Pay
a. Exclude other pay from definition of Compensation for the following Participants:
i.
[ X ] None
ii. [ ] Highly Compensated Employees only
3
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iii. [ ] All Participants
b. Describe other pay excluded from definition of Compensation:
NOTE: If All Participants (A.13a.iii) is selected, the definition of Compensation will not be a safe harbor definition within the
meaning of Treas. Reg. 1.414(s)-1(c).
NOTE: A.13b will only apply if A.13a.ii or iii is selected. A.14b should indicate for what purposes and which class of Participants the
Compensation is excluded.
NOTE: The pay specified above (A.13b) must be objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that is subject to
Employer discretion.
NOTE: See Section 4.01(c) for rules regarding elections for bonuses or other special pay.
14. Statutory Compensation
a. Definition of Statutory Compensation:
i.
[ X ] W-2. Wages within the meaning of Code section 3401(a) and all other payments of compensation paid to an
Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer’s trade or business) for which the Employer is required to furnish
the Employee a written statement under Code sections 6041(d), 6051(a)(3), and 6052.
ii. [ ] Withholding. Wages within the meaning of Code section 3401(a) for the purposes of income tax withholding at the
source paid to the Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer’s trade or business).
iii. [ ] Section 415 Safe Harbor Option. As described in the definition of “Section 415 Safe Harbor Option” in Article 2 of the
Basic Plan Document.
b. [ ] Include deemed Code section 125 compensation in definition of Statutory Compensation.
NOTE: See A.9 and A.10 to determine if Statutory Compensation will include Post Severance Compensation and/or be determined
using Post Year End Compensation.
NOTE: If A.8f is not selected and differential military pay exists, the payments will be included in Statutory Compensation.

Definitions
15. Highly Compensated Employee
a. [ ] Use top-paid group election in determining Highly Compensated Employees
b. [ X ] Use calendar year beginning with or within the preceding Plan Year in determining Highly Compensated Employees
NOTE: A.15b will only apply if the Plan Year end in A.4a is not December 31.
16. Disability
Definition of Disability
a. [ ] Under Code section 22(e). The Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically
determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last
for a continuous period of not less than 12 months. The permanence and degree of such impairment shall be supported by medical
evidence.
b. [ X ] Under the Social Security Act. The determination by the Social Security Administration that the Participant is eligible to
receive disability benefits under the Social Security Act.
c. [ ] Inability to engage in comparable occupation. The Participant suffers from a physical or mental impairment that results in his
inability to engage in any occupation comparable to that in which the Participant was engaged at the time of his disability. The
permanence and degree of such impairment shall be supported by medical evidence.
d. [ ] Pursuant to other Employer Disability Plan. The Participant is eligible to receive benefits under a Employer-sponsored
disability plan.
e. [ ] Under uniform rules established by the Plan Administrator. The Participant is mentally or physically disabled under a written
nondiscriminatory policy.
f. [ ] Other:
NOTE: If A.16f is selected, provide the definition of Disability. The definition provided must be objectively determinable and may not
be specified in a manner that is subject to discretion.
17. Choice of Law
Name of state or commonwealth for choice of law (Section 14.05): California

SECTION B. ELIGIBILITY
Exclusions
The term “Eligible Employee” shall not include (Check items B.1 - B.4 as appropriate):
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1.

2.
3.

4.

5.

[ X ] Union Employees Any Employee who is included in a unit of Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, if
retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining, and if the collective bargaining agreement does not provide for
participation in this Plan.
[ X ] Any Leased Employee (as defined in Article 2).
[ ] Non-Resident Aliens Any Employee who is a non-resident alien who received no earned income (within the meaning of Code
section 911(d)(2)) which constitutes income from services performed within the United States (within the meaning of Code section
861(a)(3)).
Other Employees
[ ] Other:
NOTE: If selected, describe other excluded Employees from definition of Eligible Employee and indicate for what purposes, the
Employees are excluded. The definition provided must be objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that is
subject to discretion.
NOTE: See Section 3.04(a) for rules regarding excluded employees.
Opt-Out
[ ] An Employee may irrevocably elect not to participate in Plan pursuant to Treas. Reg. section 1.401(k)-1(a)(3)(v).

Eligibility Service Rules
6.

Other Employer Service
[ ] Count years of service with employers other than the Employer for eligibility purposes. List other employers and indicate for what
purposes the service applies along with any limitations:

7.

Break in Service
a. [ X ] Rule of parity. Exclude eligibility service before a period of five (5) consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service/Periods of
Severance if an Employee does not have any nonforfeitable right to the Account balance derived from Employer contributions.
b. [ ] One-year holdout. If an Employee has a One-Year Break in Service/Period of Severance, exclude eligibility service before
such period until the Employee has completed a Year of Eligibility Service after returning to employment with the Employer.
c. [ ] The following modifications shall be made to the requirements specified in B.7a-b:
NOTE: B.7b applies for purposes of eligibility to receive Non-Elective Contributions only.
NOTE: B.7c could be used, for example, to require less than 500 hours of service (but not more than 500 hours) for a One-Year Break
in Service under B.7a and/or B.7b, or to specify that the break in service rule(s) only apply to certain contributions.
Special Participation Date
a. [ ] Allow immediate participation for all Eligible Employees employed on a specific date. All Eligible Employees employed on
shall become eligible to participate in the Plan as of
b. [ ] The Plan provides conditions or limitations on immediate participation:
NOTE: If B.8b applies (B.8a is selected) and is selected, describe the conditions or limitations and indicate for what purposes the
conditions or limitations apply. The conditions/limitations must be objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that
is subject to discretion.

8.

Eligibility for Non-Elective Contributions
9.

Age Requirement for Non-Elective Contributions
Minimum age requirement for Non-Elective Contributions: 21
NOTE: Age 21 maximum; an age 26 maximum will apply instead if the Plan is maintained exclusively for employees of an educational
institution (as defined in Code section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii)) by an employer which is exempt from tax under section 501(a) which provides
that each Participant having at least 1 year of service has a right to 100 percent of his accrued benefit under the Plan which is
nonforfeitable (within the meaning of section 411) at the time such benefit accrues.
10. Service Requirement for Non-Elective
a. Minimum service requirement for Non-Elective Contributions:
i.
[ ] None
ii. [ X ] Completion of one Year of Eligibility Service - Hours of Service necessary for a Year of Eligibility Service: 1000 (not
to exceed 1,000)
iii. [ ] Completion of one Year of Eligibility Service - elapsed time
iv. [ ] Completion of one and 1/2 Year of Eligibility Service - Hours of Service necessary for a Year of Eligibility Service:
(not to exceed 1,000). An Eligible Employee shall be deemed to earn 1/2 Year of Eligibility Service on the date that is
six months after the end of the Eligibility Computation Period during which he earns his first Year of Eligibility Service;
provided, that the individual is an Eligible Employee on the applicable entry date
5
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v. [ ] Completion of one and 1/2 Year of Eligibility Service - elapsed time
vi. [ ] Completion of two Years of Eligibility Service - Hours of Service necessary for one Year of Eligibility Service:
(not to exceed 1,000)
vii. [ ] Completion of two Years of Eligibility Service - elapsed time
viii. [ ] Completion of
Hours of Service (not to exceed 1,000) within a twelve month period. The service requirement
shall be deemed met at the time the specified number of Hours of Service are completed.
ix. [ ] Completion of
months of service - elapsed time (not to exceed 24)
x. [ ] Completion of
Hours of Service (not to exceed 1,000) in a
month period (not to exceed 12 - hours of service
failsafe applies)
xi. [ ] Completion of
consecutive months of continuous service (not to exceed 12 - hours of service failsafe applies)
xii. [ ] Other:
(hours of service failsafe applies if elapsed time is not specified)
b. Months of service. If the service requirement is not met in the first consecutive period of months, describe the next service
requirement:
i.
[ ] Rolling. Each successive period shall begin immediately after the preceding period and shall end on or before the first
Eligibility Computation Period after which time the Plan will revert to 1,000 Hours of Service in an Eligibility Computation
Period.
ii. [ ] Revert to 1,000 Hours of Service in an Eligibility Computation Period.
NOTE: Service taken into account for purposes of B.10 shall be determined under the terms and conditions specified for determining
a Year of Eligibility Service.
NOTE: B.10a cannot exceed 1 year, unless the Plan provides a nonforfeitable right to 100% of the Participant’s Non-Elective
Contribution Account balance after not more than 2 years of service, in which case up to 2 years is permitted.
NOTE: If B.10a.vii is selected, the service requirements provided must comply with Code section 410(a), be definitely determinable
and may not be specified in a manner that is subject to discretion.
NOTE: B.10b only applies if B.10a.x or B.10a.xi is selected.
NOTE: Hours of service failsafe: if B.10a.x - B.10a.xii is selected and the Plan uses the Hours of Service method, the service
requirement under B.10e Eligible Employee completes 1,000 Hours of Service; provided, that the individual is an Eligible Employee
on the applicable entry date.
11. Additional Requirements for Non-Elective Contributions
[ ] Additional requirements, limitations, conditions or other modifications to B.9-10 (eligibility to receive allocations of Non-Elective
Contributions) apply:
NOTE: See Section 3.04 for rules regarding eligibility requirements.
NOTE: The additional requirements provided must be objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that is subject to
Employer discretion and are subject to the same limits/requirements set out under options B.9-10.
12. Entry Dates for Non-Elective Contributions
a. Frequency of entry dates for Non-Elective Contributions:
i.
[ ] immediate
ii. [ ] first day of each calendar month
iii. [ ] first day of each Plan quarter
iv. [ X ] first day of the first month and seventh month of the Plan Year
v. [ ] first day of the Plan Year
vi. [ ] other:
b. An Eligible Employee shall become a Participant eligible to receive an allocation of Non-Elective Contributions on the entry date
selected in B.12a that is:
i.
[ X ] coincident with or next following the date the requirements of B.9 through B.11 are met
ii. [ ] next following the date the requirements of B.9 through B.11 are met
iii. [ ] coincident with or immediately preceding the date the requirements of B.9 through B.11 are met
iv. [ ] immediately preceding the date the requirements of B.9 through B.11 are met
v. [ ] nearest to the date the requirements of B.9 through B.11 are met
NOTE: If immediate entry (B.12a.i) is selected, an Eligible Employee shall become a Participant eligible to receive an allocation of
Non-Elective Contributions immediately upon meeting the requirements of B.9 through B.11.
NOTE: B.12b is not applicable if immediate or other (B.12a.i or B.12a.vi) is selected.
NOTE: The Plan must provide that an Eligible Employee who has attained age 21 and who has completed one Year of Eligibility
Service (two Years of Eligibility Service may be used for contributions other than Elective Deferrals if the Plan provides a
nonforfeitable right to 100% of the Participant’s applicable Account balance after not more than 2 Years of Eligibility Service) shall
commence participation in the Plan no later than the earlier of: (1) the first day of the first Plan Year beginning after the date on
which such Eligible Employee satisfied such requirements; or (2) the date that is 6 months after the date on which he satisfied such
requirements.
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Eligibility Service Computation Rules
13. Eligibility Service Computation Rules
a. [ X ] Eligibility Computation Period switches to Plan Year.
b. Select hours equivalency for eligibility purposes:
i.
[ ] None
An Employee shall be credited with the following service with the Employer:
ii. [ X ] 10 Hours of Service for each day or partial day
iii. [ ] 45 Hours of Service for each week or partial week
iv. [ ] 95 Hours of Service for each semi-monthly payroll period or partial semi-monthly payroll period
v. [ ] 190 Hours of Service for each month or partial month
c. The hours equivalency shall apply to:
i.
[ ] All Employees
ii. [ X ] Only Employees not paid on a per-hour basis
d. [ ] The following modifications shall be made to the requirements specified in B.13a-c:
NOTE: B.13c will not apply if B.13b.i is selected (“None”).
NOTE: The responses to B.13 are used only to the extent that the Plan determines eligibility service by the Hour of Service method
and will apply uniformly to B.10, wherever Hours of Service is elected unless otherwise provided in B.13d.
NOTE: If B.13d is selected, the modifications must be objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that is subject to
Employer discretion. For example, B.13d could be used to restrict the Accounts where Eligibility Computation Periods switch to the
Plan Year.

SECTION C. CONTRIBUTIONS
Non-Elective - Allocation Service
NOTE: An Eligible Employee who has met the requirements of Section B and who has satisfied the following requirements shall be
eligible to receive an allocation of Non-Elective Contributions during the applicable Plan Year.
1.

2.

3.

Allocation Service Requirements for Non-Elective Contributions
a. [ ] In order to share in the allocation of Non-Elective Contributions, a Participant is required to complete the following Hours of
Service in the applicable Plan Year
b. [ X ] In order to share in the allocation of Non-Elective Contributions, a Participant is required to be employed by the Employer
on the last day of Plan Year
c. [ ] In order to share in the allocation of Non-Elective Contributions, a Participant is required to be employed by the Employer on
the last day of Plan Year or complete at least
Hours of Service in the applicable Plan Year
NOTE: C.1a and C.1b are inapplicable if C.1c is selected.
NOTE: C.1a and C.1c may not be more than 1,000.
Non-Elective Allocation Service Computation Rules
a. Select hours equivalency:
i.
[ ] None
An Employee shall be credited with the following service with the Employer:
ii. [ ] 10 Hours of Service for each day or partial day
iii. [ ] 45 Hours of Service for each week or partial week
iv. [ ] 95 Hours of Service for each semi-monthly payroll period or partial semi-monthly payroll period
v. [ ] 190 Hours of Service for each month or partial month
b. The hours equivalency shall apply to:
i.
[ ] All Employees
ii. [ ] Only Employees not paid on a per-hour basis
NOTE: C.2 is only applicable if C.1a or C.1c is selected.
Exceptions to Allocation Service Requirements for Non-Elective Contributions
a. Modify Hour of Service requirement and/or last day requirement for a Participant who terminates employment with the Employer
during the Plan Year due to:
i.
[ X ] death.
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4.

ii. [ X ] Disability
iii. [ X ] attainment of Normal Retirement Date
b. Any Hour of Service requirement and last day requirement shall be modified as follows:
i.
[ ] Waive both the Hour of Service requirement and last day requirement
ii. [ ] Waive the Hour of Service requirement only
iii. [ X ] Waive last day requirement only
c. [ ] The following other modifications shall be made to the requirements specified in C.1-3b:
NOTE: C.3 is only applicable if C.1a, C.1b or C.1c is selected.
NOTE: C.3c may only be used to make minor changes to the requirements specified in C.1-3b and must be specified in a manner that
is objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that is subject to Employer discretion. For example, C.3c could be
used to clarify that last day but not Hours of Service is waived for death while Hours of Service and last day are waived for Disability
and attainment of Normal Retirement Age.
Coverage Failures for Non-Elective Contributions
Method to fix Non-Elective Contribution Code section 410(b) ratio percentage coverage failures (Section 4.03(d)):
a. [ ] Do not automatically fix
b. [ X ] Add just enough Participants to meet the coverage requirements
c. [ ] Add all non-excludable Participants

Non-Elective - Formula
5.

Non-Elective allocation formula. See Section 4.01(b) of the BPD.

6.

Allocation of Non-Elective Contributions
a. Non-Elective Contributions are allocated to Participant Accounts at the following time(s):
i.
[ X ] End of Plan Year
ii. [ ] Semi-annually
iii. [ ] Quarterly
iv. [ ] Each calendar month
v. [ ] Each pay period
b. Minimum and Maximum Non-Elective Allocations
i.
[ ] Allocations of Non-Elective Contributions for a Participant shall be subject to a minimum amount:
ii. [ ] Allocations of Non-Elective Contributions for a Participant shall be subject to a maximum amount:
NOTE: Any service requirements specified in C.1 through C.3 shall be applied pro rata to the period selected in this C.6a. Any last
day rule specified in C.1 through C.3 shall be applied as of the end of each period selected in this C.6a.
Non-Elective - Disability
[ ] Allocate Non-Elective Contributions to Disabled Participants who do not meet the allocation service requirements
(Section 4.01(e)). Allocations to Disabled Participants end as of the earliest of: (i) the last day of the Plan Year in which occurs
the
anniversary of the start of the Participant’s Disability or (ii) such other time specified in Section 4.01(e).
NOTE: C.7 shall not be more than “tenth”.
NOTE: Allocations under C.7 may occur after Termination.
Death or Disability During Qualified Military Service
[ ] For benefit accrual purposes, a Participant that dies or becomes Disabled while performing qualified military service will be
treated as if he had been employed by the Employer on the day preceding death or Disability and terminated employment on the
day of death or Disability (Section 4.04).
Prevailing Wage
a. [ ] In addition to any other Non-Elective Contributions otherwise provided in the Plan, an amount necessary to meet the
Employer’s requirements under an applicable prevailing wage statute shall be allocated. The formula for allocating Non-Elective
Contributions shall be specified in the Prevailing Wage Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
The prevailing wage allocation offset:
i.
[ ] None
ii. [ ] The prevailing wage allocations will offset any other Non-Elective Contribution allocations that would otherwise be
made to a Participant
iii. [ ] Other:
b. [ ] Qualified Non-Elective Contributions (in addition to any non-elective contribution made pursuant to C.5 and Section 4.01)
shall be allocated in an amount necessary to meet the Employer’s requirements under an applicable prevailing wage statute.
Allocations will be

7.

8.

9.
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made in an amount necessary to meet the Employer’s requirements under an applicable prevailing wage statute. The formula for
allocating Qualified Non-Elective Contributions shall be specified in an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.
The prevailing wage allocation offset:
i.
[ ] None
ii. [ ] The prevailing wage allocations will offset any other Qualified Non-elective Contribution allocations that would
otherwise be made to a Participant.
iii. [ ] Other:
c. [ ] Exclude
from receiving benefits under an applicable prevailing wage statute under this Plan.
NOTE: Depending upon the offset rule chosen, timing of allocations may need to be considered as contributions under Prevailing
Wage are typically required to be made not less often than quarterly.
NOTE: The offset provided under C.9a.iii and/or C.9b.iii must be objectively determinable and may not be specified in a manner that
is subject to Employer discretion
NOTE: C.9c must be used to exclude Highly Compensated Employees or another nondiscriminatory class of employees from
receiving Prevailing Wage allocations. Note that the Employees excluded will generally still need to be provided the Prevailing Wage
benefits in another manner.
10. QNECs
[ ] The following limitations, conditions and/or special rules apply to Qualified Non-Elective Contributions:
(Section 4.01(b))
Subject to C.10 if applicable, the Employer’s Qualified Non-elective Contribution shall be allocated in such manner as determined by
the Company. The Company shall notify the Plan Administrator and/or the Trustee in writing of the manner in which such
contributions shall be allocated.
NOTE: A Qualified Non-elective Contribution of a Nonhighly Compensated Employee will not be taken into account in satisfying the
requirements of Section 5.02 to the extent it is a disproportionate contribution within the meaning of Treas. Reg. sections
1.401(k)-2(a)(6)(iv) and/or 1.401(m)-2(a)(6)(v).
11. Rollovers
Rollover Contributions are permitted (Section 4.02):
a. [ X ] No
b. [ ] Yes - All Eligible Employees may make a Rollover Contribution even if not yet a Participant in the Plan
c. [ ] Yes - Only active Participants may make a Rollover Contribution
d. [ ] Yes may make a Rollover Contribution
NOTE: The Plan Administrator has discretion under Section 4.02 to limit the types of rollover contributions accepted by the Plan and
must use that discretion in a consistent and nondiscriminatory manner.
12. 415 Additional Language
[ X ] Additional language necessary to satisfy Code section 415 because of the required aggregation of multiple plans: Maximum
Annual Additions will be limited under this plan if exceeded by combining the total Annual Additions from this Plan and any
other Defined Contribution Plan sponsored by the Employer..

Vesting Service Rules
1.

2.

Vesting service computation method
a. [ X ] Hours of Service. Number of Hours of Service necessary for a Year of Vesting Service: 1000
b. [ ] Elapsed Time
NOTE: Unless D.1.b (Elapsed Time) is selected, the Plan will use the Hours of Service method for determining vesting service. If
D.1.b (Elapsed Time) is selected, questions D.2 through D.3 are disregarded.
NOTE: D.1a may not be more than 1,000. If left blank, the Plan will use 1,000 Hours of Service.
Vesting Service Equivalencies
a. Select equivalency for vesting purposes:
i.
[ ] None.
An Employee shall be credited with the following service with the Employer:
ii. [ X ] 10 Hours of Service for each day or partial day
iii. [ ] 45 Hours of Service for each week or partial week
iv. [ ] 95 Hours of Service for each semi-monthly payroll period or partial semi-monthly payroll period
v. [ ] 190 Hours of Service for each month or partial month
b. The hours equivalency selected in D.2a shall apply to:
i.
[ ] All Employees
9
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3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

ii. [ X ] Only Employees not paid on a per-hour basis
NOTE: D.2b does not apply if D.2a.i is selected.
Vesting Computation Period
a. [ ] Calendar year
b. [ X ] Plan Year
c. [ ] The twelve-consecutive month period commencing on the date the Employee first performs an Hour of Service; each
subsequent twelve-consecutive month period shall commence on the anniversary of such date
d. [ ] Other:
NOTE: D.3d must be a twelve-consecutive month period.
Other Employer Service
[ ] Count years of service with employers other than the Employer for vesting purposes. List other employers and indicate for what
purposes (e.g., Non-Elective, etc.) the service applies along with any limitations:
Vesting Exceptions
a. [ X ] Death. Provide for full vesting for a Participant who terminates employment with the Employer due to death while an
Employee (Section 6.02).
b. [ X ] Disability. Provide for full vesting for a Participant who terminates employment with the Employer due to Disability while
an Employee (Section 6.02).
c. [ ] Early Retirement. Provide for 100% vesting upon the attainment of Early Retirement Date while an Employee (Section 6.02).
Vesting Exclusions
a. [ ] Exclude Years of Vesting Service earned before age 18
b. [ ] Exclude Years of Vesting Service earned before the Employer maintained this Plan or a predecessor plan
c. [ ] One-year holdout. If an Employee has a One-Year Break in Service/Period of Severance, exclude Years of Vesting Service
earned before such period until the Employee has completed a Year of Vesting Service after returning to employment with the
Employer.
d. [ ] Rule of parity. If an Employee does not have any nonforfeitable right to the Account balance derived from Employer
contributions, exclude Years of Vesting Service earned before a period of five (5) consecutive One-Year Breaks in
Service/Periods of Severance.
Special Vesting Provisions
[ ] Provide for special vesting provisions:
NOTE: Any special provisions must satisfy Code sections 401(a)(4) and 411.

Vesting Schedules
8.

9.

Non-Elective Contribution Account
Vesting Schedule for Non-Elective Contributions:
a. [ ] 100%
b. [ X ] 2-6 Year Graded
b. [ ] 1-5 Year Graded
c. [ ] 1-4 Year Graded
d. [ ] 3 Year Cliff
e. [ ] 2 Year Cliff
f. [ ] Other:
i.
Other Non-Elective Schedule - less than 1 year:
ii. Other Non-Elective Schedule - 1 year but less than 2 years:
iii. Other Non-Elective Schedule - 2 years but less than 3 years:
iv. Other Non-Elective Schedule - 3 years but less than 4 years:
v. Other Non-Elective Schedule - 4 years but less than 5 years:
vi. Other Non-Elective Schedule - 5 years but less than 6 years:
vii. Other Non-Elective Schedule - 6 or more years: 100%.
NOTE: See Section 6.02 for definitions of the applicable vesting schedules.
NOTE: Any vesting schedule described in E.8g must provide vesting at least as rapidly as the “3 Year Cliff” vesting schedule or the
“2-6 Year Graded” vesting schedule and D.8f.vii will be deemed to be 100%.
Other Vesting Schedule
a. [ ] The Plan has another vesting schedule:
b. Describe the Participants to which the other vesting schedule applies:
c. [ ] Retain pre-PPA Non-Elective vesting schedule for pre 2007 contributions:
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NOTE: The vesting schedule in D.9 is in addition to the vesting schedules in D.8
NOTE: D.9b must be applied in a consistent and nondiscriminatory manner. For example, D.9b could be used to describe a prior
vesting schedule, vesting for a transfer account, or a vesting schedule that applies to Participants covered by a collective bargaining
agreement provided retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining.
NOTE: The vesting schedule must satisfy the applicable minimum vesting requirements of Code section 411(a)(2) at every point in
time, for all Participants’ years of service.
10. Forfeitures
Forfeitures will be used in the following manner (Articles 5 and 6):
a. [ X ] Any permissible method (restore forfeitures, reduce Employer contributions (or reallocate as Employer contributions) made
pursuant to Article 4 or to pay Plan expenses)
b. [ ] Other:
NOTE: D.10b is limited to one or a combination of the options described in D.10a. D.10b may be used to further restrict the uses of
forfeiture and must be applied in a consistent and nondiscriminatory manner.

SECTION E. DISTRIBUTIONS
Normal/Early Retirement
1.

2.

Normal Retirement
a. Normal Retirement Age means:
i.
[ X ] Attainment of age 65
ii. [ ] Later of attainment of age
and the service specified in E.1b
b. Select the type and length of service used to measure Normal Retirement Age:
i.
[ ] Eligibility.
Years of Eligibility Service
ii. [ ] Vesting.
Years of Vesting Service
iii. [ ] Participation.
anniversary of participation (e.g. third, fourth, etc.)
c. Normal Retirement Date means:
i.
[ X ] Normal Retirement Age
ii. [ ] First day of calendar month coincident or next following Normal Retirement Age
iii. [ ] First day of calendar month nearest Normal Retirement Age
iv. [ ] Anniversary date nearest Normal Retirement Age
v. [ ] Other:
NOTE: The age entered in E.1a may not be more than 65.
NOTE: E.1b may not require more than the fifth anniversary of participation as defined in Treas. Reg. section 1.411(a)-7(b)(1) and
any superseding guidance.
NOTE: The Normal Retirement Age shall be deemed met no later than the later of age 65 or the fifth anniversary of participation as
defined in Treas. Reg. section 1.411(a)-7(b)(1) and any superseding guidance.
Early Retirement
a. Early Retirement Age means:
i.
[ X ] None. The Plan does not have an early retirement feature.
ii. [ ] Attainment of age
iii. [ ] Later of attainment of age
and the service specified in F.2b
b. Select the type and length of service used to measure Early Retirement Age:
i.
[ ] Eligibility.
Years of Eligibility Service
ii. [ ] Vesting.
Years of Vesting Service
iii. [ ] Participation.
anniversary of participation (e.g. third, fourth, etc.)
c. Early Retirement Date means:
i.
[ ] Early Retirement Age
ii. [ ] First day of calendar month coincident or next following Early Retirement Age
iii. [ ] First day of calendar month nearest Early Retirement Age
iv. [ ] Anniversary date nearest Early Retirement Age
v. [ ] Other:
NOTE: The age entered in E.2a may not be more than 65.
NOTE: E.2b is only applicable if E.2a.iii is selected.
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NOTE: See related selections D.5c (vesting upon Early Retirement Date) and F.2b (in-service distributions upon Early Retirement
Date).

Time & Form of Payment
NOTE: Unless E.10b is “Yes”, E.3 through E.5 shall only apply to Accounts other than those that comprise Participant’s ESOP
Accounts.
3.

Time of Payment (Other than Death)
a. [ X ] Immediate. As soon as administratively feasible with a final payment made consisting of any allocations occurring after
such Termination of Employment
b. [ ] End of Plan Year. As soon as administratively feasible after all contributions have been allocated relating to the Plan Year in
which the Participant’s Account balance becomes distributable
c. [ ] Normal Retirement Date.
d. [ ] Other:
NOTE: Any entry in E.3d must comply with Code section 401(a)(9), Section 7.02(e) and other requirements of Article 7.

4.

Form of Payment (Other than Death)
Medium of distribution from the Plan:
a. [ ] Cash only
b. [ X ] Cash or in-kind
c. [ ] Cash or in-kind rollover to an Individual Retirement Account sponsored by the following vendor:
Default Form of Payment (Other than Death)
a. Unless otherwise elected by the Participant, distributions shall be made in the form of:
i.
[ X ] Lump sum only
ii. [ ] Qualified Joint and
% Survivor Annuity (not less than 50% and not more than 100%)
b. In addition to the form described in E.5a, distributions from the Plan after Termination for reasons other than death may be made
in the following forms (select all that apply):
i.
[ X ] Lump sum only
ii. [ ] Lump sum payment or substantially equal annual, or more frequent installments over a period not to exceed the joint life
expectancy of the Participant and his Beneficiary
iii. [ ] Under a continuous right of withdrawal pursuant to which a Participant may withdraw such amounts at such times as he
shall elect
iv. [ ] Other:
NOTE: E.5b.iii and any entry in E.5b.iv must comply with Code section 401(a)(9), Section 7.02(e) and other requirements of Article 7.
Distributions as an Annuity
a. Permit Participants to make distributions in the form of an annuity
i.
[ ] Yes - entire account
ii. [ ] Yes - the following conditions and/or limitations shall apply:
iii. [ X ] No
NOTE: If E.6a.i or E.6a.ii is selected, a Participant may elect to have the Plan Administrator apply his vested Account to the extent
provided above toward the purchase of an annuity contract, which shall be distributed to the Participant. The terms of such annuity
contract shall comply with the provisions of this Plan and any annuity contract shall be nontransferable.
NOTE: If E.6b.i or E.6b.ii is selected, a Beneficiary may elect to have the Plan Administrator apply his vested Account to the extent
provided above toward the purchase of an annuity contract, which shall be distributed to the Beneficiary. The terms of such annuity
contract shall comply with the provisions of this Plan (including Section 7.05) and any annuity contract shall be nontransferable.
NOTE: E.6a.ii and E.6b.ii must be applied in a consistent and nondiscriminatory manner (for example, limiting annuity distributions
to accounts in excess of a certain dollar amount.)
Transfer from Pension Plan
[ ] The Plan has received a transfer of assets from a plan subject to the survivor annuity rules of Code sections 411(a)(11) and 417
(e.g., a money purchase or defined benefit plan).

5.

6.

7.

Payments on Death
8.

Beneficiary Designation
To the extent that a Participant’s Account is subject to the survivor annuity rules of Section 7.10, the spouse of a married Participant
shall be the beneficiary of
% of such Participant’s Account unless the spouse waives his or her rights to such benefit pursuant to
Section 7.10 (Section 7.04).
NOTE: E.8 may not be less than 50%.
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NOTE: E.8 only applies to Accounts subject to the survivor annuity requirements of Section 7.10.
9.

Payment upon Participant’s Death
Distributions on account of the death of the Participant shall be made in accordance with the following:
a. [ X ] Pay entire Account balance by end of fifth year for all Beneficiaries in accordance with Sections 7.02(b)(1)(A) and
7.02(b)(2)(A) only
b. [ ] Pay entire Account balance no later than the 60th day following the end of Plan Year in which the Participant dies
c. [ ] Allow extended payments for all beneficiaries in accordance with Sections 7.02(b)(1)(A), (B) and (C) and 7.02(b)(2)(A) and
(B)
d. [ ] Pay entire Account balance by end of fifth year for Beneficiaries in accordance with Sections 7.02(b)(1)(A) and
7.02(b)(2)(A) and allow extended payments in accordance with Sections 7.02(b)(1)(B) and (C) and 7.02(b)(2)(B) only if the
Participant’s spouse is the Participant’s sole primary Beneficiary
e. [ ] Other:
NOTE: Any entry in E.9e must comply with Code section 401(a)(9), Section 7.02(b) and other requirements of Article 7.
10. ESOP Distributions
a. Distributions from a Participant’s ESOP Accounts may be made over a period longer than the period described in
Section 7.02(a)(3):
i.
[ ] Yes
ii. [ X ] No
b. Distributions from a Participant’s ESOP Accounts may be made pursuant to the elections in E.3, E.5 and E.9
i.
[ X ] Yes
ii. [ ] No
c. Distributions from a Participant’s ESOP Accounts may be made in Employer Stock:
i.
[ X ] Yes
ii. [ ] No
d. Apply the distribution rules of Section 7.02(a) and the diversification rules of Section 9.02(b) to Employer Stock acquired by the
Plan on or before December 31, 1986:
i.
[ ] Yes
ii. [ X ] No
e. Provide for a right of first refusal for distributions payable in Employer Stock (Section 7.02(d)(4)):
i.
[ ] Yes
ii. [ X ] No
11. Beneficiaries
a. Death benefits when there is no designated beneficiary:
i.
[ X ] Standard according to Section 7.04(c)
ii. [ ] Other:
b. [ X ] Revocation. A beneficiary designation to a spouse shall be automatically revoked upon the following circumstances:
Divorce
c. Domestic Partners are treated as a spouse under the terms of this Plan for purposes of death benefits to the extent applicable:
i.
[ ] No
ii. [ ] Yes - limited to the following terms and conditions:
iii. [ X ] Yes
d. [ ] The term “Domestic Partner” as defined in Article 2 is modified in the following manner:
e. [ ] For purposes of determining a Participant’s spouse, the one-year rule in Code section 417(d), Treas. Reg. section 1.401(a)-20
applies.
NOTE: If E.11a.ii (Other) is selected, death benefits when there is no designated beneficiary shall be provided pursuant to F.11a.ii.
The death benefits described must be definitely determinable and may not be specified in a manner that is subject to discretion.
NOTE: If E.11c.i is selected, E.11d does not apply.
NOTE: If E.11d is selected, the modifications must be nondiscriminatory and definitely determinable.
NOTE: Domestic Partners shall not be treated as a spouse under the following Sections of the Plan: 7.02(b) (distribution upon death),
7.05 (minimum distributions) and 7.06 (direct rollovers).
NOTE: If revocation is selected (E.11b) you may use this item to indicate automatic revocation upon divorce.

Cash Out
12. Cash Out
a. [ X ] Involuntary cash-out amount for purposes of Section 7.03: $1000
b. Minimum Account balance for Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity consent requirements (Section 7.10): $
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c.

Involuntary cash-out of a terminated Participant’s Account balance when it exceeds the cash-out amount specified in E.10a is
deferred under Section 7.03(b) until:
i.
[ ] Later of age 62 or Normal Retirement Date - payment made in a lump sum only
ii. [ ] Required Beginning Date - Participant may elect payment in a lump sum or installments
iii. [ X ] Required Beginning Date - payment made in a lump sum only
iv. [ ] Other:
d. [ ] Exclude amounts attributable to Rollover Contributions in determining the value of the Participant’s nonforfeitable account
balance for purposes of the Plan’s Involuntary Cash out Rules (Sections 7.03 and 7.10)
NOTE: E.12a and E.12b have a $5,000 maximum, $5,000 will be entered unless otherwise specified.
NOTE: If E.12a is not selected and E.10b is zero, E.10d does not apply.
NOTE: E.12b only applies to Accounts subject to the survivor annuity requirements of Section 7.10.
NOTE: If E.12a is less than $1,000, E.12d may not be selected.
NOTE: Any entry in E.12c.iv must comply with Code section 411(a)(11), Section 7.03 and other requirements of Article 7.

Required Beginning Date
13. Required Beginning Date
Required Beginning Date for a Participant other than a More Than 5% Owner:
a. [ X ] Retirement. April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the Participant: (x) attains age
70-1/2, or (y) retires
b. [ ] Age 70-1/2. April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70-1/2
c. [ ] Election. The option provided in E.13a; provided that a Participant may elect to commence distributions pursuant to either
E.13a or E.13b
NOTE: A Participant’s Required Beginning Date is a protected benefit under Code section 411(d)(6).

SECTION F. IN-SERVICE WITHDRAWALS
NOTE: See Section 8.05 for limits on in-service distributions.
NOTE: In-service withdrawal options are meant as enabling rules. If an in-service distribution is permitted under any option specified
below, the in-service withdrawal is permissible.

Vesting Status
1.

Vesting Status for In-service Withdrawals
Select one:
[ ] In-service withdrawals otherwise permitted under Section G are allowed from Accounts that are partially vested
[ ] An Account must be fully vested for a Participant to receive an in-service withdrawal
NOTE: The response to F.1 will be ignored if the Plan does not allow in-service withdrawals.
NOTE: Withdrawals under F.2-10 are only permitted from the portion of a Participant’s Accounts described in F.1 unless otherwise
specified in F.11.

Retirement/Hardship/Age
2.

3.

Normal/Early Retirement
a. [ ] Allow in-service distributions after attainment of Normal Retirement Date (Section 7.01(b)) from the following Accounts:
b. [ ] Allow in-service distributions after attainment of Early Retirement Date (Section 7.01(a)) from the following Accounts:
Hardship
Hardship withdrawals are allowed as follows (Section 8.01):
a. [ X ] None
b. [ ] All Accounts.
c. [ ] Selected Accounts
i.
[ ] Non-Elective Contribution Account
ii. [ ] Rollover Contribution Account
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4.

5.

iii. [ ] Transfer Account
iv. [ ] Other:
d. The criteria used in determining whether a Participant is entitled to receive a Hardship withdrawal:
i.
[ ] Safe Harbor criteria set forth in Section 8.01(b)
ii. [ ] Non Safe Harbor criteria set forth in Section 8.01(c)
e. [ ] More flexible Hardship criteria applies to permitted Account(s)
i.
[ ] Use criteria specified in Section 8.01(c)
ii. [ ] Use criteria specified in Section 8.01(c) with the following additional criteria and/or modifications:
f. [ ] Expand the Hardship criteria to include the Beneficiary of the Participant
g. [ ] Other limitations on Hardship withdrawals:
NOTE: If F.3a is selected, F.3b through F.3g do not apply.
NOTE: F.3e only applies if Hardship withdrawals are permitted from Accounts not subject to Treas. Reg. 1.401(k)-1(d) (Accounts
specified in F.3c.ii-iv to the extent applicable and selected above). If F.3e is selected, the requirements of Section 8.01(b)(2) shall not
apply, the amount of the hardship distribution may not exceed the Participant’s vested interest under the applicable Account and the
requirements of Revenue Ruling 71-224 and any superseding guidance shall apply.
NOTE: F.3f only applies if the Plan provides for in-service withdrawals on account of Hardship and uses the safe harbor criteria for
Hardship determinations. If F.3f is selected, Hardship distributions may be made for a primary Beneficiary for expenses described in
Treas. Reg. sections 1.401(k)-1(d)(3)(iii)(B)(1), (3), or (5) (relating to medical, tuition, and funeral expenses, respectively). A
“primary Beneficiary” is an individual who is named as a Beneficiary under the Plan and has an unconditional right to all or a
portion of the Participant’s Account Balance upon the death of the Participant.
Specified Age and Service
a. In-service withdrawals are allowed on attainment of age
and
service (Section 8.02):
i.
[ X ] None
ii. [ ] All Accounts
iii. [ ] Selected Accounts
b. If Selected Accounts is selected, specified age and service withdrawals may be made from the following Accounts:
i.
[ ] Non-Elective Contribution Account
ii. [ ] Rollover Contribution Account
iii. [ ] Transfer Account
iv. [ ] Other:
NOTE: F.4b only applies if F.4a.iii is selected.
Specified Age
a. In-service withdrawals are allowed on attainment of age
(Section 8.02):
i.
[ X ] None
ii. [ ] All Accounts
iii. [ ] Selected Accounts
b. If Selected Accounts is selected, specified age withdrawals may be made from the following Accounts:
i.
[ ] Non-Elective Contribution Account
ii. [ ] Rollover Contribution Account
iii. [ ] Transfer Account
iv. [ ] Other:
NOTE: F.5b only applies if F.5a.iii is selected.

Other Withdrawals
6.

7.

Withdrawals After Period of Participation
a. [ ] Non-Elective Contributions (Section 8.03(a)). In-service withdrawals are allowed from a Participant’s Non-Elective
Contribution Account after
years of Participation
b. [ ] ESOP Contributions. In-service withdrawals are allowed from a Participant’s ESOP Account after
years of
Participation
NOTE: F.6a-b may not be less than five.
Withdrawals After Period of Accumulation
a. [ ] Non-Elective Contributions (Section 8.03(a)). In-service withdrawals are allowed from a Participant’s Non-Elective
Contribution Account on funds held for
years.
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b.

[ ] ESOP Contributions (Section 8.03(a)). In-service withdrawals are allowed from a Participant’s ESOP Account on funds held
for
years.
NOTE: F.7a-b may not be less than two.
8. At Any Time (Section 8.03(b))
[ ] In-service withdrawals are allowed from the Rollover Contribution Account
9. Transfer Account
Permit a distribution to be made to a Participant who has attained age 62 and who has not separated from employment from the
transfer Account
a. [ ] Yes - under any distribution option offered to a Terminated Participant
b. [ ] Yes - limited to the following terms and conditions:
NOTE: F.9 only applies if E.7 is selected (Plan has received a transfer of assets from a plan subject to the survivor annuity rules of
Code sections 401(a)(11) and 417).
10. Disability
[ ] Allow distributions upon Disability.
NOTE: A severe disability equivalent to A.20a is as follows: the Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by
reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can
be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months. The permanence and degree of such impairment shall be
supported by medical evidence.

Conditions/Limitations
11. Other Conditions/Limitations
[ ] The following limitations, conditions and/or special rules apply to in-service withdrawals:
NOTE: Unless otherwise specified, the limitations will apply to all in-service withdrawals (F.1 through F.10). F.11 must be applied in
a consistent and nondiscriminatory manner. For example, F.11 could be used to specify the number of withdrawals permitted in a
specified time period. See Section 8.05.

Loans
12. Loans
Loans are permitted:
[ ] Yes [ X ] No

SECTION G. PLAN OPERATIONS AND TOP-HEAVY
Plan Operations
1.

2.
3.

4.

Permitted Investments
a. [ X ] Plan may invest up to 100% of the Trust Fund in “qualifying employer securities” and “qualifying employer real property”
(Section 9.04)
b. [ ] Plan may invest assets other than ESOP Accounts in life insurance (Section 9.11)
NOTE: If G.1a is selected, the selection shall not apply to Accounts prohibited from investing more than 10% of assets in “qualifying
employer securities” and “qualifying employer real property” under section 407(b)(2) of ERISA.
[ ] Plan may invest in qualifying longevity annuity contracts (“QLACs”)
a. The date the QLAC option will first be available under the Plan
Indicate the extent to which terminated Participants shall be subject to the Reshuffling provisions of Section 7.02(d)(5):
a. [ ] Redemption. Employer Stock held in a terminated Participant’s ESOP Account shall be redeemed for assets other than
Employer Stock
b. [ ] Transfer. Employer Stock held in a terminated Participant’s ESOP Account shall be transferred to other Participant Accounts
where it will be redeemed for assets other than Employer Stock held in that Account
c. [ ] Other.
d. [ ] None.
Reshuffling provisions. Indicate: (i) when such redemption/transfer shall occur, (ii) the manner in which Employer stock will be
valued, and (iii) the method used to determine how many shares of Employer Stock shall be redeemed/transferred and to which
Participant Accounts the
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Employer Stock shall be transferred: Transfer shall occur when distributions are made in the form of cash. Stock shares shall be
transferred into all participant accounts at the value as of the distribution election date so that enough cash is available to make
termination distribution
5. Indicate the extent to which Participants’ Accounts will be subject to Rebalancing:
a. [ X ] The Plan will not be subject to Rebalancing
b. [ ] ESOP Accounts will be Rebalanced to:
%
6. Indicate which Participants will be affected by Rebalancing:
a. [ ] All Participants
b. [ ] Only Active Participants
c. [ ] Only Terminated Participants
7. Participant Self-Direction
a. Specify the extent to which the Plan permits Participant self-direction and indicate the Plan’s intent to comply with ERISA
section 404(c) (Section 9.02):
i.
[ ] All Accounts other than ESOP Accounts
ii. [ ] Some Accounts
iii. [ X ] None
b. If “Some Accounts” is selected, a Participant may self-direct the following Accounts Accounts if they are not ESOP Account:
i.
[ ] Non-Elective Contribution Account
ii. [ ] Rollover Contribution Account
iii. [ ] Transfer Account
iv. [ ] Other:
c. [ ] Participants may also establish individual brokerage accounts.
d. Participants may exercise voting rights with respect to the assets held in Accounts other than ESOP Accounts (Section 9.06(a)):
i.
[ ] Employer stock only
ii. [ ] All investments
iii. [ ] Selected investments:
NOTE: If G.7a.iii (None) is selected, G.7b through G.7d do not apply.
NOTE: G.7b only applies if G.2a.ii is selected.
NOTE: If G.1a is selected (employer securities) and G.7a.i or G.7a.ii (404(c) applies) is selected, then voting rights must be selected
in G.7d.i, G.7d.ii or G.2d.iii.
8. Valuation Date for Accounts other than ESOP Accounts
a. [ ] Last day of Plan Year
b. [ ] Last day of each Plan quarter
c. [ ] Last day of each month
d. [ X ] Each business day
e. [ ] Other:
(Must be at least annually).
NOTE: If G.7a.i or G.7a.iii (404(c) applies) is selected then Valuation Date must be at least quarterly.
9. Valuation Date for ESOP Accounts (Article 2 Definitions and Section 9.10)
a. [ ] Last day of Plan Year
b. [ X ] Other: Each business day. Stock shares for distributions will be valued as of the date the participant’s election form is
received or, if the shares were sold on the open market, the value at which the shares were sold, net of commissions. If no
election is received and an automatic distribution is made because the value of the Participant’s account is $1,000 or less, then the
value assigned a share of stock shall be the closing price as of the last business day of the month in the quarter in which the
distribution is made.
10. Diversification
a. Enter the method used to determine “years of participation in the Plan” for the Diversification Election Period:
i.
[ ] Anniversaries of participation
ii. [ X ] Plan Years entitled to receive an allocation
iii. [ ] Plan Years with minimum Hours of Service:
iv. [ ] Other:
b. Enter the amount of Employer Stock the Qualified Participant will be permitted to diversify during the Qualified Election Period:
i.
[ X ] the minimum amount permitted under section 9.02(b)
ii. [ ]
amount for each Diversification Election Period
iii. [ ] Other Amount
(please describe the amount and the affected Diversification Election Periods)
11. Plan Administration
a. Designation of Plan Administrator (Section 12.01)
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i.
[ X ] Plan Sponsor
ii. [ ] Committee appointed by Plan Sponsor
iii. [ ] Other:
b. Establishment of procedures for the Plan Administrator and the Investment Fiduciary (Sections 12.01(c) and 12.02(c))
i.
[ X ] Plan Administrator and Investment Fiduciary adopt own procedures
ii. [ ] Governing body of the Plan Sponsor sets procedures for Plan Administrator and Investment Fiduciary
c. Type of indemnification for the Plan Administrator and Investment Fiduciary
i.
[ ] None - the Employer will not indemnify the Plan Administrator or the Investment Fiduciary
ii. [ X ] Standard according to Section 12.06
iii. [ ] Provided pursuant to an outside agreement
d. [ ] The following modifications shall be made to the duties of the applicable parties:
NOTE: G.11d may be used to reallocate duties between the Plan Sponsor and the Plan Administrator. It may also be used to
designate additional parties to perform specific Plan Administrator and/or Plan Sponsor duties.
12. Trust
a. Use the Trust agreement contained in the Basic Plan Document
[ X ] Yes
i.
ii. [ ] No
iii. [ ] Yes, but only for the following assets/Accounts:
; other assets/Accounts will use an outside Trust or be held by an
insurance company.
iv. [ ] Not Applicable - assets are held solely by an insurance company
b. Trustee Type
i.
[ ] Corporate. Trustee name and address:
ii. [ X ] Individual. Trustee name(s): Nicholas L. Saakvitne
c. Type of Trustee Indemnification:
i.
[ X ] Standard according to Section 10.07(b)
ii. [ ] None
d. [ X ] The Trustees may designate one or more Trustees to act on behalf of all Trustees (Section 10.05(b)(2)).
e. The Trustee is also the Investment Fiduciary (Section 10.06):
i.
[ X ] Yes
ii. [ ] No. The Investment Fiduciary is:
f. The special trustee for purposes of determining and collecting contributions under the Plan is:
i.
[ ] the chief executive officer of the Plan Sponsor
ii. [ X ] the Trustee
iii. [ ] other:
NOTE: Section 10.09 shall apply to the extent assets are held in an outside trust agreement.
NOTE: If the Trust agreement contained in the Basic Plan Document applies, then Trustee signature(s) is/are not necessary on
amendments if the amendment does not affect Trustee duties.
NOTE: If G.12a.iv is selected, G.12b - e shall not apply.
NOTE: If a separate trust agreement is to be used (G.12a.ii or G.12a.iii is selected), the items in G.1-5 shall apply only to the extent
that they are not superseded by the terms of the separate trust agreement. Only the trust document(s) previously approved by the IRS
may be utilized with this Plan and still rely on the Plan’s advisory letter.
NOTE: If G.12a.i or G.12a.iii (use trust in Basic Plan Document) is selected and G.12c.ii (no indemnification) is selected,
indemnification for the Trustee may be pursuant to an agreement that is not a part of the Plan.
NOTE: If G.12c.ii (no indemnification) Section 10.07(b) shall not apply and indemnification for the Trustee may be pursuant to an
agreement that is not a part of the Plan.
NOTE: G.12f must be an individual or a corporation with trust powers and is intended to comply with FAB 2008-01.
13. Trust Administrative Modifications
a. [ ] The following modifications are made to the permitted investments under the Trust Fund:
b. [ ] The following modifications are made to the duties of the Trustee, Investment Fiduciary or Investment Manager:
c. [ ] The following modifications are made to other administrative provisions of the Trust Fund:
NOTE: G.13 only applies if G.12a.i or G.12a.iii is selected (the Trust Agreement contained in the Basic Plan Document applies).
NOTE: The addition of language in G.13 cannot conflict with other provisions of the Plan and cannot cause the Plan to fail to qualify
under Code section 401(a). Under no circumstances can a modification consist of: 1) removal or change to the prudent man rule, 2)
addition of arbitration for Participant disputes, 3) addition of securities lending program, and 4) modification of the duties of the
special trustee in Section 10.02(b) to determine and collect contributions under the Plan.
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Statute of Limitations
14. Statute of Limitations
[ ] The Plan has a contractual statute of limitations as follows:
NOTE: The statute of limitations must not be unreasonably short (See Heimeshoff v. Hartford Life Ins. Co., U.S., No. 12-729 (2013))

Top-Heavy
15. Top-Heavy Allocations
Top-Heavy allocations are made to
a. [ ] This Plan. Participants who share in Top-Heavy minimum allocations:
i.
[ ] Non-Key only. Any Participant who is employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year and is not a Key
Employee
ii. [ ] All Participants. Any Participant who is employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year
iii. [ ] Participants covered by a collective bargaining agreement will share in Top-Heavy minimum allocations provided
retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining.
b. [ X ] Pursuant to the terms of Broadway Federal Bank f.s.b 401(k) Plan
c. [ ] Other (include information about which Plan allocations are made to and which Participants in this Plan will share in
Top-Heavy minimums):
d. Other plan maintained by the Employer
i.
[ ] N/A - no other plan
ii. [ X ] Defined Contribution
iii. [ ] Defined Benefit
NOTE: Choose one option, G.15a, b or c.
NOTE: G.15a.iii may be selected in addition to G.15a.i or G.15a.ii. If G.15a.iii applies and is not selected, Employees covered under
a collective bargaining agreement that bargains in good faith for retirement benefits shall not be eligible to receive top-heavy
minimum allocations.
NOTE: If G.15b is selected, include the name of the other plan.
NOTE: G.15d is not applicable if G.15c is selected.
16. Top-Heavy Vesting
Top-Heavy vesting schedule:
a. [ ] 100%
b. [ X ] 2-6 Year Graded
c. [ ] 3 Year Cliff
d. [ ] Other:
i.
Other Top-Heavy Schedule - less than 1 year:
ii. Other Top-Heavy Schedule - 1 year but less than 2 years:
iii. Other Top-Heavy Schedule - 2 years but less than 3 years:
iv. Other Top-Heavy Schedule - 3 years but less than 4 years:
v. Other Top-Heavy Schedule - 4 years but less than 5 years:
vi. Other Top-Heavy Schedule - 5 years but less than 6 years:
vii. Other Top-Heavy Schedule - 6 or more years: 100%.
NOTE: See Section 11.03 for definitions of the applicable vesting schedules.
NOTE: If G.16 is “Other”, then any vesting schedule described in G.11d must provide vesting at least as rapidly as the “3 Year Cliff”
vesting schedule or the “2-6 Year Graded” vesting schedule.
17. Present Value Assumptions
a. Enter the interest rate to be used for determining Present Value to compute the Top-Heavy ratio:
b. Enter the mortality table to be used for determining Present Value to compute the Top-Heavy ratio:

%

11. 416 Additional Language
[ ] Additional language necessary to satisfy Code section 416 because of the required aggregation of multiple plans:

SECTION I. MISCELLANEOUS
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SECTION I. MISCELLANEOUS
Failure to properly fill out the Adoption Agreement may result in disqualification of the Plan.
The Plan shall consist of this Adoption Agreement #001, its related Basic Plan Document #CE2-ESOP and any related Appendix and
Addendum specifically created in response to a question within the Adoption Agreement.
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SECTION J. EXECUTION PAGE
The undersigned agree to be bound by the terms of this Adoption Agreement and Basic Plan Document and acknowledge receipt of same.
The parties have caused this Plan to be executed this 28th day of January, 2016.

BROADWAY FEDERAL BANK:
Signature: /s/ Brenda Battey
Print Name: Brenda Battey
Title/Position:

SVP/CFO

TRUSTEE:
/s/ Nicholas L. Saakvitne
Nicholas L. Saakvitne
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ARTICLE 1 INTRODUCTION

ARTICLE 1 INTRODUCTION
Section 1.01

PLAN AND TRUST

This document (“Basic Plan Document”) and its related Adoption Agreement are intended to qualify as a tax-exempt plan and
trust under Code sections 401(a) and 501(a), respectively.
Section 1.02

EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN

The Plan and the Accounts specified in the Adoption Agreement as the Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) Accounts and
the applicable portion of the Trust are also intended to qualify as a tax-exempt ESOP and trust under Code section 4975(e)(7). The
Accounts specified in the Adoption Agreement as the ESOP Accounts of the Plan shall be invested primarily in Employer Stock.
Section 1.03

APPLICATION OF PLAN AND TRUST

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the provisions of this Plan shall apply to those individuals who are Eligible
Employees of the Company on or after the Effective Date. Except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, the rights and benefits, if
any, of former Eligible Employees of the Company whose employment terminated prior to the Effective Date, shall be determined under
the provisions of the Plan, as in effect from time to time prior to that date.
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ARTICLE 2 DEFINITIONS
“Account” means the balance of a Participant’s interest in the Trust Fund as of the applicable date as adjusted pursuant to
Article 9. “Account” or “Accounts” shall include to the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, Non-Elective Contribution Account,
Rollover Contribution Account, Transfer Account and such other account(s) or subaccount(s) as the Plan Administrator, in its discretion,
deems appropriate.
“Adoption Agreement” means the document executed in conjunction with this Basic Plan Document that contains the optional
features selected by the Plan Sponsor.
“Alternate Payee” means the person entitled to receive payment of benefits under the Plan pursuant to a Qualified Domestic
Relations Order.
“Annual Addition” means the sum of the following amounts credited to a Participant’s Account for the Limitation Year:
(a)
also include;

Employer contributions allocated to a Participant’s Account Non-Elective Contributions. Employer contributions shall

(b)

after-tax contributions;

(c)

forfeitures;

(d)
amounts allocated, after March 31, 1984, to an individual medical account, as defined in Code section 415(l)(2), which
is part of a pension or annuity plan maintained by the Employer;
(e)
amounts derived from contributions paid or accrued after December 31, 1985, in taxable years ending after such date,
which are attributable to post-retirement medical benefits, allocated to the separate account of a key employee, as defined in Code section
419A(d)(3), under a welfare benefit fund, as defined in Code section 419(e), maintained by the Employer; and
(f)

allocations under a simplified employee pension plan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Annual Addition shall not include a restorative payment within the meaning of IRS Revenue Ruling
2002-45 and any superseding guidance.
“Annuity Starting Date” means the first day of the first period for which an amount is paid as an annuity or any other form.
“Applicable Plan” means a plan that is established and maintained by: (i) an employer whose charter or bylaws restrict the
ownership of substantially all outstanding employer securities to employees or to a trust described in Code section 401(a), (ii) an S
Corporation, or (iii) a bank (as defined in Code section 581) which is prohibited by law from redeeming or purchasing its own securities.
“Beneficiary” means the person(s) entitled to receive benefits, under Section 7.04 of the Plan, upon the Participant’s death.
“Board” means the governing body of the Plan Sponsor. If the Plan Sponsor is a sole proprietorship, the Board means the sole
proprietor.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
“Committee” means the Committee that may be appointed by the Plan Sponsor pursuant to Section 12.01 to serve as Plan
Administrator.
“Company” means the Plan Sponsor and any other entity that has adopted the Plan with the approval of the Plan Sponsor.
“Compensation” shall have the meaning set forth in the Adoption Agreement. To the extent provided in the Adoption
Agreement, amounts not includible in gross income under Code section 125 shall include any amounts not available to a Participant in cash
in lieu of group health coverage because the Participant is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage (“deemed Code section
125 compensation”). An amount
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will be treated as an amount under Code section 125 only if the Company does not request or collect information regarding the Participant’s
other health coverage as part of the enrollment process for the health plan.
Compensation shall include other compensation paid by the later of: (a) 2-1/2 months after an Employee’s severance from
employment with the Company or (b) the end of the Limitation Year that includes the date of the Employee’s severance from employment
with the Company if: (1) the payment is regular compensation for services during the Participant’s regular working hours, or compensation
for services outside the Participant’s regular working hours (e.g., overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar
payments; and (2) the payment would have been paid to the Participant prior to a severance from employment if the Participant had
continued in employment with the Company.
The exclusions from Compensation for payments after severance from employment do not apply to payments to a Participant
who does not currently perform services for the Company by reason of Qualified Military Service to the extent those payments do not
exceed the amounts the Participant would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for the Company rather than
entering Qualified Military Service. To the extent selected in the Adoption Agreement and pursuant to Code section 414(u)(12), IRS Notice
2010-15 and any superseding guidance, differential wage payments shall be treated as Compensation.
To the extent provided in Section 4.01(e), Compensation shall include compensation paid to a Participant who is permanently and
totally disabled.
Compensation must be determined without regard to any rules under Code section 3401(a) that limit the remuneration included in
wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code
section 3401(a)(2)). For any Self-Employed Individual covered under the Plan, Compensation will mean Earned Income.
For any Plan Year, the annual compensation of each Participant taken into account in determining allocations for any Plan Year
beginning after December 31, 2001, shall not exceed $200,000, as adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with Code section
401(a)(17)(B). Annual compensation means Compensation during the Plan Year or such other consecutive 12-month period over which
Compensation is otherwise determined under the Plan (the determination period). The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar
year applies to annual compensation for the determination period that begins with or within such calendar year.
If a determination period consists of fewer than 12 months, the annual Compensation limit is an amount equal to the otherwise
applicable annual Compensation limit multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the short determination
period, and the denominator of which is 12.
“Deemed-Owned Shares” means, with respect to any person: (i) the stock in the S Corporation constituting employer securities
of an employee stock ownership plan which is allocated to such person under the Plan, and; (ii) such person’s share of the stock in such
corporation which is held by the Plan but which is not allocated under the Plan to Participants or Beneficiaries. For purposes of clause
(ii) of the preceding sentence, a person’s share of unallocated S corporation stock held by the Plan is the amount of the unallocated stock
which would be allocated to such person if the unallocated stock were allocated to all Participants in the same proportions as the most
recent stock allocation under the Plan.
“Determination Date” means the last day of the preceding Plan Year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Determination Date for
the first Plan Year shall be the last day of such year.
“Disabled” or “Disability” shall have the meaning specified in the Adoption Agreement. The determination of Disability shall be
made by the Plan Administrator.
“Disqualified Person” means a person defined in Code section 4975(e)(2), including but not limited to (i) a fiduciary of the Plan;
(ii) a person providing services to the Plan; (iii) the Employer; (iv) an owner of 50% or more of the combined voting power or value of all
classes of stock of the Plan Sponsor entitled to vote or the total value of shares of all classes of stock of the Plan Sponsor and certain
members of such owner’s family; or (v) an officer, director, 10% or greater shareholder or highly compensated employee (who earns 10%
or more of the yearly wages) of the Employer.
“Diversification Election Period” means the six Plan Years beginning with the Plan Year during which a Participant becomes a
Qualified Participant.
CCH INCORPORATED, DBA FTWILLIAM.COM
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“Domestic Partner” means, unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, a partner of the Participant if the Participant is
in a civil union or similar relationship recognized under the laws of any state. A Participant may only have one Domestic Partner. A
Participant may not have a Domestic Partner if the Participant is legally married to a person. If Domestic Partners are treated as a spouse
under this Plan, Section 7.10 applies and a Domestic Partner instead of a spouse is the Beneficiary of the survivor annuity, the term
“Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity” shall be modified to “Joint and Survivor Annuity”, “qualified preretirement survivor annuity” shall
be modified to “preretirement survivor annuity”, and Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity” shall be modified to “Optional Survivor
Annuity”.
“Earned Income” means the net earnings from self-employment in the trade or business with respect to which the Plan is
established, for which personal services of the individual are a material income-producing factor. Net earnings will be determined without
regard to items not included in gross income and the deductions allocable to such items. Net earnings are reduced by contributions by the
Employer to a qualified plan to the extent deductible under Code section 404. Net earnings shall be determined with regard to the
deduction allowed to the taxpayer by Code section 164(f) for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1989.
“Effective Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section A.3 of the Adoption Agreement except as otherwise specified in the
Plan or Adoption Agreement.
“Eligibility Computation Period” means a 12-consecutive month period beginning with an Employee’s Employment
Commencement Date and each anniversary thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Adoption Agreement provides that the Eligibility
Computation Period switches to the Plan Year his succeeding Eligibility Computation Period for such purpose will switch to the Plan Year,
beginning with the Plan Year that includes the first anniversary of his Employment Commencement Date. If the Eligibility Computation
Period switches to the Plan Year, an Employee who is credited with a Year of Eligibility Service in both the initial Eligibility Computation
Period and the first Plan Year which commences prior to the first anniversary of the Employee’s initial Eligibility Computation Period will
be credited with two Years of Eligibility Service.
“Eligible Employee” means any Employee employed by the Company, subject to the modifications and exclusions described in
the Adoption Agreement.
If an individual is subsequently reclassified as, or determined to be, an Employee by a court, the Internal Revenue Service or any
other governmental agency or authority, or if the Company is required to reclassify such individual as an Employee as a result of such
reclassification or determination (including any reclassification by the Company in settlement of any claim or action relating to such
individual’s employment status), such individual shall not become an Eligible Employee by reason of such reclassification or
determination.
An individual who becomes employed by the Employer in a transaction between the Employer and another entity that is a stock
or asset acquisition, merger, or other similar transaction involving a change in the employer of the employees of the trade or business shall
not become eligible to participate in the Plan until the Plan Sponsor specifically authorizes such participation.
“Employee” means any individual who is employed by the Employer, including a Self-Employed Individual. The term
“Employee” includes any Leased Employee of the Employer. No Leased Employee may become a Participant hereunder unless he
becomes an Eligible Employee. The term “Employee” shall not include a person who is classified by the Employer as an independent
contractor or a person (other than a Self-Employed Individual) who is not treated as an employee for purposes of withholding federal
employment taxes.
“Employer” means the Company or any other employer that is a member of the same controlled group of corporations as the
Employer within the meaning of Code section 1563(a) (as modified by subparagraphs (B) and (C) of Code section 409(l)(4) and as
determined without regard to sections 1563(a)(4) and 1563(e)(C).
“Employer Stock” means the securities issued by the Employer that qualifies as employer securities within the meaning of Code
section 409(l).
(1)

Common stock of the employer which is (publically traded) readily tradable on an established securities market; or

(2)

In a privately held company, it is the class of common stock with the greatest voting power and greatest dividend rights.

“Employer Stock Fund” means the Investment Fund which is invested primarily in Employer Stock.
“Employment Commencement Date” means the first date on which the Eligible Employee performs an Hour of Service.
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“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, all amendments thereto and all federal regulations
promulgated pursuant thereto.
“ESOP Accounts” means those Accounts specified in Section 1.02 and the Adoption Agreement as the ESOP portion of the Plan.
The ESOP Accounts shall be invested in the Employer Stock Fund.
“Exempt Loan” means an extension of credit to the Plan pursuant to Article 4A.02.
“Highly Compensated Employee” means, effective for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 1996, any Employee who during
the Plan Year performs services for the Employer and who:
(a)

was a More Than 5% Owner at any time during the Plan Year or the preceding Plan Year; or

(b)
during the preceding Plan Year (the Adoption Agreement may provide that the foregoing determination may be made
with respect to the calendar year beginning with or within the preceding Plan Year) received Statutory Compensation in excess of the Code
section 414(q)(1) amount ($80,000 as adjusted) and unless otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement was a member of the top paid
group of Employees within the meaning of Code section 414(q)(3).
The determination of who is a Highly Compensated Employee will be made in accordance with Code section 414(q) and the
regulations thereunder to the extent they are not inconsistent with the method established above.
The term Highly Compensated Employee also includes a former Employee who was a Highly Compensated Employee when he
separated from service or at any time after attaining age 55.
“Hour of Service” means:
(a)
Each hour for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to payment, for the performance of duties for the Employer.
These hours will be credited to the Employee for the computation period in which the duties are performed.
(b)
Each hour for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to payment, by the Employer on account of a period of time
during which no duties are performed (irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) due to vacation, holiday,
illness, incapacity (including disability), layoff, jury duty, military duty or leave of absence. No more than 501 Hours of Service will be
credited under this paragraph for any single continuous period (whether or not such period occurs in a single computation period). Hours
under this paragraph will be calculated and credited pursuant to DOL Reg. section 2530.200b-2 which is incorporated herein by this
reference.
(c)
Each hour for which back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, is either awarded or agreed to by the Employer.
The same Hours of Service will not be credited both under paragraph (a) or paragraph (b), as the case may be, and under this paragraph (c).
These hours will be credited to the Employee for the computation period or periods to which the award or agreement pertains rather than
the computation period in which the award, agreement or payment is made.
Solely for purposes of determining whether a One-Year Break in Service has occurred, an individual who is absent from work for
maternity or paternity reasons shall receive credit for the Hours of Service which would otherwise have been credited to such individual but
for such absence, or in any case in which such hours cannot be determined, 8 Hours of Service per day of such absence. For purposes of
this paragraph, an absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means an absence (1) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual,
(2) by reason of a birth of a child of the individual, (3) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the
adoption of such child by such individual, or (4) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such
birth or placement. The Hours of Service credited under this paragraph shall be credited (1) in the computation period in which the absence
begins if the crediting is necessary to prevent a break in service in that period, or (2) in all other cases, in the following computation period.
If the Employer is a member of an affiliated service group (under Code section 414(m)), a controlled group of corporations
(under Code section 414(b)), a group of trades or businesses under common control (under Code section 414(c)) or any other entity
required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to Code section 414(o), service will be credited for any employment with such
groups during the time the Employer is a member of the applicable group. Service will also be credited for any individual considered an
Employee for purposes of this Plan under Code sections 414(n) or 414(o).
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If the Employer maintains the plan of a predecessor employer, service with such employer will be treated as service for the
Employer.
Service with respect to Qualified Military Service shall be credited in accordance with Code section 414(u) and service shall also
be determined to the extent required by the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, for determining service under the elapsed time method an Hour of Service means each hour for
which an Employee is paid or entitled to payment for the performance of duties for the Employer.
“Impermissible Allocation” means, any Annual Addition occurring during a Nonallocation Year to a S Corporation Disqualified
Person under this Plan or any other plan of the Employer qualified under Code section 401(a).
“Impermissible Accrual” means, all Employer Stock consisting of shares in the S Corporation and all other Plan assets
attributable to S Corporation shares held in a S Corporation Disqualified Person’s Account for the benefit of that S Corporation
Disqualified Person, regardless of whether such Impermissible Accrual is attributable to contributions in the current year or prior years Plan
assets attributable to S Corporation stock held in a S Corporations Disqualified Person’s Account include distributions made on such S
Corporation stock within the meaning of Code section 1368, proceeds from the sale of such S Corporation stock, and earnings on such
distributions or proceeds.
“Investment Fiduciary” means the person(s) designated in the Adoption Agreement. The fiduciary will be subject to standards of
conduct as prescribed under ERISA.
“Investment Funds” means the funds, including the Employer Stock Fund, in which the Trust Fund is invested.
“Investment Manager” means an investment manager as described in section 3(38) of ERISA.
“Key Employee” means for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2001, any Employee or former Employee (including any
deceased Employee) who, at any time during the Plan Year that includes the Determination Date, is an officer of the Employer having an
annual Testing Compensation greater than $130,000 (as adjusted under Code section 416(i)(1) for Plan Years beginning after December 31,
2002), a More Than 5% Owner of the Employer, or a 1-percent owner of the Employer having Testing Compensation of more than
$150,000. In determining whether a plan is top-heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002, Key Employee means any
Employee or former Employee (including any deceased Employee) who at any time during the 5-year period ending on the Determination
Date, is an officer of the Employer having Testing Compensation that exceeds 50 percent of the dollar limitation under Code section
415(b)(1)(A), an owner (or considered an owner under Code section 318) of one of the ten largest interests in the Employer if such
individual’s Testing Compensation exceeds 100 percent of the dollar limitation under Code section 415(c)(1)(A), a More than 5% Owner of
the Employer, or a 1-percent owner of the Employer who has Testing Compensation of more than $150,000. The determination of who is a
Key Employee will be made in accordance with Code section 416(i)(1) and the applicable regulations and other guidance of general
applicability issued thereunder.
“Leased Employee” means any person (other than an Employee of the Employer) who pursuant to an agreement between the
Employer and any other person (“leasing organization”) has performed services for the Employer (or for the Employer and related persons
determined in accordance with Code section 414(n)(6)) on a substantially full time basis for a period of at least one year, and such services
are performed under primary direction or control by the Employer. Contributions or benefits provided a Leased Employee by the leasing
organization which are attributable to services performed for the Employer shall be treated as provided by the Employer. A person shall
not be considered a Leased Employee if: (i) such person is covered by a money purchase pension plan providing: (1) a nonintegrated
employer contribution rate of at least 10 percent of compensation, as defined in Code section 415(c)(3), but including amounts contributed
pursuant to a salary reduction agreement which are excludable from the employee’s gross income under Code sections 125, 402(e)(3),
402(h), 403(b), 132(f) or 457, (2) immediate participation, and (3) full and immediate vesting; and (ii) Leased Employees do not constitute
more than 20 percent of the Employer’s nonhighly compensated work force.
“Leveraged Shares” means shares of Employer Stock acquired by the Trustee with the proceeds of an Exempt Loan pursuant to
Article 4A.02.
“Limitation Year” means the year specified in the Adoption Agreement for purposes of determining Annual Additions limits
pursuant to Article 5. All qualified plans maintained by the Employer must use the same Limitation Year. If the Limitation Year is
amended to a different 12-consecutive month period, the new Limitation Year must begin on a date within the Limitation Year in which the
amendment is made.
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“Member of the Family” means, with respect to any individual: (i) the spouse of the individual; (ii) an ancestor or lineal
descendant of the individual or the individual’s spouse; (iii) a brother or sister of the individual or the individual’s spouse and any lineal
descendant of the brother or sister; and (iv) the spouse of any individual described in clause (ii) or (iii). A spouse of an individual who is
legally separated from such individual under a decree of divorce or separate maintenance shall not be treated as such individual’s spouse for
purposes of this Subsection (D).
“More Than 5% Owner” means any person who (a) owns (either directly or by attribution, under Code section 318) more than
5% of the outstanding stock of the Employer or stock possessing more than 5% of the total combined voting power of all stock of the
Employer or, (b) in the case of an unincorporated business, any person who owns more than 5% of the capital or profits interest in the
Employer. For purposes of Section 7.05, a Participant is treated as a More Than 5% Owner if such Participant is a More Than 5% Owner at
any time during the Plan Year ending with or within the calendar year in which such owner attains age 70-1/2 and shall continue to be
considered a More Than 5% Owner (and distributions must continue under Section 7.05) even if the Participant ceases to be a 5% owner in
a subsequent year.
“Nonallocation Event” means any event that the Plan Administrator determines would otherwise cause a Nonallocation Year (as
defined in Section 4A.04(b)) to occur. Events that may cause a nonallocation year include, but are not limited to, a contribution to the Plan
in the form of shares of Employer Stock, a distribution from the Plan in the form of shares of Employer Stock, a change of investment
within a Plan account of a S Corporation Disqualified Person that alters the number of shares of employer stock held in the account of the S
Corporation Disqualified Person, or the issuance by the employer of Synthetic Equity as defined by Code section 409(p)(6)(C) and Treas.
Reg. section 1.409(p)-1(f). A Nonallocation Event occurs only if (i) the total number of shares of Employer Stock that, held in the ESOP
account of those Participants who are or who would be S Corporation Disqualified Persons after taking into account the Participant’s
Synthetic Equity and the Nonallocation Event exceeds (ii) the number of shares of Employer Stock equal to 49.9% of the total number of
shares of Employer Stock outstanding after taking the Nonallocation Event into account (causing a Nonallocation Year to occur).
“Nonallocation Period” means the period beginning on the date of a sale of Employer Stock to the Plan financed with an Exempt
Loan and ending on the later of ten years after the date of such sale or the date of the allocation attributable to the final payment on the
Exempt Loan incurred with respect to the sale.
“Nonallocation Year” means any Plan Year if, at any time during such Plan Year: (i) the Plan holds employer securities
consisting of stock in an S Corporation; and (ii) S Corporation Disqualified Persons own at least 50 percent of the number of outstanding
shares of stock in the S Corporation or (iii) at least 50% of the sum of (A), the outstanding shares of stock in the S Corporation (including
Deemed-Owned Shares), and (B) the Synthetic Equity shares owned by S Corporation Disqualified Persons. For purposes of this definition,
the rules of Code section 318(a) shall apply for purposes of determining ownership, except that in applying Code section 318(a)(1), the
members of an individual’s family shall include members of the family defined in Subsection (3)(D) herein pursuant to Code section
409(p)(4)(D) and Code section 318(a)(4) regarding options shall not apply. Notwithstanding the employee trust exception in Code section
318(a)(2)(B)(i), an individual shall be treated as owning Deemed-Owned Shares of the individual. Solely for purposes of applying Code
section 409(p)(5) (regarding the treatment of synthetic equity), Synthetic Equity shares are only treated as owned by S Corporation
Disqualified Persons if such treatment results in the treatment of a Plan Year as a Nonallocation Year.
“Non-Elective Contribution” means a contribution made by the Company that is allocated to a Participant’s Non-Elective
Contribution Account pursuant to Article 4.
“Non-Elective Contribution Account” means so much of a Participant’s Account as consists of Non-Elective Contributions made
to the Plan.
“Non-ESOP Accounts” means those Accounts specified in Section 1.02 and the Adoption Agreement as the Non-ESOP portion
of the Plan. The Non-ESOP Accounts shall be invested in the other non-Employer Stock assets of the Plan.
“Non-Key Employee” means any Employee or former Employee who is not a Key Employee.
“Nonhighly Compensated Employee” means an Employee who is not a Highly Compensated Employee.
“Normal Retirement Age” shall have the meaning set forth in the Adoption Agreement.
“One-Year Break in Service” means, for purposes of determining eligibility service, an Eligibility Computation Period or, for
purposes of determining a Year of Vesting Service, a Vesting Computation Period during which an Employee is credited with 500 or fewer
Hours of Service.
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“One-Year Period of Severance” means a Period of Severance of at least 12-consecutive months. In the case of an individual
who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons, the 12-consecutive month period beginning on the first anniversary of the first
date of such absence shall not constitute a One-Year Period of Severance. For purposes of this paragraph, an absence from work for
maternity or paternity reasons means an absence (a) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, (b) by reason of the birth of a child of the
individual, (c) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child by such individual, or
(d) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or placement.
“Participant” means an Eligible Employee who participates in the Plan in accordance with Article 3.
“Period of Severance” means a continuous period of time during which the Employee does not perform an Hour of Service for
the Employer. Such period begins on the date the Employee retires, dies, quits or is discharged, or if earlier, the 12 month anniversary of
the date on which the Employee was otherwise first absent from service.
“Permissive Aggregation Group” means the Required Aggregation Group of plans, plus any other plan or plans of the Employer
which, when considered as a group with the Required Aggregation Group, would continue to satisfy the requirements of Code sections
401(a)(4) and 410.
“Plan Administrator” means the person(s) designated pursuant to the Adoption Agreement and Section 12.01. The Plan
Administrator is a “named fiduciary” within the meaning of ERISA section 402(a)(2).
“Plan Sponsor” means the entity described in the Adoption Agreement.
“Plan Year” means the 12-consecutive month period described in the Adoption Agreement. In the event the Plan incurs a short
Plan Year of less than 12-consecutive months, the requirements of the Department of Labor Regulations in 2530.202 and 2530.203 and
corresponding Treas. Reg. section 1.410(a) shall be satisfied.
“Post Severance Compensation” means amounts paid by the later of: (a) 2-1/2 months after an Employee’s severance from
employment with the Company or (b) the end of the applicable Limitation Year/Plan Year that includes the date of severance from
employment with the Company; and those amounts would have been included in the definition of Compensation if they were paid prior to
the Participant’s severance from employment with the Company. However the payment must be for (a) unused accrued bona fide sick,
vacation, or other leave, but only if the Participant would have been able to use the leave if the Employee had continued in employment; or
(b) received by a Participant pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plan, but only if the payment would have been
paid to the Participant at the same time if the Participant had continued in employment with the Company and only to the extent that the
payment is includible in the Participant’s gross income.
“Post Year End Compensation” means amounts earned during a year but not paid during that year solely because of the timing of
pay periods and pay dates if: (a) these amounts are paid during the first few weeks of the next year; (b) the amounts are included on a
uniform and consistent basis with respect to all similarly situated Employees; and (c) no compensation is included in more than one year.
“Present Value” means a benefit of equivalent value and shall be based only on the interest and mortality rates specified in the
Adoption Agreement.
“QLAC” means a qualifying longevity annuity contract as defined in Treasury Regulation 1.401(a)(9)-6, Q&A 17.
“Qualified Domestic Relations Order” means any judgment, decree, or order (including approval of a property settlement
agreement) that constitutes a “qualified domestic relations order” within the meaning of Code section 414(p).
“Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity” means for a married Participant, an immediate annuity for the life of the Participant with
a survivor annuity for the life of the Participant’s spouse which is not less than 50 percent and not more than 100 percent of the amount of
the annuity which is payable during the joint lives of the Participant and the spouse and which is the amount of benefit which can be
purchased with the Participant’s vested Account balance subject to Section 7.10. The percentage of the survivor annuity under the plan
shall be 50%, unless a different percentage is elected in the Adoption Agreement. For a single Participant, a Qualified Joint and Survivor
Annuity means an immediate annuity for the life of the Participant and which is the amount of benefit which can be purchased with the
Participant’s vested Account balance. The terms of such annuity contract shall comply with the provisions of this Plan and the annuity
contract shall be nontransferable.
“Qualified Military Service” means qualified military service as defined in Code section 414(u).
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“Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity” means an annuity for the life of the Participant with a survivor annuity that is equal to the
applicable percentage of the amount of the annuity that is payable during the joint lives of the Participant and the spouse, and that is the
actuarial equivalent of a single life annuity for the life of the Participant. The survivor percentage of the Qualified Optional Survivor
Annuity shall be determined in accordance with the following:
(a)
If the Plan provides for a specific Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity survivor annuity percentage and such
percentage is less than 75%, then the Plan’s Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity shall be 75%.
(b)
If the Plan provides for a specific Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity survivor annuity percentage and such
percentage is greater than or equal to 75%, then the Plan’s Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity shall be 50%.
(c)
If the Plan does not provide for a specific Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity survivor annuity percentage, then the
Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity survivor annuity percentage shall be 50% and the Qualified Optional Survivor Annuity survivor
annuity percentage shall be 75%.
“Qualified Participant” means a Participant who has attained age 55 and has 10 years of participation in the Plan or a predecessor
plan until the date on which the Participant ceases to be entitled to any benefit under the Plan as specified in the Adoption Agreement. For
this purpose, a predecessor plan includes any ESOP maintained by the Employer or a predecessor employer within the meaning of Treasury
Regulation 1.415(f)-1(c), and any plan that has been merged into, consolidated with, or transferred assets to the plan in accordance with
414(l) of the Code.
“Qualifying Employer Real Property” means real property (and related personal property) which is leased to the employer of
employees covered by the Plan, or to an affiliate of such employer. For purposes of determining the time at which a Plan acquires
Qualifying Employer Real Property for purposes of this section , such property shall be deemed to be acquired by the Plan on the date on
which the plan acquires the property or on the date on which the lease to the employer (or affiliate) is entered into, whichever is later.
“Qualifying Employer Security” means a security issued by an employer of employees covered by the plan, or by an affiliate of
such employer. A contract to which ERISA section 408(b)(5) applies shall not be treated as a security for purposes of this section.
“Rebalancing” is the mandatory transfer of Employer Stock into and out of Participant’s Accounts designed to result in all
Participant Accounts having the same proportion of Employer Stock.
“Released and Unallocated Account” means the account established and maintained in the Trust to hold Employer
Stock released from the Suspense Account, as described in Article 4A, but not yet allocated to Participants’ Accounts and dividends
thereon.
“Reshuffling” means the mandatory transfer of Employer Stock into or out of the ESOP accounts for administrative purposes
such as distributions, diversifications or segregation upon termination.
“Required Aggregation Group” means (a) each qualified plan of the Employer in which at least one Key Employee participates or
participated at any time during the Plan Year containing the Determination Date or any of the four preceding Plan Years (regardless of
whether the Plan has terminated), and (b) any other qualified plan of the Employer which enables a plan described in (a) to meet the
requirements of Code sections 401(a)(4) or 410.
“Required Beginning Date” means April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the calendar year in which the Participant
attains age 70-1/2 or the calendar year in which the Participant retires, except that benefit distributions to a More Than 5% Owner must
commence by April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70-1/2. The Adoption Agreement
may provide that for a Participant other than a More Than 5% Owner: (a) the Required Beginning Date is the April 1 of the calendar year
following the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70-1/2; or (b) the Participant may elect to begin receiving distributions at
the date specified in the preceding sentence or the date specified in clause (a) of this sentence.
“Rollover Contribution” means an Employee contribution made to the Plan as a rollover from another eligible retirement plan or
individual retirement account pursuant to Article 4 of the Plan.
“Rollover Contribution Account” means so much of a Participant’s Account as consists of a Participant’s Rollover Contributions
(and corresponding earnings) made to the Plan.
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“Section 415 Safe Harbor Option” means a definition of Compensation that:
(a)

Includes all of the following:

(1)
The Employee’s wages, salaries, fees for professional services, and other amounts received (without regard to
whether or not an amount is paid in cash) for personal services actually rendered in the course of employment with the Employer
maintaining the Plan, to the extent that the amounts are includible in gross income (or to the extent amounts would have been received and
includible in gross income but for an election under Code section 125(a), 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 402(k), or 457(b)). These
amounts include, but are not limited to, commissions paid to salespersons, compensation for services on the basis of a percentage of profits,
commissions on insurance premiums, tips, bonuses, fringe benefits, and reimbursements or other expense allowances under a
nonaccountable plan as described in Treas. Reg. section 1.62-2(c).
(2)
Amounts described in Code section 104(a)(3), 105(a), or 105(h), but only to the extent that these amounts are
includible in the gross income of the Employee.
(3)
Amounts paid or reimbursed by the Employer for moving expenses incurred by an Employee, but only to the
extent that at the time of the payment it is reasonable to believe that these amounts are not deductible by the Employee under Code section
217.
(4)
The value of a nonstatutory option (which is an option other than a statutory option as defined in Treas. Reg.
section 1.421-1(b)) granted to an Employee by the Employer, but only to the extent that the value of the option is includible in the gross
income of the Employee for the taxable year in which granted.
(5)

The amount includible in the gross income of an Employee upon making the election described in Code

section 83(b).
(6)
Amounts that are includible in the gross income of an Employee under the rules of Code section 409A or
457(f)(1)(A) or because the amounts are constructively received by the Employee.
(b)

Excludes all of the following:

(1)
Contributions (other than elective contributions described in Code section 402(e)(3), 408(k)(6),
408(p)(2)(A)(i), or 457(b)) made by the Employer to a plan of deferred compensation (including a simplified employee pension plan
described in Code section 408(k) or a simple retirement account described in Code section 408(p), and whether or not qualified) to the
extent that the contributions are not includible in the gross income of the Employee for the taxable year in which contributed. In addition,
any distributions from a plan of deferred compensation (whether or not qualified) are not considered as compensation for Code section 415
purposes, regardless of whether such amounts are includible in the gross income of the Employee when distributed.
(2)
Amounts realized from the exercise of a nonstatutory option (which is an option other than a statutory option
as defined in Treas. Reg. section 1.421-1(b)), or when restricted stock or other property held by an Employee either becomes freely
transferable or is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture (see Code section 83 and regulations promulgated thereunder).
(3)
Amounts realized from the sale, exchange, or other disposition of stock acquired under a statutory stock
option (as defined in Treas. Reg. section 1.421-1(b)).
(4)
Other amounts that receive special tax benefits, such as premiums for group-term life insurance (but only to
the extent that the premiums are not includible in the gross income of the Employee and are not salary reduction amounts that are described
in Code section 125).
(5)

Other items of remuneration that are similar to any of the items listed in paragraphs (b)(1) through (b)(4) of

this section.
“S Corporation” means a corporation described in Code section 1361(a)(1) for which an election under Code section 1362(a) is in
effect.
“S Corporation Disqualified Person” means any person whose: (i) number of Deemed-Owned Shares is at least 10% of the total
number of the Deemed-Owned Shares,; (ii) aggregated number of Deemed-Owned Shares and Synthetic Equity shares is at least 10% of the
sum of (a) the total number of Deemed-Owned Shares and (b) such person’s Synthetic Equity shares; (iii) number of Deemed-Owned
Shares, together with the number of Deemed-Owned Shares of the Members of the Family of such person, is at least 20% of the total
number of Deemed-Owned Shares; or (iv)
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aggregate number of Deemed-Owned Shares and Synthetic Equity shares, together with the aggregate number of Deemed-Owned Shares
and Synthetic Equity shares of the Members of the Family of such person, is at least 20% of the sum of the total number of Deemed-Owned
Shares and (b) the Synthetic Equity shares owned by such person and the members fo the family of such person. Solely for the purposes of
determining whether a person is a S Corporation Disqualified Person, a person is only treated as owning Synthetic Equity shares if such
treatment results in that person being treated as an S Corporation Disqualified Person.
“Self-Employed Individual” means any individual who has Earned Income for the taxable year from the trade or business for
which the Plan is established, including an individual who would have Earned Income but for the fact that the trade or business had no net
profits for the taxable year. An individual shall not be a Self-Employed Individual unless he or she is also an owner of the Company.
“Suspense Account” means the account established and maintained in the Trust to hold Employer Stock acquired with the
proceeds of an Exempt Loan, which has not yet been released pursuant to Article 4A, and dividends thereon.
“Statutory Compensation” shall have the meaning set forth in the Adoption Agreement.
Statutory Compensation must be determined without regard to any rules under Code section 3401(a) that limit the remuneration
included in wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor
in Code section 3401(a)(2)). For any Self-Employed Individual, Statutory Compensation shall mean Earned Income.
Statutory Compensation shall include any amount which is contributed by the Company pursuant to a salary reduction agreement
and which is not includible in the gross income of the Participant under Code sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h), 403(b), 132(f) or 457. To the
extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, Statutory Compensation shall include any amounts not available to a Participant in cash in lieu
of group health coverage because the Participant is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage (“deemed Code section 125
compensation”). An amount will be treated as an amount under Code section 125 only if the Company does not request or collect
information regarding the Participant’s other health coverage as part of the enrollment process for the health plan.
Statutory Compensation shall include other compensation paid by 2-1/2 months after a Participant’s severance from employment
with the Company if: (a) the payment is regular compensation for services during the Participant’s regular working hours, or compensation
for services outside the Participant’s regular working hours (e.g., overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, or other similar
payments; and the payment would have been paid to the Participant prior to a severance from employment if the Participant had continued
in employment with the Company. The exclusions from compensation for payments after severance from employment do not apply to
payments to a Participant who does not currently perform services for the Company by reason of qualified military service (as that term is
used in Code section 414(u)(1)) to the extent those payments do not exceed the amounts the Participant would have received if the
individual had continued to perform services for the Company rather than entering qualified military service. To the extent provided in the
Plan, Statutory Compensation shall include compensation paid to a Participant who is permanently and totally disabled.
Notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, the annual Statutory Compensation of each Employee taken into
account under the Plan for any Plan Year shall not exceed the amount in effect for such year under Code section 401(a)(17). If a Plan Year
consists of fewer than 12 months, the applicable limitation under Code section 401(a)(17) will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of months in such year, and the denominator of which is 12.
“Synthetic Equity” means any stock option, warrant, restricted stock, deferred issuance stock right, or similar interest or right that
gives the holder the right to acquire or receive stock of the S Corporation in the future. Except to the extent provided in the regulations,
synthetic equity also includes a stock appreciation right, phantom stock unit, nonqualified deferred compensation or similar right to a future
cash payment based on the value of such stock or appreciation in such value.
“Termination” and “Termination of Employment” means any absence from service that ends the employment of the Employee
with the Employer.
“Top-Heavy Ratio” means:
(a)
If the Employer maintains one or more defined contribution plans (including any Simplified Employee Pension Plan)
and the Employer has not maintained any defined benefit plan which during the 5-year period ending on the Determination Date(s) has or
has had accrued benefits, the Top-Heavy Ratio for this Plan alone or for the Required or Permissive Aggregation Group as appropriate is a
fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of the account balances of all Key Employees as of the Determination Date(s), including any
part of any account balance distributed
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in the one-year period ending on the Determination Date(s), (five-year period ending on the Determination Date in the case of a distribution
made for a reason other than severance from employment, death or disability and in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan
Years beginning before January 1, 2002), and the denominator of which is the sum of all account balances (including any part of any
account balance distributed in the 1-year period ending on the Determination Date(s)) (5-year period ending on the Determination Date in
the case of a distribution made for a reason other than severance from employment, death or disability and in determining whether the Plan
is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002), both computed in accordance with Code section 416 and the regulations
thereunder. Both the numerator and denominator of the Top-Heavy Ratio are increased to reflect any contribution not actually made as of
the Determination Date, but which is required to be taken into account on that date under Code section 416 and the regulations thereunder.
(b)
If the Employer maintains one or more defined contribution plans (including any Simplified Employee Pension Plan)
and the Employer maintains or has maintained one or more defined benefit plans which during the 5-year period ending on the
Determination Date(s) has or has had any accrued benefits, the Top-Heavy Ratio for any Required or Permissive Aggregation group as
appropriate is a fraction, the numerator of which is the sum of account balances under the aggregated defined contribution plan or plans for
all Key Employees, determined in accordance with (a) above, and the Present Value of accrued benefits under the aggregated defined
benefit plan or plans for all Key Employees as of the Determination Date(s), and the denominator of which is the sum of the account
balances under the aggregated defined contribution plan or plans for all Participants, determined in accordance with (a) above, and the
Present Value of accrued benefits under the defined benefit plan or plans for all Participants as of the Determination Date(s), all determined
in accordance with Code section 416 and the regulations thereunder. The accrued benefits under a defined benefit plan in both the
numerator and denominator of the Top-Heavy Ratio are increased for any distribution of an accrued benefit made in the one-year period
ending on the Determination Date (five-year period ending on the Determination Date in the case of a distribution made for a reason other
than severance from employment, death or disability and in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before
January 1, 2002).
(c)
For purposes of (a) and (b) above the value of account balances and the Present Value of accrued benefits will be
determined as of the most recent Valuation Date that falls within or ends with the 12-month period ending on the Determination Date,
except as provided in Code section 416 and the regulations thereunder for the first and second Plan Years of a defined benefit plan. The
account balances and accrued benefits of a Participant (1) who is a Non Key Employee but who was a Key Employee in a prior year, or
(2) who has not been credited with at least one hour of service with any Employer maintaining the Plan at any time during the one-year
period (5-year period in determining whether the Plan is Top-Heavy for Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002) ending on the
Determination Date will be disregarded. The calculation of the Top-Heavy Ratio, and the extent to which distributions, rollovers, and
transfers are taken into account will be made in accordance with Code section 416 and the regulations thereunder. Deductible employee
contributions will not be taken into account for purposes of computing the Top-Heavy Ratio. When aggregating plans the value of account
balances and accrued benefits will be calculated with reference to the Determination Dates that fall within the same calendar year.
The accrued benefit of a Non Key Employee shall be determined under: (x) the method, if any, that uniformly applies
for accrual purposes under all defined benefit plans maintained by the Employer, or (y) if there is no such method, as if such benefit
accrued not more rapidly than the slowest accrual rate permitted under the fractional rule of Code section 411(b)(1)(C).
“Transfer Account” means so much of a Participant’s Account as consists of amounts transferred from another eligible retirement
plan (and corresponding earnings) pursuant to Article 4 in a transaction that was not an eligible rollover distribution within the meaning of
Code section 402.
“Trust Fund” means all of the assets of the Plan held by the Trustee pursuant to Article 10 or held by an insurance company
pursuant to section 403 of ERISA.
“Trustee” means the person or persons designated by the Plan Sponsor to serve as the Trustee of the Trust Fund to the extent the
assets of the Plan are not held solely by an insurance company. If the Trustee is a corporate Trustee the Trustee will be a directed Trustee
unless otherwise indicated in a separate agreement. If the Trustee is an individual Trustee, the Trustee will be a discretionary Trustee unless
otherwise indicated in a separate agreement.
“Valuation Date” has the meaning specified in the Adoption Agreement. Valuations of Employer Stock shall be made pursuant to
Section 9.10, in accordance with a method consistently followed and uniformly applied in good faith. Notwithstanding anything in the
Adoption Agreement to the contrary and in the event that a Participant is to receive a distribution from the Plan, or there is to be a transfer
of assets and/or division of assets from the Plan, the Plan Administrator may in its sole discretion declare a special Valuation Date for that
portion of the Plan that is not daily-valued in extraordinary situations to protect the interests of Participants in the Plan or the Participant
receiving the distribution. Such extraordinary circumstances include a significant change in economic conditions or market value of the
Trust Fund.
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“Vesting Computation Period” means, for purposes of determining Years of Vesting Service, the period described in the
Adoption Agreement.
“Year of Eligibility Service” means, with respect to any Employee, an Eligibility Computation Period during which he completes
at least the service specified in the Adoption Agreement. If the Plan uses the elapsed time method: (a) “Year of Eligibility Service” means
a twelve month period of time beginning on an Employee’s Employment Commencement Date and ending on the date on which eligibility
service is being determined; (b) in order to determine the number of whole Years of Eligibility Service under the elapsed time method,
nonsuccessive periods of service and less than whole year periods of service shall be aggregated on the basis that twelve months of service
(30 days are deemed to be a month in the case of the aggregation of fractional months) or 365 days of service are equal to a whole year of
service; (c) an Employee will also receive credit for any Period of Severance of less than twelve consecutive months; and (d) if less than
one Year of Eligibility Service is required in Article 3, such service shall be determined by substituting such period for “twelve month” and
“Year” where they appear in this paragraph. If the Plan provides for fractional Years of Eligibility Service, the requirement to complete any
specified hours in the fractional period shall be waived.
All eligibility service with the Employer is taken into account except that if permitted in the Adoption Agreement, the following
service shall be disregarded in determining Years of Eligibility Service:
(a)
One-Year Holdout. If an Employee has a One-Year Break in Service (One-Year Period of Severance to the extent the
Plan uses the elapsed time method), Years of Eligibility Service before such period will not be taken into account until the Employee has
completed a Year of Eligibility Service after returning to employment with the Employer.
(b)
Rule of Parity. If an Employee does not have any nonforfeitable right to the Account balance derived from Employer
contributions, Years of Eligibility Service before a period of five (5) consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service (One-Year Periods of
Severance to the extent the Plan uses the elapsed time method) will not be taken into account in computing eligibility service.
If a Participant’s Years of Eligibility Service are disregarded pursuant to the foregoing, such Participant will be treated as a new
Employee for eligibility purposes. If a Participant’s Years of Eligibility Service may not be disregarded pursuant to the foregoing, such
Participant shall participate in the Plan pursuant to the terms of Article 3.
To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, eligibility service may also include service with employers other than the
Employer.
“Year of Vesting Service” means a Vesting Computation Period during which the Employee completes at least the number of
hours specified in the Adoption Agreement. If the Plan uses the elapsed time method: (a) “Year of Vesting Service” means a twelve month
period of time beginning on an Employee’s Employment Commencement Date and ending on the date on which vesting service is being
determined; (b) in order to determine the number of whole Years of Vesting Service under the elapsed time method, nonsuccessive periods
of service and less than whole year periods of service shall be aggregated on the basis that 12 months of service (30 days are deemed to be a
month in the case of the aggregation of fractional months) or 365 days of service are equal to a whole year of service; and (c) an Employee
will also receive credit for any Period of Severance of less than 12-consecutive months.
All Years of Vesting Service with the Employer are taken into account except that for an Employee who has five consecutive
One-Year Breaks in Service (One-Year Periods of Severance to the extent the Plan uses the elapsed time method) and except to the extent
provided in Article 6, all periods of service after such breaks in service/periods of severance shall be disregarded for the purpose of vesting
the Employee’s Employer-derived Account balance that accrued before such breaks in service/periods of severance, but except as otherwise
expressly provided, both the service before and after such breaks in service/periods of severance shall count for purposes of vesting the
Employee’s Employer-derived Account balance that accrues after such breaks in service/periods of severance pursuant to Article 6.
In addition, if permitted in the Adoption Agreement, the following service shall be disregarded in determining Years of Vesting
Service:
(a)
One-Year Holdout. If an Employee has a One-Year Break in Service (One-Year Period of Severance to the extent the
Plan uses the elapsed time method), Years of Vesting Service before such period will not be taken into account until the Employee has
completed a Year of Vesting Service after returning to employment with the Employer.
(b)
Rule of Parity. If an Employee does not have any nonforfeitable right to the Account balance derived from Employer
contributions, Years of Vesting Service before a period of five (5) consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service (One-Year Periods of
Severance to the extent the Plan uses the elapsed time method) will not be taken into account in computing vesting service. Elective
Deferrals under a qualified CODA are taken into account for purposes of determining whether a Participant is a nonvested Participant for
purposes of Code section 411(a)(6)(D)(iii).

CCH INCORPORATED, DBA FTWILLIAM.COM

13

Copyright © 2002-2016

ARTICLE 2 DEFINITIONS
(c)
Years of Vesting Service before age 18 and/or Years of Vesting Service before the Employer maintained this Plan or a
predecessor plan will not be taken into account in computing vesting service.
To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, vesting service may also include service with employers other than the
Employer.
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ARTICLE 3 PARTICIPATION
Section 3.01

NON-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS

Each Eligible Employee as of the Effective Date who was eligible to participate in the Plan with respect to Non-Elective
Contributions immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be a Participant eligible to receive Non-Elective Contributions pursuant to
Article 4 on the Effective Date. Each other Eligible Employee who was not a Participant in the Plan with respect to Non-Elective
Contributions immediately prior to the Effective Date shall become a Participant eligible to receive Non-Elective Contributions on the date
specified in the Adoption Agreement; provided that he is an Eligible Employee on such date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant
shall be eligible to receive Non-Elective Contributions only to the extent such contributions are permitted in the Adoption Agreement.
Section 3.02

TRANSFERS

If a change in job classification or a transfer results in an individual no longer qualifying as an Eligible Employee, such Employee
shall cease to be a Participant for purposes of Article 4 (or shall not become eligible to become a Participant) as of the effective date of such
change of job classification or transfer. Should such Employee again qualify as an Eligible Employee or if an Employee who was not
previously an Eligible Employee becomes an Eligible Employee, he shall become a Participant with respect to the contributions for which
the eligibility requirements have been satisfied as of the later of the effective date of such subsequent change of status or the date the
Employee meets the eligibility requirements of this Article 3.
Section 3.03

TERMINATION AND REHIRES

If an Employee has a Termination of Employment, such Employee shall cease to be a Participant for purposes of Article 4 (or
shall not become eligible to become a Participant) as of his Termination of Employment. An individual who has satisfied the applicable
eligibility requirements set forth in Article 3 as of his Termination date, and who is subsequently reemployed by the Company as an
Eligible Employee, shall resume or become a Participant immediately upon his rehire date with respect to the contributions for which the
eligibility requirements of this Article 3 have been satisfied. An individual who has not so qualified for participation on his Termination
date, and who is subsequently reemployed by the Company as an Eligible Employee, shall be eligible to participate as of the later of the
effective date of such reemployment or the date the individual meets the eligibility requirements of this Article 3. The determination of
whether a rehired Eligible Employee satisfies the requirements of Article 3 shall be made after the application of any applicable break in
service rules.
Section 3.04

LIMITATIONS ON EXCLUSIONS

(a)
Exclusions. Any employee exclusion entered in the Adoption Agreement shall not be valid to the extent that such
exclusion requires that the maximum number of Nonhighly Compensated Employees with the highest amount of compensation and/or
service shall be excluded from participation so that the Plan still meets the coverage requirements of Code section 410(b).
(b)
Coverage. The Plan must provide that an Eligible Employee who has attained age 21 and who has completed one Year
of Eligibility Service (two Years of Eligibility Service may be used for contributions other than Elective Deferrals if the Plan provides a
nonforfeitable right to 100% of the Participant’s applicable Account balance after not more than 2 Years of Eligibility Service) shall
commence participation in the Plan no later than the earlier of: (1) the first day of the first Plan Year beginning after the date on which such
Eligible Employee satisfied such requirements; or (2) the date that is 6 months after the date on which he satisfied such requirements.
(c)
A Participant shall be treated as benefiting under the Plan for any Plan Year during which the Participant received or is
deemed to receive an allocation in accordance with Treas. Reg. section 1.410(b)-3(a). Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the
contrary, no Participant shall earn an allocation hereunder except as provided under the terms of the Plan as in effect on the last day of the
Plan Year after giving effect to all retroactive amendments that may be permitted under applicable Internal Revenue Service procedures and
other applicable law; including, without limitation, any amendment permitted under Treas. Reg. section 1.401(a)(4)-11.
Section 3.05

PROCEDURES FOR ADMISSION

The Plan Administrator shall prescribe such forms and may require such data from Participants as are reasonably required to
enroll a Participant in the Plan or to effectuate any Participant elections made pursuant to this Article 3.
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Section 3.06

PARTICIPANTS RECEIVING DIFFERENTIAL MILITARY PAY

To the extent selected in the Adoption Agreement and pursuant to Code section 414(u)(12), IRS Notice 2010-15 and any
superseding guidance, a Participant receiving differential wage payments (as defined in Code section 3401(h)(2)) shall be treated as an
Employee of the Employer making the payment and the differential wage payments may be treated as Compensation under the Plan to the
extent selected in the Adoption Agreement.
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ARTICLE 4 CONTRIBUTIONS
Section 4.01

NON-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS

(a)
Amount. Subject to the limitations described in Article 5, the Company may, in its sole discretion, make Non-Elective
Contributions to the Plan on behalf of each Participant who has completed any service requirements specified in the Adoption Agreement.
(b)
Allocation of Non-Elective Contributions. Non-Elective Contributions shall be allocated to the Non-Elective
Contribution Accounts of each Participant eligible to share in such allocations pursuant to Subsection (a) in the ratio that each Participant’s
Compensation bears to the Compensation of all eligible Participants.
(c)
Participant. For purposes of this Section, “Participant” shall mean an Eligible Employee who has met the eligibility
requirements of Article 3 with respect to Non-Elective Contributions.
(d)
Coverage Failures. If the application of the rules described above causes the Plan to fail to meet the minimum coverage
requirements of Code section 410(b)(1)(B) (the Plan does not benefit a percentage of Nonhighly Compensated Employees that is at least
70% of the percentage of Highly Compensated Employees who benefit under the Plan) for any Plan Year with respect to contributions
described in this Section 4.03 because such contributions have not been allocated to a sufficient number or percentage of Participants for
such year, then the list of Participants eligible to share in such contributions for such year shall be expanded to include the Participants
described in the Adoption Agreement.
(1)
If the Adoption Agreement specifies that all non-excludable Participants shall be entitled to share in such
contributions for such year, then the following additional Participants shall be eligible to share in such contributions:
(A)

Any Participant who remains in the Employer’s employ on the last day of such Plan Year; and

(B)
Any Participant who completes at least 501 Hours of Service during such Plan Year (whether or not
he remains in the Employer’s employ on the last day of such Plan Year).
(2)
If the Adoption Agreement specifies that just enough Participants shall be entitled to share in such
contributions for such year, then the following additional Participants shall be eligible to share in such contributions:
(A)
The list of Participants eligible to share in such contributions for such Plan Year shall be expanded
to include the minimum number of Participants who would not otherwise be eligible as are necessary to satisfy the minimum coverage
requirements under Code section 410(b)(1)(B). The specific Participants who shall become eligible to share in such contributions for such
Plan Year pursuant to this Paragraph (A) shall be those Participants who remain in the Company’s employ on the last day of such Plan Year
and who have completed the greatest amount of service during the Plan Year.
(B)
If, after the application of Paragraph (A) above, the minimum coverage requirements of Code
section 410(b)(1)(B) are still not satisfied, then the list of Participants eligible to share in such contributions for such Plan Year shall be
further expanded to include the minimum number of Participants who do not remain in the Company’s employ on the last day of the Plan
Year as are necessary to satisfy such requirements. The specific Participants who shall become eligible to share in the Company’s
contribution for such Plan Year pursuant to this Paragraph (B) shall be those Participants who had completed the greatest amount of service
during the Plan Year before terminating their employment with the Employer.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Administrator always retains the option to meet the minimum coverage requirements of
Code section 410(b) by using the average benefits test of Code section 410(b)(1)(C).
(e)
Disability. In addition to the foregoing, if the Adoption Agreement specifies that contributions described in this
Section shall be allocated to Disabled Participants, a Participant who does not meet the requirements of Subsection (a) due to Disability
shall be eligible to share in such contributions; provided that such Disability would also constitute a disability pursuant to Code section
22(e). The Company shall allocate the applicable contributions on behalf of each such Disabled Participant on the basis of the
Compensation each such Participant would have received for the Limitation Year if the Participant had been paid at the rate of
Compensation paid immediately before suffering a Disability. Contributions
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allocated to Participants suffering a Disability pursuant to this Subsection shall be fully vested when made. Such allocations shall cease on
the first to occur of the following:
(1)
the last day of the Plan Year in which occurs the anniversary specified in the Adoption Agreement of the date
the Plan Administrator determines that the Participant’s Disability commenced;
(2)

the date the Participant ceases to suffer from a Disability;

(3)
the date the Participant refuses to submit to a periodic examination by the Company or its agent to determine
the existence of a Disability; or
(4)
Section 4.02

the date the Participant dies.

ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTIONS

(a)
To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan Administrator may direct the Trustee to accept Rollover
Contributions made in cash or other form acceptable to the Trustee. Rollover Contributions shall be allocated to the Participant’s/Eligible
Employee’s (to the extent elected in the Adoption Agreement) Rollover Contribution Account. The Plan may accept the following Rollover
Contributions to the extent allowed by the Plan Administrator in its sole discretion:
(1)
A rollover from a plan qualified under Code section 401(a) or 403(a) if the contribution qualifies as a tax-free
rollover as defined in Code section 402(c). If it is later determined that the amount received does not qualify as a tax-free rollover, the
amount shall be refunded to the Eligible Employee.
(2)
A rollover from a “Conduit Individual Retirement Account”, as determined in accordance with procedures
established by the Plan Administrator and only if the contribution qualifies as a tax-free rollover as defined in Code section 402(c). If it is
later determined that the amount received does not qualify as a tax-free rollover, the amount shall be refunded to the Eligible Employee.
(3)
A direct rollover of an eligible rollover distribution of after-tax employee contributions from a qualified plan
described in Code section 401(a) or 403(a). The Plan shall separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting
for the portion of such contribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such contribution which is not so includible.
(4)
Any rollover of an eligible rollover distribution from an annuity contract described in Code section 403(b).
The Plan shall separately account for after-tax amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such contribution
which is includible in gross income and the portion of such contribution which is not so includible.
(5)
Any rollover of an eligible rollover distribution from an eligible plan under Code section 457(b) which is
maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.
(6)
Any rollover contribution of the portion of a distribution from an individual retirement account or annuity
described in Code sections 408(a) or 408(b) that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income.
(7)
If the Plan permits Roth Elective Deferrals, the Plan may accept a Rollover Contribution to a Roth Elective
Deferral Account only if it is a direct rollover from another Roth elective deferral account under an applicable retirement plan described in
Code section 402A(e)(1) and only to the extent the rollover is permitted under the rules of Code section 402(c).
(8)

Any additional rollover contribution as may be permitted by applicable law.

(b
Plan Administrator Procedures. The Plan Administrator may establish uniform procedures that include, but are not
limited to, prescribing limitations on the frequency and minimum amount of rollovers; provided, that no procedures involving minimum
amounts shall prescribe a minimum withdrawal greater than $1,000.
Section 4.03

TRANSFERS
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The Trustee may accept a direct transfer of assets, made without the consent of the affected Employees, from the trustee of any
other qualified plan described in Code section 401(a) to the extent permitted by the Code and the regulations and rulings thereunder. In the
event assets are transferred to the Plan pursuant to the foregoing sentence, the transferred assets shall be accounted for separately in the
Transfer Account of the affected Employees to the extent necessary to preserve a more favorable vesting schedule or any other any
legally-protected benefits available to such Employees under the transferor plan. The Plan Administrator shall establish a vesting schedule
for the Transfer Account; provided that such schedule is not less favorable that the vesting schedule under the transferor plan.
Section 4.04

MILITARY SERVICE

(a)
In General. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits and service credit with
respect to qualified military service shall be provided in accordance with Code section 414(u).
(b)
Death Benefits Under USERRA. Effective January 1, 2007, if a Participant dies while performing qualified military
service (as defined in Code section 414(u)), the survivors of the Participant are entitled to any additional benefits (other than benefit
accruals relating to the period of qualified military service specified in Subsection (d) below) provided under the plan as if the Participant
had resumed and then terminated employment on account of death pursuant to Code section 401(a)(37), Notice 2010-5 and any superseding
guidance.
(c)
Death or Disability During Qualified Military Service. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement and pursuant
to Code section 414(u)(9), Notice 2010-5 and any superseding guidance, a Participant that dies or becomes disabled while performing
qualified military service (as defined in Code section 414(u)) will be treated as if he had been employed by the Company on the day
preceding death or disability and terminated employment on the day of death or disability and receive benefit accruals related to the period
of qualified military service as provided under Code section 414(u)(8), except as provided below:
(1)
All Participants eligible for benefits under the Plan by reason of this Section shall be provided benefits on
reasonably equivalent terms.
Section 4.05

MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PLAN

If the Employees of more than one employer within the meaning of Code section 413(c) and that is a member of the same
controlled group of corporations as the Employer within the meaning of Code section 1563(a) (as modified by subparagraphs (B) and (C) of
Code section 409(l)(4) and as determined without regard to sections 1563(a)(4) and 1563(e)(C) are covered under the Plan, the provisions
of such section shall apply to the Plan. The Plan Administrator may restrict the allocation of any forfeitures arising hereunder to the entity
for which the applicable Participant is or was employed.

ARTICLE 4A
SPECIAL ESOP PROVISIONS
Section 4A.01

ESOP CONTRIBUTIONS

(a)
Amount of ESOP Contributions. The Company shall make a contribution to the Plan in cash sufficient to pay any
currently maturing obligations on an Exempt Loan (to the extent that such obligations will not be satisfied pursuant to the terms of Article 4
by means of contributions paid to ESOP Accounts or by use of dividends pursuant to Article 9). Such contributions shall be applied, as the
Plan Administrator shall direct the Trustee, to repay any outstanding Exempt Loan in accordance with any pledge or similar agreement.
The Company may make additional contributions in cash or Employer Stock; provided however, that Rollover Contributions and transfers
may be in such other form that may be acceptable to the Trustee and the Plan Administrator.
(b)
Allocation of ESOP Contributions. ESOP Contributions made in the form of Employer Stock and Employer Stock
transferred to the Released and Unallocated Account shall be allocated to the ESOP Accounts in the manner specified in
Section 4.01(b) and determined by the Plan Administrator. The shares so allocated shall have a fair market value as of the allocation date
equal to the amount of the contributions to which the Participant is entitled. Allocations to Participants within each ESOP Account shall be
made pursuant to the terms of Section 4.01(b).
Section 4A.02

EXEMPT LOAN
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(a)
Authorization - Use. The Board may direct the Trustee to borrow money from a Disqualified Person, or another source
which is guaranteed by a Disqualified Person, the proceeds of which are used within a reasonable time to: (1) acquire Employer Stock,
(2) repay such Exempt Loan, or (3) repay a prior Exempt Loan pursuant to applicable regulations.
(b)

Terms of Exempt Loan Agreements. All Exempt Loans shall satisfy the following requirements:
(1)

The loan shall be primarily for the benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries.

(2)
The loan shall be for a specified term, shall bear no more than a reasonable rate of interest, and shall not be
payable on demand except in the event of default.
(3)
The terms of an Exempt Loan must be at least as favorable to the Plan as the terms of a comparable loan
resulting from an arm’s length negotiation between independent parties.
(4)
The collateral pledged by the Trustee shall consist only of the Employer Stock purchased with the borrowed
funds, or Employer Stock that was pledged as collateral in connection with a prior Exempt Loan that was repaid with the proceeds of the
current Exempt Loan.
(5)
Under the terms of the loan agreement, the lender shall have no recourse against the Trust, or any of its assets,
except with respect to the collateral and contributions (other than contributions of Employer Stock) by the Company that are made to satisfy
the Trustee’s obligations under the loan agreement and earnings attributable to such collateral and such contributions.
(6)
No person entitled to payment under the Exempt Loan has any right to Plan assets other than collateral given
for the Exempt Loan, contributions (other than contributions of Employer Stock) that are made under the Plan to meet its obligations under
the Exempt Loan, and earnings attributable to such collateral and the investment of such contributions.
(7)
The payments made on the Exempt Loan during a Plan Year shall not exceed an amount equal to the sum of
such contributions and earnings received during or prior to the year less such payments on the Exempt Loan in prior years. Such
contributions and earnings must be accounted for separately in the books of account for separately in the books of account of the ESOP
until the Exempt Loan is repaid.
(8)
The Exempt Loan cannot be payable upon the demand of any person except in the event of default. In the
event of default, the value of Plan assets transferred in satisfaction of the Exempt Loan shall not exceed the amount of default; moreover, if
the lender is a Disqualified Person, the loan agreement shall provide for a transfer of Plan assets upon default only upon and to the extent of
the failure of the Plan to meet the payment schedule of the Exempt Loan. For purposes of this paragraph, the making of a guarantee does
not make a person a lender.
Section 4A.03

RELEASE OF EMPLOYER STOCK

(a)
Employer Stock purchased with the proceeds of an Exempt Loan shall be held in the Suspense Account as the collateral
for that Exempt Loan. Such Employer Stock shall be released from the Suspense Account, and transferred to the Released and Unallocated
Account, on a pro-rata basis according to the amount of the payment on the Exempt Loan determined under one of the following two
alternative formulas specified in Subsections (a)(1) and (a)(2) in the discretion of the Plan Administrator and in accordance with the terms
of the Exempt Loan.
(1)
For each payment during the duration of the Exempt Loan, the number of shares of Employer Stock released
and transferred to the Released and Unallocated Account shall equal the number of such shares held in the Suspense Account immediately
before release for the current payment period multiplied by a fraction. The numerator of the fraction is the amount of principal and interest
paid for the payment period, and the denominator of the fraction is the sum of the numerator plus the remaining principal and interest to be
paid for all future payments. The number of future payments under the Exempt Loan must be definitely ascertainable and must be
determined without taking into account any possible extensions or renewal periods. If the interest rate under the Exempt Loan is variable,
the interest to be paid in future payment periods must be computed by using the interest rate applicable as of the end of the immediately
preceding payment period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Exempt Loan is repaid with the proceeds of a subsequent Exempt Loan,
such repayment shall not operate to release all of the Employer Stock in the Suspense Account; rather, such release shall be effected
pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this subsection on the basis of payments of principal and interest on such substitute loan. If
collateral includes more than one class of securities, the number of securities of each class to be released for a Plan Year must be
determined by applying the same fraction to each class; or
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(2)
For each payment during the duration of the Exempt Loan, the number of shares of Employer Stock released
and transferred to the Released and Unallocated Account is determined solely with reference to the principal payment of the Exempt Loan.
Employer Stock in the Suspense Account may be released in accordance with this subsection (2) only if the following three conditions are
met:
(i)
The Exempt Loan provides for annual payments of principal and interest at a cumulative rate that is
not less rapid at any time than level annual payments of such amounts for ten years;
(ii)
The interest portion of any payment is disregarded for purposes of determining the number of
shares released only to the extent it would be treated as interest under standard loan amortization tables; and
(iii)
If the Exempt Loan is renewed, extended or refinanced, the sum of the expired duration of the
Exempt Loan and the renewal period, the extension period or the duration of a new Exempt Loan does not exceed ten years.
(b)
More than One Exempt Loan. If at any time there is more than one Exempt Loan outstanding, separate accounts shall
be established under the Suspense Account and the Released and Unallocated Account for each Exempt Loan. Each Exempt Loan for
which a separate account is maintained shall be treated separately for purposes of Subsection (a) governing the release of shares from the
Suspense Account.
(c)
If the Employer is a C-Corporation and no more than one-third of the Employer contributions that are used to repay the
principal and interest due on an Exempt Loan and that are deductible under Code section 404(a)(9) are allocated to the accounts of Highly
Compensated Employees during the Plan Year, then Annual Additions do not include forfeitures of the Employer Stock purchased with the
proceeds of an Exempt Loan and also do not include Employer contributions that are used to pay interest on an Exempt Loan and are
deductible under Code section 404(a)(9)(B) and charged against the Participant’s Account.
Section 4A.04

PROHIBITED ALLOCATION

(a)
Section 1042. Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, if shares of Employer Stock (in a
C-Corporation only) are sold to the Plan by a shareholder in a transaction for which special tax treatment is elected by such shareholder (or
his representative) pursuant to Code section 1042, no assets attributable to such Employer Stock may be allocated to the ESOP Accounts
of: (i) the shareholder, and any person who is related to such shareholder [within the meaning of Code section 267(b)], during the
Nonallocation Period except that lineal descendants of such shareholder may receive allocations so long as no more than 5% of the
aggregate amount of all Employer Stock sold by such shareholder in a transaction to which Code section 1042 applies is allocated to such
lineal descendants of such shareholder; and (ii) any other person who owns [after application of Code section 318(a)] more than 25 percent
in value of the outstanding securities of the Employer.
For purposes of this Subsection, “nonallocation period” means the period beginning on the date of a sale of Employer Stock to
the Plan financed with an Exempt Loan and ending on the later of ten years after the date of such sale or the date of the allocation
attributable to the final payment on the Exempt Loan incurred with respect to the sale.
(b)

Subchapter S Corporations.

(1)
In General. Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, if the Employer Stock is issued by an
S Corporation, no portion of the assets attributable to (or allocable in lieu of) Employer Stock may, during a Nonallocation Year, accrue (or
be allocated directly or indirectly under any Employer plan qualified under Code section 401(a)) for the benefit of any S Corporation
Disqualified Person. This Subsection (b) shall be effective for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2004 and only to the extent that
Employer Stock consists of shares in an S Corporation. However, in the case of: (i) an employee stock ownership plan established after
March 14, 2001 (within the meaning of Internal Revenue Service Revenue Ruling 2003-6); or (ii) an employee stock ownership plan
established on or before March 14, 2001 where the employer securities held by the Plan consist of stock in a corporation that is not an S
Corporation on such date, this Subsection (b) shall be effective for Plan Years ending after March 14, 2001.
(2)
Prevention of Nonallocation Year. In the absence of a Board resolution to otherwise prevent a Nonallocation
Year, or if the Plan Administrator determines that a future event will cause a Nonallocation Year, the Plan Adminstrator will reduce the
account balances of S Corporation of Disqualified Persons by transferring as described below the number of shares of Employer Stock
necessary to prevent a Nonallocation Year. The affected Employer Stock will be transferred from the ESOP Portion to the Non-ESOP
Portion prior to the Nonallocation Year. Immediately following the transfer, the number of shares transferred from that Participant’s
account in the ESOP portion will be credited to the Participant’s Non-ESOP portion. The Plan Administrator will take steps to ensure that
all actions necessary to implement the transfer are taken before the Nonallocation Year occurs.
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(3)

Other Rules. The following other rules apply for purposes of this Subsection (b):
(A)

Treatment of Synthetic Equity.

(i)
In General. For purposes of Subsections (3)(A) and (3)(B), in the case of a person who
owns Synthetic Equity in the S Corporation, except to the extent provided in regulations, the shares of stock in such corporation on which
such Synthetic Equity is based shall be treated as outstanding stock in such corporation and Deemed-Owned Shares of such person if such
treatment of Synthetic Equity of one or more such persons results in (i) the treatment of any person as a S Corporation Disqualified Person,
or (ii) the treatment of any year as a Nonallocation Year. For purposes of this Subsection, Synthetic Equity shall be treated as owned by a
person in the same manner as stock is treated as owned by a person under the rules of Code section 318(a)) as modified in this paragraph.
In applying Code section 318(a)(1), the members of an individuals family include the Members of the Family and Code section
318(a)(4) regarding stock options ins disregarded. Notwithstanding the employee trust exception in section 318(a)(2)(B)(i), an individual is
treated as owning Deemed-Owned Shares of the individual. If, without regard to this Subsection, a person is treated as a S Corporation
Disqualified Person or a year is treated as a Nonallocation Year, this Subsection shall not be construed to result in the person or year not
being so treated.
(ii)
Determination of Other Synthetic Equity. This Subsection (2) shall apply with regard to
other Synthetic Equity described in Treas. Reg. section 1.409(p)-1(f)(4)(iii)(A) or superseding guidance. The Plan Administrator shall use
the first day of the Plan Year as the annual determination date and the number of shares of Synthetic Equity owned shall be treated as
owned for the period from a determination date through the date immediately preceding the next following determination date pursuant to
Treas. Reg. section 1.409(p)-1(f)(4)(iii)(B). The Plan Administrator shall use triannual recalculations specified in Treas. Reg. section
1.409(p)-1(f)(4)(iii)(C). Such triannual recalculations may be modified as provided in Treas. Reg. section 1.409(p)-1(f)(4)(iii)(C)(3).
Section 4A.05

NON-ESOP PORTION OF PLAN

(a)
Non-ESOP Portion. Assets held under the Plan in accordance with this Section are held under a portion of the Plan that
is not an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP), within the meaning of Code section 4975(e)(7). Amounts held in the portion of the Plan
that is not an ESOP (the Non-ESOP portion) shall be held in Accounts that are separate from the Accounts for the amounts held in the
remainder of the Plan (the ESOP Portion). Any statements provided to Participants and/or Beneficiaries to show their interest in the Plan
shall separately identify the amounts held in each such portion. Except as specifically set forth in this Section, all of the terms of the Plan
apply to any amount held under the Non-ESOP Portion of the Plan in the same manner and to the same extent as an amount held under the
ESOP Portion of the Plan.
(b)

Transfers from ESOP Portion to Non-ESOP Portion of Plan.

(1)
Amount to be Transferred. In the case of any event that the Plan Administrator determines would otherwise
cause a Nonallocation Event to occur, shares of employer stock held under the Plan before the date of the Nonallocation Event shall be
transferred from the ESOP Portion of the Plan to the Non-ESOP Portion of the Plan as provided in Subsection (b)(2). The amount
transferred under this Subsection shall be the amount that the Plan Administrator determines to be the minimum amount that is necessary to
ensure that a Nonallocation Year does not occur, but in no event is the amount so transferred to be less than the excess of (i) the total
number of shares of Employer Stock that, held in the ESOP account of those Participants who are or who would be S Corporation
Disqualified Persons after taking into account the Participant’s Synthetic Equity and the Nonallocation Event exceeds (ii) the number of
shares of Employer Stock equal to 49.9% of the total number of shares of Employer Stock outstanding after taking the Nonallocation Event
into account (causing a Nonallocation Year to occur). The Plan Administrator shall take steps to ensure that all actions necessary to
implement the transfer are taken before the Nonallocation Event occurs.
(2)

Ordering Rules.

(A)
Except as provided for in Subsection (b)(2)(B), at the date of the transfer, the total number of shares
transferred, as provided for in Subsection (b)(1), shall be charged against the accounts of Participants who are S Corporation Disqualified
Persons (i) by first reducing the ESOP account of the Participant who is a S Corporation Disqualified Person whose account has the largest
number of shares (with the addition of Synthetic Equity shares) and (ii) thereafter by reducing the ESOP accounts of each succeeding
Participant who is a S Corporation Disqualified Person who has the largest number of shares in his or her account (with the addition of
Synthetic Equity shares). Immediately following the transfer, the number of transferred shares charged against any Participant’s account in
the ESOP Portion of the Plan shall be credited to an account established for that Participant in the Non-ESOP portion of the Plan.
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(B)
Notwithstanding Subsection (b)(2)(A), the number of shares transferred shall be charged against the
accounts of Participants who are S Corporation Disqualified Person (i) by first reducing the account of the Participant with the fewest
shares (including Synthetic Equity shares) who is a S Corporation Disqualified Person and who is a Highly Compensated Employee to
cause the Participant not to be a disqualified person, and (ii) thereafter reducing the account of each other Participant who is a S
Corporation Disqualified Person and a Highly Compensated Employee, in the order of who has the fewest ESOP shares (including
synthetic equity shares). A transfer under this Subsection (b)(2)(B) only applies to the extent that the transfer results in fewer shares being
transferred than in a transfer under Subsection (b)(2)(A).
(3)

Tie Breaker.

(A)
If two or more Participants described in Subsection (b)(2) have the same number of shares, the
account of the Participant with the longest service shall be reduced first.
(B)

Beneficiaries of the Plan are treated as Plan Participants for purposes of this Section.

(c)
Income Taxes. If the Trust owes income taxes as a result of unrelated business taxable income under Code section
512(e) with respect to shares of employer stock held in the Non-ESOP Portion of the Plan, the income tax payments made by the Trustee
shall be charged against the accounts of each Participant or Beneficiary who has an account in the Non-ESOP Portion of the Plan in
proportion to the ratio of the shares of employer stock in such Participant’s or Beneficiary’s account in the non-ESOP Portion of the Plan to
the total shares of employer stock in the non-ESOP Portion of the Plan. The Employer shall purchase shares of employer stock from the
Trustee with cash (based on the fair market value of the shares so purchased) from each such account to the extent cash is not otherwise
available to make the income tax payments from the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s ESOP accounts or his or her other defined contribution
plan accounts.

ARTICLE 5 LIMITATIONS ON CONTRIBUTIONS
Section 5.01
(a)

MAXIMUM AMOUNT OF ANNUAL ADDITIONS
General Rule.

(1)
One Plan. If the Participant does not participate in, and has never participated in another qualified plan
maintained by the Employer or a welfare benefit fund, as defined in Code section 419(e) maintained by the Employer, or an individual
medical account, as defined in Code section 415(l)(2), maintained by the Employer, or a simplified employee pension plan, as defined in
Code section 408(k), maintained by the Employer, which provides an Annual Addition, the amount of Annual Additions which may be
credited to the Participant’s Account for any Limitation Year will not exceed the lesser of the maximum permissible amount specified in
Section 5.01(b) or any other limitation contained in this Plan. If the Employer contribution that would otherwise be contributed or allocated
to the Participant’s Account would cause the Annual Additions for the Limitation Year to exceed such maximum permissible amount, the
amount contributed or allocated will be reduced so that the Annual Additions for the Limitation Year will equal the maximum permissible
amount.
(2)
Multiple Plans. This Subsection 5.01(a)(2) applies if, in addition to this Plan, the Participant is covered under
another qualified defined contribution plan maintained by the Employer, a welfare benefit fund maintained by the Employer, an individual
medical account maintained by the Employer, or a simplified employee pension plan maintained by the Employer, that provides an Annual
Addition during any Limitation Year. The Annual Additions which may be credited to a Participant’s Account under this Plan for any such
Limitation Year will not exceed the maximum permissible amount specified in Section 5.01(b) reduced by the Annual Additions credited to
a Participant’s account under the other qualified defined contribution plans, welfare benefit funds, individual medical accounts, and
simplified employee pension plans for the same Limitation Year.
(b)
Maximum Permissible Amount. For Limitation Years beginning on or after January 1, 2002, the maximum permissible
amount is the lesser of:
(1)

$40,000, as adjusted for increases in the cost-of-living under Code section 415(d); or

(2)
100% of the Participant’s Statutory Compensation for the Limitation Year. The Compensation limit referred
to in this Subsection (b)(2) shall not apply to any contribution for medical benefits after separation from service (within the meaning of
Code sections 401(h) or 419A(f)(2)) which is otherwise treated as an Annual Addition. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, Statutory
Compensation for purposes of Section 5.01 for a Participant in a defined contribution plan who is permanently and totally disabled (as
defined in Code section 22(e)(3)) is the
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Compensation such Participant would have received for the Limitation Year if the Participant had been paid at the rate of Compensation
paid immediately before becoming permanently and totally disabled.
Prior to determining the Participant’s actual Statutory Compensation for the Limitation Year, the Employer may
determine the maximum permissible amount for a Participant on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant’s Statutory
Compensation for the Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all Participants similarly situated. As soon as is administratively feasible
after the end of the Limitation Year, the maximum permissible amount for the Limitation Year will be determined on the basis of the
Participant’s actual Statutory Compensation for the Limitation Year.
(c)
Correction of Excess. If there is an allocation in excess of the Maximum Permissible Amount, the Plan Administrator
shall correct such excess pursuant to the procedures outlined under EPCRS as described in Rev. Proc. 2008-50 and any superseding
guidance.
(d)

Special ESOP Rule.

(1)
General Rule. In the case of an applicable plan that meets the requirements of Subsection (d)(2) below, the
limitations imposed by this Section do not apply to: (i) forfeitures of employer securities (within the meaning of Code section 409(l)) if
such securities were acquired with the proceeds of a loan (as described in Code section 404(a)(9)(A)); or (ii) employer contributions which
are deductible under Code section 404(a)(9)(B) and charged against the Participant’s Account.
(2)
Applicable Plan. An employee stock ownership plan as described in Code section 4975(e)(7) meets the
requirements of this Subsection if no more than one-third of the employer contributions for the Limitation Year that are deductible under
Code section 404(a)(9) are allocated to Highly Compensated Employees. This Subsection (f) shall not apply if the Employer Stock is issued
by an S Corporation.
(e)
Stock Value Declines Below Basis. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the amount of Company contributions attributable
to ESOP Contributions that is considered an Annual Addition for any Limitation Year shall in no event be greater than the lesser of (i) the
amount of the payment of principal and interest on the Acquisition Loan or (ii) the fair market value of shares released from the Suspense
Account on account of the repayment and allocated to Participants.
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ARTICLE 6 VESTING
Section 6.01

PARTICIPANT CONTRIBUTIONS

A Participant shall have a fully vested and nonforfeitable interest in his Rollover Contribution Account. A Participant shall also
be fully vested in cash dividends that the Participant elects to have reinvested in the Plan pursuant to Section 9.09(a)(2)(B).
Section 6.02

NON-ELECTIVE CONTRIBUTIONS

The Participant’s interest in his Non-Elective Contribution Account shall vest based on his Years of Vesting Service in
accordance with the terms of the Adoption Agreement.
For purposes of the Adoption Agreement, “3-7 Year Graded”, “2-6 Year Graded”, “1-5 Year Graded”, “1-4 Year Graded”, “5
Year Cliff”, “3 Year Cliff” and “2 Year Cliff” shall be determined in accordance with the following schedules:
Years of Vesting Service

Vesting Percentage

Less than Three Years
Three Years but less than Four Years
Four Years but less than Five Years
Five Years but less than Six Years
Six Years but less than Seven Years
Seven or More Years

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%
100%

Less than Two Years
Two Years but less than Three Years
Three Years but less than Four Years
Four Years but less than Five Years
Five Years but less than Six Years
Six or More Years

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%
100%

Less than One Year
One Year but less than Two Years
Two Years but less than Three Years
Three Years but less than Four Years
Four Years but less than Five Years
Five or More Years

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%
100%

Less than Five Years
Five or More Years

0%
100%

Less than Three Years
Three or More Years

0%
100%

Less than Two Years
Two or More Years

0%
100%

“3-7 Year Graded”:

“2-6 Year Graded”:

“1-5 Year Graded”:

“5 Year Cliff”:

“3 Year Cliff”:

“2 Year Cliff”:
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant will become fully (100%) vested upon his attainment of Normal Retirement Age
while an Employee. In addition, the Adoption Agreement may provide that a Participant will become fully (100%) vested upon (i) his
death while an Employee, or (ii) his suffering a Disability while an Employee.
Section 6.03

FORFEITURES

(a)
Participants Receiving a Distribution. A Participant who receives a distribution of the value of the entire vested portion
of his Account shall forfeit the nonvested portion of such Account as soon as administratively feasible after such distribution; but no later
than the end of the Plan Year following the date of such distribution. For purposes of this Section, if the value of a Participant’s vested
Account balance is zero upon Termination, the Participant shall be deemed to have received a distribution of such vested Account. A
Participant’s vested Account balance shall not include accumulated deductible employee contributions within the meaning of Code section
72(o)(5)(B) for Plan Years beginning prior to January 1, 1989. If the Participant elects to the extent permitted by Article 7 to have
distributed less than the entire vested portion of the Account balance derived from Employer contributions, the part of the nonvested
portion that will be treated as a forfeiture is the total nonvested portion multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the
distribution attributable to Employer contributions and the denominator of which is the total value of the vested Employer-derived Account
balance. No forfeitures will occur solely as a result of a Participant’s withdrawal of employee contributions.
(b)
Participants Not Receiving a Distribution. The nonvested portion of the Account balance of a Participant who has a
Termination of Employment and does not receive a complete distribution of the vested portion of his Account shall be forfeited as soon as
administratively feasible after the date he incurs five consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service (One-Year Periods of Severance if the Plan
uses the elapsed time method); but no later than the end of the Plan Year following the date of such break in service.
(c)

Reemployment.

(1)
Before Five One-Year Breaks. If a Participant receives or is deemed to receive a distribution pursuant to this
Section and the Participant resumes employment covered under this Plan, the Participant’s Employer-derived Account balance will be
restored to the amount on the date of distribution if the Participant repays to the Plan the full amount of the distribution attributable to
Employer contributions before the earlier of 5 years after the first date on which the Participant is subsequently reemployed by the
Employer, or the date the Participant incurs 5 consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service (One-Year Periods of Severance if the Plan uses the
elapsed time method) following the date of the distribution. If a zero-vested Participant is deemed to receive a distribution pursuant to this
Section, and the Participant resumes employment covered under this Plan before the date the Participant incurs 5 consecutive One-Year
Breaks in Service (One-Year Periods of Severance if the Plan uses the elapsed time method), upon the reemployment of such Participant,
the Employer-derived Account balance of the Participant will be restored to the amount on the date of such deemed distribution.
Forfeitures that are restored pursuant to the foregoing shall be accomplished by an allocation of forfeitures, or if such forfeitures are
insufficient, by a special Company contribution.
(2)
After Five One-Year Breaks. If a Participant resumes employment as an Eligible Employee after forfeiting
the nonvested portion of his Account balance after 5 consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service (One-Year Periods of Severance if the Plan
uses the elapsed time method) and is not fully vested upon reemployment, the Participant’s Account balance attributable to his pre-break
service shall be kept separate from that portion of his Account balance attributable to his post-break service until such time as his
post-break Account balance becomes fully vested.
(d)
Disposition of Forfeitures. Amounts forfeited from a Participant’s Account under this Section shall be used to restore
forfeitures, reduce Company contributions made pursuant to Article 4 or to pay Plan expenses.
(e)
Employer Stock Fund. The portion of a Participant’s Account invested in Investment Funds other than the Employer
Stock Fund shall be forfeited before that portion of the Account invested in the Employer Stock Fund. If the Participant’s Account is
invested in more than one class of qualifying employer securities, the Participant shall forfeit the same proportion from each such class
(f)
Vesting Following In-Service Withdrawals or Payment in Installments. If a distribution is made at a time when a
Participant has a nonforfeitable right to less than 100 percent of his Account derived from Employer contributions and the Participant may
increase the nonforfeitable percentage in the Account:
(1)

A separate Account will be established for the Participant’s interest in the Plan as of the time of the

distribution, and
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(2)
At any relevant time the Participant’s nonforfeitable portion of the separate Account will be equal to an
amount (“X”) determined by the formula:
X = P(AB + (R x D)) - (R x D)
For purposes of applying the formula: P is the nonforfeitable percentage at the relevant time; AB is the
Account balance at the relevant time; D is the amount of the distribution; and R is the ratio of the Account balance at the relevant time to
the Account balance after distribution.
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ARTICLE 7 DISTRIBUTIONS
Section 7.01

COMMENCEMENT OF DISTRIBUTIONS

(a)
Normal Retirement. A Participant, upon attainment of Normal Retirement Age, shall be entitled to retire and to receive
his Account as his benefit hereunder pursuant to Section 7.02.
(b)
Late Retirement. If a Participant continues in the employ of the Company beyond his Normal Retirement Age, his
participation under the Plan shall continue, and his benefits under the Plan shall commence following his actual Termination of
Employment pursuant to Section 7.02.
(c)
Disability Retirement. If a Participant becomes Disabled, he shall become entitled to receive his vested Account
pursuant to Section 7.02 following the date he has a Termination of Employment.
(d)
Death. If a Participant dies, either before or after his Termination of Employment, his Beneficiary designated pursuant
to Section 7.04 shall become entitled to receive the Participant’s vested Account pursuant to Section 7.02.
(e)
Termination of Employment. A Participant shall become entitled to receive his vested Account pursuant to
Section 7.02 following the date he has a Termination of Employment.
Section 7.02
(a)

TIMING AND FORM OF DISTRIBUTIONS
ESOP Accounts.

(1)
Distribution for Reasons of Attainment of Retirement Age, Disability or Death. If a Participant’s ESOP
Accounts become distributable pursuant to Section 7.01 on account of attainment of Normal or Late Retirement, Disability or death,
payment of his vested ESOP Accounts shall commence with respect to Employer Stock acquired by or contributed to the Plan after
December 31, 1986 (or all Employer Stock if so provided in the Adoption Agreement) not later than one year after the close of the Plan
Year in which the Participant otherwise separates from service unless the Participant elects a later date.
(2)
Distribution for Reasons Other than Retirement, Disability or Death. If a Participant’s ESOP Accounts
become distributable pursuant to Section 7.01 on account of any reason other than Normal or Late Retirement Age, Disability or death,
payment of his vested ESOP Accounts shall commence with respect to Employer Stock acquired by or contributed to the Plan after
December 31, 1986 (or all Employer Stock if so provided in the Adoption Agreement) not later than the close of the Plan Year which is the
6th Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the Participant otherwise separates from service unless the Participant elects a later date.
This Subsection (a)(2) shall not apply if the Participant is reemployed by the Company before distribution is required to begin.
(3)
Form of Payments. Form of Payments. The benefit of a Participant entitled to a distribution of his ESOP
Accounts derived from Employer Stock acquired by or contributed to the Plan after December 31, 1986 (or all Employer Stock if so
provided in the Adoption Agreement) shall be payable in substantially equal annual, or more frequent installments over a period not to
exceed the greater of (i) five (5) years, or (ii) in case of Participant with account balance greater than $1,035,000, five (5) years plus one
year for each $205,000 that the balance exceeds $1,035,000. These dollar amounts are adjusted for cost of living by the Secretary of the
Treasury in accordance with Code section 409(o)(2) at the same time and manner as under Code section 415(d). To the extent permitted in
the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may elect to have payments extend over a longer or shorter period.
(4)
Delayed Distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing and at the election of the Plan Administrator,
distribution of the ESOP Contribution Account (other than for reasons specified in Paragraph (1) above) need not commence until the close
of the Plan Year in which the Exempt Loan is repaid in full; provided that the proceeds of the Exempt loan were not used to acquire
Employer Stock issued by an S Corporation.
(5)
To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, distributions may also be paid over the periods applicable
to Accounts other than the ESOP Accounts. In any event, distributions made on account of the death of the Participant must be made in the
manner described in Subsections (c)(1)(A), (B) & (C) and Subsections (c)(2)(A) & (B) below.
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(6)
Any amendment or exercise of employer discretion regarding revisions of optional forms of benefit shall be
subject to the requirements of Treas. Reg. section 1.411(d)-4 Q&A-2(d).
(b)

Accounts other than ESOP Accounts.

(1)
Distribution for Reasons Other Than Death. If a Participant’s Accounts other than his ESOP Account
becomes distributable pursuant to Section 7.01 for any reason other than death and such amount is not required to be distributed in the form
of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity pursuant to Section 7.10, payment of his vested Accounts other than his ESOP Account shall
commence at such times and shall be payable in the form and at such times as specified in the Adoption Agreement. To the extent
permitted in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may elect to have the Plan Administrator apply his Accounts other than his ESOP
Account toward the purchase of an annuity contract. The terms of such annuity contract shall comply with the provisions of this Plan and
any annuity contract shall be nontransferable and shall be distributed to the Participant.
The method of distribution shall be selected by the Participant on a form prescribed by the Plan Administrator. If no
such selection is made by the Participant, payment shall be made in the form of a lump sum distribution unless payment is required to be
made in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity pursuant to Section 7.10. No distribution shall be made if the Participant is
rehired by the Company before payments commence.
(2)
Distribution on Account of Death. If a Participant’s Accounts other than his ESOP Account becomes
distributable pursuant to Section 7.01 on account of death, the distributions will be made pursuant to Subsection (c) below.
(c)

Distribution on Account of Death.

(1)
Before Distribution Has Begun. If the Participant dies before distribution of his Account begins and such
amount is not required to be distributed in the form of a Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity pursuant to Section 7.10, distribution of
the Participant’s entire Account shall be completed by the time and in the manner specified in the Adoption Agreement. To the extent
permitted in the Adoption Agreement, payments may be made over the following periods:
(A)
A complete distribution shall be made by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth
anniversary of the Participant’s death;
(B)
Distributions may be made over the life or over a period certain not greater than the life expectancy
of the Beneficiary commencing on or before December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the
Participant died; and/or
(C)
If the Beneficiary is the Participant’s surviving spouse, the date distributions are required to begin
in accordance with Subparagraph (B) above shall not be earlier than the later of (i) December 31 of the calendar year immediately
following the calendar year in which the Participant died and (ii) December 31 of the calendar year in which the Participant would have
attained age 70-1/2.
If the Plan permits Participant elections under this Subsection (c)(1) and the Participant has not made an election as to
form of payment by the time of his death, the Participant’s Beneficiary must elect the method of distribution no later than the earlier of
(1) December 31 of the calendar year in which distributions would be required to begin under this Section, or (2) December 31 of the
calendar year which contains the fifth anniversary of the date of death of the Participant. If the Participant has no designated Beneficiary,
or if the designated Beneficiary does not elect a method of distribution, distribution of the Participant’s entire interest must be completed by
December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s death.
If the surviving spouse dies after the Participant, the provisions of this Subsection (c)(1), with the exception of
Subparagraph (C) therein, shall be applied as if the surviving spouse were the Participant.
(2)
After Distribution Has Begun. If the Participant dies after distribution of his Account has begun, the
remaining portion of such Account will continue to be distributed at least as rapidly as the method of distribution being used prior to the
Participant’s death. If the Participant’s Account was not being distributed in the form of an annuity at the time of his death: (i) distribution
of the Participant’s entire Account shall be completed by the time and in the manner specified in the Adoption Agreement; and (ii) the
Beneficiary may elect to receive the Participant’s
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remaining vested Account balance in a lump sum distribution. To the extent permitted in the Adoption Agreement, payments may be made
over the following periods:
(A)
A complete distribution shall be made by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth
anniversary of the Participant’s death; and/or
(B)
used prior to the Participant’s death.

Distributions shall continue to be distributed at least as rapidly as the method of distribution being

The Beneficiary shall provide the Plan Administrator with the death notice or other sufficient documentation before any
payments are made pursuant to this Subsection.
(d)

Special Rules Relating to ESOP Accounts.

(1)
In General. Unless a Participant elects to receive his distribution in cash, distribution of a Participant’s vested
ESOP Account shall be made in whole shares of Employer Stock, with any fractional shares paid in cash. Shares of Employer Stock
distributed may include such legend restrictions on transferability as the Company may reasonably require to assure compliance with
applicable federal and state securities laws. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary: (i) a Participant shall not have the
right to receive Employer Stock with respect to the portion of the Participant’s Account that has been reinvested pursuant to
Section 9.02(b), and (ii) except as otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement and if the Plan is an Applicable Plan , a distribution from
the Employer Stock Fund shall be made in cash. If pursuant to the foregoing a Participant elects to receive any portion of his ESOP
Account in the form of Employer Stock that is invested in Investment Funds other than the Employer Stock Fund, the Plan Administrator
shall direct the Trustee to liquidate such other Investment Funds and purchase whole shares Employer Stock with the proceeds. In the
event that there is not enough Employer Stock available for purchase, the Participant may elect to: (i) receive Employer Stock to the extent
available and receive the balance in cash, (ii) receive Employer Stock to the extent available and receive the balance in Employer Stock at a
later date when such stock becomes available, or (iii) defer distribution until such Employer Stock becomes available.
(2)
Put Option. If the Employer Stock is not readily tradable on an established market (within the meaning of
IRS Notice 2011-19 for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2012 or such later date provided in such Notice) and the Plan is not an
Applicable Plan, the Employer or the Plan will purchase Employer Stock that has been distributed to a Participant or Beneficiary if the
Participant or Beneficiary offers the Employer stock for sale to the Employer or the Plan during one of the two put option periods described
below. A fair valuation formula that meets the requirements of section 9.10 will be used to determine the amount to be paid to the
Participant or Beneficiary.
The first put option period is the period of 60 days beginning on the date following the date that the Employer Stock distributed to the
Participant or Beneficiary. The second put option period is a period of 60 days in the following Plan Year.
Such put option shall be enforceable by the Participant for a period of at least 60 days following the date of distribution of Employer Stock
and, if the put option is not exercised within such 60-day period, for an additional period of at least 60 days in the following Plan Year (as
provided in applicable Treasury regulations). The Company may permit the Trustee to purchase any shares covered by the put option
directly from the Participant.
(A)
Payment Requirement for Total Distribution. If the Company is required to repurchase Employer
Stock that is distributed to the Participant as part of a total distribution, the Company may make payments in substantially equal periodic
payments (not less frequently than annually) over a period beginning not later than 30 days after the exercise of the put option and not
exceeding 5 years, provided that there is adequate security provided and reasonable interest paid on the unpaid amounts. For purposes of
this paragraph, the term “total distribution” means the distribution within one taxable year to the recipient of the balance to the credit of the
recipient’s account.
(B)
Payment Requirement for Installment Distributions. If the Company is required to repurchase
Employer Stock as part of an installment distribution, payment shall made not later than 30 days after the exercise of the put option
described in this paragraph (3).
(3)
Right of First Refusal. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, shares of Employer Stock
distributed by the Trustee to a Participant or Beneficiary shall be subject to a “Right of First Refusal” if such shares do not constitute
registration-type securities within the meaning of Code section 409(e).
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(A)
Parties. The Right of First Refusal shall be in favor of the Company, the Plan, or both in any order
of priority as determined by the Plan Administrator.
(B)
Price. The selling price and other terms under the Right of First Refusal must not be less favorable
to the Participant than the greater of the value of the Employer Stock determined under Section 9.10, or the purchase price and other written
terms offered by an independent and unrelated buyer making a good faith offer to purchase the Employer Stock.
(C)
Term. The Right of First Refusal must lapse no later than 14 days after the Participant gives written
notice to the holder of the Employer Stock by an independent and unrelated buyer.
(D)
Conditions. The Company may require that the distributee execute such documents (and may
provide suitable legends on the applicable stock certificates) that include the terms of the right of first refusal prior to receiving Employer
Stock.
(4)
Stock Reshuffling. If the Plan is an Applicable Plan, any Employer Stock held in an ESOP Account shall be
redeemed or transferred annually to the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement. Such redemption or transfer shall be subject to the
following:
(A)
Employer Stock diversified under sections 9.02(b) shall not be mandatorily returned to Participants’
Accounts who are subject to such provisions.
(B)
If the Participant may take an immediate distribution of his or her Account and does not consent to
a distribution and is subject to the Reshuffling provisions such Participant must be provided sufficient investment options in order to ensure
that the loss of the Employer Stock investment is not a significant detriment within the meaning of Treas. Reg. section 1.411(a)-11(c)(2)(i).
(e)
Valuation Date. The distributable amount of a Participant’s Account is the vested portion of his Account as of the
Valuation Date coincident with or next preceding the date distribution is made to the Participant or Beneficiary as reduced by any
subsequent distributions, withdrawals or loans.
(f)
Restriction on Deferral of Payment. Unless otherwise elected, benefit payments under the Plan will begin to a
Participant not later than the 60th day after the latest of the close of the Plan Year in which:
(1)

the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age;

(2)

occurs the 10th anniversary of the year in which his participation commenced; or

(3)

the Participant has a Termination of Employment.

(g)
Minimum Distribution Requirements. Distributions shall be made in a method that is in conformance with the
requirements set forth in Section 7.05. Section 7.05 shall not be deemed to create a type of benefit (e.g., installment payments, lump sum
within five years or immediate lump sum payment) to any class of Participants and Beneficiaries that is not otherwise permitted by the
Plan. Any elections described in Section 7.02(a)(5) and 7.02(c) shall also apply to this Section 7.05.
Section 7.03

CASH-OUT OF SMALL BALANCES

(a)
Vested Account Balance Does Not Exceed $5,000. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if involuntary cash-out is selected
in the Adoption Agreement and the vested amount of an Account payable to a Participant or Beneficiary does not exceed $5,000 (or such
lesser amount specified in the Adoption Agreement) at the time such individual becomes entitled to a distribution hereunder (or at any
subsequent time established by the Plan Administrator to the extent provided in applicable Treasury Regulations), such vested Account
shall be paid in a lump sum to the extent it is not subject to the automatic rollover provisions of Section 7.06(c) below.
(b)
Vested Account Balance Exceeds $5,000. If the value of a Participant’s vested Account balance exceeds $5,000 or
such lesser amount as specified in the Adoption Agreement, and the Account balance is immediately distributable, the Participant must
consent to any distribution of such Account balance. Notwithstanding the foregoing and unless otherwise specified in the Adoption
Agreement, payments shall commence as of the Participants Required Beginning Date in the form of a lump sum or installment payments.
The Participant’s consent shall be obtained in writing within the 180-day period ending on the Annuity Starting Date. The Plan
Administrator shall notify the Participant of the right to defer any distribution until the date specified in the Adoption Agreement. Such
notification shall include a general description of the material
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features, and an explanation of the relative values of, the optional forms of benefit available under the Plan, and shall be provided no less
than 30 days and no more than 180 days prior to the Annuity Starting Date. Except to the extent provided in Section 7.10, distribution may
commence less than 30 days after the notice described in the preceding sentence is given, provided the Plan Administrator clearly informs
the Participant that he has a right to a period of at least 30 days after receiving the notice to consider the decision of whether or not to elect
a distribution (and, if applicable, a particular distribution option), and the Participant, after receiving the notice, affirmatively elects a
distribution. In the event a Participant’s vested Account balance becomes distributable without consent pursuant to this Subsection (b), and
the Participant fails to elect a form of distribution, the vested Account balance of such Participant shall be paid in a single sum except to the
extent provided in Section 7.10.
(c)
For purposes of this Section 7.03, the Participant’s vested Account balance shall not include amounts attributable to
accumulated deductible Employee contributions within the meaning of Code section 72(o)(5)(B).
(d)
Required Distributions and Plan Termination. Consent of the Participant or his spouse shall not be required to the
extent that a distribution is required to satisfy Code sections 401(a)(9) or 415. In addition, upon termination of this Plan the Participant’s
Account balance shall be distributed to the Participant in a lump sum distribution unless payment is made in the form of a Qualified Joint
and Survivor Annuity pursuant to Section 7.10. However, if the Employer maintains another defined contribution plan (other than an
employee stock ownership plan as defined in Code section 4975(e)(7)), then the Participant’s Account balance will be transferred, without
the Participant’s consent, to the other plan if the Participant does not consent to an immediate distribution.
(e)
Rollovers
(1)
Applicability and Effective Date. This Section 7.03(e) shall apply if elected by the Plan
Sponsor in the Adoption Agreement and shall be effective January 1, 2002 unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement.
(2)
Treatment of Rollovers. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, Rollovers shall be disregarded in determining
the value of the Account balance for involuntary distributions. For purposes of this Section 7.03, the Participant’s vested Account balance
shall not include that portion of the Account balance that is attributable to Rollover Contributions (and earnings allocable thereto) within
the meaning of Code sections 402(c), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)(A)(ii), and 457(e)(16).
(f)
Notice of Right to Defer. Any description of a Participant’s right to defer a distribution under Code section 411(a)(11)
must also include a description of the consequences of failing to defer receipt of the distribution. The Plan will not be treated as failing to
meet these notice requirements if the Plan Administrator makes a reasonable attempt to comply with the new requirements during the
period that is within 90 days of the issuance of regulations.
Section 7.04

BENEFICIARY

(a)
Beneficiary Designation Right. Each Participant, and if the Participant has died, the Beneficiary of such Participant,
shall have the right to designate one or more primary and one or more secondary Beneficiaries to receive any benefit becoming payable
upon such individual’s death. To the extent that a Participant’s Account is not subject to Section 7.10, the spouse of a married Participant
shall be the sole primary Beneficiary of such Participant unless the requirements of Subsection (b) are met. To the extent that a
Participant’s Account is subject to Section 7.10, the spouse of a married Participant shall be the Beneficiary of 100% of such Participant’s
Account unless the spouse waives his or her rights to such benefit pursuant to Section 7.10. All Beneficiary designations shall be in writing
in a form satisfactory to the Plan Administrator and shall only be effective when filed with the Plan Administrator during the Participant’s
lifetime (or if the Participant has died, during the lifetime of the Beneficiary of such Participant who desires to designate a further
Beneficiary). Except as provided in Section 7.04(b) or Section 7.10, as applicable, each Participant (or Beneficiary) shall be entitled to
change his Beneficiaries at any time and from time to time by filing written notice of such change with the Plan Administrator.
(b)
Form and Content of Spouse’s Consent. To the extent that a Participant’s Account is not subject to Section 7.10, the
Participant may designate a Beneficiary other than his spouse pursuant to this Subsection if: (i) the spouse has waived the spouse’s right to
be the Participant’s Beneficiary in accordance with this Subsection, (ii) the Participant has no spouse, or (iii) the Plan Administrator
determines that the spouse cannot be located or such other circumstances exist under which spousal consent is not required, as prescribed
by Treasury regulations. If required, such consent: (i) shall be in writing, (ii) shall relate only to the specific alternate Beneficiary or
beneficiaries designated (or permits Beneficiary designations by the Participant without the spouse’s further consent), (iii) shall
acknowledge the effect of the consent, and (iv) shall be witnessed by a plan representative or notary public. Any consent by a spouse, or
establishment that the consent of a spouse may not be obtained, shall not be effective with respect to any other spouse. Any spousal
consent that permits subsequent changes by the Participant to the Beneficiary designation without the requirement of further spousal
consent shall acknowledge that the spouse has the right to limit such consent to a specific Beneficiary, and that the spouse voluntarily elects
to relinquish such right.
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(c)
In the event that the Participant fails to designate a Beneficiary, or in the event that the Participant is predeceased by all
designated primary and secondary Beneficiaries, the death benefit shall be payable to the Participant’s spouse or, if there is no spouse, if
there is no spouse, to the Participant’s children in equal shares or, if there are no children to the Participant’s estate unless otherwise
specified in the Adoption Agreement.
Section 7.05
(a)

MINIMUM DISTRIBUTION REQUIREMENTS
General Rules.
(1)

Effective Date.

(A)
In General. Subject to Section 7.10, the requirements of this Section shall apply to any distribution
of a Participant’s interest and will take precedence over any inconsistent provisions of this Plan. Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption
Agreement, the provisions of this Section apply to calendar years beginning after December 31, 2002.
(B)
2009 Waiver of Requirements. Notwithstanding other provisions of the Plan to the contrary; to the
extent provided in the Adoption Agreement and by Code section 401(a)(9), IRS Notice 2009-82 and any superseding guidance, a
Participant or Beneficiary who would have been required to receive 2009 RMDs or Extended 2009 RMDs will receive those distributions
for 2009 unless the Participant or Beneficiary chooses not to receive such distributions. Participants and Beneficiaries described in the
preceding sentence will be given the opportunity to elect to stop receiving the distributions described in the preceding sentence.
(i)
In addition, notwithstanding other provisions of the Plan to the contrary, and solely for
purposes of applying the direct rollover provisions of the Plan, certain additional distributions in 2009, as chosen in the Adoption
Agreement, will be treated as eligible rollover distributions.
(ii)

Definitions:
(1)

“2009 RMDs” are Required Minimum Distributions for 2009 but for the

enactment of section 401(a)(9)(H) of the Code;
(2)
“Extended 2009 RMDs” are one or more payments in a series of substantially
equal distributions (that include the 2009 RMDs) made at least annually and expected to last for the life (or life expectancy) of the
Participant, the joint lives (or joint life expectancy) of the Participant and the Participant’s designated Beneficiary, or for a period of at least
10 years.
(2)
Construction. All distributions required under this Section shall be determined and made in accordance with
the regulations under Code section 401(a)(9) and the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirement of Code section 401(a)(9)(G).
Nothing contained in this Section shall be deemed to create a type of benefit (e.g., installment payments, lump sum within five years or
immediate lump sum payment) to any class of Participants and/or Beneficiaries that is not otherwise permitted by the Plan.
(3)
Limits on Distribution Periods. As of the first distribution calendar year, distributions to a Participant, if not
made in a single sum, may only be made over one of the following periods:
(A)

the life of the Participant;

(B)

the joint lives of the Participant and a designated Beneficiary;

(C)

a period certain not extending beyond the life expectancy of the Participant; or

(D)

a period certain not extending beyond the joint life and last survivor expectancy of the Participant

and a designated Beneficiary.
(b)

Time and Manner of Distribution.

(1)
Required Beginning Date. Unless an earlier date is specified in Section 7.02(b), the Participant’s entire
interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, to the Participant no later than the Participant’s Required Beginning Date.
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(2)
Death of Participant Before Distributions Begin. If the Participant dies before distributions begin, the
Participant’s entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows:
(A)
If the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, then unless an
earlier date is specified in Section 7.02(b), distributions to the surviving spouse will begin by December 31 of the calendar year
immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died, or by December 31 of the calendar year in which the Participant
would have attained age 70-1/2, if later.
(B)
If the Participant’s surviving spouse is not the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, then,
unless otherwise specified in Section 7.02(b), distributions to the designated Beneficiary will begin by December 31 of the calendar year
immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died.
(C)
If there is no designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following the year of the
Participant’s death, the Participant’s entire interest will be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary
of the Participant’s death unless an earlier date is specified in Section 7.02(b).
(D)
If the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary and the
surviving spouse dies after the Participant but before distributions to the surviving spouse are required to begin, this Subsection (b)(2),
other than Subsection (b)(2)(A), will apply as if the surviving spouse were the Participant except as otherwise provided in Section 7.02(b).
For purposes of this Subsection (b)(2) and Subsection (d), unless Subsection (b)(2)(D) applies, distributions
are considered to begin on the Participant’s Required Beginning Date. If Subsection (b)(2)(D) applies, distributions are considered to begin
on the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under section Subsection (b)(2)(A). If distributions under an annuity
purchased from an insurance company irrevocably commence to the Participant before the Participant’s Required Beginning Date (or to the
Participant’s surviving spouse before the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under Subsection (b)(2)(A)), the
date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence.
(3)
Forms of Distribution. Unless the Participant’s interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from
an insurance company or in a single sum on or before the Required Beginning Date, as of the first distribution calendar year distributions
will be made in accordance with Subsections (c) and (d) to the extent otherwise permitted by the Plan. If the Participant’s interest is
distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance company, distributions thereunder will be made in accordance with the
requirements of Code 401(a)(9) and the regulations.
(c)

Required Minimum Distributions During Participant’s Lifetime.

(1)
Amount of Required Minimum Distribution For Each Distribution Calendar Year. During the Participant’s
lifetime, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year is the lesser of:
(A)
the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s Account balance by the distribution period in the
Uniform Lifetime Table set forth in Treas. Reg. section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2 using the Participant’s age as of the Participant’s birthday in
the distribution calendar year; or
(B)
if the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary for the distribution calendar year is the Participant’s
spouse, the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s Account balance by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in
Treas. Reg. section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-3 using the Participant’s and spouse’s attained ages as of the Participant’s and spouse’s birthdays
in the distribution calendar year.
(2)
Lifetime Required Minimum Distributions Continue Through Year of Participant’s Death. Required
minimum distributions will be determined under this Subsection (c) beginning with the first distribution calendar year and continuing up to,
and including, the distribution calendar year that includes the Participant’s date of death.
(3)
The amount of the Required Minimum Distribution shall include the amount payable under a QLAC that has
passed its annuity starting date (as defined in the QLAC).
(d)

Required Minimum Distributions After Participant’s Death.
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(1)

Death On or After Date Distributions Begin.

(A)
Participant Survived by Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies on or after the date
distributions begin and there is a designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year
after the year of the Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s Account balance by the longer of the
remaining life expectancy of the Participant or the remaining life expectancy of the Participant’s designated Beneficiary, determined as
follows:
(i)
The Participant’s remaining life expectancy is calculated using the age of the Participant
in the year of death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.
(ii)
If the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, the
remaining life expectancy of the surviving spouse is calculated for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant’s death
using the surviving spouse’s age as of the spouse’s birthday in that year. For distribution calendar years after the year of the surviving
spouse’s death, the remaining life expectancy of the surviving spouse is calculated using the age of the surviving spouse as of the spouse’s
birthday in the calendar year of the spouse’s death, reduced by one for each subsequent calendar year.
(iii)
If the Participant’s surviving spouse is not the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary,
the designated Beneficiary’s remaining life expectancy is calculated using the age of the Beneficiary in the year following the year of the
Participant’s death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.
(B)
No Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there
is no designated Beneficiary as of the September 30 of the year after the year of the Participant’s death, the minimum amount that will be
distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s
Account balance by the Participant’s remaining life expectancy calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by
one for each subsequent year.
(2)

Death Before Date Distributions Begin.

(A)
Participant Survived by Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies before the date distributions
begin and there is a designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each distribution calendar year after the year
of the Participant’s death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant’s Account balance by the remaining life expectancy of the
Participant’s designated Beneficiary, determined as provided in Subsection (d)(1).
(B)
No Designated Beneficiary. If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is no
designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant’s death, distribution of the Participant’s entire
interest will be completed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s death.
(C)
Death of Surviving Spouse Before Distributions to Surviving Spouse Are Required to Begin. If the
Participant dies before the date distributions begin, the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated Beneficiary, and
the surviving spouse dies before distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under Subsection (b)(2)(i), this Subsection
(d)(2) will apply as if the surviving spouse were the Participant.
(e)

Definitions.

(1)
Designated Beneficiary. The individual who is designated by the Participant (or the Participant’s surviving
spouse) as the Beneficiary of the Participant’s interest under the Plan and who is the designated Beneficiary under Code section
401(a)(9) and Treas. Reg. section 1.401(a)(9)-4.
(2)
Distribution Calendar Year. A calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. For distributions
beginning before the Participant’s death, the first distribution calendar year is the calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year
which contains the Participant’s Required Beginning Date. For distributions beginning after the Participant’s death, the first distribution
calendar year is the calendar year in which distributions are required to begin under Subsection (b)(2). The required minimum distribution
for the Participant’s first distribution calendar year will be made on or before the Participant’s Required Beginning Date. The required
minimum distribution for other distribution calendar years, including the required minimum distribution for the distribution calendar year in
which the Participant’s Required Beginning Date occurs, will be made on or before December 31 of that distribution calendar year.

CCH INCORPORATED, DBA FTWILLIAM.COM

35

Copyright © 2002-2016

ARTICLE 8 IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTIONS AND LOANS
(3)
1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-1.

Life expectancy. Life expectancy is computed by use of the Single Life Table in Treas. Reg. section

(4)
Participant’s Account Balance. The Account balance as of the last Valuation Date in the calendar year
immediately preceding the distribution calendar year (valuation calendar year) increased by the amount of any contributions made and
allocated or forfeitures allocated to the Account as of dates in the valuation calendar year after the Valuation Date and decreased by
(1) distributions made in the valuation calendar year after the Valuation Date and (2) any amount held in a QLAC that has not reached its
annuity starting date (as defined in the QLAC). The Account balance for the valuation calendar year includes any amounts rolled over or
transferred to the Plan either in the valuation calendar year or in the distribution calendar year if distributed or transferred in the valuation
calendar year.
(f)

TEFRA Section 242(b)(2) Elections.

(1)
Notwithstanding the other requirements of this Section and subject to the requirements of Section 7.10,
distribution on behalf of any employee, including a More than 5% Owner, who has made a designation under section 242(b)(2) of the Tax
Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act (a “section 242(b)(2) election”) may be made in accordance with all of the following requirements
(regardless of when such distribution commences):
(A)
The distribution by the Plan is one which would not have disqualified such plan under Code section
401(a)(9) as in effect prior to amendment by the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984.
(B)
The distribution is in accordance with a method of distribution designated by the Employee whose
interest in the Plan is being distributed or, if the Employee is deceased, by a Beneficiary of such Employee.
(C)

Such designation was in writing, was signed by the Employee or the Beneficiary, and was made

(D)

The Employee had accrued a benefit under the Plan as of December 31, 1983.

before January 1, 1984.

(E)
The method of distribution designated by the Employee or the Beneficiary specifies the time at
which distribution will commence, the period over which distributions will be made, and in the case of any distribution upon the
Employee’s death, the Beneficiaries of the Employee listed in order of priority.
(2)
A distribution upon death will not be covered by this transitional rule unless the information in the
designation contains the required information described above with respect to the distributions to be made upon the death of the Employee.
(3)
For any distribution which commences before January 1, 1984, but continues after December 31, 1983, the
Employee, or the Beneficiary, to whom such distribution is being made, will be presumed to have designated the method of distribution
under which the distribution is being made if the method of distribution was specified in writing and the distribution satisfies the
requirements in Subsections (f)(1)(A) and (E).
(4)
If a designation is revoked, any subsequent distribution must satisfy the requirements of Code section
401(a)(9) and the regulations thereunder. If a designation is revoked subsequent to the date distributions are required to begin, the Plan
must distribute by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the revocation occurs the total amount not yet
distributed which would have been required to have been distributed to satisfy Code section 401(a)(9) and the regulations thereunder, but
for the section 242(b)(2) election. For calendar years beginning after December 31, 1988, such distributions must meet the minimum
distribution incidental benefit requirements. Any changes in the designation will be considered to be a revocation of the designation.
However, the mere substitution or addition of another Beneficiary (one not named in the designation) under the designation will not be
considered to be a revocation of the designation, so long as such substitution or addition does not alter the period over which distributions
are to be made under the designation, directly or indirectly (for example, by altering the relevant measuring life).
(5)
In the case in which an amount is transferred or rolled over from one plan to another plan, the rules in Treas.
Reg. section 1.401(a)(9)-8, Q&A-14 and Q&A-15, shall apply.
(g)

Application of Five Year Rule.
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(1)
To the extent permitted in Section 7.02(b), if the Participant dies before distributions are required to begin
and there is a designated Beneficiary, distributions to the designated Beneficiary are not required to begin by the date specified in
Subsection (b)(2), but the Participant’s entire interest may be distributed to the designated Beneficiary by December 31 of the calendar year
containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant’s death. If the Participant’s surviving spouse is the Participant’s sole designated
Beneficiary and the surviving spouse dies after the Participant but before distributions to either the Participant or the surviving spouse
begin, this election will apply as if the surviving spouse were the Participant.
(2)
To the extent permitted in Section 7.02(b), Participants or beneficiaries may elect on an individual basis
whether the 5-year rule or the life expectancy rule in Subsections (b)(2) and (d)(2) applies to distributions after the death of a Participant
who has a designated Beneficiary. The election must be made no later than the earlier of September 30 of the calendar year in which
distributions would be required to begin under Subsections (b)(2), or by September 30 of the calendar year which contains the fifth
anniversary of the Participant’s (or, if applicable, surviving spouse’s) death. If neither the Participant nor Beneficiary makes an election
under this paragraph, distributions will be made in accordance with Subsections (b)(2), (d)(2) and (h)(1).
Section 7.06

DIRECT ROLLOVERS

(a)
In General. This Section applies to distributions made after December 31, 2001. Notwithstanding any provision of the
Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee’s election under this part, a distributee may elect, at the time and in the manner
prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution that is equal to at least $200 (or such lesser
amount as determined by the Plan Administrator in a nondiscriminatory manner) paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the
distributee in a direct rollover. If an eligible rollover distribution is less than $500 (or such lesser amount as determined by the Plan
Administrator in a nondiscriminatory manner), a distributee may not make the election described in the preceding sentence to roll over a
portion of the eligible rollover distribution. This Paragraph shall be subject to Code sections 401(a)(31) and 402(f); Treas. Reg. sections
1.401(a)(31)-1, 1.402(c)-2; and IRS Notices 2005-5, 2008-30, 2009-69, and 2009-75.
(b)

Definitions.

(1)
Eligible Rollover Distribution. An eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the
balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of
substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint
lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee’s designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or
more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code section 401(a)(9); any hardship distribution; the portion of any
other distribution(s) that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with
respect to employer securities); and any other distribution(s) that is reasonably expected to total less than $200 during a year.
A portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an eligible rollover distribution merely because the portion
consists of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income. However, such portion may be transferred only to an
individual retirement account or annuity described in Code section 408(a) or (b), or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in
Code section 401(a) or 403(a) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion
of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.
(2)
Eligible Retirement Plan. An eligible retirement plan is an eligible plan under Code section 457(b) which is
maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which
agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan, an individual retirement account described in Code
section 408(a), individual retirement annuity described in Code section 408(b), an annuity plan described in Code section 403(a), an
annuity contract described in Code section 403(b), or a qualified plan described in Code section 401(a), that accepts the distributee’s
eligible rollover distribution. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a surviving spouse, or
to a spouse or former spouse who is the Alternate Payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, as defined in Code section 414(p).
If any portion of an eligible rollover distribution is attributable to payments or distributions from a Roth
Elective Deferral Account, an eligible retirement plan shall only include another Roth elective deferral account under an applicable
retirement plan described in Code section 402A(e)(1) or to a Roth IRA described in Code section 408A and only to the extent the rollover
is permitted under the rules of Code section 402(c). The Plan will not provide for a direct rollover (including an automatic rollover) for
distributions from a Participant’s Roth Elective Deferral Account if the amount of the distributions that are eligible rollover distributions
are reasonably expected to total less than $200 during a year. In addition, any distribution from a Participant’s Roth Elective Deferral
Account is not taken into account in determining whether distributions
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from a Participant’s other Accounts are reasonably expected to total less than $200 during a year. The provisions of this Section that allow
a Participant to elect a direct rollover of only a portion of an eligible rollover distribution but only if the amount rolled over is at least $500
are applied by treating any amount distributed from the Participant’s Roth Elective Deferral Account as a separate distribution from any
amount distributed from the Participant’s other Accounts in the Plan, even if the amounts are distributed at the same time.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective for distributions made after December 31, 2007, a Participant may
roll over a distribution from the Plan to a Roth IRA provided that the amount rolled over is an eligible rollover distribution (as defined in
Code section 402(c)(4)) and, pursuant to Code section 408A(d)(3)(A), there is included in gross income any amount that would be
includible if the distribution were not rolled over.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective January 1, 2007, a non-spouse Beneficiary who is a designated
Beneficiary within the meaning of Code section 401(a)(9)(E) may, after the death of the Participant, make a direct rollover of a distribution
to an IRA established on behalf of the designated Beneficiary; provided that the distributed amount satisfies all the requirements to be an
eligible rollover distribution other than the requirement that the distribution be made to the Participant or the Participant’s spouse. Such
direct rollovers shall be subject to the terms and conditions of IRS Notice 2007-7 and superseding guidance, including but not limited to the
provision in Q&A-17 regarding required minimum distributions. Effective January 1, 2010, the distributions described in this paragraph
shall be subject to Code sections 401(a)(31), 402(f) and 3405(c).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2007, a portion of
a distribution shall not fail to be an eligible rollover distribution merely because such portion consists of amounts which are not includible
in gross income. However, such portion may be transferred as a direct rollover only to a qualified trust or to an annuity contract described
in Code section 403(b) that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such
distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.
(3)
Distributee. A distributee includes an employee or former employee. In addition, the employee’s or former
employee’s surviving spouse and the employee’s or former employee’s spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a
qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code section 414(p), are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former
spouse.
(4)

Direct Rollover. A direct rollover is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the

distributee.
(c)
Automatic Rollovers. In the event of a mandatory distribution greater than $1,000 (or such lesser amount as determined
by the Plan Administrator in a nondiscriminatory manner) in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.03(a), if the Participant does not
elect to have such distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the Participant in a direct rollover or to receive the
distribution directly in accordance with Section 7.02, then the Plan Administrator will pay the distribution in a direct rollover to an
individual retirement plan designated by the Plan Administrator. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, for purposes of
determining whether a mandatory distribution is greater than $1,000, the portion of the Participant’s distribution attributable to any
Rollover Contribution is included. Eligible rollover distributions from a Participant’s Roth Elective Deferral Account are separately taken
into account in determining whether the total amount of the Participant’s Account balances under the Plan exceeds $1,000 for purposes of
mandatory distributions from the Plan.
(d)
Special Rule for S Corporations. The Plan may permit a direct rollover of the distribution of S Corporation stock to an
IRA, provided that:
(1)

The S Corporation shall repurchase the stock immediately upon the Plan’s distribution of the stock to an IRA;

(2)
Either: (i) the S Corporation must repurchase the S Corporation stock contemporaneously with, and effective
on the same day as, the distribution, or (ii) the Plan may assume the rights and obligations of the S Corporation to repurchase the S
Corporation stock immediately upon the Plan’s distribution of the stock to an IRA and the Plan repurchases the S Corporation stock
contemporaneously with, and effective on the same day as, the distribution;
(3)
No income (including tax-exempt income), loss, deduction, or credit attributable to the distributed S
Corporation stock under Code section 1366 shall be allocated to the Participant’s IRA.
Section 7.07

MINOR OR LEGALLY INCOMPETENT PAYEE

If a distribution is to be made to an individual who is either a minor or legally incompetent, the Plan Administrator may direct
that such distribution be paid to the legal guardian. If a distribution is to be made to such person and there is no legal guardian, the Plan
Administrator may
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direct that payment be made to: (a) a parent, (b) a person holding a power of attorney; (c) a person authorized to act on behalf of such
person under state law, or (d) the custodian for such person under the Uniform Transfer to Minors Act, if such is permitted by the laws of
the state in which such minor resides. Such payment shall fully discharge the Trustee, Plan Administrator, Trust Fund, and the Employer
from further liability on account thereof.
Section 7.08

MISSING PAYEE

If all or any portion of the distribution payable to a Participant or Beneficiary remains unpaid because the Plan Administrator has
been unable to ascertain the whereabouts of the Participant or Beneficiary after making reasonable efforts to contact the Participant or
Beneficiary (which may include, but not be limited to, sending a registered letter, return receipt requested, to the last known address of such
Participant or Beneficiary; and/or a commercial locating service) the Plan Administrator may use a reasonable method to remove the assets
from the Plan that is consistent with ERISA and the Code. Such methods may include, but not be limited to, (a) creating an individual
retirement plan designated by the Plan Administrator; or (b) if, for a period of more than five years after such distribution becomes payable
or six months after all attempts to locate the Participant or Beneficiary, the Plan Administrator is still unable to ascertain the whereabouts of
the Participant or Beneficiary, the amount so distributable may be treated as a forfeiture under Article 6 hereof. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if a claim is subsequently made by the Participant or Beneficiary for the forfeited benefit pursuant to clause (b) of the preceding
sentence, such benefit shall be reinstated without any credit or deduction for earnings and losses. Amounts forfeited from a Participant’s
Account under this Section shall be used pursuant to Section 6.03(d).
Section 7.09

DISTRIBUTIONS UPON TERMINATION OF PLAN

Except as provided in Section 7.10, a Participant may receive the balance of his Account in a lump sum payment upon
termination of the Plan without the establishment of alternative defined contribution plan (as described in Treas. Reg. section
1.401(k)-1(d)(4)) other than an employee stock ownership plan (as defined in Code section 4975(e) or Code section 409), a simplified
employee pension plan (as defined in Code section 408(k)), a SIMPLE IRA Plan (defined in Code section 408(p)), a plan or contract that
satisfies the requirements of Code section 403(b), or a plan that is described in Code section 457(b) or (f).
Section 7.10

JOINT AND SURVIVOR ANNUITIES

(a)
Application. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, this Section shall apply: (i) if a Participant elects benefits
in the form of any annuity; or (ii) to the portion of the Participant’s Transfer Account attributable to funds subject to the survivor annuity
requirements of Code section 401(a)(11) and section 417 that were transferred from another plan (or to such other Accounts if the amounts
subject to such survivor annuities and were not separately accounted for). This Section shall only apply if the Participant’s Account
exceeds $5,000 (or such lesser amount specified in the Adoption Agreement) at the time such individual becomes entitled to a distribution
hereunder (or at any subsequent time established by the Plan Administrator to the extent provided in applicable Treasury regulations).
Effective January 1, 2002 unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement and if elected by the Plan Sponsor in the Adoption
Agreement, for purposes of this Section 7.10(a), the Participant’s vested Account balance shall not include that portion of the Account
balance that is attributable to rollover contributions (and earnings allocable thereto) within the meaning of Code sections 402(c), 403(a)(4),
403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)(A)(ii), and 457(e)(16).
(b)
Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. Unless otherwise elected pursuant to Subsection (d) below, a Participant’s
vested Account balance, to the extent provided in Subsection (a) above, will be paid to him by the purchase and delivery of an annuity in
the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. Effective for Annuity Starting Dates in Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2007,
to the extent that the Plan must offer a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity, the Plan shall also offer a Qualified Optional Survivor
Annuity as another optional form of benefit.
A Participant may waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity during a period that begins on the first day of the
180-day period ending on the Annuity Starting Date and ends on the later of the Annuity Starting Date or the 30th day after the Plan
Administrator provides the Participant with a written explanation of the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. The Plan Administrator shall
no less than 30 days and no more than 180 days prior to the Annuity Starting Date provide each Participant a written explanation of: (i) the
terms and conditions of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity; (ii) the Participant’s right to make and the effect of an election to waive the
Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity form of benefit; (iii) the rights of a Participant’s spouse; and (iv) the right to make, and the effect of, a
revocation of a previous election to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity; and (v) the relative values of the various optional
forms of benefits under the Plan pursuant to Treas. Reg. section 1.417(a)(3)-1(c)(2).
The Annuity Starting Date for a distribution in a form other than a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity may be less
than 30 days after receipt of the written explanation described in the preceding paragraph provided: (i) the Participant has been provided
with information that clearly indicates that the Participant has at least 30 days to consider whether to waive the Qualified Joint and Survivor
Annuity and elect (with
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spousal consent) to a form of distribution other than a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity; (ii) the Participant is permitted to revoke any
affirmative distribution election at least until the Annuity Starting Date or, if later, at any time prior to the expiration of the 7-day period
that begins the day after the explanation of the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity is provided to the Participant; and (iii) the Annuity
Starting Date is a date after the date that the written explanation was provided to the Participant.
(c)
Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity. Unless otherwise elected within the applicable election period and to the
extent provided in Subsection (a) above, if a Participant dies before the Annuity Starting Date then at least 50% of the Participant’s vested
Account balance shall be applied toward the purchase of an annuity for the life of the surviving spouse which shall be distributed to the
spouse. The surviving spouse may direct the commencement of payments under the qualified preretirement survivor annuity within a
reasonable time after the Participant’s death. The terms of such annuity contract shall comply with the provisions of this Plan and the
annuity contract shall be nontransferable. The applicable election period shall be the period which begins on the first day of the Plan Year
in which the Participant attains age 35 and ends on the date of the Participant’s death. If a Participant separates from service prior to the
first day of the Plan Year in which he attains age 35, the election period shall begin on the date of separation. A Participant who has not yet
attained age 35 may waive the annuity specified in this Subsection (c) provided that (1) the Participant receives a written explanation
pursuant to the following paragraph and (2) such election is not effective as of the first day of the Plan Year in which the Participant attains
age 35. Any new waiver on or after such date shall be subject to the full requirements of this Subsection. Notwithstanding anything in this
Section to the contrary, the surviving spouse may elect, in writing, to have the Account balance be distributed pursuant to Section 7.02(b).
The Plan Administrator shall provide each Participant within the applicable period for such Participant a written
explanation of the annuity described in this Subsection (c) in such terms and in such manner as would be comparable to the explanation
provided for meeting the requirements of Subsection (b) applicable to a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity. The applicable period for a
Participant is whichever of the following periods ends last: (i) the period beginning with the first day of the Plan Year in which the
Participant attains age 32 and ending with the close of the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year in which the Participant attains age 35; (ii) a
reasonable period ending after the individual becomes a Participant; or (iii) within a reasonable period ending after Termination of
Employment in the case of a Participant who separates from service before attaining age 35.
For purposes of applying the preceding paragraph, a reasonable period ending after the enumerated events described in
(ii) and (iii) is the end of the two-year period beginning one year prior to the date the applicable event occurs, and ending one year after that
date. If a Participant who separates from service before the Plan Year in which he attains age 35 thereafter returns to employment with the
Employer, the applicable period for such Participant shall be redetermined.
(d)
Elections. Any waiver of the annuities described in Subsections (b) and (c) above shall not be effective unless: (i) the
Participant’s spouse consents in writing to the election; (ii) the election designates a specific Beneficiary, including any class of
beneficiaries or any contingent beneficiaries, which may not be changed without spousal consent (or the spouse expressly permits
designations by the Participant without any further spousal consent); (iii) the spouse’s consent acknowledges the effect of the election; and
(iv) the spouse’s consent is witnessed by a plan representative or notary public. Additionally, a Participant’s waiver of the Qualified Joint
and Survivor Annuity shall not be effective unless the election designates a form of benefit payment which may not be changed without
spousal consent (or the spouse expressly permits designations by the Participant without any further spousal consent). If it is established to
the satisfaction of a plan representative that there is no spouse (within the meaning of Code section 417) or that the spouse cannot be
located, a waiver will be deemed a qualified election. Any consent by a spouse obtained under this provision (or establishment that the
consent of a spouse may not be obtained) shall be effective only with respect to such spouse. A consent that permits designations by the
Participant without any requirement of further consent by such spouse must acknowledge that the spouse has the right to limit consent to a
specific Beneficiary, and a specific form of benefit where applicable, and that the spouse voluntarily elects to relinquish either or both such
rights. A revocation of a prior waiver may be made by a Participant without the consent of the spouse at any time before the
commencement of benefits. The number of revocations shall not be limited. No consent obtained under this provision shall be valid unless
the Participant has received notice as provided in Subsections (b) and (c).
Any consent by a spouse obtained under this provision (or establishment that the consent of a spouse may not be
obtained) shall be effective only with respect to such spouse. A consent that permits designations by the Participant without any
requirement of further consent by such spouse must acknowledge that the spouse has the right to limit consent to a specific Beneficiary, and
a specific form of benefit where applicable, and that the spouse voluntarily elects to relinquish either or both such rights. A revocation of a
prior waiver may be made by a Participant without the consent of the spouse at any time before the commencement of benefits. The
number of revocations shall not be limited. No consent obtained under this provision shall be valid unless the Participant has received
notice as provided in Subsections (b) and (c).
For purposes of determining a Participant’s spouse, the Plan Administrator shall apply the one-year rule in Code section 417(d),
Treas. Reg. section 1.401(a)-20 to the extent selected in the Adoption Agreement.
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(f)
Deferred Annuity Contracts. In determining whether and/or how the Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity and the
Qualified Preretirement Survivor Annuity rules described in Code sections 401(a)(11) and 417 apply to a deferred annuity contract
purchased under the Plan, the provisions of Internal Revenue Service Revenue Ruling 2012-3 and any superseding guidance shall apply.

ARTICLE 8 IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTIONS AND LOANS
Section 8.01

HARDSHIP

(a)
Hardship. A Participant may receive a distribution on account of hardship from the Accounts specified in the Adoption
Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary if the Adoption Agreement permits a hardship distribution from an
Account, the amount available for a hardship distribution from such Account shall include any amounts grandfathered under Treas. Reg.
section 1.401(k)-1(d)(3)(ii)(B). Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant shall only be permitted to receive a
hardship distribution pursuant to this Section 8.01 from Accounts that are fully (100%) vested.
(b)
Hardship - Safe Harbor. If the Adoption Agreement provides that the Plan has adopted safe harbor criteria for Hardship
withdrawal, the following shall apply:
(1)
Immediate and Heavy Financial Need. A hardship distribution shall only be made upon the finding by the
Plan Administrator of an immediate and heavy financial need where such Participant lacks other available resources. The following are the
only financial needs considered immediate and heavy:
(A)
Expenses for (or necessary to obtain) medical care that would be deductible under Code section
213(d) (determined without regard to whether the expenses exceed 7.5% of adjusted gross income) for the Employee, or the Employee’s
spouse, children, or dependents (as defined in Code section 152, and, for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2005, without
regard to Code section 152(b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)(B));
(B)

Costs directly related to the purchase of a principal residence for the Employee (excluding

mortgage payments);
(C)
Payment of tuition, related educational fees, and room and board expenses, for up to the next 12
months of post-secondary education for the Employee, or the Employee’s spouse, children, or dependents (as defined in Code section 152,
and, for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2005, without regard to Code section 152(b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)(B));
(D)
Payments necessary to prevent the eviction of the Employee from the Employee’s principal
residence or foreclosure on the mortgage on that residence;
(E)
Payments for burial or funeral expenses for the employee’s deceased parent, spouse, children or
dependents (as defined in Code section 152, and, for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2005, without regard to Code section
152(d)(1)(B));
(F)
Expenses for the repair of damage to the employee’s principal residence that would qualify for the
casualty deduction under Code section 165 (determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10% of adjusted gross income); and
(G)

Other expenses as provided by the Commissioner as specified in Treas. Reg. section

1.401(k)-1(d)(3)(v).
(2)
Amount Necessary to Satisfy Need. A distribution will be considered as necessary to satisfy an immediate
and heavy financial need of the Participant only if:
(A)
The distribution is not in excess of the amount of the immediate and heavy financial need
(including amounts necessary to pay any federal, state or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the
distribution);
(B)
The Participant has obtained all distributions, other than hardship distributions, and all nontaxable
loans under all plans maintained by the Employer; and
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(C)
All plans maintained by the Employer provide that the Participant’s Elective Deferrals (and after
tax contributions) will be suspended for 6 months (12 months, for hardship distributions before 2002) after the receipt of the hardship
distribution; and
(c)
Hardship - Non Safe Harbor. If the Adoption Agreement provides that the Plan has adopted the non-safe harbor criteria
for hardship for permitted Accounts, the following shall apply:
(1)
Immediate and Heavy Financial Need. A hardship distribution shall only be made upon the finding by the
Plan Administrator of an immediate and heavy financial need where such Participant lacks other available resources. Whether a Participant
has an immediate and heavy financial need is to be determined based on all relevant facts and circumstances. The need to pay the funeral
expenses of a family member would constitute an immediate and heavy financial need and a distribution made to a Participant for the
purchase of a boat or television would not constitute a distribution made on account of an immediate and heavy financial need. A financial
need may be immediate and heavy even if it was reasonably foreseeable or voluntarily incurred by the Participant.
(2)
Amount Necessary to Satisfy Need. A distribution is not treated as necessary to satisfy an immediate and
heavy financial need of a Participant to the extent the amount of the distribution is in excess of the amount required to relieve the financial
need or to the extent the need may be satisfied from other resources that are reasonably available to the Participant. This determination
generally is to be made on the basis of all relevant facts and circumstances. For purposes of this Subsection, the Participant’s resources are
deemed to include those assets of the Participant’s spouse and minor children that are reasonably available to the Participant. A vacation
home jointly owned (regardless of the nature of legal title) by the Participant and the Participant’s spouse will be deemed a resource of the
Participant. However, property held for the Participant’s child under an irrevocable trust or under the Uniform Gifts to Minors Act is not
treated as a resource of the Participant. The amount of an immediate and heavy financial need may include any amounts necessary to pay
any federal, state, or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution. A distribution generally may be
treated as necessary to satisfy a financial need if the Employer relies upon the Participant’s written representation, unless the Employer has
actual knowledge to the contrary, that the need cannot reasonably be relieved:
(A)

Through reimbursement or compensation by insurance or otherwise;

(B)

By liquidation of the Participant’s assets;

(C)

By cessation of all Participant contributions under the Plan;

(D)
By other currently available distributions (including distribution of ESOP dividends under Code
section 404(k)) and nontaxable (at the time of the loan) loans, under plans maintained by the Employer or by any other employer; or
(E)

By borrowing from commercial sources on reasonable commercial terms in an amount sufficient to

satisfy the need.
For purposes of this Subsection, a need cannot reasonably be relieved by one of the actions listed above if the effect
would be to increase the amount of the need. For example, the need for funds to purchase a principal residence cannot reasonably be
relieved by a Plan loan if the loan would disqualify the Employee from obtaining other necessary financing.
Section 8.02

SPECIFIED AGE

A Participant may receive a distribution on attainment of a specified age from the Accounts specified in the Adoption
Agreement. Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant shall only be permitted to receive a specified age
distribution pursuant to this Section 8.02 from Accounts that are fully (100%) vested.
Section 8.03

OTHER WITHDRAWALS

(a)
After a Period Certain. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may receive a distribution
from his Non-Elective Contribution Account which has accumulated for at least twenty-four (24) months. However, an individual who has
been a Participant for five (5) or more Plan Years shall be entitled to receive a distribution of his Non-Elective Contribution Account
regardless of the length of time the funds have accumulated. Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant shall
only be permitted to receive a distribution pursuant to this Section 8.03(a) from Accounts that are fully vested.
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(b)
At Any Time. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may receive a distribution from his
Rollover Contribution Account at any time.
Section 8.04

TRANSFER ACCOUNT

In addition to the foregoing, a Participant may receive a distribution from his Transfer Account as permitted under the terms of
any plan from which funds in such Account were transferred to the extent that such optional forms of benefit must be preserved pursuant to
Code section 411(d)(6).
Section 8.05

RULES REGARDING IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTIONS

(a)
this Article 8.

In General. This Section shall apply only to the extent that in-service withdrawals are otherwise permitted pursuant to

(b)
Frequency and Amount of Withdrawals. The Plan Administrator may establish uniform procedures that include, but
are not limited to, prescribing limitations on the frequency and minimum amount of withdrawals; provided, that no procedures involving
minimum amounts shall prescribe a minimum withdrawal greater than $1,000. Unless otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement, such
distributions may be paid in cash or in-kind
(c)
Form of Withdrawals. All distributions of amounts withdrawn pursuant to Sections 8.01, 8.02, 8.03 and 8.04 shall be
made in the form of a single sum as soon as practicable following the Valuation Date as of which such withdrawal is made. Such
distributions shall be paid in cash; provided however, that in-service withdrawals may be made from ESOP Accounts in Employer Stock to
the extent that the Plan permits distributions from ESOP Accounts in Employer Stock.
(d)

Active Employment. Only Employees shall be eligible to receive in-service distributions pursuant to this Article 8.

(e)
Ordering Rule. The Plan Administrator shall determine the ordering rule for in-service distributions. Such ordering
rule may provide that the Participant may elect to have payments made any combination of such accounts and any other Account.
(f)
Transfer Account. A Participant may receive a distribution from the vested portion of his Transfer Account only to the
extent such account was not transferred from a qualified plan subject to Code section 412, to the extent Section 8.04 applies or to the extent
the Adoption Agreement permits distributions to be made to a Participant who has attained age 62 and who has not separated from
employment.
(g)
Spousal Consent. If Section 7.10 applies to the Account distributed a Participant must obtain the consent of his or her
spouse, if any, to obtain an Account balance as an in-service distribution. Spousal consent shall be obtained no earlier than the beginning
of the 180-day period that ends on the date on which the in-service distribution is to be so secured. The consent must be in writing, must
acknowledge the effect of the in-service distribution, and must be witnessed by a Plan representative or notary public. Such consent shall
thereafter be binding with respect to the consenting spouse or any subsequent spouse with respect to that in-service distribution.
Section 8.06

LOANS

(a)
Eligible Participants. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may apply for a loan from the
Plan and the provisions of Code section 72(p) and Treas. Reg. section 1.72(p)-1 shall apply to the Plan and are hereby incorporated by
reference. The Plan Administrator may provide that a loan may only be granted for the purpose of enabling the Participant to meet a
financial hardship or an unusual or special situation in his financial affairs. Loans shall only be granted pursuant to the terms of this
Section to persons who the Plan Administrator determines have the ability to repay the loan. Loans shall not be made available to
Participants who are or were Highly Compensated Employees in an amount greater than the amount available to other Participants. Loans
shall be made available to all Participants on a nondiscriminatory and reasonably equivalent basis.
(b)
Maximum Loan Amount. Unless otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement, loans shall not be made from an
ESOP Account. No loan to any Participant can be made to the extent that such loan when added to the outstanding balance of all other
loans to the Participant would exceed the lesser of:
(1)
$50,000 reduced by the excess (if any) of the highest outstanding balance of loans during the one year period
ending on the day before the loan is made, over the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan on the date the loan is made; or
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(2)
one-half the present value of the vested Account balance of the Participant or, if greater and so provided in
the Adoption Agreement, the total vested Account balance up to $10,000; provided that additional security is given to the extent such loan
exceeds 50% of the vested Account balance .
For the purpose of the above limitation, all loans from all qualified plans of the Employer are aggregated.
(c)
Loan Term and Amortization. Any loan shall by its terms require that repayment (principal and interest) be amortized
in level payments, not less frequently than quarterly, over a period not extending beyond five years from the date of the loan. If so
provided in the Adoption Agreement, a loan term may extend beyond five years if the loan is used to acquire a dwelling unit which within a
reasonable time (determined at the time the loan is made) will be used as the principal residence of the Participant.
(d)
Minimum Loan Amount - Maximum Number of Loans. The Adoption Agreement shall specify a minimum loan
amount and the maximum number of loans outstanding at any one time.
(e)
Interest Rate. Interest shall be charged at a rate to be fixed by the Plan Administrator and, in determining the interest
rate, the Plan Administrator shall take into consideration interest rates currently being charged on similar commercial loans by persons in
the business of lending money.
(f)
Security. All loans shall be secured by no more than one-half of the vested portion of the Participant’s Accounts
(determined immediately after the origination of the loan) and such additional security as the Plan Administrator may deem necessary. All
loans made to Participants under this Section are to be considered Trust Fund investments and shall be segregated for purposes of Article 9
hereof unless provided otherwise in the Adoption Agreement.
(g)
Repayment. Loans shall be repaid in accordance with the foregoing and the Plan Administrator may require as a
condition to granting such loan that it be repaid through payroll deductions. Unless the loan note provides otherwise, the principal amount
of the loan and accrued interest shall become immediately due and payable upon a Termination of Employment. Repayment may be
suspended pursuant to Code section 414(u).
(h)
Loan Fees. Fees properly chargeable in connection with a loan may be charged, in accordance with a uniform and
nondiscriminatory policy established by the Plan Administrator, against the Account of the Participant to whom the loan is granted.
(i)
Default. In the event of default, foreclosure on the note and attachment of security shall not occur until a distributable
event occurs in the Plan.
(j)
Loans to Self-Employed Persons. For Plan loans made before January 1, 2002, no loans will be made to any
shareholder-employee or owner-employee. For purposes of this requirement, a shareholder-employee means an employee or officer of an
electing small business (Subchapter S) corporation who owns (or is considered as owning within the meaning of Code section 318(a)(1), on
any day during the taxable year of such corporation, more than 5% of the outstanding stock of the corporation. An owner-employee means,
if the Employer is a sole proprietorship, an individual who is the sole proprietor, or, if the Employer is a partnership, a partner owning more
than 10% of either the capital or profits interest of the partnership.
(k)
Loan Procedures. The Plan Administrator is authorized to adopt any administrative rules or procedures that it deems
necessary or appropriate with respect to the granting and administering of loans under this Article 8.
(l)
Spousal Consent. If Section 7.10 applies or if so provided in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant must obtain the
consent of his or her spouse, if any, to use the Account balance as security for a loan. Spousal consent shall be obtained no earlier than the
beginning of the 180-day period that ends on the date on which the loan is to be so secured. The consent must be in writing, must
acknowledge the effect of the loan, and must be witnessed by a Plan representative or notary public. Such consent shall thereafter be
binding with respect to the consenting spouse or any subsequent spouse with respect to that loan. A new consent shall be required if the
Account balance is used for renegotiation, extension, renewal, or other revision of the loan.
(m)
Ordering Rule. The Plan Administrator shall determine from which Accounts a Participant may receive a loan and the
ordering rule for loans.
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If Section 7.10 applies and a valid spousal consent has been obtained, then, notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, the
portion of the Participant’s vested Account balance used as a security interest held by the Plan by reason of a loan outstanding to the
Participant shall be taken into account for purposes of determining the amount of the Account balance payable at the time of death or
distribution, but only if the reduction is used as repayment of the loan. If less than 100% of the Participant’s vested Account balance
(determined without regard to the preceding sentence) is payable to the surviving spouse, then the Account balance shall be adjusted by
first reducing the vested Account balance by the amount of the security used as repayment of the loan, and then determining the benefit
payable to the surviving spouse.
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ARTICLE 9 INVESTMENT AND VALUATION OF TRUST FUND
Section 9.01

INVESTMENT OF ASSETS

All existing assets of the Trust Fund and all future contributions shall be invested in accordance with the terms of this Article 9.
All assets of the Trust Fund may be commingled for investment purposes with the assets of any retirement plan which is maintained by the
Company and which qualifies under Code section 401(a) and may be held as a single fund under one or more trust instruments; provided
that the value of each plan’s assets can be determined at any time. The assets allocable to each such plan shall in no event be used for the
benefit of Participants in the other plans.
Section 9.02

PARTICIPANT SELF-DIRECTION

(a)
In General. To the extent provided for in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan Administrator may permit Participants to
direct the investment of their Accounts pursuant to this Section 9.02. Any Participant self direction shall be made pursuant to such uniform
guidelines and procedures as the Plan Administrator may establish from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant may not
alter his investment in the Employer Stock Fund except as provided in Subsection (b) below.
(b)

Pre-Retirement Diversification Rights.

(1)
The Plan Administrator shall offer a Qualified Participant the option to direct the investment of Employer
Stock acquired by or contributed to the Plan after December 31, 1986 (or all Employer Stock if so provided in the Adoption Agreement)
into other Investment Funds pursuant to this Subsection and Code section 401(a)(28)(B)(ii)(II) during the Diversification Election Period.
The Participant must elect such option within 90 days after the end of each Plan Year during the Diversification Election Period, and the
value of such Employer Stock will be invested as directed by such Participant within 180 days after the end of such Plan Year.
(2)
The maximum number of shares of Employer Stock which a Qualified Participant may elect to reinvest as of
the end of each of the Plan Years during the Diversification Election Period shall be that number of such shares (rounded to the nearest
whole number) which is equal to the result determined by the formula (25% x (A + B)) - B, where A is the number of shares of Employer
Stock which are allocated to his Account as of the applicable date and B is the number of shares of Employer Stock, if any, previously
reinvested by the Participant pursuant to this Subsection, provided that for purposes of determining such maximum number of shares for the
last Plan Year in a Diversification Election Period, fifty percent (50%) shall be substituted for twenty-five percent (25%). No Participant
may elect to reinvest during any Diversification Election Period if the fair market value as of the end of the preceding Plan Year of
Employer Stock allocated to such Participant’s account is $500 or less, determined as of the Plan’s valuation date immediately preceding
the first day on which a Qualified Participant is eligible to make a diversification election.
(3)
In the event a Qualified Participant elects to diversify pursuant to the foregoing, the Plan Administrator may
elect instead to distribute to the Qualified Participant the amounts subject to such election. The distribution must occur within 90 days after
the last day of the annual Diversification Election Period. Distribution of diversified Employer Stock must comply with section 7.02(a).
(4)
In the event a Qualified Participant elects to diversify pursuant to the foregoing, the Plan Administrator may
elect instead to transfer an amount equal to the value of the diversified Employer Stock to another qualified defined contribution plan of the
Employer that offers at least three investment options (each of which must be diversified and have materially different risk and return
characteristics). This transfer must be made within 90 days after the last day of the annual Diversification Election Period and must comply
with applicable qualification requirements, including Code section 414(l), 411(d)(6) and 401(a)(11).
(c)
Investment Elections. To the extent provided in Subsections (a) and (b), each Qualified Participant shall direct in the
form and manner and at the time or times prescribed by the Plan Administrator the percentage of the applicable Accounts to be invested in
one or more of at least three alternative investment options available under the Plan. Each of these investment options must be diversified
and have materially different risk and return characteristics. The Plan must invest the value of the diversified Employer Stock in
accordance with the direction of the Qualified Participant within 90 days after the end of the annual Diversification Election Period. After
the death of the Participant, a Beneficiary shall be entitled to make investment elections as if the Beneficiary were the Participant.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Administrator may restrict investment transfers to the extent required to comply with applicable
law.
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(d)
Loans. If the Adoption Agreement does not permit Participant self-direction, any assets that are held in the form of a
Participant loan made pursuant to Article 8 shall be treated as a segregated investment unless otherwise provided by the Plan Administrator.
Section 9.03

INDIVIDUAL ACCOUNTS

To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, there shall be maintained on the books of the Plan with respect to each
Participant, as applicable, a Non-Elective Contribution Account, Rollover Contribution Account, Transfer Account and any other Account
established by the Plan Administrator. Each such Account shall separately reflect the Participant’s interest in the Trust Fund relating to
such Account. Each Participant shall receive, at least annually, a statement of his Account. A Participant’s interest in the Trust Fund shall
be determined and accounted for based on his beneficial interest in such fund.
Section 9.04

QUALIFYING EMPLOYER INVESTMENTS

Subject to Section 1.02, the Trustee may invest up to 100% (to extent that the Plan is not subject to Section 7.10) of the fair
market value of the assets of the Trust Fund in Qualifying Employer Securities or Qualifying Employer Real Property”. In accordance with
IRC 409(l), the term “employer security” means (i) common stock issued by the Employer, or by a corporation within the same controlled
group, which is readily tradeable on an established securities market (this requires that sales of the stock take place regularly and
consistently based on the facts and circumstances), (ii) if there is no readily tradeable common stock, closely held common stock of the
Employer which has a combination of voting power and dividend rights equal to or in excess of the class of common stock of the Employer
having the greatest dividend rights, and (iii) noncallable preferred stock if the stock is convertible into stock which meets the requirements
of (i) or (ii) above, and if the conversion price is reasonable as of the date the ESOP acquired the preferred stock.
Section 9.05

ALLOCATION OF EARNINGS AND LOSSES

(a)
Reinvestment. Except as provided in Section 9.09, the dividends, capital gains distributions, and other earnings
received on the Trust Fund shall be allocated to such fund and reinvested.
(b)
Valuation. Except as provided in Section 9.10, the assets of each Investment Fund shall be valued at their current fair
market value as of each Valuation Date, and Accounts of each Participant with interests in that Investment Fund shall be credited with such
Participant’s allocable share of the earnings and losses of each Investment Fund since the immediately preceding Valuation Date. Such
allocation shall be done on the basis of such Participant’s interest in the applicable Investment Fund. For purposes of the allocation of
investment earnings and losses, the Plan Administrator may adjust the value of interests of Investment Funds in Accounts as of the
preceding Valuation Date to account for any contributions, distributions or withdrawals that occur after such preceding Valuation Date.
(c)
Allocation to Individual Accounts. The Accounts of each Participant shall be adjusted as of each Valuation Date by
(i) reducing such Accounts by any distributions and withdrawals made therefrom since the preceding Valuation Date, (ii) increasing or
reducing such Accounts by the Participant’s share of earnings and losses and reasonable fees charged against such accounts at the direction
of the Plan Administrator, and (iii) crediting such Accounts with any contributions made thereto since the preceding Valuation Date.
(d)
Allocation of Expenses. The Plan Administrator may allocate all, none or any portion of the Plan’s expenses to
Participant Accounts. When allocating expenses among Participant Accounts, the Plan Administrator may allocate such expenses using
any reasonable method that does not violate Title I of ERISA and does not discriminate in favor of Highly Compensated Employees within
the meaning of applicable provisions of Code section 401(a)(4). Such methods may include, but not be limited to: (i) allocating expenses
only to current or former employees (or among any other classification(s) of employees), (ii) allocating expenses directly to individual
employees, (iii) allocating expenses using the per capita or pro rata method, and (iv) any combination of the foregoing.
(e)
Valuation for Distribution. Except as provided in Section 9.10, for the purposes of paying the amounts to be distributed
to a Participant or Beneficiary pursuant to Articles 7 and 8, the value of the Participant’s interest shall be determined in accordance with the
provisions of this Article as of the Valuation Date related to the date benefits are paid.
(f)
No Rights Created by Allocation. An allocation of contributions or earnings to the separate Account of a Participant
under this Article 9 shall not cause the Participant to have any right, title or interest in any assets of the Plan except at the time and under
the terms and conditions expressly provided for in the Plan.
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(g)
Dividends and Credits. Any dividends or credits earned on insurance contracts will be allocated to the Participant’s
Account for whose benefit the contract is held. No contract will be purchased under the Plan unless such contract or a separate definite
written agreement between the Company and the insurer provides that no value under contracts providing benefits under the Plan or credits
determined by the insurer (on account of dividends, earnings, or other experience rating credits, or surrender or cancellation credits) with
respect to such contracts may be paid or returned to the Company or diverted to or used for other than the exclusive benefit of the
Participants or their Beneficiaries. However, any contribution made by the Company may be returned to the Company pursuant to
Article 10.
Section 9.06

VOTING RIGHTS

(a)
Accounts other than ESOP Accounts. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant and a
Beneficiary of a deceased Participant shall have the right to direct the Trustee as to the exercise of voting rights with respect to investments
allocated to Accounts other than ESOP Accounts. An individual’s allocable share of investment in the applicable Accounts shall be
determined in the discretion of the Plan Administrator. As soon as practicable prior to the occasion for the exercise of such voting rights,
the person designed by the Plan Administrator (the “Designee”) shall deliver or cause to be delivered, to each Participant and Beneficiary
of a deceased Participant entitled to vote all notices, prospectuses, financial statements, proxies and proxy soliciting material relating to
such investment allocated to the Participant’s Account. Instructions by Participants and Beneficiaries to the Designee shall be in such form
and pursuant to such regulations as the Plan Administrator shall prescribe. Any such instructions shall remain in the strict confidence of the
Designee. Any investments for which no instructions are received by the Designee within such time specified by notice and, unless
otherwise required by applicable law, any shares which are not allocated to Participants’ Accounts shall be voted in the same proportion
that the shares for which instructions are received are voted. With respect to fractional shares for which instructions are received by the
Designee, the Designee shall aggregate all such fractional shares for which the same instructions are received into whole shares and shall
vote such whole shares as instructed. Any remaining fractional shares shall be voted in the same proportion that the shares for which
instructions are received are voted.
(b)
ESOP Accounts. Except as provided below, all Employer Stock held in the Trust and allocated to ESOP Accounts shall
generally be voted by the Trustee, as directed by the Plan Administrator.
(1)
In General. Each Participant or, if applicable, his Beneficiary shall be entitled to direct the Trustee as to the
exercise of any voting rights attributable to shares of Employer Stock then allocated to his ESOP Accounts.
(2)
Nonregistered Securities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Subsection (b)(2) shall apply if the Employer
Stock does not constitute registration-type securities within the meaning of Code section 409(e). A Participant or Beneficiary shall only be
entitled to direct the Trustee with respect to the approval or disapproval of any corporate merger or consolidation, recapitalization,
reclassification, liquidation, dissolution, sale of substantially all of the assets of a trade or business, or such other transactions which may be
prescribed by applicable Treasury regulations promulgated under Code section 409(e). Each participant shall be entitled to one vote with
respect to such issues.
(3)
Instructions. If Participants are entitled to so direct the Trustee as to the voting of Employer Stock pursuant
to Subsection (b)(1) or (b)(2), all such Employer Stock as to which such instructions have been received (which may include an instruction
to abstain) shall be voted in accordance with such instructions. However, the Trustee shall vote any unallocated Employer Stock in the
Trust Fund, or any allocated Employer Stock as to which no voting instructions have been received, in the same proportion as Employer
Stock as to which voting instructions have been received, unless otherwise directed by the Plan Administrator.
(4)
Exempt Loan Subject to Code Section 133. Each Participant or, if applicable, his Beneficiary shall be
entitled to direct the Trustee as to the exercise of any and all voting rights attributable to shares of Employer Stock then allocated to his
Account that were acquired with the proceeds of an Exempt Loan that is subject to the full pass through voting requirements of Code
section 133.
(5)
Tender Offer. In the event of a tender offer for any Common Stock, the Plan Administrator shall direct the
Trustee to accept or reject the offer with respect to the shares of Employer Stock held in the Trust Fund.
Section 9.07

LIQUIDITY

(a)
Trustee’s Put Option. If Trustee determined that the Trust does not have sufficient cash to provide for distributions of
benefits, payment of expenses or for other expenditures, the Trustee shall have an option to sell shares of Employer Stock to the Company
to the to the extent necessary to provide for such expenditures, provided the sale does not violate the terms of the Plan or applicable law.
The sales price shall be determined pursuant to Section 9.10.
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(b)
Loans. If permitted under applicable law, rulings or regulations, and not a prohibited transaction under Code section
4975(c) or sections 406 or 407 of ERISA (or a prohibited transaction exemption), the Plan Administrator, at the request of the Trustee, shall
cause the Company to advance to the Trustee the amounts needed for distributions of benefits, payment of expenses or for other
expenditures. Such amounts shall be reimbursed by the Trustee to the Company, with such interest as may be permitted under ERISA.
Section 9.08

RESTRICTIONS ON COMPANY STOCK

Except as required by Code section 409(h) and by Treas. Reg. section 54.4975-7(b)(9) and (10), or as otherwise required by
applicable law, no Employer Stock purchased with an Exempt Loan may be subject to a put, call or other option, or buy-sell or similar
arrangement while held by, and when distributed from, the Plan, whether or not the Plan is an employee stock ownership plan within the
meaning of Code section 4975(e)(7) at that time. The Plan shall not obligate itself to acquire securities from a particular security holder at
an indefinite time determined upon the happening of an event such as the death of the holder.
Section 9.09
(a)

TREATMENT OF DIVIDENDS
Cash Dividends.

(1)
Dividends on Unallocated Employer Stock. Any cash dividends received which are attributable to shares of
Employer Stock (i) acquired with the proceeds of an Exempt Loan and (ii) held in the Suspense Account or the Released and Unallocated
Account shall be either: (x) held invested until the next Exempt Loan repayment, at which time such dividends, and interest thereon, shall
be applied to repay the principal and, at the Plan Administrator’s discretion the interest, of the Exempt Loan; or (y) allocated to
Participants’ Accounts under Article 4 for such Plan Year.
(2)
Dividends on Allocated Employer Stock. As determined in the sole discretion of the Plan Administrator, any
cash dividends paid with respect to shares of Employer Stock allocated to a Participant’s Account may be: (i) used to repay the principal
balance of an outstanding Exempt Loan or interest thereon in whole or in part pursuant to Subsection (a)(2)(A) below; (ii) allocated to
Participants’ Accounts; or (iii) distributed currently (or within 90 days after the close of the Plan Year in which such dividends are paid to
the Trustee) in cash to such Participants (or their Beneficiaries) on a nondiscriminatory basis pursuant to Subsection (a)(2)(B) below.
(A)
Repay Exempt Loan. In the event the Plan Administrator elects to repay the Exempt Loan,
Employer Stock with a fair market value of not less than the amount of such dividend shall be allocated to each Participant to whom such
dividend would have been allocated.
(B)
Distribute to Participants. The Plan Administrator may distribute cash dividends paid with respect
to shares of Employer Stock allocated to Participants’ Accounts. The Plan Administrator may also allow Plan Participants to further elect to
have such dividends paid to the Plan, or be distributed currently in cash to such Participants (or their Beneficiaries) under such election
procedures as may be established by the Plan Administrator; provided that the dividends are paid within 90 days after the close of the Plan
Year in which such dividends are paid. Such distributions may be made directly by the Corporation or by the Trustee after receipt of the
dividends.
(b)
Stock Dividends. Stock dividends paid (and stock received by the Trustee as a result of a stock split, stock conversion,
reorganization or recapitalization of the Company) shall be credited to the account under which such dividends arise.
Section 9.10

USE OF APPRAISER

If the Employer Stock is not readily tradable on an established securities market (within the meaning of IRS Notice 2011-19 for
Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2012 or such later date provided in such Notice), all valuations of Employer Stock acquired by
or contributed to the Plan after December 31, 1986 with respect to activities carried on by the Plan shall be performed by an independent
appraiser. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the term “independent appraiser” means any appraiser meeting the requirements of Code
section 170(a). Valuations of Employer Stock must be made in good faith and based on all relevant factors for determining the fair market
value of securities. In the case of a transaction between the Plan and a S-Corporation Disqualified Person, value must be determined as of
the date of the applicable transaction. For all other purposes under the Plan, value must be determined as of the most recent Valuation Date
under the Plan. Earnings on shares allocated to Participant’s accounts will be allocated to those accounts at least annually.
Section 9.11

LIFE INSURANCE
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(a)
Purchase of Life Insurance. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may request that his
Accounts that are not ESOP Accounts be invested in insurance on his life, and if the Plan Administrator, in its discretion, approves such
request, it shall direct the Trustee to apply for and be the owner of any insurance contract purchased under the terms of this Section. The
insurance contract(s) must provide that proceeds will be payable to the Trustee; however, the Trustee shall be required to pay over all
proceeds of the contract(s) to the Participant’s Beneficiary in accordance with the distribution provisions of this Plan. The form and type of
contract purchased shall be determined by the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator may also establish rules that prohibit the
purchase of life insurance where the annual premium is estimated to be less than a certain minimum amount. If the Plan Administrator
directs the Trustee to borrow against such contracts, such borrowings shall be on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis. Any discretion
shall be exercised in a non-discriminatory manner.
(b)
Maximum Insurance Amounts. The total premiums paid for a Participant’s ordinary life insurance shall be less than
50% of the aggregate Company contributions allocated to such Participant’s Account. If term insurance or universal life insurance is
purchased, the aggregate premiums shall not exceed 25% of aggregate Company contributions allocated to the insured Participant’s
Account. If both ordinary life insurance and either term insurance or universal life insurance is purchased for a Participant, the aggregate
premiums for such term insurance and/or universal life insurance plus one-half of the total premiums for such ordinary life insurance shall
not in the aggregate exceed 25% of the aggregate Company contributions allocated to the insured Participant’s Account. However, the
foregoing restrictions shall not apply to funds that may be withdrawn or distributed from the Plan in accordance with applicable law even if
such withdrawals/distributions are not permitted under the terms of the Plan.
(c)
Beneficiary. The Trust Fund shall be designated as the Beneficiary to receive death benefits payable pursuant to the
provisions of any life insurance policy purchased pursuant to this Section. Any death proceeds received by the Trust Fund shall be added to
the deceased Participant’s Account and distributed pursuant to Article 7 hereof. Under no circumstances shall the Trust Fund retain any
part of the proceeds. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and the terms of any insurance contract purchased
hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control.
(d)
Conversion of Policies. If an insured Participant does not die prior to retirement, the Trustee may: (i) convert the entire
value of any such life insurance contract at or before retirement into cash to provide the retirement benefits set forth in Article 7 so that no
portion of such value may be used to continue life insurance protection beyond retirement; or (ii) distribute any such contract to the
Participant. Nothing provided herein shall be construed to prohibit the purchase, sale, transfer or exchange of any individual life insurance
contract which would otherwise be permitted under applicable prohibited transaction class exemptions or Department of Labor Regulations.
(e)
Distributions. Any distribution of an insurance policy or the proceeds of an insurance policy purchased pursuant to this
Section shall be subject to the requirements of Article 7.
Section 9.12

NONTERMINABLE PROTECTIONS AND RIGHTS

If the Plan provides for an exempt loan and that loan is repaid or if the Plan ceases to be an ESOP plan, any existing put, call or
other option, or buy-sell or similar arrangement existing at the time of the change are nonterminable with respect to distributions of
securities that were acquired with the exempt loan, as required under Treas.
Section 9.13

QUALIFYING LONGEVITY ANNUITY CONTRACT (QLAC)

(a)
Purchase of QLAC. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant may request that a portion of his
Account be invested in a QLAC. The QLAC must meet all requirements as stated under Treasury Regulation 1.401(a)(9)-6.
(b)
Maximum QLAC Amount. The total amount of all QLACs purchased for a Participant under this Plan or any other
plan cannot exceed the limits as specified in Treasury Regulation 1.401(a)(9)-6, A-17(b). The Plan Administrator may rely on information
provided by the Participant with regard to QLACs purchased for the Participant under any other plan.
(c)
Excess Premiums. If a QLAC fails to meet the maximum QLAC amount under Treasury Regulation 1.401(a)(9)-6,
A-17(b), the amount will no longer be considered a QLAC and will be included in the Participant’s Account Balance for purposes of
distributions under Plan Section 7.05 as of the date the excess premium payment is made unless the amount is returned to a non-QLAC
portion of the Participant’s Account by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the excess premium payment was
made.
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Section 10.01

TRUST FUND

(a)
Continuation of Trust Fund. A Trust is hereby established or continued under the Plan and the Trustee will maintain a
trust account for the Plan and, as part thereof, Participants’ Accounts for such individuals as the Company shall from time to time give
written notice to the Trustee are Participants in the Plan. The Trustee will accept and hold in the Trust Fund such contributions on behalf of
Participants as it may receive from time to time from the Company, including amounts transferred by any prior trustee of the Plan, and such
earnings, income and appreciation as may accrue thereon; less losses, depreciation and payments made by the Trustee to carry out the
purposes of the Plan. The Trust Fund shall be fully invested and reinvested in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Plan.
(b)
Exclusive Benefit. All contributions made to the Plan are made for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their
Beneficiaries, and such contributions shall not be used for, nor diverted to, purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of the Participants
and their Beneficiaries (including the costs of maintaining and administering the Plan and corresponding Trust).
(c)
Return of Contributions. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan: (1) as contributions made prior to the receipt
of an initial determination letter are conditional upon a favorable determination as to the qualified status of the Plan under Code section
401(a), if the Plan receives an adverse determination with respect to its initial qualification, then any such contribution may be returned to
the Company within one year after such determination, provided the application for determination is made by the time prescribed by law;
(2) contributions made by the Company based upon mistake of fact may be returned to the Company within one year of such contribution;
(3) as all contributions to the Plan are conditioned upon their deductibility under the Code, if a deduction for such a contribution is
disallowed, such contribution may be returned to the Company within one year of the disallowance of such deduction; and (4) after all
liabilities under the Plan have been satisfied, the remaining assets of the Trust shall be distributed to the Company if such distribution does
not contravene any provision of applicable law.
In the case of the return of a contribution due to mistake of fact or the disallowance of a deduction, the amount that may
be returned is the excess of the amount contributed over the amount that would have been contributed had there not been a mistake or
disallowance. Earnings attributable to the excess contributions may not be returned to the Company but losses attributable thereto must
reduce the amount to be so returned. Any return of contribution or distribution of assets made by the Trustee pursuant to this Section shall
be made only upon the direction of the Company, which shall have exclusive responsibility for determining whether the conditions of such
return or distribution have been satisfied and for the amount to be returned.
(d)
Assets Not Held by Trustee. The Trustee shall not be responsible for any assets of the Plan that are held outside of the
Trust Fund. The Trustee is expressly hereby relieved of any responsibility or liability for any losses resulting to the Plan arising from any
acts or omissions on the part of any insurance company holding assets outside of the Trust Fund. The Trustee may require the Company to
serve as custodian for all promissory notes and related documents issued in connection with the Plan’s Participant loan program and require
the Company to be responsible for the safekeeping of same.
(e)
Group Trust. In the event that the Trust is a part of any group trust (within the meaning of Internal Revenue Service
Revenue Rulings 81-100 and 2011-1): (1) participation in the Trust is limited to (i) individual retirement accounts which are exempt under
Code section 408(e), (ii) pension and profit-sharing trusts which are exempt under Code section 501(a) by qualifying under Code section
401(a) and (iii) accounts under Code sections 403(b)(7), 403(b)(9) and governmental retiree benefit plans under Code section 401(a)(24) to
the extent the requirements of Revenue Ruling 2011-1 are met; (2) no part of the corpus or income which equitably belongs to any
individual retirement account or Employer’s trust may be used for or diverted to any purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of the
individual or the Employees, respectively, or their Beneficiaries who are entitled to benefits under such participating individual retirement
account or Employer’s trust; (3) no part of the equity or interest in the Trust Fund shall be subject to assignment by a participating
individual retirement account or Employer’s trust; and (4) the Trustee shall maintain separate accounts for each participating trust or
individual retirement account.
Section 10.02

DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE

(a)
In General. The Trustee is not a party to, and has no duties or responsibilities under the Plan, other than those that may
be expressly contained in this Article. The Trustee shall have no duties, responsibilities or liability with respect to the acts or omissions of
any prior trustee. The Trustee shall discharge its assigned duties and responsibilities under this Article and the Plan with the care, skill,
prudence, and
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diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in
the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims.
(b)
Contributions. The Trustee agrees to accept contributions that are paid to it by the Company (as well as Rollover
Contributions and direct transfers from other eligible retirement plans) in accordance with the terms of this Article. Such contributions
shall be in cash or in such other form that may be acceptable to the Trustee. In-kind contributions of other than qualifying employer
securities are permitted provided that the contribution is discretionary and unencumbered. Qualifying employer securities may be
contributed subject to the requirements of ERISA section 408(e). The Trustee shall have no responsibility for any property until it is
received by the Trustee. The special trustee specified in the Adoption Agreement has the duty to determine and collect contributions under
the Plan. The Company shall have the sole duty and responsibility for the determination of the accuracy or sufficiency of the contributions
to be made under the Plan, the transmittal of the same to the Trustee and compliance with any statute, regulation or rule applicable to
contributions.
(c)
Distributions. The Trustee shall make distributions out of the Trust Fund pursuant to instructions described in
Section 10.05. The Trustee shall not have any responsibility or duty under this Article for determining that such are in accordance with the
terms of the Plan and applicable law, including without limitation, the amount, timing or method of payment and the identity of each person
to whom such payments shall be made. The Trustee shall have no responsibility or duty to determine the tax effect of any payment or to
see to the application of any payment. In making payments, the Company acknowledges that the Trustee is acting as a paying agent and
not as the payor, for tax information reporting and withholding purposes. In the event that any dispute shall arise as to the persons to whom
payment or delivery of any assets shall be made by the Trustee, the Trustee may withhold such payment or delivery until such dispute shall
have been settled by the parties concerned or shall have been determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.
(d)
Records. The Trustee shall keep full and accurate accounts of all receipts, investments, disbursements and other
transactions hereunder, including such specific records as may be agreed upon in writing between the Company and the Trustee. All such
accounts, books and records shall be open to inspection and audit at all reasonable times by any authorized representative of the Company
or the Plan Administrator. A Participant may examine only those individual account records pertaining directly to him.
(e)
Accounting. The Trustee shall file with the Plan Administrator a written account of the administration of the Trust
Fund showing all transactions effected by the Trustee subsequent to the period covered by the last preceding account and all property held
at the end of the accounting period. The Trustee shall use its best effort to file such written account within ninety (90) days, but not later
than one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each Plan Year. Upon approval of such accounting by the Plan Administrator, neither
the Company nor the Plan Administrator shall be entitled to any further accounting by the Trustee. The Plan Administrator may approve
such accounting by written notice of approval delivered to the Trustee or by failure to express objection to such accounting in writing
delivered to the Trustee within six (6) months from the date on which the accounting is delivered to the Plan Administrator.
(f)
Participant Eligibility. The Trustee shall not be required to determine the facts concerning the eligibility of any
Participant to participate in the Plan, the amount of benefits payable to any Participant or Beneficiary under the Plan, or the date or method
of payment or disbursement. The Trustee shall be fully entitled to rely in good faith solely upon the written advice and directions of the
Plan Administrator as to any such question of fact.
(g)
Indicia of Ownership. The Trustee shall not hold the indicia of ownership of any assets of the Trust Fund outside of the
jurisdiction of the District Courts of the United States, unless in compliance with section 404(b) of ERISA and regulations thereunder.
(h)
Notice. The Trustee shall provide the Company with advance notice of any legal actions the Trustee may take with
respect to the Plan and Trust and shall promptly notify the Company of any claim against the Plan and Trust.
(i)
Other Fiduciaries. The Trustee shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any other persons except as may be
required by ERISA section 405.
Section 10.03

GENERAL INVESTMENT POWERS

In addition to all powers and authority under common law, statutory authority and other provisions of this Article, the Trustee
shall have the following powers and authorities to be exercised in accordance with and subject to the provisions of Section 10.04 hereof:
(a)
Invest and reinvest the Trust Fund in any property, real, personal or mixed, wherever situated, and whether situated,
and whether or not productive of income or consisting of wasting assets, including, without limitation, common and preferred stock, bonds,
notes, debentures,
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options, mutual funds, leaseholds, mortgages (including without limitation, any collective or part interest in any bond and mortgage or note
and mortgage), certificates of deposit, and oil, mineral or gas properties, royalties, interests or rights (including equipment pertaining
thereto), without being limited to the classes of property in which trustees are authorized by law or any rule of court to invest trust funds
and without regard to the proportion any such property may bear to the entire amount of the Trust Fund;
(b)
Hold property in nominee name, in bearer form, or in book entry form, in a clearinghouse corporation or in a
depository, provided that such property is held in conformance with DOL Reg. section 2550-403a-1(b) and that such property is held by
(i) a bank or trust company that is subject to supervision by the United States or a state, or a nominee of such bank or trust company, (ii) a
broker or dealer registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or a nominee of such broker or dealer; (iii) a “clearing agency,” as
defined in section 3(a)(23) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or its nominee; or (iv) any other entity as provided in DOL Reg. section
2550-403a-1(b);
(c)
Collect income payable to and distributions due to the Trust Fund and sign on behalf of the Trust any declarations,
affidavits, certificates of ownership and other documents required to collect income and principal payments, including but not limited to,
tax reclamations, rebates and other withheld amounts;
(d)
To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, grant options to purchase, or otherwise dispose of any securities or other property
held by the Trustee. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application of the purchase money or to inquire into
the validity, expediency, or propriety of any such sale or other disposition;
(e)
Pursuant to the terms of Section 10.06, to vote upon any stocks, bonds, or other securities; to give general or special
proxies or powers of attorney with or without power of substitution; to exercise any conversion privileges, subscription rights or other
options, and to make any payments incidental thereto; to oppose, or to consent to, or otherwise participate in, corporate reorganizations or
other changes affecting corporate securities, and to delegate discretionary powers, and to pay any assessments or charges in connection
therewith; and generally to exercise any of the powers of an owner with respect to stocks, bonds, securities, or other property;
(f)
Take all action necessary to pay for authorized transactions or make authorized distributions, including exercising the
power to borrow or raise monies from any lender, upon such terms and conditions as are necessary to settle such transactions or
distributions;
(g)
To keep such portion of the Trust Fund uninvested in cash or cash balances as the Trustee may, from time to time,
deem to be in the best interests of the Plan, without liability for interest thereon;
(h)
To accept and retain for such time as the Trustee may deem advisable any securities or other property received or
acquired as Trustee hereunder, whether or not such securities or other property would normally be purchased as investments hereunder;
(i)
To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all documents of transfer and conveyance and any and all other
instruments that may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein granted;
(j)
To settle, compromise, or submit to arbitration any claims, debts, or damages due or owing to or from the Trust Fund,
to commence or defend suits or legal or administrative proceedings, and to represent the Plan and/or Trust Fund in all suits and legal and
administrative proceedings (arbitration shall not be permitted to the extent the claim involves a Participant);
(k)

To invest in Treasury Bills and other forms of United States government obligations;

(l)

To deposit cash in accounts in the banking department of the Trustee or an affiliated banking organization;

(m)
associations;

To deposit monies in federally insured savings accounts or certificates of deposit in banks or savings and loan

(n)
To invest and reinvest all or any portion of the Trust Fund collectively with funds of other retirement plan trusts exempt
from tax under Code section 501(a), including, without limitation, the power to invest collectively with such other funds through the
medium of one or more common, collective or commingled trust funds which have been or may hereafter be operated by the Trustee, the
instrument or instruments establishing such trust fund or funds, as amended from time to time, being made part of this Trust so long as any
portion of the Trust Fund shall be invested through the medium thereof;
(o)
To sell, either at public or private sale, option to sell, mortgage, lease for a term of years less than or continuing beyond
the possible date of the termination of the Trust created hereunder, partition or exchange any real property which may from time to time
constitute a
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portion of the Trust Fund, for such prices and upon such terms as it may deem best, and to make, execute and deliver to the purchasers
thereof good and sufficient deeds of conveyance therefor and all assignments, transfers and other legal instruments, either necessary or
convenient for the passing of the title and ownership thereof to the purchaser, free and discharged of all trusts and without liability on the
part of such purchasers to see to the proper application of the purchase price;
(p)
To repair, alter, improve or demolish any buildings which may be on any real estate forming part of the Trust Fund or
to erect entirely new structures thereon;
(q)
To renew, extend or participate in the renewal or extension of any mortgage, upon such terms as may be deemed
advisable, and to agree to a reduction in the rate of interest on any mortgage or to any other modification or change in the terms of any
mortgage or of any guarantee pertaining thereto, in any manner and to any extent that may be deemed advisable for the protection of the
Trust Fund or the preservation of the value of the investment; to waive any default, whether in the performance of any covenant or
condition of any mortgage or in the performance of any guarantee, or to enforce any such default in such manner and to such extent as may
be deemed advisable; to exercise and enforce any and all rights of foreclosure, to bid on property in foreclosure, to take a deed in lieu of
foreclosure with or without paying a consideration therefor, and in connection therewith to release the obligation on the bond or note
secured by the mortgage; and to exercise and enforce in any action, suit or proceeding at law or in equity any rights or remedies in respect
to any mortgage or guarantee;
(r)

To purchase any authorized investment at a premium or at a discount;

(s)

To purchase any annuity contract; and

(t)
To do all such acts and exercise all such rights and privileges, although not specifically mentioned herein, as the
Trustee may deem necessary to carry out the purposes of the Plan.
Section 10.04

OTHER INVESTMENT POWERS

(a)
Requirement for Preapproval. The powers granted the Trustee under Section 10.03 shall be exercised by the Trustee
upon the written direction from the Investment Fiduciary pursuant to Sections 10.05 and 10.06. Any written direction of the Investment
Fiduciary may be of a continuing nature, but may be revoked in writing by the Investment Fiduciary at any time. The Trustee shall comply
with any direction as promptly as possible, provided it does not contravene the terms of the Plan or the provision of any applicable law.
The Investment Fiduciary, by written direction, may require the Trustee to obtain written approval of the Investment Fiduciary before
exercising such of its powers as may be specified in such direction. Any such direction may be of a continuing nature or otherwise and
may be revoked in writing by the Investment Fiduciary at any time. The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss that may result from
the failure or refusal of the Investment Fiduciary to give any such required direction or approval.
(b)
and ERISA.

Prohibited Transactions. The Trustee shall not engage in any prohibited transaction within the meaning of the Code

(c)
Legal Actions. The Trustee is authorized to execute all necessary receipts and releases and shall be under the duty to
make efforts to collect such sums as may appear to be due (except contributions hereunder); provided, however, that the Trustee shall not
be required to institute suit or maintain any litigation to collect the proceeds of any asset unless it has been indemnified to its satisfaction
for counsel fees, costs, disbursements and all other expenses and liabilities to which it may in its judgment be subjected by such action.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, the Trustee is authorized to compromise and adjust claims arising out of any
asset held in the Trust Fund upon such terms and conditions as the Trustee may deem just, and the action so taken by the Trustee shall be
binding and conclusive upon all persons interested in the Trust Fund.
(d)
Retention of Advisors. The Trustee, with the consent of the Investment Fiduciary, may retain the services of
investment advisors to invest and reinvest the assets of the Trust Fund, as well as employ such legal, actuarial, medical, accounting, clerical
and other assistance as may be required in carrying out the provisions of the Plan. The Trustee may also appoint custodians, subcustodians
or subtrustees as to part or all of the Trust Fund.
Section 10.05

INSTRUCTIONS

(a)
Reliance on Instructions. Whenever the Trustee is permitted or required to act upon the directions or instructions of the
Investment Fiduciary, Plan Administrator or Company, the Trustee shall be entitled to act in good faith upon any written communication
signed by any person or agent designated to act as or on behalf of the Investment Fiduciary, Plan Administrator or Company. Such person
or agent shall be so
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designated either under the provisions of the Plan or in writing by the Company and their authority shall continue until revoked in writing.
The Trustee shall incur no liability for failure to act in good faith on such person’s or agent’s instructions or orders without written
communication, and the Trustee shall be fully protected in all actions taken in good faith in reliance upon any instructions, directions,
certifications and communications believed to be genuine and to have been signed or communicated by the proper person.
(b)

Designation of Agent.

(1)
Plan Sponsor. The Plan Sponsor shall notify the Trustee in writing as to the appointment, removal or
resignation of any person designated to act as or on behalf of the Investment Fiduciary, Plan Administrator or Plan Sponsor. After such
notification, the Trustee shall be fully protected in acting in good faith upon the directions of, or dealing with, any person designated to act
as or on behalf of the Investment Fiduciary, Plan Administrator or Plan Sponsor until it receives notice to the contrary. The Trustee shall
have no duty to inquire into the qualifications of any person designated to act as or on behalf of the Investment Fiduciary, Plan
Administrator or Plan Sponsor.
(2)
Trustee. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, if there is more than one Trustee, the Trustees
may designate one or more of the Trustees to act on behalf of the Trustees. Such designated Trustee shall be authorized to take any and all
actions and execute and deliver such documents as may be necessary or appropriate.
(c)
Procedures. The Trustee may adopt such rules and procedures as it deems necessary, desirable, or appropriate
including, but not limited to: (1) taking action with or without formal meetings; and (2) in the event that there is more than one Trustee, a
procedure specifying whether action may be taken by a less than unanimous vote.
(d)
Payment of Benefits. The Trustee shall pay benefits and expenses from the Trust Fund only upon the written direction
of the Plan Administrator. The Trustee shall be fully entitled to rely in good faith on such directions furnished by the Plan Administrator,
and shall be under no duty to ascertain whether the directions are in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.
Section 10.06

INVESTMENT OF THE FUND

(a)
Investment Funds. The Investment Fiduciary shall have the exclusive authority and discretion to select the Investment
Funds available for investment under the Plan. In making such selection, the Investment Fiduciary shall use the care, skill, prudence and
diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in
the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims. Subject to the first sentence of Subsection (b) below, the available
investments under the Plan shall be sufficiently diversified so as to minimize the risk of large losses, unless under the circumstances it is
clearly prudent not to do so. The Investment Fiduciary shall notify the Trustee in writing of the selection of the Investment Funds currently
available for investment under the Plan, and any changes thereto.
(b)
Participant Self-Direction. To the extent permitted by the Plan Administrator and the Adoption Agreement pursuant to
Section 9.02, each Participant shall have the right, in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, to direct the investment by the Trustee of
all amounts allocated to the separate Accounts of the Participant under the Plan among any one or more of the available Investment Funds;
provided, however, that during any transition period as may be determined by the Investment Fiduciary, the Investment Fiduciary may
direct the investment by the Trustee into the Investment Funds available during such period with respect to which individual Participants’
directions shall not have been made or shall not have been permitted to be made under the Plan. All investment directions by Participants
shall be timely furnished to the Trustee by the Plan Administrator, except to the extent such directions are transmitted telephonically or
otherwise by Participants directly to the Trustee or its delegate in accordance with rules and procedures established and approved by the
Plan Administrator and communicated to the Trustee. In making any investment of the assets of the Fund, the Trustee shall be fully entitled
to rely on such directions furnished to it by the Plan Administrator or by Participants in accordance with the Plan Administrator’s approved
rules and procedures, and shall be under no duty to make any inquiry or investigation with respect thereto. If the Trustee receives any
contribution under the Plan that is not accompanied by instructions directing its investment, the Trustee shall notify the Plan Administrator
of that fact, and the Trustee may, in its discretion, hold all or a portion of the contribution uninvested without liability for loss of income or
appreciation pending receipt of proper investment directions.
(c)

Investment Managers.

(1)
Appointment of Investment Managers. The Investment Fiduciary may appoint one or more Investment
Managers with respect to some or all of the assets of the Trust Fund as contemplated by section 402(c)(3) of ERISA. Any such Investment
Manager shall acknowledge to the Investment Fiduciary in writing that it accepts such appointment and that it is an ERISA fiduciary with
respect to the Plan and the Trust Fund. The Investment Fiduciary shall provide the Trustee with a copy of the written agreement (and any
amendments thereto) between the
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Investment Fiduciary and the Investment Manager. By notifying the Trustee of the appointment of an Investment Manager, the Investment
Fiduciary shall be deemed to certify that such Investment Manager meets the requirements of section 3(38) of ERISA. The authority of the
Investment Manager shall continue until the Investment Fiduciary rescinds the appointment or the Investment Manager has resigned.
(2)
Separation of Duties. The assets with respect to which a particular Investment Manager has been appointed
shall be specified by the Investment Fiduciary and shall be segregated in a separate account for the Investment Manager (the “Separate
Account”) and the Investment Manager shall have the power to direct the Trustee in every aspect of the investment of the assets of the
Separate Account. The Trustee shall not be liable for the acts or omissions of an Investment Manager and shall have no liability or
responsibility for acting pursuant to the direction of, or failing to act in the absence of, any direction from an Investment Manager, unless
the Trustee knows that by such action or failure to act it would be itself committing a breach of fiduciary duty or participating in a breach of
fiduciary duty by such Investment Manager, it being the intention of the parties that each party shall have the full protection of section
405(d) of ERISA.
(d)

Proxies.

(1)
Delivery of Information. The Trustee shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Company or Plan
Administrator all notices, prospectuses, financial statements, proxies and proxy soliciting materials received by the Trustee relating to
securities held by the Trust or, if applicable, deliver these materials to the appropriate Participant or the Beneficiary of a deceased
Participant.
(2)
Voting. The Trustee shall not vote any securities held by the Trust except in accordance with the written
instructions of the Company, the Investment Fiduciary, or to the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, the Participant or the
Beneficiary of the Participant, if the Participant is deceased. However, the Trustee may, in the absence of instructions, vote “present” for
the sole purpose of allowing such shares to be counted for establishment of a quorum at a shareholders’ meeting. The Trustee shall have no
duty to solicit instructions from Participants, Beneficiaries, the Investment Fiduciary or the Company.
(3)
Investment Manager. To the extent not delegated to Participants pursuant to Subsection (b), the Investment
Manager shall be responsible for making any proxy voting or tender offer decisions with respect to securities held in the Separate Account
and the Investment Manager shall maintain a record of the reasons for the manner in which it voted proxies or responded to tender offers.
(e)
Section 10.07

Life Insurance. Any life insurance investment allowed under Article 9 shall be a permitted Investment Fund.
COMPENSATION AND INDEMNIFICATION

(a)
Compensation. The Trustee shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for its services as is mutually agreed upon
with the Plan Sponsor; provided that such compensation does not result in a prohibited transaction within the meaning of the Code and
ERISA. If the Trustee and the Company mutually agree that the Trustee may retain as additional compensation for its services any earnings
resulting from the anticipated short-term investment of funds (“float”) on Plan assets deposited in or transferred to a Trustee general or
omnibus account, then the Trustee shall be authorized to retain such float; provided, that such agreement: (i) discloses the specific
circumstances under which float will be earned and retained, (ii) in the case of float on distributions, discloses when the float period
commences and ends, and (iii) discloses the rate of the float or the specific manner in which such rate will be determined. If approved by
the Plan Administrator, the Trustee shall also be entitled to reimbursement for all direct expenses properly and actually incurred on behalf
of the Plan. Such compensation or reimbursement shall be paid to the Trustee out of the Trust Fund unless paid directly by the Company.
(b)
Indemnification. Unless otherwise provided in an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, each Company shall
indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee (and its delegates) from all claims, liabilities, losses, damages and expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred by the Trustee in connection with its duties hereunder to the extent not covered by insurance, except
when the same is due to the Trustee’s own gross negligence, willful misconduct, lack of good faith, or breach of its fiduciary duties under
the Plan or ERISA.
Section 10.08

RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL

(a)
Resignation. The Trustee may resign at any time by written notice to the Plan Sponsor which shall be effective 60 days
after delivery unless prior thereto a successor Trustee assumes the responsibilities of Trustee hereunder.
(b)

Removal. The Trustee may be removed by the Plan Sponsor at any time.

CCH INCORPORATED, DBA FTWILLIAM.COM

56

Copyright © 2002-2016

ARTICLE 10 TRUST FUND
(c)
Successor Trustee. The appointment of a successor Trustee hereunder shall be accomplished by and shall take effect
upon the delivery to the resigning or removed Trustee, as the case may be, of written notice of the Plan Sponsor appointing such successor
Trustee, and an acceptance in writing of the office of successor Trustee hereunder executed by the successor so appointed. Any successor
Trustee may be either a corporation authorized and empowered to exercise trust powers or one or more individuals. All of the provisions
set forth herein with respect to the Trustee shall relate to each successor Trustee so appointed with the same force and effect as if such
successor Trustee had been originally named herein as the Trustee hereunder. If within 45 days after notice of resignation shall have been
given under the provisions of this Article a successor Trustee shall not have been appointed, the resigning Trustee or the Plan Sponsor may
apply to any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee.
(d)
Transfer of Trust Fund. Upon the appointment of a successor Trustee, the resigning or removed Trustee shall transfer
and deliver the Trust Fund to such successor Trustee, after reserving such reasonable amount as it shall deem necessary to provide for its
expenses in the settlement of its account, the amount of any compensation due to it and any sums chargeable against the Trust Fund for
which it may be liable. If the sums so reserved are not sufficient for such purposes, the resigning or removed Trustee shall be entitled to
reimbursement for any deficiency from the Plan Sponsor.
Section 10.09

OTHER TRUST AGREEMENT

(a)
General. This Section 10.09 shall apply only to the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement. If this Section applies,
the terms of a separate trust agreement shall apply and Sections 9.06, 10.01 through 10.08 and Article 12 shall apply only to the extent that
they are not superseded by the terms of the separate trust agreement. Other Sections of the Plan shall be construed in a manner compatible
with the separate trust agreement.
(b)
Trustee. The Trustee shall be the person(s) or entity listed in the separate trust agreement. The Trustee shall be
obligated under the terms and conditions of the separate trust agreement as executed by the Trustee and the Plan Administrator or Sponsor.
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ARTICLE 11 SPECIAL TOP-HEAVY RULES
Section 11.01

TOP-HEAVY STATUS

The special provisions set forth in this Article 11 shall apply during any Plan Year in which this Plan, together with any other
retirement plans required to be aggregated under Code section 416(g) and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, is
“Top-Heavy.” This Plan is Top-Heavy for any Plan Year beginning after 1983:
(a)
If the Top-Heavy Ratio for this Plan exceeds 60% and this Plan is not part of any Required Aggregation Group or
Permissive Aggregation Group of plans;
(b)
If this Plan is a part of a Required Aggregation Group of plans but not part of a Permissive Aggregation Group and the
Top-Heavy Ratio for the Required Aggregation Group of plans exceeds 60%; or
(c)
If this Plan is a part of a Required Aggregation Group and part of a Permissive Aggregation Group of plans and the
Top-Heavy Ratio for the Permissive Aggregation Group exceeds 60%.
Section 11.02

MINIMUM ALLOCATIONS

(a)
In General. In General. Notwithstanding other provisions of this Plan, for any Plan Year during which this Plan is
Top-Heavy and the Top-Heavy minimum allocation is not met solely or partially in another plan, the following shall apply:
(1)
Unless otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement and subject to (a)(4) and (a)(5) below, a Participant
specified in Subsection (a)(2) below shall receive the minimum allocation or benefit requirement applicable to Top-Heavy plans specified
in (a)(3) below.
(2)
Participants Receiving Minimum Allocation/Benefit. If the Participant is not eligible to participate in a
defined benefit plan in a group specified in Section 11.01 other than a frozen plan in which no additional accruals are being made, he or she
shall receive the minimum allocation or benefit in this Plan or any other defined contribution plan that is sponsored by the Employer
provided, he or she is (i) an Eligible Employee as described in the Adoption Agreement; and (ii) employed by the Employer on the last day
of the Plan Year. If the Participant is eligible to participate in a defined benefit plan in a group specified in Section 11.01, and the
Top-Heavy minimum is to be made in this Plan for such Participant, he or she shall receive the minimum allocation or benefit in this Plan
or any other defined contribution plan that is sponsored by the Employer provided, he or she is (i) an Eligible Employee as described in the
applicable plan document; and (ii) has completed 1,000 Hours of Service (in accordance with such defined benefit plan) during such Plan
Year. In the event a Participant is entitled to a Top-Heavy minimum benefit accrual under a defined benefit plan and is not otherwise
eligible for a Top-Heavy minimum allocation under this Plan because of severance of employment prior to the last day of the Plan Year,
such requirement shall be waived in this Plan solely to the extent the Top-Heavy minimum is required to be given in this Plan.
(3)
Amount of Minimum Allocation/Benefit. If the Participant is not eligible to participate in a defined benefit
plan in a group specified in Section 11.01, the Top-Heavy minimum allocation (“defined contribution minimum”) shall not be less than the
lesser of 3% of such Participant’s Statutory Compensation or the largest percentage of Company contributions (including Elective
Deferrals) and forfeitures, as a percentage of Key Employee’s Statutory Compensation, as limited by Code section 401(a)(17), allocated on
behalf of any Key Employee for that Plan Year. If: (i) the Participant is eligible to participate in a defined benefit plan in a group specified
in Section 11.01, (ii) satisfies the requirement in the defined benefit plan to receive the Top-Heavy minimum under the terms of that plan,
and (iii) the Top-Heavy minimum is to be given in this Plan, the Top-Heavy minimum benefit (“defined benefit minimum”) shall be
determined under one of the following methods:
(A)
Defined Benefit Minimum. A defined benefit minimum, which is an accrued benefit at any point in
time equal to at least the product of (i) a Participant’s average annual compensation for the period of consecutive years (not exceeding five)
when the Participant had the highest aggregate compensation from the Employer and (ii) the lesser of 2% per year of service or 1-year
period of service (within the meaning of Code section 416), as applicable, with the Employer or 20%, subject to the rules of Code section
416 and the Regulations thereunder;
(B)
Floor Offset. A floor offset approach, pursuant to Revenue Ruling 76-259, 1976-2 C.B. 111, under
which the defined benefit minimum of the defined benefit plan that is provided pursuant to Subsection (A) above is offset by the benefits
provided under the defined contribution plan (or plans);
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(C)
Comparability Analysis. A demonstration, using a comparability analysis of Rev. Rul. 81-202, that
the plans are providing benefits at least equal to the defined benefit minimum that is provided pursuant to Subsection (A) above; or
(D)
Defined Contribution Minimum. An allocation of Employer contributions and forfeitures that are
made on behalf of such Participant under this Plan (or any defined contribution plan that is sponsored by the Employer) equal to 5% of the
Participant’s Statutory Compensation unless off-setting a portion of the minimum allocation in another plan or the Participant in this Plan is
not a participant in the defined benefit plan. If the Plan allocates its Profit Sharing or Pension Contribution using permitted disparity
(integration), it may, therefore, substitute the 3% in the first step of its allocation process with 5% (or such other amount required) in order
to satisfy the Top-Heavy minimum allocation.
(4)
The minimum allocation is determined without regard to any Social Security contribution. The Top-Heavy
minimum shall be made even though, under other Plan provisions, the Participant would not otherwise be entitled to receive an allocation,
or would have received a lesser allocation for the Plan Year because of: (i) the Participant’s failure to complete 1,000 Hours of Service (or
any equivalent provided in the Plan); (ii) the Participant’s failure to make mandatory Employee contributions to the Plan; or
(iii) Compensation less than a stated amount. Except as provided in Subsections (b) and (c) below, neither Elective Deferrals nor Matching
Contributions may be taken into account for the purpose of satisfying the minimum Top-Heavy contribution requirement.
(5)
Contributions under other Plans. To the extent provided in the Adoption Agreement, the minimum allocation
requirement discussed in Subsection 11.02(a) may be met solely or partially in another plan. If the minimum allocation requirement of this
Section 11.02 for any Plan Year is met partially in another plan, this Plan may offset the minimum required allocation in Subsection
11.02(a) by the amount allocated in or the benefit accrued in the other plan. If, after applying the requirements of Code section 416,
corresponding regulations and this Article 11, the Top-Heavy minimum allocation is not satisfied, then additional contributions may be
made to this Plan and/or to one or more plans that are part of the Required Aggregation Group or Permissive Aggregation Group.
(b)
Matching Contributions. Employer Matching Contributions may be taken into account for purposes of satisfying the
minimum contribution requirements of Code section 416(c)(2) and the Plan. The preceding sentence shall apply with respect to Matching
Contributions under the Plan or, if the Plan provides that the minimum contribution requirement shall be met in another plan, such other
plan. Employer Matching Contributions that are used to satisfy the minimum contribution requirements shall be treated as Matching
Contributions for purposes of the ACP test and other requirements of Code section 401(m).
(c)
The Top-Heavy requirements of Code section 416 and this Section shall not apply in any year beginning after
December 31, 2001, in which the Plan consists solely of a cash or deferred arrangement which meets the requirements of Code sections
401(k)(11), 401(k)(12) or 401(k)(13) and Matching Contributions with respect to which the requirements of Code sections 401(m)(10),
401(m)(11) or 401(m)(12) are met; or in which the Plan is part of an “eligible combined plan” in compliance with Code section 414(x), IRS
Notice 2009-71, and any superseding/subsequent guidance.
Section 11.03

MINIMUM VESTING

(a)
For any Plan Year in which this Plan is Top-Heavy, the Top-Heavy vesting schedule specified in the Adoption
Agreement shall automatically apply to the Plan to the extent that it is more favorable than the vesting schedule provided for in Article 6.
For purposes of the Adoption Agreement, “2-6 Year Graded” and “3 Year Cliff” shall be determined in accordance with the
following schedules:
Years of Vesting Service

Vesting Percentage

Less than Two Years
Two Years but less than Three Years
Three Years but less than Four Years
Four Years but less than Five Years
Five Years but less than Six Years
Six or More Years

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%
100%

“2-6 Year Graded”:

“3 Year Cliff”:
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Less than Three Years
Three or More Years

0%
100%

(b)
The minimum vesting schedule applies to all benefits within the meaning of Code section 411(a)(7) except those
attributable to Employee contributions or those already subject to a vesting schedule which vests at least as rapidly as the schedule listed
above, including benefits accrued before the effective date of Code section 416 and benefits accrued before the Plan became Top-Heavy.
Further, no decrease in a Participant’s nonforfeitable percentage may occur in the event the Plan’s status as Top-Heavy changes for any
Plan Year. However, this Section does not apply to the Account balances of any Employee who does not have an Hour of Service after the
Plan initially became Top-Heavy and such Employee’s Account balance attributable to Company contributions and forfeitures will be
determined without regard to this Section. The minimum allocation required (to the extent required to be nonforfeitable under Code section
416(b)) may not be forfeited under Code sections 411(a)(3)(B) or 411(a)(3)(D).
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Section 12.01

PLAN ADMINISTRATOR

(a)
Designation. The Plan Administrator shall be specified in the Adoption Agreement. In the absence of a designation in
the Adoption Agreement, the Plan Sponsor shall be the Plan Administrator. If a Committee is designated as the Plan Administrator, the
Committee shall consist of one or more individuals who may be Employees appointed by the Plan Sponsor and the Committee may elect a
chairman and may adopt such rules and procedures as it deems desirable. The Committee may also take action with or without formal
meetings and may authorize one or more individuals, who may or may not be members of the Committee, to execute documents in its
behalf.
(b)
Authority and Responsibility of the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator shall be the Plan “administrator” as
such term is defined in section 3(16) of ERISA and as such shall have total and complete discretionary power and authority:
(1)
to make factual determinations, to construe and interpret the provisions of the Plan, to correct defects and
resolve ambiguities and inconsistencies therein and to supply omissions thereto. Any construction, interpretation or application of the Plan
by the Plan Administrator shall be final, conclusive and binding;
(2)
to determine the amount, form or timing of benefits payable hereunder and the recipient thereof and to
resolve any claim for benefits in accordance with this Article 12;
(3)
to determine the amount and manner of any allocations and/or benefit accruals hereunder, including whether
the Plan maintains an ERISA account and the manner in which amounts deposited in such ERISA account shall be allocated;
(4)

to maintain and preserve records relating to Participants, former Participants, and their Beneficiaries and

Alternate Payees;
(5)
to prepare and furnish to Participants, Beneficiaries and Alternate Payees all information and notices required
under applicable law or the provisions of this Plan;
(6)
to prepare and file or publish with the Secretary of Labor, the Secretary of the Treasury, their delegates and
all other appropriate government officials all reports and other information required under law to be so filed or published;
(7)

to approve and enforce any loan hereunder including the repayment thereof;

(8)
to provide directions to the Trustee with respect to the purchase of life insurance (to the extent permitted in
the Adoption Agreement), methods of benefit payment, valuations at dates other than regular Valuation Dates and on all other matters
where called for in the Plan or requested by the Trustee;
(9)
to hire such professional assistants and consultants as it, in its sole discretion, deems necessary or advisable;
and shall be entitled, to the extent permitted by law, to rely conclusively on all tables, valuations, certificates, opinions and reports which
are furnished by same;
(10)
to determine all questions of the eligibility of Employees and of the status of rights of Participants,
Beneficiaries and Alternate Payees;
(11)

to arrange for bonding, if required by law;

(12)

to adjust Accounts in order to correct errors or omissions;

(13)
to determine whether any domestic relations order constitutes a Qualified Domestic Relations Order and to
take such action as the Plan Administrator deems appropriate in light of such domestic relations order;
(14)

to retain records on elections and waivers by Participants, their spouses and their Beneficiaries and Alternate

Payees;
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(15)

to supply such information to any person as may be required;

(16)
to establish, revise from time to time, and communicate to the Trustee and/or the Investment Fiduciary and
Investment Manager(s), a funding policy and method for the Plan;
(17)
to prepare and file or publish with the Secretary of Labor, the Secretary of the Treasury, their delegates and
all other appropriate government officials all reports and other information required under law to be so filed or published; and
(18)
to perform such other functions and duties as are set forth in the Plan that are not specifically given to the
Investment Fiduciary or Trustee.
(c)
Procedures. Unless otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement and to the extent that the Adoption Agreement
provides that the Board adopts procedures for the Plan Administrator and the Board fails to adopt such procedures, the Plan Administrator
may adopt such rules and procedures as it deems necessary, desirable, or appropriate for the administration of the Plan. When making a
determination or calculation, the Plan Administrator shall be entitled to rely upon information furnished to it. The Plan Administrator’s
decisions shall be binding and conclusive as to all parties. Except as otherwise provided in a separate trust agreement, the Investment
Fiduciary’s decisions shall be binding and conclusive as to all parties.
(d)
Allocation of Duties and Responsibilities. The Plan Administrator may designate other persons to carry out any of his
duties and responsibilities under the Plan.
Section 12.02

INVESTMENT FIDUCIARY

(a)
Designation. The Plan Investment Fiduciary shall be designated by the Plan Sponsor. In the absence of a designation,
the Plan Administrator shall be the Investment Fiduciary. The Investment Fiduciary may consist of a committee consisting of one or more
individuals who may be Employees appointed by the Plan Sponsor. If a committee is appointed, the committee shall elect a chairman and
may adopt such rules and procedures as it deems desirable. The committee may take action with or without formal meetings and may
authorize one or more individuals, who may or may not be members of the committee, to execute documents in its behalf.
(b)
Authority and Responsibility of the Investment Fiduciary. The Investment Fiduciary shall have the following
discretionary authority and responsibility:
(1)

to manage the investment of the Trust Fund;

(2)

to appoint one or more Investment Managers;

(3)

to hire such professional assistants and consultants as it, in its sole discretion, deems necessary or advisable;

(4)
to establish, revise from time to time, and communicate to the Trustee and/or Investment Manager(s), an
investment policy for the Plan; and
(5)

to supply such information to any person as may be required.

(c)
Procedures. Unless otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement and to the extent that the Adoption Agreement
provides that the Board adopts procedures for the Investment Fiduciary and the Board fails to adopt such procedures, the Investment
Fiduciary may adopt such rules and procedures as it deems necessary, desirable, or appropriate in furtherance of its duties hereunder. When
making a determination or calculation, the Investment Fiduciary shall be entitled to rely upon information furnished to it.
Section 12.03

COMPENSATION OF PLAN ADMINISTRATOR AND INVESTMENT FIDUCIARY

The Plan Administrator and Investment Fiduciary shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for their services as is mutually
agreed upon to the extent that such compensation would not constitute a prohibited transaction within the meaning of the Code and ERISA.
Section 12.04

PLAN EXPENSES
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All direct expenses of the Plan, Trustee, Plan Administrator and Investment Fiduciary or any other person in furtherance of their
duties hereunder shall be paid or reimbursed by the Company, and if not so paid or reimbursed, shall be proper charges to the Trust Fund
and shall be paid therefrom.
Section 12.05

ALLOCATION OF FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY

A Plan fiduciary shall have only those specific powers, duties, responsibilities and obligations as are explicitly given him under
the Plan and Trust Agreement. It is intended that each fiduciary shall not be responsible for any act or failure to act of another fiduciary. A
fiduciary may serve in more than one fiduciary capacity with respect to the Plan.
Section 12.06

INDEMNIFICATION

Unless otherwise provided in an Addendum to the Adoption Agreement, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless any
person serving as the Investment Fiduciary and/or Plan Administrator (and their delegates) from all claims, liabilities, losses, damages and
expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred by such persons in connection with their duties hereunder to the
extent not covered by insurance, except when the same is due to such person’s own gross negligence, willful misconduct, lack of good
faith, or breach of its fiduciary duties under this Plan or ERISA.
Section 12.07

CLAIMS PROCEDURES

(a)
Application for Benefits. A Participant or any other person entitled to benefits from the Plan (a “Claimant”) may apply
for such benefits by completing and filing a claim with the Plan Administrator. Any such claim shall be in writing and shall include all
information and evidence that the Plan Administrator deems necessary to properly evaluate the merit of and to make any necessary
determinations on a claim for benefits. The Plan Administrator may request any additional information necessary to evaluate the claim.
(b)
Timing of Notice of Denied Claim. The Plan Administrator shall notify the Claimant of any adverse benefit
determination within a reasonable period of time, but not later than 90 days (45 days if the claim relates to a disability determination) after
receipt of the claim. This period may be extended one time by the Plan for up to 90 days (30 additional days if the claim relates to a
disability determination), provided that the Plan Administrator both determines that such an extension is necessary due to matters beyond
the control of the Plan and notifies the Claimant, prior to the expiration of the initial review period, of the circumstances requiring the
extension of time and the date by which the Plan expects to render a decision. If the claim relates to a disability determination, the period
for making the determination may be extended for up to an additional 30 days if the Plan Administrator notifies the Claimant prior to the
expiration of the first 30-day extension period.
(c)
Content of Notice of Denied Claim. If a claim is wholly or partially denied, the Plan Administrator shall provide the
Claimant with a written notice identifying (1) the reason or reasons for such denial, (2) the pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is
based, (3) any material or information needed to grant the claim and an explanation of why the additional information is necessary, and
(4) an explanation of the steps that the Claimant must take if he wishes to appeal the denial including a statement that the Claimant may
bring a civil action under ERISA.
(d)
Appeals of Denied Claim. If a Claimant wishes to appeal the denial of a claim, he shall file a written appeal with the
Plan Administrator on or before the 60th day (180th day if the claim relates to a disability determination) after he receives the Plan
Administrator’s written notice that the claim has been wholly or partially denied. The written appeal shall identify both the grounds and
specific Plan provisions upon which the appeal is based. The Claimant shall be provided, upon request and free of charge, documents and
other information relevant to his claim. A written appeal may also include any comments, statements or documents that the Claimant may
desire to provide. The Plan Administrator shall consider the merits of the Claimant’s written presentations, the merits of any facts or
evidence in support of the denial of benefits, and such other facts and circumstances as the Plan Administrator may deem relevant. The
Claimant shall lose the right to appeal if the appeal is not timely made. The Plan Administrator shall ordinarily rule on an appeal within 60
days (45 days if the claim relates to a disability determination). However, if special circumstances require an extension and the Plan
Administrator furnishes the Claimant with a written extension notice during the initial period, the Plan Administrator may take up to 120
days (90 days if the claim relates to a disability determination) to rule on an appeal.
(e)
Denial of Appeal. If an appeal is wholly or partially denied, the Plan Administrator shall provide the Claimant with a
notice identifying (1) the reason or reasons for such denial, (2) the pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is based, (3) a statement
that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and
other information relevant to the Claimant’s claim for benefits, and (4) a statement describing the Claimant’s right to bring an action under
section 502(a) of ERISA. The determination rendered by the Plan Administrator shall be binding upon all parties.
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(f)
Determinations of Disability. If the claim relates to a disability determination, determinations of the Plan Administrator
shall include the information required under applicable United States Department of Labor regulations.
Section 12.08

WRITTEN COMMUNICATION

To the extent permitted by applicable Treasury and/or Department of Labor Regulations and accepted by the Plan Administrator
and, as applicable, the Trustee, all provisions of the Plan and Trust that require written notices and elections shall be interpreted to mean
authorized electronic and telephonic notices and elections. Any notice made under the terms of the Plan may be made in any electronic or
telephonic method.
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Section 13.01

AMENDMENT

The provisions of the Plan may be amended in writing at any time and from time to time by the Plan Sponsor, provided, however,
that:
(a)
No amendment to the Plan shall be effective to the extent that it has the effect of decreasing a Participant’s accrued
benefit and no amendment shall increase the duties and liabilities of the Trustee without the Trustee’s consent. Notwithstanding the
preceding sentence, a Participant’s Account balance may be reduced to the extent permitted under Code section 412(c)(8). For purposes of
this Subsection, a Plan amendment which has the effect of decreasing a Participant’s Account balance, with respect to benefits attributable
to service before the amendment, shall be treated as reducing an accrued benefit.
A Plan amendment may not decrease a Participant’s accrued benefits, or otherwise place greater restrictions or
conditions on a Participant’s rights to Code section 411(d)(6) protected benefits, even if the amendment merely adds a restriction or
condition that is permitted under the vesting rules in Code section 411(a)(3) through (11). Notwithstanding the foregoing, an amendment
described in the previous sentence does not violate Code section 411(d)(6) to the extent: (1) it applies with respect to benefits that accrue
after the applicable amendment date; (2) the Plan amendment changes the Plan’s Vesting Computation Period and it satisfies the applicable
requirements under 29 CFR 2530.203-2(c); or (3) permitted under Code section 412(d)(2) or Treas. Reg. sections 1.411(d)-3 and 1.411(d)-4
and any superseding guidance.
No amendment to the Plan shall be effective to eliminate or restrict an optional form of benefit. The preceding sentence
shall not apply to a Plan amendment that eliminates or restricts the ability of a Participant to receive payment of his or her Account balance
under a particular optional form of benefit if the amendment is permitted under applicable Treasury Regulations.
A Plan amendment may also provide exceptions from the general prohibition against the elimination or restriction of
optional forms of benefit for in-kind distributions and elective transfers as specified under Treas. Reg. section 1.411(d)-4 Q&A 2 and 3.
(b)
If the Plan’s vesting schedule is amended, in the case of an Employee who is a Participant as of the later of the date the
amendment is adopted or the date it becomes effective, the nonforfeitable percentage (determined as of such date) of such Employee’s
Employer-derived accrued benefit will not be less than the percentage computed under the Plan without regard to such amendment.
(c)
If the Plan’s vesting schedule is amended, or the Plan is amended in any way that directly or indirectly affects the
computation of the Participant’s nonforfeitable percentage or if the Plan is deemed amended by an automatic change to or from a
Top-Heavy vesting schedule, each Participant with at least 3 Years of Vesting Service with the Employer may elect, within a reasonable
period after the adoption of the amendment or change, to have the nonforfeitable percentage computed under the Plan without regard to
such amendment or change. For Participants who do not have at least 1 Hour of Service in any Plan Year beginning after December 31,
1988, the preceding sentence shall be applied by substituting “5 Years of Vesting Service” for “3 Years of Vesting Service” where such
language appears. The period during which the election may be made shall commence with the date the amendment is adopted or deemed
to be made and shall end on the latest of:
(1)

60 days after the amendment is adopted;

(2)

60 days after the amendment becomes effective; or

(3)

60 days after the Participant is issued written notice of the amendment by the Plan Administrator.

The election provided for in this Section 13.01 shall be made in writing and shall be irrevocable when made.
(d)
Code section 411(d)(6) protected benefits will be available without regard to Employer discretion in accordance with
Treas. Reg. section 1.411(d)(4), Q & A’s #8 & 9.
(e)

Amendment to Other Vesting Provisions.
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(1)
Except as provided in Subsection (e)(2), a plan amendment may not decrease a Participant’s accrued benefits,
or otherwise place greater restrictions or conditions on a Participant’s rights to Code section 411(d)(6) protected benefits, even if the
amendment merely adds a restriction or condition that is permitted under the vesting rules in Code section 411(a)(3) through (11).
(2)
An amendment described in Subsection (e)(2) does not violate Code section 411(d)(6) to the extent: (i) it
applies with respect to benefits that accrue after the applicable amendment date; or (ii) the plan amendment changes the Plan’s vesting
computation period and it satisfies the applicable requirements under 29 CFR 2530.203-2(c).
(f)
An amendment or restatement of the Plan may be made by any method including a formal record of action by the Board
or other written document and execution of such amendment or restatement may be made by written or electronic means.
Section 13.02

MERGER AND TRANSFER

(a)
Merger. In the event of any merger or consolidation with, or transfer of assets or liabilities to, any other plan, each
Participant shall have a benefit in the surviving or transferee plan (as if such plan were then terminated immediately after such merger,
consolidation or transfer) that is equal to or greater than the benefit he would have had immediately before such merger, consolidation or
transfer in the plan in which he was then a Participant had such plan been terminated at that time.
(b)
Transfer. The Plan Administrator may direct the Trustee to accept assets and related liabilities from another qualified
plan provided that it receives sufficient evidence that the transferor plan is a tax-qualified plan. The Plan Administrator may direct the
Trustee to transfer assets and related liabilities to another qualified plan provided that it receives sufficient evidence that the transferee plan
is a tax-qualified plan.
Section 13.03

TERMINATION

(a)
It is the intention of the Plan Sponsor that this Plan will be permanent. However, the Plan Sponsor reserves the right to
terminate the Plan at any time for any reason.
(b)
Each entity constituting the Company reserves the right to terminate its participation in this Plan. Each such entity
constituting the Company shall be deemed to terminate its participation in the Plan if: (1) it is a party to a merger in which it is not the
surviving entity and the surviving entity is not an affiliate of another entity constituting the Company; or (2) it sells all or substantially all of
its assets to an entity that is not an affiliate of another entity constituting the Company.
(c)
Any termination of the Plan shall become effective as of the date designated by the Plan Sponsor. Except as expressly
provided elsewhere in the Plan, prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities with respect to the benefits provided under this Plan, no termination
shall cause any part of the funds or assets held to provide benefits under the Plan to be used other than for the benefit of Participants or to
meet the administrative expenses of the Plan. In the event of the termination or partial termination of the Plan the Account balance of each
affected Participant will be nonforfeitable. In the event of a partial termination of the Plan the Account balance of each affected Participant
will be nonforfeitable. In the event of a complete discontinuance of contributions under the Plan, the Account balance of each affected
Participant will be nonforfeitable. Upon termination of the Plan, Participant Accounts shall be distributed in a single lump sum payment
unless otherwise required pursuant to Article 7.
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Section 14.01

NONALIENATION OF BENEFITS

(a)
Except as provided in Section 14.01(b), the Trust Fund shall not be subject to any form of attachment, garnishment,
sequestration or other actions of collection afforded creditors of the Company, Participants or Beneficiaries under the Plan and all
payments, benefits and rights shall be free from attachment, garnishment, trustee’s process, or any other legal or equitable process available
to any creditor of such Company, Participant or Beneficiary. Except as provided in Section 14.01(b), no Participant or Beneficiary shall
have the right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or assign any of the benefits or payments which he may expect to receive,
contingently or otherwise, under the Plan, except the right to designate a Beneficiary. Any reference to a Participant or Beneficiary shall
include an Alternate Payee or the Beneficiary of an Alternate Payee.
(b)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee and/or Plan Administrator may:

(1)
Subject to Section 14.02 below, comply with the provisions and conditions of any Qualified Domestic
Relations Order pursuant to the provisions of Code section 414(p).
(2)

Comply with any federal tax levy made pursuant to Code section 6331.

(3)
Subject to the provisions of Code section 401(a)(13), comply with the provisions and conditions of a
judgment, order, decree or settlement agreement issued on or after August 5, 1997 between the Participant and the Secretary of Labor or the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation relating to a violation (or alleged violation) of part 4 of subtitle B of title I of ERISA.
(4)
Section 14.02

Bring action to recover benefit overpayments.

RIGHTS OF ALTERNATE PAYEES

(a)
General. An Alternate Payee shall have no rights to a Participant’s benefit and shall have no rights under this Plan
other than those rights specifically granted to the Alternate Payee pursuant to a Qualified Domestic Relations Order that are consistent with
this Section 14.02.
(b)
Distribution. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Plan Administrator may direct the Trustee
to distribute all or a portion of a Participant’s benefits under the Plan to an Alternate Payee in accordance with the terms and conditions of a
Qualified Domestic Relations Order. The Plan hereby specifically permits and authorizes distribution of a Participant’s benefits under the
Plan to an Alternate Payee in accordance with a Qualified Domestic Relations Order prior to the date the Participant has a Termination of
Employment, or prior to the date the Participant attains his earliest retirement age as defined in Code section 414(p). Unless otherwise
provided in the Adoption Agreement, the preceding sentence does not apply to the Participant’s ESOP Account.
(c)
Investment Funds. If the Qualified Domestic Relations Order does not specify the Participant’s Accounts, or
Investment Funds in which such Accounts are invested, from which amounts that are separately accounted for shall be paid to an Alternate
Payee, such amounts shall be distributed, or segregated, from the Participant’s Accounts, and the Investment Funds in which such Accounts
are invested (excluding any amounts invested as a Participant loan), on a pro rata basis. A Qualified Domestic Relations Order may not
provide for the assignment to an Alternate Payee of an amount that exceeds the balance of the Participant’s vested Accounts after deduction
of any outstanding loan.
(d)
Default Rules. Unless a Qualified Domestic Relations Order establishing a separate account for an Alternate Payee
provides to the contrary:
(1)
Death Benefits. An Alternate Payee shall have the right to designate a Beneficiary who shall receive benefits
payable to an Alternate Payee which have not been distributed at the time of the Alternate Payee’s death. If the Alternate Payee does not
designate a Beneficiary, or if the Beneficiary predeceases the Alternate Payee, benefits payable to the Alternate Payee which have not been
distributed shall be paid pursuant to Section 7.04(c) (substituting “Alternate Payee” for “Participant”). Any death benefit payable to the
Beneficiary of an Alternate Payee shall be paid in a single sum as soon as administratively practicable after the Alternate Payee’s death.
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(2)
Investment Direction. An Alternate Payee shall have the right to direct the investment of any portion of a
Participant’s Accounts payable to the Alternate Payee under such order in the same manner with respect to a Participant, which amounts
shall be separately accounted for by the Trustee in the Alternate Payee’s name.
(3)
Voting Rights. An Alternate Payee shall have the right to direct the Trustee as to the exercise of voting rights
in the same manner as provided with respect to a Participant.
(e)
Withdrawals/Loans. An Alternate Payee shall not be permitted to make any withdrawals under Article 8 and shall not
be permitted to make a loan from the separate Account established for the Alternate Payee pursuant to the Qualified Domestic Relations
Order.
(f)
Treatment as Spouse. A former spouse may be treated as the spouse or surviving spouse and a current spouse will not
be treated as the spouse or surviving spouse to the extent provided under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order.
(g)
Plan Procedures. Effective April 6, 2007, pursuant to DOL regulation 2530.206, a domestic relations order will not fail
to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order solely because the domestic relations order: (1) revises or is issued after another domestic
relations order or Qualified Domestic Relations Order, or (2) the domestic relations order is issued after the Participant’s death, divorce or
Annuity Starting Date..
Section 14.03

NO RIGHT TO EMPLOYMENT

Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between the Employer and the Participant, or as a
right of any Employee to continue in the employment of the Employer, or as a limitation of the right of the Employer to discharge any of its
Employees, with or without cause.
Section 14.04

NO RIGHT TO TRUST ASSETS

No Employee, Participant, former Participant, Beneficiary or Alternate Payee shall have any rights to, or interest in, any assets of
the Trust upon Termination of Employment or otherwise, except as specifically provided under the Plan. All payments of benefits under
the Plan shall be made solely out of the assets of the Trust.
Section 14.05

GOVERNING LAW

This Plan shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the state or commonwealth specified in the Adoption
Agreement to the extent not preempted by Federal law.
Section 14.06

SEVERABILITY OF PROVISIONS

If any provision of the Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other
provisions hereof, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provisions had not been included.
Section 14.07

HEADINGS AND CAPTIONS

The headings and captions herein are provided for reference and convenience only, shall not be considered part of the Plan, and
shall not be employed in the construction of the Plan.
Section 14.08

GENDER AND NUMBER

Except where otherwise clearly indicated by context, the masculine and the neuter shall include the feminine and the neuter, the
singular shall include the plural, and vice-versa.widctlpar
Section 14.09

DISASTER RELIEF

The Plan may grant temporary disaster relief in compliance with Code sections 1400M and 1400Q, and subsequent guidance
and/or law, to the extent provided in a resolution by the Plan Sponsor. Such resolution by the Plan Sponsor may include, but is not limited
to: (a) increasing the statutory limits on, delaying the repayment of, and/or waiving the adequate security requirement for Participants loans;
(b) permitting qualified disaster distributions; and/or (c) permitting the re-contribution of prior disaster distributions by Participants.

CCH INCORPORATED, DBA FTWILLIAM.COM

68

Copyright © 2002-2016

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-17331 on Form S-8 pertaining to the
Broadway Financial Corporation Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors and the Broadway Financial Corporation Long
Term Incentive Plan, Registration Statement No. 333-102138 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Broadway Financial Corporation
Long Term Incentive Plan, and Registration Statement No. 333-163150 on Form S-8, pertaining to the Broadway Financial
Corporation 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan of our report dated March 28, 2016 relating to the consolidated financial
statements of Broadway Financial Corporation and Subsidiary, which report appears in the Form 10-K of Broadway Financial
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2015.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
San Francisco, California
March 28, 2016

Exhibit 31.1
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Broadway Financial Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 28, 2016
/s/ WAYNE-KENT A. BRADSHAW
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Brenda Battey, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Broadway Financial Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 28, 2016
/s/ BRENDA J. BATTEY
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION
The following statement is provided by the undersigned to accompany the foregoing Report on Form 10-K
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
and shall not be deemed filed pursuant to any provision of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any
other securities law.
The undersigned certifies that the foregoing Report on Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. Section 78) and that the information
contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Broadway Financial Corporation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Date: March 28, 2016

By:

/s/ WAYNE-KENT A. BRADSHAW
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 32.2
SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION
The following statement is provided by the undersigned to accompany the foregoing Report on Form 10-K
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
and shall not be deemed filed pursuant to any provision of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any
other securities law.
The undersigned certifies that the foregoing Report on Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. Section 78) and that the information
contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Broadway Financial Corporation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Date: March 28, 2016

By:

/s/ BRENDA J. BATTEY
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 99.4
TARP CERTIFICATION FOR YEAR 2015
I, Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw, certify, based on my knowledge, that:
(i)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has discussed, reviewed, and evaluated with
senior risk officers at least every six months during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period, senior executive officer (“SEO”) compensation plans and employee compensation plans and the risks
these plans pose to Broadway Financial Corporation;

(ii)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has identified and limited during any part of the
most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period any features in the SEO compensation plans that could
lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could threaten the value of Broadway Financial Corporation
and identified any features in the employee compensation plans that pose risks to Broadway Financial Corporation
and limited those features to ensure that Broadway Financial Corporation is not unnecessarily exposed to risks;

(iii)

The compensation committee has reviewed, at least every six months during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, the terms of each employee compensation plan and identified the
features in the plan that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation
to enhance the compensation of an employee, and has limited these features that would encourage the manipulation
of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation;

(iv)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will certify to the reviews of the SEO
compensation plans and employee compensation plans required under (i) and (iii) above;

(v)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will provide a narrative description of how it
limited during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period the features in:
a)

SEO compensation plans that could lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could
threaten the value of Broadway Financial Corporation;

b)

Employee compensation plans that unnecessarily expose Broadway Financial Corporation to risks; and

c)

Employee compensation plans that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway
Financial Corporation to enhance the compensation of an employee;

(vi)

Broadway Financial Corporation has required that bonus payments to SEOs or any of the next twenty most highly
compensated employees, as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA (bonus
payments), be subject to a recovery or “clawback” provision during any part of the most recently completed fiscal
year that was a TARP period if the bonus payments were based on materially inaccurate financial statements or any
other materially inaccurate performance metric criteria;

(vii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited any golden parachute payment, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to a SEO or any of the next five most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(viii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has limited bonus payments to its applicable employees in accordance with section
111 of EESA and the regulations and guidance established thereunder during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(ix)

Broadway Financial Corporation and its employees have complied with the excessive or luxury expenditures policy,
as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, during any part of the most
recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, and that any expenses requiring approval of the board of
directors, a committee of the board of directors, an SEO, or an executive officer with a similar level of responsibility
were properly approved;

(x)

Broadway Financial Corporation will permit a non-binding shareholder resolution in compliance with any
applicable Federal securities rules and regulations on the disclosures provided under the Federal securities laws
related to SEO compensation paid or accrued during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period;

(xi)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose the amount, nature, and justification for the offering, during any part
of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, of any perquisites, as defined in the regulations
and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, whose total value exceeds $25,000 for each employee subject
to the bonus payment limitations identified in paragraph (viii);

(xii)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose whether Broadway Financial Corporation, the board of directors of
Broadway Financial Corporation, or the compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has engaged
during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period a compensation consultant; and
the services the compensation consultant or any affiliate of the compensation consultant provided during this
period;

(xiii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited the payment of any gross-ups, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to the SEOs and the next twenty most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(xiv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has substantially complied with all other requirements related to employee
compensation that are provided in the agreement between Broadway Financial Corporation and Treasury, including
any amendments;

(xv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has submitted to Treasury a complete and accurate list of the SEOs and the twenty
next most highly compensated employees for the current fiscal year, with the non-SEOs ranked in descending order
of level of annual compensation, and with the name, title, and employer of each SEO and most highly compensated
employee identified; and

(xvi)

I understand that a knowing and willful false or fraudulent statement made in connection with this certification may
be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both.

Date:

March 28, 2016
/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 99.5
TARP CERTIFICATION FOR YEAR 2015
I, Brenda Battey, certify, based on my knowledge, that:
(i)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has discussed, reviewed, and evaluated with
senior risk officers at least every six months during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period, senior executive officer (“SEO”) compensation plans and employee compensation plans and the risks
these plans pose to Broadway Financial Corporation;

(ii)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has identified and limited during any part of the
most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period any features in the SEO compensation plans that could
lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could threaten the value of Broadway Financial Corporation
and identified any features in the employee compensation plans that pose risks to Broadway Financial Corporation
and limited those features to ensure that Broadway Financial Corporation is not unnecessarily exposed to risks;

(iii)

The compensation committee has reviewed, at least every six months during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, the terms of each employee compensation plan and identified the
features in the plan that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation
to enhance the compensation of an employee, and has limited these features that would encourage the manipulation
of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation;

(iv)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will certify to the reviews of the SEO
compensation plans and employee compensation plans required under (i) and (iii) above;

(v)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will provide a narrative description of how it
limited during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period the features in:
a)

SEO compensation plans that could lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could
threaten the value of Broadway Financial Corporation;

b)

Employee compensation plans that unnecessarily expose Broadway Financial Corporation to risks; and

c)

Employee compensation plans that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway
Financial Corporation to enhance the compensation of an employee;

(vi)

Broadway Financial Corporation has required that bonus payments to SEOs or any of the next twenty most highly
compensated employees, as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA (bonus
payments), be subject to a recovery or “clawback” provision during any part of the most recently completed fiscal
year that was a TARP period if the bonus payments were based on materially inaccurate financial statements or any
other materially inaccurate performance metric criteria;

(vii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited any golden parachute payment, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to a SEO or any of the next five most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(viii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has limited bonus payments to its applicable employees in accordance with section
111 of EESA and the regulations and guidance established thereunder during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(ix)

Broadway Financial Corporation and its employees have complied with the excessive or luxury expenditures policy,
as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, during any part of the most
recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, and that any expenses requiring approval of the board of
directors, a committee of the board of directors, an SEO, or an executive officer with a similar level of responsibility
were properly approved;

(x)

Broadway Financial Corporation will permit a non-binding shareholder resolution in compliance with any
applicable Federal securities rules and regulations on the disclosures provided under the Federal securities laws
related to SEO compensation paid or accrued during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period;

(xi)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose the amount, nature, and justification for the offering, during any part
of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, of any perquisites, as defined in the regulations
and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, whose total value exceeds $25,000 for each employee subject
to the bonus payment limitations identified in paragraph (viii);

(xii)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose whether Broadway Financial Corporation, the board of directors of
Broadway Financial Corporation, or the compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has engaged
during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period a compensation consultant; and
the services the compensation consultant or any affiliate of the compensation consultant provided during this
period;

(xiii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited the payment of any gross-ups, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to the SEOs and the next twenty most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(xiv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has substantially complied with all other requirements related to employee
compensation that are provided in the agreement between Broadway Financial Corporation and Treasury, including
any amendments;

(xv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has submitted to Treasury a complete and accurate list of the SEOs and the twenty
next most highly compensated employees for the current fiscal year, with the non-SEOs ranked in descending order
of level of annual compensation, and with the name, title, and employer of each SEO and most highly compensated
employee identified; and

(xvi)

I understand that a knowing and willful false or fraudulent statement made in connection with this certification may
be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both.

Date:

March 28, 2016
/s/ Brenda J. Battey
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

